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Dear fellow shareholders:

As I reflect on 2021 I can’t help but be in awe of our company’s achievements. We started 2021 as a relatively small private 
biotech company. Over the course of 2021, we:

… in addition to the hundreds of additional accomplishments which support reaching these milestones. I believe there is one 
basic reason for the quantity, quality and speed of POINT’s execution: our people. The team which has converged here at 
POINT is made up of radiopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical experts who not only know what they are doing, but are doing 
it for the right reason: to treat more cancers.  Radiopharmaceuticals have already been proven to work tremendously well to 
treat some cancers. The reason POINT exists is to develop new radiopharmaceuticals to treat more cancers. 

Thank you for being a shareholder of our company; with your support, the next chapter of radiopharmaceutical therapy starts 
now.

Sincerely,

• Went public on the NASDAQ stock exchange
• Grew to almost 100 employees
• Made significant progress on our Phase 3 SPLASH trial for metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer
• Completed construction, licensing, and operation of our manufacturing facility (one of the largest 

radiopharmaceutical manufacturing facilities in the world)
• Secured the components to produce Lutetium-177 in-house, without requiring Yb-176 from Russia
• Established supply of the next-generation alpha emitting isotope Actinium-225
• Completed the pre-clinical studies on our exciting pan-cancer program, PNT2004, enabling in-human trials
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

References throughout this document to POINT or the Company include POINT Biopharma Global Inc., and its 
consolidated subsidiaries. In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s “Plain English” guidelines, this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Form 10-K") has been written in the first person. In this document, the words “we”, 
“our”, “ours” and “us” refer only to POINT Biopharma Global Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries and not any other 
person

Certain statements in this Form 10-K may constitute “forward-looking statements” for purposes of the federal 
securities laws. Our forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our or our 
management team’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future. In addition, any statements 
that refer to projections, forecasts or other characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying 
assumptions, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” 
“estimate,” “expect,” “intends,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” "seek," “should,” 
"target," “will,” “would” and similar expressions (including the negative of any of the foregoing) may identify forward-
looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. Forward-looking 
statements in this Form 10-K may include, for example, statements about:

• the success, cost and timing of our product development activities and clinical trials, our plans for clinical 
development of our product candidates and the initiation and completion of any other clinical trials and related 
preparatory work and the expected timing of the availability of results of the clinical trials;

• our ability to recruit and enroll suitable patients in our clinical trials;
• the potential attributes and benefits of our product candidates;
• our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval for our product candidates, and any related restrictions, 

limitations or warnings in the label of an approved product candidate;
• our ability to obtain funding for our operations, including funding necessary to complete further development, 

approval and, if approved, commercialization of our product candidates;
• the period over which we anticipate our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operating 

expenses and capital expenditure requirements;
• the potential for our business development efforts to maximize the potential value of our portfolio;
• our ability to identify, in-license or acquire additional product candidates;
• our ability to maintain the license agreements underlying our product candidates;
• our ability to compete with other companies currently marketing or engaged in the development of treatments for 

the indications that we are pursuing for our product candidates;
• our expectations regarding our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our product 

candidates and the duration of such protection;
• our ability to contract with and rely on third parties to assist in conducting our clinical trials and manufacture our 

product candidates;
• the development of our own manufacturing facility in Indianapolis, Indiana and the ability of this facility to 

provide adequate production capacity to meet future commercial demands for our product candidates;
• the size and growth potential of the markets for our product candidates, and our ability to serve those markets, 

either alone or in partnership with others;
• the rate and degree of market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved;
• the pricing and reimbursement of our product candidates, if approved;
• regulatory developments in the United States ("U.S.") and foreign countries;
• the impact of laws and regulations;
• our ability to attract and retain key scientific, medical, commercial or management personnel;
• our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;
• our future financial performance;
• the ability to recognize the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination (as defined below), which may be 

affected by, among other things, competition and our ability to grow and manage growth profitably;
• our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;
• the effect of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, including as a result of the emergence of new variants, on the 

foregoing; and
•      other factors detailed under the section entitled “Risk Factors.”

The forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K are based on current expectations and beliefs concerning future 
developments and their potential effects. These forward-looking statements are made only as of the date of this Form 10-K. 
There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. These forward-
looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions 
that may cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-
looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those factors described under the heading 
“Risk Factors” in Part 1, Item 1A of this Form 10-K beginning on page 37. Should one or more of these risks or 
uncertainties materialize, or should any of our assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects 
from those projected in these forward-looking statements. Some of these risks and uncertainties may in the future be 
amplified by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and there may be additional risks that we consider immaterial or which are 
unknown. It is not possible to predict or identify all such risks. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements because of the risks and uncertainties related to them and to the risk factors. We do not 
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undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.

Summary of Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous material and other risks that you should be aware of before making an investment 
decision. These risks are described more fully under the heading "Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K. 
These risks include, among others the following:

• Risks related to our financial condition and capital requirements, including, among others, that: 
◦ We have incurred significant losses since inception, and we expect to incur losses over the next several 

years and may not be able to achieve or sustain revenues or profitability in the future. 
◦ We will require substantial additional financing, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at 

all. 
◦ We have not generated any revenue to date and may never be profitable. 
◦ We have a limited operating history.

• Risks related to the development of our product candidates, including, among others, that: 
◦ Our approach to the discovery and development of product candidates based on our proprietary 

radioligand targeted therapies represents a novel approach to radiation therapy.
◦ We are very early in our development efforts and we may not achieve research, development and 

commercialization goals in the time frames that we publicly estimate. 
◦ We may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates under applicable regulatory 

requirements. 
◦ Clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes. We may 

encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials. 
◦ General political, economic and business conditions, including the effects to mitigate pandemic diseases 

such as COVID-19 and the ongoing Russo-Ukrainian conflict may continue to adversely affect our 
business and financial results. 

◦ We currently have a minimal marketing and sales organization and have no experience in marketing 
products.

• Risks related to our manufacturing operations, including, among others, that:
◦ Our product candidates are radioligands and the manufacture of our product candidates is complex.
◦ Our ability to maintain regulatory approvals for our manufacturing facilities, could delay our 

development plans or commercialization efforts.
◦ Any damage, destruction or interruption of production at our manufacturing facility could negatively 

affect us.
◦ Any failure to perform proper quality control and quality assurance would have a material adverse effect 

on our business and financial results.

• Risks related to our reliance on third parties, including, among others, that: 
◦ While we operate our own manufacturing facility, we currently rely, and will likely continue to rely, on 

third parties to manufacture additional supply of our lead product candidates for our ongoing clinical trial 
and our preclinical studies, as well as any preclinical studies or clinical trials of our future product 
candidates that we may conduct. 

◦ We may be unable to obtain a sufficient supply of radioisotopes to support clinical development or at 
commercial scale. 

◦ We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials of PNT2002, PNT2003, and PNT2004 and plan to 
rely on third parties to conduct future clinical trials.

◦ We may form or seek collaborations or strategic alliances in the future.

• Risks related to government regulation, including, among others, that: 
◦ The Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") regulatory approval process is lengthy and time-consuming, 

and we may experience significant delays in the clinical development and regulatory approval of our 
product candidates. 

◦ Even if we receive regulatory approval of our product candidates, we will be subject to ongoing 
regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review. 

◦ Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage and reimbursement for newly-approved products could 
limit our ability to market those product candidates. 

◦ Our relationships with healthcare providers and physicians and third-party payors are subject to complex 
and extensive healthcare laws and regulations. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

5



◦ Healthcare legislative reform measures, policy changes and constraints on national budget social security 
systems may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

◦ Our ability to comply with data privacy laws and regulations, and uncertainties regarding potential 
significant breaches of data privacy.

• Risks related to our intellectual property, including, among others, that: 
◦ If we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for any product candidates we develop and for 

our technology, or if the scope of the patent protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors 
could develop and commercialize products and technology similar or identical to ours. 

◦ If our efforts to protect the proprietary nature of the intellectual property related to our technologies are 
not adequate, we may not be able to compete effectively in its market. 

◦ If we fail to comply with our obligations under our patent licenses with third parties, we could lose 
license rights that are important to our business.

◦ We may not be able to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights throughout the world. 
◦ Issued patents covering our product candidates or technologies could be found invalid or unenforceable if 

challenged in court. 
◦ If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position 

would be harmed. 
◦ Intellectual property litigation could cause us to spend substantial resources and distract our personnel 

from their normal responsibilities. 
◦ Intellectual property rights and regulatory exclusivity rights do not necessarily address all potential 

threats.

• Risks related to employee matters and managing growth, including, among others, that: 
◦ Our management’s focus and resources may be diverted from operational matters and other strategic 

opportunities as a result of the Business Combination.
◦ We are highly dependent on our key personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting and retaining 

highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy. 
◦ We will need to grow the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this 

growth.
◦ Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, 

financial condition and share price.

• Risks relating to ownership of our common stock, including, among others, that: 
◦ We do not know whether an active, liquid and orderly trading market will develop for our common stock 

or what the market price of our common stock will be and, as a result, it may be difficult for you to sell 
your common stock.

◦ The price of our common stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment. 
◦ Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase our common stock, including 

pursuant to the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan ("Equity Incentive Plan"), could result in additional dilution 
of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause the price of our common stock to fall. 

◦ We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock, so any returns will be limited to the value of 
our common stock.

• Risks related to our organizational structure, including, among others, that:
◦ Delaware law and our governing documents contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover 

provisions, which limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and could delay or discourage 
takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

◦ Our bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the sole and 
exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

POINT has built a platform for the clinical development and commercialization of next generation 
radiopharmaceuticals that fight cancer. We have a pipeline of product candidates and early-stage development programs, 
in-house manufacturing capabilities, and a secured supply for rare medical isotopes like actinium-225 ("225Ac") and 
lutetium-177 ("177Lu"). 

Our management team brings decades of combined experience in radiopharmaceutical clinical development and 
manufacturing. In an industry where supply chain is often overlooked, POINT has created a unique advantage: a 100% 
company-owned facility, located in Indianapolis, Indiana, which includes an office space occupying 10,500 square feet and 
a manufacturing facility occupying 70,200 square feet, and which we believe has the capacity for expansion to 
commercially supply both North America and Europe with large volumes. We have also assembled one of the 
radiopharmaceuticals industry’s most resilient isotope supply chains, with the intent to manufacture isotopes such as no-
carrier-added ("n.c.a.") 177Lu in-house.

Our product pipeline consists of two late-stage assets in prostate and neuroendocrine cancers as well as an early-stage 
portfolio of next-generation product candidates. Our late-stage programs are 177Lu-based radiopharmaceuticals. For our 
early-stage development programs, we plan to evaluate the utility of both 177Lu and 225Ac, as well as other isotopes that 
may be considered for use in radiopharmaceuticals. With recent innovations in the production and purification of medical 
isotopes, radiopharmaceuticals are progressing faster than ever before, and we believe POINT is well-positioned to be a 
leader in this rapidly advancing field.

Our product candidates include:

PNT2002

PNT2002 is a late stage prostate-specific membrane antigen, ("PSMA"), targeted radioligand currently in a Phase 3 
trial sponsored by POINT for the treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, ("mCRPC"), in patients who 
have progressed following treatment with androgen receptor-axis-targeted, ("ARAT"), therapy. PNT2002 combines a 
PSMA-specific ligand, PSMA-I&T, with the beta-emitting radioisotope 177Lu, ("177Lu-PSMA-I&T"). 

We initiated a multi-center, randomized, open label Phase 3 Study Evaluating mCRPC Treatment Using PSMA 177Lu-
PSMA-I&T Therapy After Second-line Hormonal Treatment ("SPLASH") trial. SPLASH assesses PNT2002 in patients 
with PSMA-expressing mCRPC who have progressed on novel anti-androgen therapy and are ineligible or averse to 
chemotherapy. The study is being conducted in two phases: 1) A 25-patient safety and dosimetry lead-in study (complete) 
and 2) a 400 patient randomized study (which is still ongoing). The randomization phase of the study started enrolling in 
September 2021 and is enrolling across North America, Europe and the United Kingdom ("U.K."). We estimate top-line 
results from this trial in mid-2023. 

PNT2004

PNT2004 is a fibroblast activation protein-α (FAP) targeting program being developed for use in multiple tumor 
types. FAP is a compelling pan cancer target for imaging and therapy that is expressed in >90% of epithelial tumors. In 
cancer, FAP is highly expressed on cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs), which drive tumor progression and resistance to 
chemo and immunotherapy. FAP is a 170 kDa membrane bound prolyl endopeptidase that is expressed during development 
but rarely in adult tissues. We believe the lead compound of the PNT2004 program, PNT6555, has best-in-class tumor 
retention and normal tissue clearance, enabling delivery of large doses of tumor killing radiation.

POINT expects to file a Clinical Trial Application ("CTA") with Health Canada at the end of the first quarter of 2022. 
The clinical trial is expected to commence in summer 2022 in Canada and will use a n.c.a. 177Lu based PNT6555 
therapeutic, supported by a gallium-68 ("68Ga") based PNT6555 molecular imaging agent. 

PNT2003
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PNT2003 is a late stage somatostatin-targeted radioligand in development for the treatment of neuroendocrine tumors. 
PNT2003 combines a somatostatin-specific radioligand called DOTATATE with n.c.a. 177Lu. PNT2003’s use of n.c.a. 
177Lu could enable it to be administered in outpatient clinics without the need for the clinic to maintain costly dedicated 
waste streams, providing a unique advantage over the currently approved radiopharmaceutical product for the GEP-NETs 
indication. PNT2003’s ongoing clinical trial in Canada is being conducted by the University Health Network ("UHN") and 
Canadian Molecular Probe Consortium ("CanProbe"). POINT received interim data from CanProbe in December 2020. No 
assurance can be given, however, that the interim results from this trial will result in the successful completion of the 
clinical trial or that PNT2003 will be approved for commercialization and reimbursement. The last patient last dose for 
PNT2003’s ongoing clinical trial occurred in July 2021. The sponsor of PNT2003 clinical trial has informed the Company 
that all patients will have completed the primary follow-up in the second quarter of 2022 and will have data to report to the 
Company in the second half of 2022. The Company is assessing two distinct pathways for PNT2003 with regulatory 
authorities. These pathways include a 505(b)(2) with the FDA’s Division of Oncology Products, and an ANDA with the 
FDA’s Office of Generic Drugs. The Company is currently waiting to complete discussions with the FDA prior to making 
a public announcement regarding the pathway which will be pursued.

PNT2001

PNT2001 is a next generation PSMA targeting ligand family that leverages linker technology that promotes increased 
tumor accumulation. The lead candidate in the program shows compelling efficacy as a single dose in preclinical tumor 
models, with potent anti-tumor activity using 225Ac while also having an improved biodistribution profile versus PSMA 
ligands currently in late-stage development. This profile could result in the same outcomes seen with today’s technology at 
a lower dose, potentially allowing for a reduction in the radiopharmaceutical dose. POINT is planning to advance the 
candidate into investigational new drug ("IND")-enabling studies with the aim to pursue clinical development with 225Ac in 
the non-metastatic castrate sensitive prostate cancer ("mHSPC") and post-Lu-PSMA spaces.

CanSEEK

CanSEEK™ has the potential of preventing target engagement outside of the tumor microenvironment ("TME"), 
which could significantly improve the therapeutic index of targeted radiopharmaceuticals. CanSEEK™ is based on the (d)-
Ala-Pro FAP substrate technology, that works by preventing a radioligand from binding to receptors until it has been 
activated by FAP in the TME. Multiple (d)-Ala-Pro substrate enabled ligands are being studied preclinically against 
different targets. If successful, the platform has the potential to significantly improve the precision and safety of 
radioligands.

CanSEEK™ has been sub-licensed from both Bach Biosciences LLC ("Bach Biosciences") and Avacta Life Sciences 
Limited ("Avacta"), who has branded the technology as pre|CISION™ (an Avacta trademark).

Our Product Candidates

As we discussed above, we are advancing multiple radiopharmaceutical treatments based on peptides and small 
molecules combined with beta- and alpha-emitting radioisotopes for the treatment of various cancers. Our current pipeline 
is summarized in the diagram below:

* mCRPC = metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer, PSMA = Prostate Specific Membrane Antigen, SSTR = 
somatostatin receptors, FAP = fibroblast activation protein

PNT 2002 - PSMA Targeted Radioligand
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Background on Prostate Cancer and PSMA targeting

The incidence of prostate cancer is increasing as the U.S. population ages into older at-risk groups. The American 
Cancer Society estimates that there will be approximately 268,000 new prostate cancer cases and over 34,000 deaths due to 
prostate cancer in the United States in 2022. Prostate cancer is the most common cancer diagnosed in men, and with a 
significant mortality rate, is the second leading cause of cancer death in men in the United States. In Europe, across the 
EU-27 countries, the European Cancer Information System estimated that there were approximately 335,000 new prostate 
cancer cases and over 69,000 deaths as a result of prostate cancer in 2020. Prostate cancer is the most common cancer in 
men and is the third leading cause of cancer death in men in the EU-27 countries.

PSMA is a unique membrane bound glycoprotein that is overexpressed in prostate cancer but has low expression in 
normal healthy tissue. Furthermore, PSMA is highly expressed in all states of prostate cancer, including primary and 
poorly differentiated, metastatic and castrate-resistant disease. This unique expression of PSMA provides the opportunity 
to design treatments that can be precisely targeted to safely enable the delivery of highly potent drug payloads, while 
sparing normal healthy tissue. In addition, companion imaging agents are approved which can be used to identify patients 
whose disease over-expresses PSMA. In December 2020 the FDA approved the first drug for positron emission 
tomography ("PET") imaging of PSMA positive lesions in men with prostate cancer, 68Ga-PSMA-11. In May 2021, the 
FDA approved the second PET imaging agent for PSMA imaging 18F-DCFPyL developed by Lantheus Medical Imaging, 
and in December 2021 the FDA approved Telix Pharmaceuticals’ kit for the preparation of 68Ga-PSMA-11. We believe the 
approval of PSMA PET agents will facilitate broad access to permit the identification of patients who are likely to benefit 
from PSMA-targeted treatments, including PNT2002.

Although the five-year survival rate of local and regional prostate cancer is nearly 100%, more aggressive forms of the 
disease, representing 22% of patients at the time of initial diagnosis, have a substantially poorer prognosis, with a five-year 
survival rate of only 30%. While these more aggressive forms of prostate cancer can initially be treated, nearly all of these 
patients experience a recurrence in tumor growth that results in the subsequent development of mCRPC. mCRPC is the 
most advanced form of the disease and there are approximately 43,000 new incidences of mCRPC in the United States each 
year. Men with mCRPC have a poor prognosis with a predicted survival rate of only 14.6 months from the initial time of 
progression. mCRPC represents nearly all prostate cancer-specific deaths.

ARAT therapies such as abiraterone, enzalutamide, darolutamide, or apalutamide are now standard of care for both 
non-mCRPC and mCRPC following progression and failure on initial hormone therapy. Peak global annual sales of 
Johnson & Johnson’s Zytiga® were $3.5 billion in 2018, with annual sales of $2.5 billion in 2020. Astellas reported global 
annual sales of Xtandi® for year ended March 2021 exceeding $458 billion Yen (approx. $3.9 billion USD). Finally, Bayer 
reported that Nubeqa reached sales of $219 million Euros in 2021, driven by US market overperformance, signaling a 
change in clinical preferences. 

In mCRPC, median radiographic progression-free survival ("rPFS") for first line use of abiraterone was 16.5 months, 
with ~20% of patients having progressed by the sixth month. Median time that patients received enzalutamide was 16.6 
months with 16% having progressed by the sixth month. For most patients, progression is inevitable and as a result there is 
a large unmet need upon failure of ARAT therapy. In spite of progression while on ARAT, a majority of patients are 
offered an ARAT switch to avoid the increasingly toxic profile of chemotherapy. Two recent studies have shown that, 
when patients are switched to a second-line ARAT therapy, rPFS is only approximately four months. As a result, there 
continues to be a significant need for novel treatment options with the potential to modify or ultimately cure the disease. 
The incidence of post-ARAT pre-chemotherapy mCRPC patients in the US is greater than 36,000 patients annually.

Our Solution: PNT2002

PNT2002, also referred to as 177Lu-PNT2002, combines a PSMA-specific ligand with the beta-emitting radioisotope 
177Lu. PNT2002’s ligand is referred to as “PSMA-I&T” in academic literature and has been used for many years in 
research and compassionate use settings. PSMA-I&T was developed by Dr. Hans-Jürgen Wester at the Technische 
Universität München. We created the PNT2002 program by leveraging the data collected in an academic study on PSMA-
I&T (Baum RP, et al. 177Lu-labeled prostate-specific membrane antigen radioligand therapy of metastatic castration-
resistant prostate cancer: safety and efficacy), in combination with issued patents and provisional patents pertaining to the 
formation of the radiopharmaceutical active pharmaceutical ingredient, the manufacturing process and the formulation of 
the finished product.
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Current standard of care for men with castration-resistant prostate cancer who have failed androgen deprivation 
therapy ("ADT") and ARAT is chemotherapy. The side effects of chemotherapy are significant including neuropathies, 
nausea, diarrhea, decreased mental capacity and increased risk of infections. PNT2002 has the potential to offer an 
alternative with significantly fewer side effects compared to chemotherapy, providing patients with a higher quality of life.

A prospective clinical study by Baum, et al. focused on the safety and efficacy of 177Lu-PSMA-I&T in patients with 
progressive mCRPC and increasing levels of prostate-specific antigen ("PSA"). Fifty-six patients were administered a dose 
of 3.6 to 8.7 gigabecquerel, or GBq, per cycle for one to six cycles, and monitored for morphologic response, response in 
PSA levels, and overall change in clinical symptoms. Analysis with contrast-enhanced computed tomography ("CT") 
determined that 20%, 52%, and 28% of patients had partial remission, stable disease, and progressive disease, respectively. 
The PSA levels decreased in 80.4% of patients, with the median PSA level reduced from 43.2 ng/mL to 23.8 ng/mL pre- 
and post-therapy. Progression-free survival ("PFS") was a median of 13.7 months and the median overall survival was not 
reached after a 28-month follow-up period.

Patients were monitored for side effects for two to four days after each treatment, and vital signs were recorded during 
administration of the therapy. No clinically significant adverse events were reported during the early monitoring period (i.e. 
during therapy and for up to four days thereafter) or at the 28-month follow-up time point. Leukocytopenia (grades 1 or 2) 
occurred only in patients who had received prior long-term chemotherapy. Events of mild, reversible dry mouth, which 
resolved within three months, occurred in two patients after the third and fourth cycles. No evidence of nephrotoxicity was 
observed and no clinically significant changes in pre- to post-dosing lab parameters were identified.

We held regulatory discussions with the FDA in 2020, leveraging the data in the Baum research paper to have an end 
of Phase 2 meeting. The FDA provided feedback on protocol design, dosing dosimetry, control arm, imaging agents and 
statistical approach regarding our clinical development plans for PNT2002. Leveraging feedback from the FDA, we filed 
an IND, with the FDA in December 2020 to evaluate the clinical development of PNT2002. The IND was accepted in 
December 2020. Regulatory discussions were also held with Health Canada in December 2020. Following these 
discussions, we submitted a clinical trial application for the study. We received a ‘No Objection Letter’, or authorization to 
proceed, from Health Canada in January 2021.

We initiated patient recruitment for our Phase 3 SPLASH trial in February 2021, and estimate top-line results from 
this trial in mid-2023. As of March 21, 2022, there are 32 sites currently enrolling in North America and Europe. Site 
activations in all jurisdictions remain ongoing. We refer to this trial as our SPLASH trial (Study Evaluating Metastatic 
Castrate Resistant Prostate Cancer Using 177Lu-PNT2002 PSMA Therapy After Second Line Hormonal Treatment). All 
patients will undergo PSMA biomarker imaging as part of screening to confirm PSMA expression eligibility, as evaluated 
by central review. The study commenced with dosing 27 patients in the safety and dosimetry lead-in and proceeded to a 
randomization treatment phase in approximately 400 patients in September 2021 who will be randomized in a 2:1 ratio to: 
177Lu-PNT2002 (Arm A) versus enzalutamide (160 mg orally qd) or abiraterone (1000 mg orally qd with: 5 mg bid 
prednisone or 0.5 mg qd dexamethasone) (Arm B). We anticipate Arm B to result in a median PFS of approximately 4 
months based on results in previous clinical studies (3.7 months, De Bono et al. N Engl J Med 2020; 382:2091-2102, 4.1 
months: Sweeney et al. AACR 2020). All patients who progress in Arm B will have the opportunity to crossover and 
receive treatment.

Patients in Arm A will receive a 6.8 GBq dose of 177Lu-PNT2002 for 4 cycles, 8 weeks apart, for a maximum 
cumulative dose of 27.2 GBq. Patients in Arm B may be eligible to crossover to 177Lu PNT2002 every 8 weeks for 4 cycles 
after radiographic progression per central review. All patients will be followed in long-term follow-up for at least 5 years 
from the first therapeutic dose, death, or loss to follow. The primary endpoint of the trial is rPFS. Key secondary endpoints 
include objective response rate ("ORR") and overall survival. 

In February 2022 we published dosimetry data from the 27 patients dosed in the safety and dosimetry lead-in cohort 
for the Company’s Phase 3 SPLASH trial evaluating PNT2002 for the treatment of mCRPC at the 2022 SNMMI Mid-
Winter & ACNM Annual Meeting on February 25-27, 2022. The abstract was made public on the first day of the 
conference. Radiation dosimetry of PNT2002 was calculated in 27 patients with mCRPC based on biodistribution data 
from planar whole-body conjugate imaging at 1, 24, 48, 72, and 168 hours and, for 7 of them, SPECT/CT imaging at 48-72 
hours post injection of their first cycle of PNT2002 (6.8±10% GBq). Data from the abstract titled “Dosimetry Results from 
the SPLASH Trial” (Abstract #: MWMA2244) demonstrated the following:

TABLE OF CONTENTS

10



• Organs receiving the largest absorbed doses were the lacrimal glands at 1.2 Gy/GBq, followed by the kidneys at 
0.73 Gy/GBq.

• The average dose to the salivary glands and red marrow was 0.34 Gy/GBq and 0.034 Gy/GBq, respectively.
• For a cumulative administered activity of 27.2 GBq, i.e. four cycles of 6.8 GBq, the kidneys would receive a 

cumulative absorbed dose of 19.9 Gy, and the red marrow, 0.91 Gy.
• SPECT/CT vs planar-based kidney dosimetry was consistent across most subjects (±20%) where SPECT/CT 

images were available with a mean kidney absorbed dose difference of 1%.

In January 2021, we entered into an Investigator-Initiated Clinical Trial Agreement with Cornell University and The 
New York and Presbyterian Hospital to provide PNT2002 for a Phase I/II clinical study being performed by the 
investigator. The investigator-initiated Phase I/II clinical trial will involve the PNT2002 study drug for progressive 
metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer. We are not receiving remuneration in connection with the study, and the 
agreement provides the investigator anticipates it will take three years following receipt of PNT2002 to complete the study 
and submit the data for publication.

PNT2004

Background on Fibroblast Activation Protein-α and Fibroblast Activation Protein-α Inhibitors

An exciting development in cancer research has been the discovery that the tumor microenvironment exhibits unique 
characteristics from healthy tissue. Several tumors, including breast, colon, prostate and pancreatic, develop a dense fibrous 
tissue comprised of CAFs around and within the tumor. CAFs can contribute up to 90% of the tumor mass. The CAFs of 
malignant tumors express FAP, a type II membrane-bound glycoprotein with peptidase activity. FAP is unique in that it is 
expressed in over 90% of epithelial cancers, but generally is not present on healthy cells. Given that FAP is expressed in 
the majority of cancers and that FAP positive CAFs are involved in tumor progression and supporting an 
immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment, it is believed that targeting this protein is a potential strategy to attack 
malignant tumors.

Initial imaging studies of 68Ga-FAP inhibitors (“FAPI”) PET/CT suggested that these tracers are suitable for 
diagnostic cancer solutions and radioligand therapies. It was determined that even lesions that were already unequivocally 
identified radiologically could be characterized in additional detail through FAPIs. A retrospective analysis reviewing the 
development of quinoline-based FAPIs, conducted by Kratochwil and published in the Journal of Nuclear Medicine in 
2019, illustrated that the technology has promising clinical applications. The study concluded that several cancers, 
including lung, breast, esophagus, pancreatic, head-neck, and colorectal cancer, presented high uptake on FAPI. The 
overexpression of FAP in cancers which have limited treatment options and low five-year survival rates present a 
significant market opportunity in an area of unmet need.

Our Solution: PNT2004

Most targeted radioligand therapies are designed to target a limited number of cancers by targeting a receptor that is 
present on tumor cells of a specific type of tissue, such as prostate, but absent in all other healthy tissues. As FAP is highly 
expressed on a wide range of solid tumors, a FAP specific radioligand offers the potential for a tissue agnostic opportunity 
that could enable the precise treatment of a variety of solid tumors independent of tissue origin. PNT2004 is a radioligand 
that targets FAP invented by Dr. William Bachovchin at Tufts University. We licensed worldwide rights to PNT2004 from 
Bach Biosciences in April 2020.

A clinical candidate – PNT6555 - was identified from a screen of FAP inhibitors for our PNT2004 program. The 
clinical candidate was characterized in preclinical studies using Fox Chase SCID mice bearing HEK-mFAP tumor 
xenografts. In studies with 177Lu the compound was found to have a significant amount of the injected dose accumulate in 
xenograft tissue (~16% of the injected dose/gram, %ID/g), with normal tissues showing little accumulation. After 24 hours 
the amounts of 177Lu labeled compound in healthy tissue were less than 2% ID/g, with ~24% ID/g accumulating in 
xenograft tissue, and after 7 days ~11% ID/g remained in xenograft tissue. In survival studies, mice bearing tumors of 
approximately 200 mm3 were dosed with the 177Lu labeled compound (15 MBq, 30 MBq and 60 MBq) or control. Anti-
tumor activity was found at all tested dose levels and the response was dose-dependent. Complete regressions occurred in 6 
of 6 mice in the 60 MBq cohort and 3 of 6 in the 30 MBq cohort. Prolonged survival was found in all dose cohorts versus 
the controls, with 100% survival in the 30 MBq and 60 MBq dose cohorts surviving at the end of the study.
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The Company completed a pre-CTA meeting with Health Canada in December 2021 regarding the development 
pathway and clinical study design for the upcoming Phase 1 trial and expects to file a CTA with Health Canada at the end 
of the first quarter of 2022.

The clinical trial is expected to commence in summer 2022 in Canada and will use a 68Ga-based PNT6555 molecular 
imaging agent to select patients to receive a n.c.a. 177Lu-based PNT6555 therapeutic agent. Additional preclinical studies in 
syngeneic and Patient-derived xenografts (PDX) models for monotherapy and combination treatment are in development 
and include other therapeutic isotopes such as 225Ac.

PNT2003

Background on Neuroendocrine Tumors and Somastatin Targeting

Neuroendocrine tumors ("NETs") are rare, heterogenous tumors that originate in neuroendocrine cells, and frequently 
arise in the gastroenteropancreatic and respiratory systems. NETs are the second most common neoplasm of the diffuse 
endocrine system. Because of their low incidence and prevalence among the population, NETs are considered an orphan 
disease. However, there has been a trend towards rising incidence in recent years, especially for NETs located in the lungs, 
small intestine and rectum.

According to an analysis performed using Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program research data, there 
was a prevalence of 187,000 NETs in the U.S. in 2016 and an estimate of 33,000 newly diagnosed cases. The American 
Society of Clinical Oncology estimates that 50% of the NETs originate in the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas, 30% in 
the lung and the remainder in various sites including the adrenal glands, thyroid and pituitary among others.

GEP-NETs are a rare type of tumor that can form in the pancreas or in other parts of the gastrointestinal tract, 
including the stomach, small intestine, colon, rectum and appendix. GEP-NETs, sometimes called carcinoid tumors or islet 
cell tumors, usually form in cells that secrete hormones and can either be benign or malignant. Non-GEP-NETs, includes 
neuroendocrine tumors of the lung, thyroid, adrenal, ovary, kidney, pituitary, and unknown origin. The five- and ten-year 
overall survival for GEP-NETs is ~22 – ~56% and ~7 – ~28% respectively, while patients with metastatic disease have 
significantly worse ten-year overall survival across all NET subtypes than those with local disease. The five- and ten-year 
overall survival rate for lung NETs which makes up the majority of non-GEP-NETs is 33.7% and 17.3%, respectively, 
while for NETs of unknown origin (second largest non-GEP NET grouping) five and ten-year overall survival rate is 38% 
and 22%, respectively.

NETs are characterized by overexpression of somatostatin receptors, which are protein receptors that sense molecules 
outside of the cell and activate cellular responses to somatostatin. Somatostatin is an important regulator of the endocrine 
system, and the overexpression of these receptors in NETs, particularly the SSTR2 receptor, creates a target for radioligand 
therapy to bind to and provide treatment.

NETs are difficult to diagnose because patients often remain asymptomatic in the early stages of the cancer, and 
symptoms that are exhibited are not unique to NETs. According to some reports, over 50% of NET patients have 
metastases at diagnosis, upon which NETs cannot be effectively treated with surgery alone and there is a need for 
alternative therapeutics to provide additional treatment.

NETs are characteristically insensitive to chemotherapeutic agents due to their slow proliferation. In generally small 
studies (n = 20-85 GEP-NET patients), combination chemotherapy using various anti-proliferative agents (e.g. fluorouracil, 
streptozotocin, doxorubicin, dacarbazine, interferon-alpha) has yielded typical response rates of less than 40%, duration of 
response as low as 3 – 8 months and median overall survival of 10 – 40 months.

There are a limited number of therapeutic approaches targeting somatostatin in NETs. Novartis’ Sandostatin, which 
generated $1.4 billion in 2020 sales, is a somatostatin analogue that controls clinical syndromes associated with NETs but 
does not treat the metastatic NETs themselves. Ipsen S.A.’s Somatuline, which generated €1.1 billion in 2020 sales, was 
approved in December 2014 for the treatment of adult with differentiated, locally advanced or metastatic GEP-NETs. 
Novartis’ Lutathera® is another radioligand therapy using 177Lu-DOTATATE that was approved in January 2018 for the 
treatment of somatostatin receptor positive gastreoenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in adults. Lutathera® received 
an orphan drug designation from the FDA and is the first available FDA-approved Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy. 
Novartis reported sales of $445 million for Lutathera® in 2020. While these therapies have brought treatment options to 
patients with GEP-NETs, the scope of the approved indications creates a significant need for a novel approach to 
treatments for non-GEP-NET patients.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

13



The options for non-GEP-NET patients are more limited. Afinitor (everolimus) is approved for lung NETs. If a lung 
NET is detected early enough it will be treated first with a Somatostatin Analogue ("SSA") and then a combination of SSA 
and Afinitor upon progression. However, Afinitor has a challenging side effect profile with 42% of NETs patients in the 
pivotal trial experiencing serious adverse events, including death. Following treatment with SSA and Afinitor, there is no 
clear treatment paradigm for lung NETs, leaving patients and physicians choosing between clinical trials or chemotherapy. 
With lung NET cancers accounting for nearly 30% of all NETs, this represents a large unmet need for patients.

Our Solution: PNT2003

PNT2003, also known as 177Lu Octreotate ("177Lu-DOTATATE"), is a somatostatin-targeted radioligand therapy in 
development for the treatment of patients with somatostatin receptor-positive neuroendocrine tumors, targeting both GEP-
NETs and non-GEP-NETs. PNT2003 is the subject of an ongoing multi-center trial in Canada sponsored by CanProbe (a 
joint venture between the Centre for Probe Development and Commercialization ("CPDC") and UHN) that is designed to 
evaluate its safety and efficacy across patients with NETs who have positive somatostatin receptor expression identified by 
68Ga DOTATATE PET. The last patient last dose occurred in July 2021.

We licensed worldwide rights to the clinical data and the intellectual property for the radiopharmaceutical compound 
from CanProbe in December 2020. CanProbe’s intellectual property for PNT2003 covers methods of preparing, 
pharmaceutical compositions and methods of treatment of various indications including neuroendocrine tumors. 

Although PNT2003 uses the same molecular entity as Novartis’ Lutathera®, PNT2003 uses a different type of 177Lu, 
called n.c.a. 177Lu. By using n.c.a. 177Lu, PNT2003 will not contain any metastable lutetium-177m ("177mLu"), an impurity 
introduced into Lutathera’s via the production method of its carrier-added 177Lu. The introduction of the 177mLu impurity in 
Lutathera® is problematic for hospitals and clinics as 177mLu is a radionuclide with a half-life of 5+ months, which can 
necessitate the need for dedicated waste streams and other burdensome overhead for physicians and clinics. We believe 
PNT2003’s use of n.c.a. 177Lu will therefore provide a competitive advantage. PNT2003 could be further differentiated 
from Lutathera® in the indication it is targeting (non-GEP-NETs), which is not included in Lutathera’s current label and 
for which there are limited treatment options.

Clinical Development and Next Steps

PNT2003 is currently the subject of an ongoing open-label, single-arm study designed to evaluate the safety and 
efficacy of PNT2003 across patients with NETs who have positive somatostatin receptor expression identified by 68Ga 
DOTATATE PET. The interim data received from CanProbe in December 2020 included 167 patients across GEP-NETs 
as well as neuroendocrine tumors of other tissue origins including lung, thyroid, adrenal, ovary, kidney, pituitary, and 
unknown origin, collectively referred to as non-GEP-NETs. The breakdown of patients is 33 non-GEP-NET patients and 
134 GEP-NET patients.

POINT received interim data from CanProbe in December 2020 that demonstrated that progression-free survival at 12 
months is trending towards 83.6% and 90.9% for non-GEP-NET and GEP-NET patients, respectively. The median 
progression-free survival was 24.8 months and 33.3 months for non GEP-NET and GEP-NET patients, respectively. 
PNT2003 was found to be well-tolerated with manageable acute and delayed toxicity. As of March 21, 2022, POINT has 
been notified that there have been 19 serious treatment-related adverse events, which consisted of abdominal pain, colonic 
perforation, diarrhea, edema, allergic reaction, thrombocytopenia, hypoglycemia, back pain, intracranial hemorrhage, 
carcinoid crisis, malignant hypertension, myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. There have been no other 
reported serious treatment-related adverse events. Additionally, the overall response rate per RECIST 1.1 by Investigator 
assessment was 19% and 24% for non-GEP-NET and GEP-NETs patients, respectively. The last patient dose for 
PNT2003’s ongoing clinical trial occurred in July 2021. The sponsor of PNT2003 clinical trial has informed the Company 
that all patients will have completed the primary follow-up in the second quarter of 2022 and will have data to report to the 
Company in the second half of 2022. The Company is assessing two distinct pathways for PNT2003 with FDA. These 
pathways include a 505(b)(2) and an ANDA with the Office of Generic Drugs. The Company is currently waiting to 
complete discussions with the FDA prior to making a public announcement regarding the pathway which will be pursued.

PNT2001 — Next-generation PSMA Targeted Radioligand

Background

We estimate that there will be 269,000 new cases of prostate cancer in 2022. Of these patients, approximately 4% will 
be newly diagnosed with mHSPC, another 34% will progress from biochemical recurrent disease and finally another 26% 
of patients that will have their case misdiagnosed from traditional imaging methods. Therefore, we estimate that nearly 
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40,000 patients diagnosed in 2022 will require lifelong androgen deprivation therapy. These men often live 15 years or 
more on androgen deprivation therapy and suffer with erectile dysfunction, loss of bone density and bone fractures, loss of 
muscle mass and physical strength, weight gain, mood swings and fatigue. There is therefore an unmet need in this patient 
population to delay the need for lifelong androgen deprivation therapy in prostate cancer.

PSMA is expressed in approximately 80% of prostate cancer tumors and is present at all stages of the disease. PSMA 
expression significantly increases in locally advanced, lymph node metastases, and distant metastases as compared to 
primary tumors. Given the expression of PSMA throughout all stages of the disease there is potential that PSMA targeting 
radioligands could help to delay the need for ADT. Radiopharmaceutical development programs that are in late-stage 
development, including PNT2002, may not be suitable for the treatment of mHSPC due to off target accumulation in 
kidney which creates the potential for delayed renal toxicity that could manifest given these men live for 15 years or more; 
therefore, there is an opportunity for next-generation PSMA radioligands with less off target accumulation to fill this gap.

Our Solution: PNT2001

PNT2001 is a next-generation PSMA radioligand family of drug candidates licensed from Scintomics GmbH that 
have an improved biodistribution profile compared to current generation PSMA targeted radioligands such as PNT2002 
and therefore has the potential to be used earlier in disease progression. As demonstrated in the pre-clinical animal model 
studies, PNT2001 ligands have unique linker technology that enables increased tumor accumulation, potentially enabling 
lower doses of radioisotope to reduce off target toxicity while allowing for the same level of tumor kill.

Pre-clinical studies of the lead candidate have resulted in the identification of a lead candidate which, as compared to 
other late-stage PSMA targeted radioligands, demonstrates potent anti-tumor activity using 225Ac, while also having an 
improved biodistribution profile. POINT has advanced the lead candidate into IND-enabling studies which are expected to 
support an IND/CTA submission in the first half of 2023. The clinical development pathway being considered for 
PNT2001 is in recurrent hormone-sensitive prostate cancer and post-Lu-PSMA prostate cancer.
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CanSEEKTM

Unlike our other product candidates, CanSEEKTM is not a radiopharmaceutical. It is a prodrug technology platform 
which can be applied to a wide variety of radioligands to refine their targeting precision. The goal of CanSEEKTM is to 
enable the creation of tumor activated radioligand therapies, which have higher therapeutic indexes then their non-tumor 
activated counterparts.

Background

One of the most commonly raised concerns about radiation therapy is that off-tissue delivery of radiation can damage 
otherwise healthy tissue. For example, with PSMA-targeted therapies, kidney and salivary gland uptake are of concern. 
These concerns are amplified when patient life expectancy is long, as the effects of radiation toxicity can take long periods 
of time to manifest. The risk of damaging healthy tissue may also increase as new higher energy radioisotopes like 225Ac 
are used, increasing the importance of off-target damage mitigation strategies.

Our solution: CanSEEKTM

Due to our interest in introducing radioligand therapies earlier in the treatment setting with a wider variety of 
radioisotopes, we began investigating technologies which could be used to increase the therapeutic index of 
radiopharmaceuticals. These investigations lead to the work of Dr. William Bachovchin of Tufts University / Bach 
Biosciences, which had previously invented a prodrug technology to increase the therapeutic index of chemotherapy drugs 
like doxorubicin. Dr. Bachovchin’s technology had been licensed to a U.K.-based life sciences firm named Avacta Life 
Sciences, who subsequently branded the technology as pre | CISIONTM. We have secured a sub-licensing agreement with 
Bach Biosciences and Avacta that provides us the right to apply the technology to radiopharmaceuticals globally.

CanSEEKTM could decrease the risks associated with off-target delivery of radiopharmaceuticals by limiting their 
ability to bind with receptors on healthy cells. The way CanSEEKTM achieves this is by using the presence of fibroblast-
activation proteins, which is expressed in over 90% of epithelial cancers but not expressed in healthy cells, as a switch that 
activates the radioligand. The following image visually explains how CanSEEKTM works:

TABLE OF CONTENTS

16



CanSEEKTM is first conjugated with the radioligand, which effectively blocks the radioligand from binding to 
receptors. The presence of FAP in the tumor microenvironment then cleaves the prodrug off the radioligand. Once the 
prodrug is removed, the radioligand can once again bind to cancer cell receptors. If the radioligand does not enter the tumor 
microenvironment, the prodrug remains conjugated to it and is eliminated from the body without accumulating in off-target 
tissues expressing the receptor.

Preclinical Data and Next Steps

POINT has not published substantial preclinical data from CanSEEKTM. Multiple (d)-Ala-Pro substrate enabled 
ligands are currently being studied preclinically against different targets.

Commercialization

None of POINT’s product candidates have received the regulatory approvals required to begin commercialization. We 
intend to retain significant development and commercial rights to our product candidates and, if marketing approval is 
obtained, to either commercialize our investigational products on our own or with a partner, in the U.S. and other regions. 
We intend to build the necessary infrastructure and sales, marketing and commercial product distribution capabilities for 
the U.S., and potentially other regions, following further advancement of our investigational product candidates. Clinical 
data, the size of the addressable patient population and the size of the commercial infrastructure and manufacturing needs 
and economics related to the foregoing may all influence or alter our commercialization plans.

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by the rapid advancement of novel technologies, 
intense competition, and a strong emphasis on intellectual property. While we believe that our technology and scientific 
expertise and manufacturing capabilities provide us with competitive advantages, we face potential competition from 
multiple sources, including large pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, 
academic institutions, government agencies and public and private research organizations.

Radiopharmaceuticals are being explored in several different settings, including both commercial and academic 
clinical trials. Results from these trials combined with recent product approvals have garnered continued interest in the 
space by both large pharmaceutical companies and specialized biotechnology companies, which are developing both early-
stage and later-stage radiopharmaceutical candidates.

Given the nature of our product candidates, we consider our most direct competitors to be other companies focusing 
on beta-based radiopharmaceuticals, both in development and already approved. There are multiple companies, including 
Lantheus Holdings, Novartis AG, Bayer and Q BioMed Inc., with approved beta-based radiopharmaceutical products using 
isotopes such as 131I, 177Lu, 89Sr and 90Y. Novartis’ Lutathera® is a prominent beta-based radiopharmaceutical, and other 
beta-based radiopharmaceuticals are in various stages of clinical development by companies including Novartis AG, Ipsen 
S.A., Curium SAS, Nordic Nanovector, Cellectar Biosciences, ITM Isotope Technologies Munich SE, Clovis Oncology 
and Y-mAbs Therapeutics, Inc.

There are also several companies developing targeted alpha radiopharmaceuticals for the treatment of cancer, 
including Bayer AG, or Bayer, Novartis AG, or Novartis, Telix Pharmaceuticals Limited, Actinium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 
RadioMedix, Inc., Orano Med, Viewpoint Molecular Targeting, Atkis Oncology, Fusion Pharmaceuticals, Inc., RayzeBio, 
Inc., Aktis Oncology, Inc., and Curie Therapeutics, Inc. These companies use various alpha-emitting isotopes such as 
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223Ra, 225Ac and 227Th. Most alpha-based radiopharmaceuticals are in clinical development, with Bayer’s Xofigo® being 
the only approved alpha particle-based therapy. Xofigo® was approved in 2013 for the treatment of bone metastases in 
patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer.

For our product candidates PNT2002 and PNT2001, we are aware of several competing therapies targeting metastatic 
prostate cancer. Our closest competitor is Novartis’ PSMA-617, which uses 177Lu for the treatment of metastatic castration-
resistant prostate cancer and recently announced a positive result for its Phase 3 trial, with FDA & EU approvals expected 
in the first half of 2022. We are aware of the following companies with prostate cancer preclinical and development 
programs: Janssen, CTT, Novartis, BlueEarth, Curium, Telix and Lantheus. In addition, we expect to face indirect 
competition from established treatments of prostate cancer, including Jevtana® (Sanofi), Zytiga® (Johnson & Johnson), 
Xtandi® (Astellas Pharma and Pfizer), Erleada® (Johnson & Johnson), Lynparza® (AstraZeneca) and Xofigo® & 
Nubeqa® (Bayer). While we believe PNT2002 and PNT2001 could have significant competitive advantages compared to 
established treatments for prostate cancer (such as being used at different stages of disease), we may still face competition 
from these more established treatments.

For our product candidate PNT2003, we are aware of several competing therapies targeting neuroendocrine tumors. 
Novartis’ Lutathera®, which was approved in 2018, uses 177Lu for the treatment of patients with somatostatin receptor-
positive gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine cancers. We are aware of the following companies with neuroendocrine 
tumor, radioligand preclinical and development programs: ITM, Ipsen and Radiomedix. We also face potential competition 
from other treatments targeting neuroendocrine tumors such as Sandostatin® and Afinitor® (Novartis), Somatuline® 
(Ipsen) and Sutent® (Pfizer). While we believe PNT2003 has significant advantages (such as its usage of n.c.a. 177Lu) 
compared to conventional approaches to neuroendocrine tumors, we may still face competition from these more established 
treatments.

For our product candidate PNT2004, competitive threats include those candidates that are in development or currently 
approved for whatever indications which our product candidate may be developed. Given the preclinical stage of 
PNT2004, the specific indications that our product candidate may target is still under consideration, and specific 
competitors will become identified as our program develops. There are other early-stage programs targeting FAP, including 
Clovis Oncology, Novartis, Philogen Spa and SOFIE, which may directly compete with our candidate as either an imaging 
agent and/or therapeutic agent. However, given the early development stage of these product candidates, it is unclear 
whether they will be in direct competition with PNT2004.

CanSEEKTM, our tumor microenvironment targeting prodrug platform, is too early stage to identify direct competitors. 
While there are some companies such as Fusion Pharmaceuticals with early-stage technologies which hope to enhance the 
safety of actinium-based radiopharmaceuticals, the goals of our tumor microenvironment targeting prodrug platform extend 
beyond 225Ac-focused programs to increase the therapeutic of radiopharmaceuticals regardless of isotope used.

Many of the companies that we are competing against have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in 
research and development, manufacturing, and marketing approved products than we do. Furthermore, the merger and 
acquisition or other strategic transactions involving these companies may result in resources being concentrated among a 
small number of our competitors. If our competition develops a product that is safer or more effective than ours or brings a 
product to market faster than we can, we could see a negative impact on our commercial success. The key competitive 
factors affecting the success of our product candidates, if approved, are their efficacy, safety, convenience for doctors and 
patients, price, competitive branded and generic products, and reimbursement from government and other third-party 
payors.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property is critical to our business and our success depends, in large part, on our ability to maintain 
and develop a robust intellectual property portfolio for our technology and product candidates, as well as on our ability to 
defend and enforce our intellectual property rights. We generally seek to protect our product candidates and technology by 
seeking patent protection that would enhance clinical development and commercial success. We intend to continue relying 
upon patent protection, exclusivity pursuant to the Hatch-Waxman Act, trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological 
innovations and licensing opportunities. 

As of March 21, 2022, our patent portfolio of owned and exclusively licensed patent filings included ten different 
patent families with pending and issued patents in the U.S. and other major markets, with several of the existing patent 
families still affording additional opportunities for worldwide filings. Our portfolio includes both in-licensed and internally 
developed intellectual property to protect our programs. Estimated expiry dates for our patent portfolio range from 2038 to 
2043, with additional potential patent term adjustment and patent term extensions available in major markets and various 
other jurisdictions to extend the duration of patent protection. 
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PNT2002 

We have Patent Cooperation Treaty ("PCT"), U.S. and Taiwan applications pending and a Track 1 application 
undergoing examination in the U.S. We also have an issued patent, which is directed to proprietary methods for 
manufacturing PNT2002. In addition, the pending patent applications cover the synthesis of PNT2002 to provide high 
purity and extended shelf life, as well as proprietary formulations of PNT2002. The PCT application provides for 
additional patent protection which, at the Company’s election, can be filed on a worldwide basis in the patent offices of 
individual countries. The patent applications disclose pharmaceutical compositions, methods of treatment and the process 
for production and formulation of PNT2002 to achieve such high purities and stability for up to five days. The patents from 
this family are expected to expire in July 2041, excluding any available patent term extensions, if applicable. 

PNT2004 

We obtained an exclusive sublicense from Bach Biosciences, with PCT, U.S. and Taiwan patent applications pending. 
The PCT application provides for additional patent protection which, at the Company’s election, can be filed on a 
worldwide basis in the patent offices of individual countries. The pending applications disclose small-molecule 
radiopharmaceutical and imaging agents based on a FAP-specific inhibitor. The pending patent applications cover 
composition of matter, pharmaceutical compositions, and methods for diagnosing, imaging or reducing tissue 
overexpressing FAP in an animal. The patents from this family are expected to expire in March 2041, excluding any 
available patent term extensions, if applicable. 

PNT2003 

We obtained an exclusive license from CanProbe, CPDC and UHN, with two patent provisional applications pending 
in the U.S. The PCT application provides for additional patent protection which, at the Company’s election, can be filed on 
a worldwide basis in the patent offices of individual countries. The pending applications cover the radiopharmaceutical 
PNT2003 compound, methods of preparing the compound, pharmaceutical compositions and methods of treatment of 
various indications including neuroendocrine tumors using PNT2003. The patents from this family are expected to expire 
in August 2041, excluding any available patent term extensions, if applicable. 

PNT2001 

We obtained an exclusive license from Scintomics GmbH. This family of patents has nationalized and there are 
sixteen total patent applications pending, with one patent application pending in each of Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, 
Costa Rica, Cuba, Ecuador, Europe, Mexico, New Zealand, Panama, Peru, Tunisia, Ukraine, U.S. and South Africa. The 
patents cover new amide-based compounds which bind or inhibit PSMA and carry at least one moiety which is amenable to 
radiolabeling. Compounds are disclosed for use in pharmaceutical or diagnostic compositions for diagnosing and/or 
treating cancer. The compounds may also be used for imaging and performing endoradiotherapy in diseases involving 
PSMA. The patents in this family will expire in December 2038, excluding any available patent term extensions, where 
applicable. 

CanSEEKTM Tumor Microenvironment Targeting Technology Platform 

We obtained an exclusive sublicense from Bach Biosciences with PCT, U.S. and Taiwan patent applications pending. 
The PCT application provides for additional patent protection which, at the Company’s election, can be filed on a 
worldwide basis in the patent offices of individual countries. The pending application covers FAP-activated 
radiotheranostics that enable the delivery of radiodiagnostics and radiotherapeutics selectively to the tumor 
microenvironment. This includes radiotherapeutics designed to target other molecules or receptors in the tumor 
microenvironment, such as PSMA. The pending patent application also discloses FAP-activated theranostic prodrugs, 
compositions comprising them, and a method of treating a disorder characterized by FAP upregulation. The patents from 
this family are expected to expire in December 2041, excluding any available patent term extensions, if applicable. 

License Agreements

License Agreement with Bach Biosciences for PNT2004

In April 2020, we entered into a sublicense and collaboration agreement with Bach Biosciences to develop and 
commercialize radiopharmaceuticals (“BACH Agreement”). On September 24, 2021, POINT Biopharma Inc. entered into 
a third amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to that certain Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, dated April 2, 2020, between 
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POINT Biopharma Inc. and Bach Biosciences as amended by the First Amendment to Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, 
dated April 14, 2020, and the Second Amendment to Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, dated January 5, 2021 (collectively, 
the “Sublicense Agreement”). The Sublicense Agreement grants to POINT Biopharma Inc. an exclusive, sublicensable, 
worldwide license under Bach Biosciences patent rights to use, develop, manufacture and commercialize any products 
arising from the licensed technology. Pursuant to the Third Amendment, POINT Biopharma Inc. exercised its option (the 
“Commercialization Option”) under the Sublicense Agreement to acquire a worldwide exclusive, royalty bearing license to 
commercialize any products and processes from uses of patent rights for FAP-targeted radiopharmaceuticals. The Third 
Amendment also amended the Sublicense Agreement to provide the Company with the first option (the “Invention 
Option”) to acquire a worldwide exclusive royalty bearing license to Bach Biosciences’s patent rights, materials and know-
how with respect to new inventions directed to FAP-targeted radiopharmaceuticals. As partial consideration for the 
exercise of the Commercialization Option and the grant of the Invention Option under the Third Amendment, POINT 
Biopharma Inc. paid, upon execution of the Sublicense Agreement, an option exercise fee of $3,250,000. We are also 
required to make regular quarterly contributions up to a specified amount to Bach Biosciences specified research and 
development until June 1, 2022 and October 1, 2022, in each case, commencing on October 1, 2021. We are obligated to 
make the aggregate milestone payments of up to $8,000,000 to Bach Biosciences upon the achievement of specified 
development and regulatory milestones and up to $38,000,000 upon the achievement of specified sales milestones under 
the BACH Agreement. We are also obligated to pay a low-teens percentage royalty related to the annual net sales of each 
licensed products or licensed process covered by a valid claim, but reduced to a single digit percentage royalty related to 
net sales in the absence of a Valid Claim by us and any of its affiliates and sublicensees based on its global sales. Royalties 
will be paid by us on a country-by country basis beginning upon the first commercial sale in such country. There is also an 
additional low- teens to mid-twenties percentage sublicense fee payable to Bach Biosciences for monetary payments 
arising from a grant of a sub-license to a sub-licensee or in the form of other benefits, depending on the specified 
development stage of the product.

We have the right to terminate the BACH Agreement, subject to a prior written notice of 90 days to Bach Biosciences. 
If we fail or Bach Biosciences fails to comply with any of its obligations or otherwise breaches the agreement, the other 
party may terminate the agreement. The BACH Agreement expires upon the cessation of commercialization of the last 
licensed product by us. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we have made a payment to Bach Biosciences of 
$3,250,000 related to the Commercialization Option discussed above.

Concurrently in April 2020, we entered into a research agreement with Bach Biosciences for a period of 5 years where 
Bach Biosciences is contracted to perform research on our behalf, with respect to the BACH Agreement. Under the 
research agreement we will make payments to Bach Biosciences in accordance with an agreed upon payment schedule, 
upon which any sums payable will be credited against the option exercise fee under the sublicense agreement. During the 
year ended December 31, 2021, we made payments for the sponsored research agreements in the amount of $1,250,000.

License Agreement with CanProbe for PNT2003

In December 2020 we entered into a license agreement with CanProbe (“CanProbe Agreement”). Under the CanProbe 
Agreement, we were granted an exclusive, sublicensable, worldwide license under CanProbe’s patent rights to use, 
develop, manufacture and commercialize any products arising from the patent. The CanProbe Agreement remains in effect 
until terminated.

Under the CanProbe Agreement, we paid an upfront fee of approximately $386,000 ($500,000 CAD) for the execution 
of the agreement and a further payment of approximately $188,000 ($250,000 CAD), which will be credited against the 
first milestone payment. We are obligated to make aggregate milestone payments to CanProbe of up to $2,573,000 
($3,250,000 CAD) upon the achievement of receiving development, regulatory and market approval for specified 
territories. We are also obligated to pay a single digit percentage royalty during the term of the agreement related to the 
annual net sales. We will pay royalties on a country-by country basis beginning upon the first commercial sale in such 
country. There is also an additional low-teens percentage fee payable to CanProbe for monetary payments arising from a 
grant of a sublicense to a sublicensee or in the form of other benefits. In the event it is necessary for us or our sublicensees 
to sell the product in a sub-territory or to obtain a license and to pay royalties to one or more third parties on net-sales, and 
if the aggregate royalty burden payable is greater than a high single digit percent of net-sales, then we may reduce the 
royalty fees or sub-licensing fees for sales of such product by 50% of royalties actually paid to the third party on net sales 
of the product in the territory in the same royalty period. We are responsible for all costs and expenses incurred related to 
the development, manufacture, regulatory approval and commercialization of all licensed products. During the year ended 
December 31, 2021, we did not make any payments to CanProbe or recognize any research and development expenses 
under the CanProbe Agreement.

We have the right to terminate the CanProbe Agreement, subject to a prior notice of 90 days. CanProbe may also 
terminate the agreement for specified territories under certain conditions. If we fail or CanProbe fails to comply with any of 
its obligations or otherwise breaches the agreement, the other party may terminate the agreement.
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License Agreement with Scintomics GmbH for PNT2001

In November 2019, we entered into a license agreement with Scintomics GmbH (“SCI Agreement”). Under the SCI 
Agreement, we were granted an exclusive sublicensable license and worldwide rights outside of Asia and the Middle East 
to the development, production and sale of any product that may arise from the licensed technology. The term of the SCI 
Agreement continues until the expiration or lapse of the last Contract Proprietary Right or the expiration of the last Data/
Market Exclusivity, whichever occurs later.

Under the SCI Agreement, we are obligated to make aggregate milestone payments of up to $26,800,000 
(€23,500,000) upon the achievement of specified development and regulatory milestones. We are also obligated to pay a 
low-teens percentage royalty related to the annual net sales by us and any of our affiliates and sublicensees. We will pay 
royalties on a country-by country basis beginning upon the first commercial sale in such country. There is also an 
additional low thirties percentage fee payable to SCI for monetary payments arising from the grant of a sublicense to a 
sublicensee or in the form of other benefits

We have the right to terminate the SCI Agreement, subject to five months’ prior notice with a termination fee of 
approximately $1,400,000 (€1,250,000) unless the first milestone payment has already been paid. If we fail or SCI fails to 
comply with any of its obligations or otherwise breaches the agreement, the other party may terminate the agreement upon 
written notification. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we did not make any payments to SCI or recognize any 
research and development expenses under the SCI Agreement.

Second License Agreement with Bach Biosciences for Tumor Microenvironment Targeting Technology

In December 2020, we entered into a sublicense and collaboration agreement with Bach Biosciences to develop and 
commercialize synthetic compounds that leverage a proprietary technology platform (“Second BACH Agreement”). Under 
the Second BACH Agreement, we were granted an exclusive, sublicensable and worldwide license under Bach 
Biosciences’s patent rights to use, develop, manufacture and commercialize any products arising from the patent related to 
the synthetic compounds. We are responsible for the costs of all preclinical and clinical development activities during the 
preclinical and clinical development phase of the collaboration.

For the exclusive commercialization option, we paid an upfront fee of $200,000 in January 2021. We are further 
obligated to make aggregate milestone payments to Bach Biosciences of up to $3,000,000 for the first product developed, 
upon the achievement of specified development and regulatory milestones and of up to $45,000,000 upon the achievement 
of specified sales milestones. For subsequent products, we are obligated to make a milestone payment to Bach Biosciences 
of up to $1,000,000 for major market regulatory approval and of up to $45,000,000 upon the achievement of specified sales 
milestones. We are also obligated to pay a low-teens percentage royalty which is reduced by the royalty payments made to 
Avacta, related to the annual net sales by us and any of our affiliates and sublicensees based on our global sales for all 
products. We will pay royalties on a country-by country basis beginning upon the first commercial sale in such country. 
There is also an additional low- teens to mid-twenties percentage sublicense fee payable to for monetary payments arising 
from a grant of a sub-license to a sub-licensee or in the form of other benefits, depending on the specified development 
stage of the product.

We have the right to terminate the Second BACH Agreement subject to a prior written notice of 90 days to Bach 
Biosciences. If we fail or Bach Biosciences fails to comply with any of its obligations or otherwise breaches the agreement, 
the other party may terminate the agreement. The Second BACH Agreement expires upon the cessation of 
commercialization of the last licensed product by us. The royalty term will expire on a licensed product-by-licensed 
product or licensed process-by-licensed process and country-by-country basis, the time period commencing on the first 
commercial sale of such licensed product or licensed process in such country and continuing until the later of (i) the 
expiration of the last to expire Valid Claim covering the licensed product or licensed process in such country, or (ii) 10 
years after the first commercial sale of the licensed product or licensed process in such country.

On January 22, 2021, we entered into a research agreement with Bach Biosciences for a period of three years where 
Bach Biosciences is contracted to perform research on our behalf, with respect to the Second BACH Agreement. During 
the year ended December 31, 2021, we made payments for the sponsored research agreement in the amount of $800,000.

License agreement with Avacta for Tumor Microenvironment Targeting Technology

In December 2020, we entered into an agreement with Avacta. Under the Avacta Agreement, we became a 
sublicensee of Avacta’s license for using the intellectual property of developing and marketing FAP-activated 
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radiopharmaceutical agents. Under this agreement, we obtained an exclusive license of Avacta’s patent rights to use, 
develop, manufacture and commercialize any FAP-activated PSMA targeted radiopharmaceutical and a non-exclusive 
license of Avacta’s patent rights for other FAP-activated radiopharmaceuticals arising from the licensed technology.

We paid $1,000,000 for the initial license fee, which was paid in equal installments upon the achievement of certain 
preclinical milestones. We are further obligated to make aggregate milestone payments to Avacta of up to $4,500,000, 
upon the achievement of specified development milestones for our first product and up to $3,000,000 each for any license 
products upon reaching the specified development milestone. In addition, we are obligated to pay a milestone payment of 
$5,000,000 for each product for the regulatory milestone of being approved in specified territories. There is also an 
additional single digit percentage fee payable to Avacta for monetary payments arising from a grant of a sublicense to a 
sublicensee or in the form of other benefits. We are also obligated to pay a single digit percentage royalty (subject to a 
reduction on certain conditions) related to the annual net sales by us, our affiliates or our sublicensees for each licensed 
product or license process and a single digit percentage royalty on a specified product arising out of the patents. The 
royalty rate will be reduced by 50% for net sales occurring in the United States if there is no valid claim at the time of sale. 
There is also an additional single digit percentage fee payable to Avacta for monetary payments arising from a grant of a 
sublicense to a sublicensee or in the form of other benefits. We are responsible for all costs and expenses incurred related to 
the development, manufacture, regulatory approval and commercialization of all licensed products.

We have the right to terminate the Avacta Agreement, subject to a prior notice of 90 days to Avacta. If we fail or 
Avacta fails to comply with any of its obligations or otherwise breaches the agreement, the other party may terminate the 
agreement. The Avacta Agreement will expire on a Licensed Product-by-Licensed Product or Licensed Process-by-
Licensed Process and country-by-country basis, upon the expiration of the Royalty Term in such country. The royalty term 
will expire on a licensed product-by-licensed product or licensed process-by-licensed process and country-by-country 
basis, the time period commencing on the first commercial sale of such licensed product or licensed process in such 
country and continuing until the later of (i) the expiration of the last to expire Valid Claim covering the licensed product or 
licensed process in such country, or (ii) 10 years after the first commercial sale of the licensed product or licensed process 
in such country.

License agreement with Belgian Nuclear Research Centre

On June 30, 2021, we entered into a license agreement with the Belgian Nuclear Research Centre (“SCK-CEN”). 
Under the SCK-CEN Agreement, we were granted a worldwide, royalty-bearing, non-exclusive, sublicensable license 
under SCK-CEN’s patent rights to develop, make, have made, use and import n.c.a. 177Lu using SCK-CEN Technology. 
We are obligated to make aggregate milestone payments to SCK-CEN of up to $125,000 (€110,000) upon the achievement 
of certain technology implementation milestones. We are also obligated to make aggregate minimum royalty payments of 
$8,100,000 (€7,120,000) over the course of eight years commencing in 2023 with an annual cap of €6,300,000 over the 
same term. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we did not record any costs in connection to this license agreement.

Business Combination

On June 30, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), POINT consummated a business combination transaction (the “Business 
Combination”) with Therapeutics Acquisition Corp., d/b/a Research Alliance Corp. I, a Delaware corporation (“RACA”), 
pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2021 (the “Business Combination 
Agreement”), by and among RACA, Bodhi Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of 
RACA (“Merger Sub”), and POINT Biopharma Inc. Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, on the Closing 
Date, (i) Merger Sub merged with and into POINT Biopharma Inc. (the “Merger”), with POINT Biopharma Inc. as the 
surviving company in the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of RACA and (ii) RACA changed its name to “POINT 
Biopharma Global Inc.”

In accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of the Business Combination Agreement, at the effective 
time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), (i) each share and vested equity award of POINT Biopharma Inc. outstanding as 
of immediately prior to the Effective Time was exchanged for shares of the common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of 
POINT (“Common Stock”) or comparable vested equity awards that are exercisable for shares of Common Stock, as 
applicable, based on an implied POINT Biopharma Inc. vested equity value of $585,000,000 (which results in a conversion 
ratio of approximately 3.59:1); (ii) all unvested equity awards of POINT Biopharma Inc. were exchanged for comparable 
unvested equity awards that are exercisable for shares of Common Stock, determined based on the same exchange ratio at 
which the vested equity awards were exchanged for shares of Common Stock; and (iii) each share of Class A common 
stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of RACA (“Class A Common Stock”) and each share of Class B common stock, par 
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value $0.0001 per share, of RACA (“Class B Common Stock”) that was issued and outstanding immediately prior to the 
Effective Time became one share of Common Stock following the consummation of the Business Combination.

In addition, concurrently with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, on March 15, 2021, RACA 
entered into subscription agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) with certain investors (the “PIPE Investors”), 
pursuant to which the PIPE Investors agreed to subscribe for and purchase, and RACA agreed to issue and sell to the PIPE 
Investors, an aggregate of 16,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at a price of $10.00 per share, for aggregate gross 
proceeds of $165,000,000 (the “PIPE Financing”). The PIPE Financing was consummated concurrently with the closing of 
the Business Combination. We received net proceeds of approximately $260.0 million consisting of proceeds of the PIPE 
Financing and the proceeds remaining in RACA’s trust account. Transaction costs of approximately $27.0 million 
consisted of investment banker, legal, audit, tax, accounting, consulting, insurance, board retainer fees and listing fees.

Government Regulation

Government authorities in the U.S. at the federal, state and local level extensively regulate, among other things, the 
research, development, testing, manufacture, quality control, approval, labeling, packaging, storage, record-keeping, 
promotion, advertising, distribution, post-approval monitoring and reporting, marketing and export and import of drug 
products, such as those we are developing and any other product candidates we may develop. These laws and regulations 
include, but are not limited to the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act 
(“CERCLA”), which imposes strict, joint and several liability on current and former owners and operators of sites and on 
persons who disposed of or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances found at such sites, including releases of 
radioactive materials, regardless of the lawfulness of the original activities that led to the contamination, the Low-level 
Radioactive Waste Policy Act ("LLRW Policy Act"), which requires the safe disposal of mildly radioactive materials that 
cannot be decayed in storage, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission ("NRC") regulations concerning various irradiated and 
radioactive, materials, and health regulations from the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration, which limit 
exposures to hazardous substances, including radioactive materials, in the workplace and impose various worker safety 
requirements.

We, along with third-party contractors, are also required to comply with the various preclinical, clinical, and 
commercial approval requirements of the governing regulatory agencies of the countries in which we wish to conduct 
studies or seek approval or licensure of PNT2001, PNT2002, PNT2003, PNT2004, CanSEEKTM or any future drug 
candidate. Generally, before a new drug can be marketed, considerable data demonstrating its quality, safety and 
effectiveness must be obtained, organized into a format specific for each regulatory authority, submitted for review and 
approved by the regulatory authority.

FDA Drug Development and Approval Process

In the U.S., the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”) and its 
implementing regulations. Drugs also are subject to other federal, state and local statutes and regulations. The process of 
obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state and local statutes and 
regulations requires the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. Failure to comply with applicable U.S. 
requirements at any time during the product development process, approval process or post-market may subject an 
applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include, among other actions, the FDA’s refusal to 
approve pending applications, withdrawal of an approval, a clinical hold, untitled or warning letters, product recalls or 
market withdrawals, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, refusals of 
government contracts, restitution, disgorgement and civil or criminal penalties. Any agency or judicial enforcement action 
could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our product candidates and any future drug product candidates we may develop must be approved by the FDA 
through a new drug application (“NDA”), the vehicle through which drug sponsors formally propose that the FDA approve 
a new drug for sale and marketing in the United States. NDAs can be divided into the following four categories: 

1. A stand-alone NDA is an application submitted under section 505(b)(1) and approved under section 505(c) of the 
FDCA that contains full reports of investigations of safety and effectiveness that were conducted by or for the 
applicant or for which the applicant has a right of reference or use. 

2. A 505(b)(2) application is an NDA submitted under section 505(b)(1) and approved under section 505(c) of the 
FDCA that contains full reports of investigations of safety and effectiveness, where at least some of the 
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information required for approval comes from studies not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the 
applicant has not obtained a right of reference or use.

3. An ANDA is an application submitted and approved under section 505(j) of the FDCA for a drug product that is a 
duplicate of a previously approved drug product. An ANDA relies on FDA’s finding that the previously approved 
drug product, i.e., the reference listed drug (RLD) is safe and effective. An ANDA generally must contain 
information to show that the proposed generic product (1) is the same as the RLD with respect to the active 
ingredient(s), conditions of use, route of administration, dosage form, strength, and labeling (with certain 
permissible differences) and (2) is bioequivalent to the RLD. An ANDA may not be submitted if clinical 
investigations are necessary to establish the safety and effectiveness of the proposed drug product. 

4. A petitioned ANDA is a type of ANDA for a drug product that differs from the RLD in its dosage form, route of 
administration, strength, or active ingredient (in a product with more than one active ingredient) and for which 
FDA has determined, in response to a petition submitted under section 505(j)(2)(C) of the FDCA (suitability 
petition), that studies are not necessary to establish the safety and effectiveness of the proposed drug product. A 
petitioned ANDA is generally expected to provide the same therapeutic effect as the listed drug that was relied on 
as the basis of the suitability petition. 

There are other preliminary steps that must be conducted prior to the submission of a NDA. The FDA review and 
approval process for drugs generally involves the following:

• completion of extensive preclinical studies in accordance with applicable regulations, including studies conducted 
in accordance with good laboratory practices (“GLP”) requirements;

• submission to the FDA of an IND application, which must become effective before human clinical trials may 
begin and must be updated annually or when significant changes are made;

• approval by an Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) or independent ethics committee at each clinical trial site 
before each trial may be initiated;

• performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with applicable IND regulations, 
good clinical practice (“GCP”) requirements and other clinical trial-related regulations to establish the safety and 
effectiveness of the investigational drug for each proposed indication;

• preparation and submission of the NDA to the FDA after completion of all pivotal clinical trials that includes 
substantial evidence of safety and effectiveness from results of nonclinical and clinical trials, and satisfactory 
completion of an FDA Advisory Committee review, if applicable;

• a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of the NDA to accept the filing for review;

• satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities where the 
drug will be produced to assess compliance with current good manufacturing practices (“cGMP”) requirements;

• potential FDA audit of the clinical trial sites that generated the data in support of the NDA; and

• FDA review and approval of the NDA, including consideration of the views of any FDA Advisory Committee, 
prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the drug for the intended indications in the U.S.

The preclinical and clinical testing and approval process requires substantial time, effort and financial resources, and 
we cannot be certain that any approvals for our product candidates will be granted on a timely basis, or at all.

Preclinical Studies, Development and IND Submission

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry and formulation, as well as in vitro and animal 
studies to assess the potential for adverse events and in some cases to establish a rationale for therapeutic use. The conduct 
of preclinical studies is subject to federal regulations and requirements, including GLP regulations for safety/toxicology 
studies.
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An IND sponsor must submit the results of its preclinical studies, together with manufacturing information, analytical 
data, any available clinical data or literature and plans for clinical trials, among other things, to the FDA as part of the IND. 
An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an investigational product to humans, and must become 
effective before human clinical trials may begin. Some long-term preclinical testing may continue after the IND is 
submitted. An IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time, the FDA 
raises concerns or questions related to one or more proposed clinical trials and places the trial on clinical hold. In such a 
case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. As a result, 
submission of an IND may not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to commence.

Clinical Trials

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational drug to human subjects under the supervision of 
qualified investigators, generally physicians not employed by or under the trial sponsor’s control, in accordance with GCP 
and regulations governing the protection of human research subjects, including the requirement that all research subjects 
provide voluntary informed consent for their participation in any clinical trial.

Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the clinical trial, dosing 
procedures, subject selection and exclusion criteria and the parameters to be used to monitor subject safety and assess 
efficacy. Each protocol, and any subsequent amendments to the protocol, must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. 
Further, each clinical trial must be reviewed and approved by an IRB for each institution at which the clinical trial will be 
conducted to ensure that the risks to individuals participating in the clinical trials are minimized and are reasonable in 
relation to anticipated benefits. The IRB also approves the informed consent form that must be provided to each clinical 
trial subject or his or her legal representative, and must monitor the clinical trial until completed. The IRB is responsible for 
ensuring that human subject’s rights and privacy are maintained. Regulatory authorities, the IRB, or the sponsor may 
suspend a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the subjects are being exposed to an 
unacceptable risk or that the trial is unlikely to meet its stated objectives. Some studies also include oversight by an 
independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical study sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board 
(“DSMB”), which provides authorization for whether or not a study may move forward at designated check points based 
on access to certain data from the study. The DSMB may halt the clinical trial if it determines that there is an unacceptable 
safety risk for subjects or other grounds, such as no demonstration of efficacy. There also are requirements governing the 
reporting of ongoing clinical trials and completed clinical trial results to public registries.

A sponsor who wishes to conduct a clinical trial outside of the U.S. may, but need not, obtain FDA authorization to 
conduct the clinical trial under an IND. If a foreign clinical trial is not conducted under an IND, the sponsor may submit 
data from the clinical trial to the FDA in support of an IND. The FDA will accept a well-designed and well-conducted 
foreign clinical trial not conducted under an IND if the study was conducted in accordance with GCP requirements, and the 
FDA is able to validate the data through an onsite inspection if deemed necessary.

Clinical trials generally are conducted in three sequential phases, known as Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3, and may 
overlap or be combined.

• Phase 1 clinical trials generally involve a small number of healthy volunteers or disease-affected patients who are 
initially exposed to a single dose and then multiple doses of the product candidate. The primary purpose of these 
clinical trials is to assess the metabolism, pharmacologic action, side effect tolerability and safety of the product 
candidate.

• Phase 2 clinical trials involve studies in disease-affected patients to determine the dose required to produce the 
desired benefits. At the same time, safety and further pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic information is 
collected, possible adverse effects and safety risks are identified and a preliminary evaluation of efficacy is 
conducted. For oncologic diseases with high unmet medical need Phase 2 trials with primary endpoints considered 
a validated surrogate for clinical effectiveness may support accelerated approval. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials 
may be conducted to obtain information prior to beginning larger, confirmatory Phase 3 clinical trials.

• Phase 3 clinical trials generally involve a large number of patients at multiple sites and are designed to provide the 
statistically significant data necessary to demonstrate or confirm the effectiveness of the product candidate for its 
intended use, its safety in use and to establish the overall benefit/risk relationship of the product candidate and 
provide an adequate basis for product labeling.
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Post-approval trials, sometimes referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials, may be conducted after initial marketing 
approval. These trials are used to gain additional experience from the treatment of patients in the intended therapeutic 
indication. In some cases, the FDA may require Phase 4 clinical trials as a condition for approval of the NDA. 

Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials, among other information, must be submitted at least 
annually to the FDA and written IND safety reports must be submitted to the FDA and the investigators for serious and 
unexpected suspected adverse events, findings from other studies or animal or in vitro testing that suggest a significant risk 
for human subjects and any clinically important increase in the rate of a serious suspected adverse reaction over that listed 
in the protocol or investigator brochure.

Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials may not be completed successfully within any specified period, if at all. 
The FDA or the sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that 
the research subjects or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspend or 
terminate approval of a clinical trial at its institution if the clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with the IRB’s 
requirements or if the drug has been associated with unexpected serious harm to patients.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usually complete additional animal studies and must develop additional 
information about the chemistry and physical characteristics of the drug as well as finalize a process for manufacturing the 
product in commercial quantities in accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufacturing process must be capable of 
consistently producing quality batches of the product and, among other things, companies must develop methods for testing 
the identity, strength, quality and purity of the final product. Additionally, appropriate packaging must be selected and 
tested, and stability studies must be conducted to demonstrate that the product candidates do not undergo unacceptable 
deterioration over their shelf life.

NDA Submission, Review and Approval Process

Assuming successful completion of all required testing in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements, the 
results of nonclinical studies and clinical trials are submitted to the FDA as part of the NDA requesting approval to market 
the product for one or more indications. The NDA must include all relevant data available from pertinent preclinical and 
clinical studies, including negative or ambiguous results as well as positive findings, together with detailed information 
relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing and controls, and proposed labeling, among other things. The 
submission of a NDA requires payment of a substantial application user fee to the FDA (unless a waiver or exemption 
applies).

Once a NDA has been submitted, the FDA’s goal is to review standard applications within ten months after it accepts 
the application for filing (a 60-day process), or, if the application qualifies for priority review, six months after the FDA 
accepts the application for filing. In both standard and priority reviews, the review process can be significantly extended by 
FDA requests for additional information or clarification.

The FDA reviews a NDA to determine, among other things, whether a drug is safe and effective and that the facility in 
which it is manufactured, processed, packed, or held meets standards designed to assure the product’s continued safety and 
effectiveness. The FDA will not approve an application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities 
are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required 
specifications. Additionally, before approving a NDA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites to assure 
compliance with GCPs. If the FDA determines that the application, manufacturing processes, or manufacturing facilities 
are not acceptable, it will outline the deficiencies in the submission and often will request additional testing or information. 
Notwithstanding the submission of any requested additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that the NDA 
does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.

After the FDA evaluates the NDA and conducts inspections of manufacturing facilities where the investigational 
product and/or its drug substance will be produced, the FDA may issue an approval letter or a complete response letter. An 
approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the product with specific prescribing information for specific 
indications. A complete response letter will describe all of the deficiencies that the FDA has identified in the NDA, except 
that, where the FDA determines that the data supporting the application are inadequate to support approval, the FDA may 
issue the complete response letter without first conducting required inspections, testing submitted product lots, and/or 
reviewing proposed labeling. In issuing the complete response letter, the FDA may recommend actions that the applicant 
might undertake to resolve any findings and place the NDA in condition for approval, including requests for additional 
information or clarification. The FDA may delay or refuse approval of a NDA if applicable regulatory criteria are not 
satisfied, require additional testing or information and/or require post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor safety 
or effectiveness of a product.
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If regulatory approval of a product is granted, such approval will be granted for particular indications and may entail 
limitations on the indicated uses for which such product may be marketed. For example, the FDA may approve the NDA 
with a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”), to ensure the benefits of the product outweigh its risks. REMS 
is a safety strategy to manage a known or potential serious risk associated with a product and to enable patients to have 
continued access to such medicines by managing their safe use, and could include medication guides, physician 
communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other 
risk minimization tools. The FDA also may condition approval on, among other things, changes to proposed labeling or the 
development of adequate controls and specifications. Even if approved, the FDA may withdraw the product approval if 
compliance with pre- and post-marketing requirements is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the 
marketplace. The FDA may require one or more Phase 4 post-market studies and surveillance to further assess and monitor 
the product’s safety and effectiveness after commercialization, and may limit further marketing of the product based on the 
results of these post-marketing studies.

Expedited Development and Review Programs

The FDA offers a number of expedited development and review programs for qualifying product candidates. The fast 
track program is intended to expedite or facilitate the process for reviewing new drugs that meet certain criteria. 
Specifically, new drugs are eligible for fast track designation if they are intended to treat a serious or life-threatening 
condition and preclinical or clinical data demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for the condition. Fast 
track designation applies to both the product and the specific indication for which it is being studied. For products 
containing new molecular entities, priority review designation means the FDA’s goal is to take action on the marketing 
application within six months of the 60-day filing date (compared with ten months under standard review). The FDA may 
also review sections of the NDA for a fast track product on a rolling basis before the complete application is submitted, if 
the sponsor and FDA agree on a schedule for the submission of the application sections, and the sponsor pays any required 
user fees upon submission of the first section of the NDA. The review clock does not begin until the final section of the 
NDA is submitted.

Additionally, a drug may be eligible for designation as a “breakthrough therapy” if the product is intended, alone or in 
combination with one or more other drugs, to treat a serious or life-threatening condition and preliminary clinical evidence 
indicates that the product may demonstrate substantial improvement over currently approved therapies on one or more 
clinically significant endpoints. The benefits of breakthrough therapy designation include the same benefits as fast track 
designation, as well as more intensive FDA interaction and guidance beginning as early as Phase 1 and an organizational 
commitment to expedite the development and review of the product, including involvement of senior managers.

Additionally, products studied for their safety and effectiveness in treating serious or life-threatening diseases or 
conditions may receive accelerated approval upon a determination that the product has an effect on a surrogate endpoint 
that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible 
morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical 
benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the condition and the availability or lack of alternative 
treatments. As a condition of accelerated approval, the FDA will generally require the sponsor to perform adequate and 
well-controlled post-marketing clinical studies to verify and describe the anticipated effect on irreversible morbidity or 
mortality or other clinical benefit. In addition, the FDA currently requires as a condition for accelerated approval pre-
approval of promotional materials, which could adversely impact the timing of the commercial launch of the product. If 
signed into law, the Promising Pathway Act (S. 1644), introduced in the U.S. Senate in May 2021, would reform the 
accelerated approval pathway by, among other things, requiring sponsors to supply data to patient registries for 
“provisionally” approved drugs and allows the FDA to withdraw provisional approval if a significant number of patients 
experience serious adverse effects compared to available therapies.

Fast track designation, priority review, and breakthrough therapy designation do not change the standards for approval 
but may expedite the development or approval process. Even if a product qualifies for one or more of these programs, the 
FDA may later decide that the product no longer meets the conditions for qualification or decide that the time period for 
FDA review or approval will not be shortened.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan designation to a drug intended to treat a rare disease or 
condition, which is generally a disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the U.S., or more than 
200,000 individuals in the U.S. and for which there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making the 
product available in the U.S. for this type of disease or condition will be recovered from sales of the product.
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Orphan designation must be requested before submitting a NDA. After the FDA grants orphan designation, the 
generic identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. The orphan drug 
designation in and of itself does not convey any advantage in, or automatically shorten the duration of, the regulatory 
review or approval process. However, a drug granted orphan status allows the sponsor to receive tax credits and a user fee 
waiver.

If a product that has orphan designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the disease for which it has 
such designation, the product is entitled to orphan exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other 
applications, including a full NDA, to market the same product for the same indication for seven years, except in limited 
circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan drug exclusivity. Orphan exclusivity 
does not prevent FDA from approving a different drug for the same disease or condition, or the same drug for a different 
disease or condition. A designated orphan product may not receive orphan exclusivity if it is approved for a use that is 
broader than the indication for which it received orphan designation. In addition, exclusive marketing rights in the U.S. 
may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defective or if the manufacturer is 
unable to assure sufficient quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition.

Pediatric Information

Section 504 of the FDA Reauthorization Act of 2017 ("FDARA") amended section 505B of the FDCA to require—for 
original applications submitted on or after August 18, 2020—pediatric investigations of certain targeted cancer drugs with 
new active ingredients, based on molecular mechanism of action rather than clinical indication. Specifically, if an original 
NDA for a new active ingredient, and the drug that is the subject of the application is intended for treatment of an adult 
cancer and directed at a molecular target FDA determines to be substantially relevant to the growth or progression of a 
pediatric cancer, reports on the molecularly targeted pediatric cancer investigation must be submitted with the marketing 
application, unless FDA formally waives or defers the requirement after submission of an initial Pediatric Study Plan. 

Post-Approval Requirements

Following approval of a new product, the manufacturer and the approved product are subject to continuing regulation 
by the FDA, including, among other things, monitoring and record-keeping activities, reporting of adverse experiences, 
product sampling and distribution, complying with promotion and advertising requirements, which include restrictions on 
promoting products for unapproved uses or patient populations (known as “off-label use”) and limitations on industry-
sponsored scientific and educational activities. Although physicians may prescribe legally available products for off-label 
uses, manufacturers may not market or promote such uses. Prescription drug promotional materials must be submitted to 
the FDA in conjunction with their first use. Further, most modifications to the drug, including changes in indications, 
labeling or manufacturing processes or facilities, are subject to FDA review and approval. There also are continuing user 
fee requirements, under which FDA assesses an annual program fee for each product identified in an approved NDA.

The FDA may also place other conditions on approvals including the requirement for REMS to assure the safe use of 
the product. If the FDA concludes REMS is needed, the sponsor of the NDA must submit a proposed REMS. The FDA 
will not approve the NDA without an approved REMS, if required. REMS could include medication guides, physician 
communication plans or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk 
minimization tools. Any of these limitations on approval or marketing could restrict the commercial promotion, 
distribution, prescription or dispensing of products. Product approvals may be withdrawn for non-compliance with 
regulatory standards or if problems occur following initial marketing.

FDA regulations require that products be manufactured in specific facilities and in accordance with cGMP regulations. 
Even with our facility in Indianapolis, Indiana being operational, we may also rely on third parties for the production of 
clinical supply of our product candidates in accordance with cGMP regulations. These manufacturers must comply with 
cGMP regulations that require, among other things, quality control and quality assurance, the maintenance of records and 
documentation and the obligation to investigate and correct any deviations from cGMP. Manufacturers and other entities 
involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs are required to register their establishments with the FDA 
and certain state agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for 
compliance with cGMP requirements and other laws. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money 
and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance. The discovery of violations, 
including failure to conform to cGMP regulations, could result in enforcement actions, and the discovery of post-approval 
problems with a product may result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer or holder of an approved NDA, including 
recall.
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The FDA may withdraw approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if 
problems occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, 
including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with 
regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information; imposition of post-
market studies or clinical studies to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions 
under a REMS program. Other potential consequences include, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of a product, mandated modification of promotional materials or 
the issuance of corrective information, issuance by FDA or other regulatory authorities of safety alerts, Dear 
Healthcare Provider letters, press releases or other communications containing warnings or other safety 
information about the product, or complete withdrawal of the product from the market or product recalls;

• fines, warning or untitled letters or holds on post-approval clinical studies;

• refusal of the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications, or suspension or 
revocation of existing product approvals;

• product seizure or detention, or refusal of the FDA to permit the import or export of products; or

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

U.S. Healthcare Laws and Regulation

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to extensive and complex federal and state laws and regulations, including 
those related to healthcare fraud and abuse, privacy and security of health information and other personal data, 
transparency of financial relationships, registration of manufacturers and distributors, and marketing. These laws and 
regulations are broadly applicable, may vary across jurisdictions, and are administered by several different government 
agencies, including the FDA, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), the Centers for Medicare & 
Medicaid Services (“CMS”), and the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”). Further, these laws and regulations are subject to 
change, enforcement practices may evolve, and it is difficult to predict the impact of new laws and regulations. 
Noncompliance with applicable laws and regulations may result in the imposition of civil and criminal penalties that could 
adversely affect our operations and financial condition.

Fraud and Abuse

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits providers and others from directly or indirectly soliciting, receiving, 
offering or paying any remuneration with the intent of generating referrals or orders for items or services covered by a 
federal healthcare program. Courts have interpreted this statute broadly and have held that there is a violation of the Anti-
Kickback Statute if just one purpose of the remuneration is to generate referrals, even if there are other lawful purposes. 
Furthermore, knowledge of the law or the intent to violate the law is not required. Violations of the Anti-Kickback Statute 
may be punished by criminal fines, imprisonment, substantial civil monetary penalties, damages of up to three times the 
total amount of the remuneration and/or exclusion from participation in federal health care programs, including Medicare 
and Medicaid. In addition, submission of a claim for services or items generated in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute 
may be subject to additional penalties under the federal False Claims Act (“FCA”) as a false or fraudulent claim.

Federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the civil FCA, govern the submission of claims for 
reimbursement and prohibit individuals and entities from making false claims or statements. The FCA may be enforced by 
the federal government directly or by a private individual, acting as a “whistleblower,” on behalf of the federal 
government. There are many potential bases for liability under the FCA, including knowingly, which is defined broadly, 
submitting a false claim for reimbursement to the federal government or submitting claims for services or items generated 
in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute. Parties can be held liable under the FCA even when they do not directly submit 
claims to government payors if they are deemed to cause the submission of false or fraudulent claims. If a defendant is 
determined to have violated the FCA, they may be required to pay three times the actual damages sustained by the 
government, plus mandatory civil penalties for each separate false claim and potential exclusion from participation in 
federal healthcare programs. Additionally, individuals or entities may be subject to criminal penalties under the criminal 
FCA.

Criminal and civil penalties may be imposed under other statutes that prohibit various forms of fraud and abuse. For 
example, the federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law (“CMP Law”), which requires a lower burden of proof than some other 
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fraud and abuse laws, provides for penalties for a variety of healthcare fraud violations. These include, but are not limited 
to, the offering or transfer of remuneration to a federal healthcare program beneficiary knowing that such action is likely to 
influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular provider of items or services payable by federal healthcare programs, 
unless an exception applies. The CMP Law authorizes the HHS Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) to seek civil monetary 
penalties and exclusion from federal healthcare programs.

In addition, many states have similar fraud and abuse laws, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which 
may impose additional liability for the types of acts prohibited by federal law. Some state laws apply to healthcare items or 
services that are reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers.

Privacy and Security

Privacy and security regulations issued pursuant to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 
(“HIPAA”), as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 
(“HITECH”), restrict the use and disclosure of individually identifiable health information (“protected health 
information”), provide for individual privacy-related rights, require safeguards for protected health information and require 
notification of breaches of unsecure protected health information. Entities subject to HIPAA include health plans, 
healthcare clearinghouses, and most healthcare providers. Entities that handle protected health information on behalf of 
covered entities (known as business associates) are required to comply with certain provisions of the security and privacy 
regulations. Violations of HIPAA may result in substantial civil and/or criminal fines and penalties. HHS enforces the 
regulations and performs compliance audits. In addition, state attorneys general are authorized to bring civil actions seeking 
either injunction or damages in response to violations that threaten the privacy of state residents.

There are several other laws and legislative and regulatory initiatives at the federal and state levels addressing privacy 
and security of personal information. These laws vary, and noncompliance may result in penalties or other disincentives. 
For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”) affords consumers expanded privacy protections 
effective January 1, 2020. The California Privacy Rights Act took effect January 1, 2022, and significantly modifies the 
CCPA. These laws give California residents expanded rights to access and require deletion of their personal information, 
opt out of certain personal information sharing and receive detailed information about how their personal information is 
used. In addition to civil penalties for violations, the laws provide for a private right of action for data breaches. Although 
information collected, used or disclosed in research, including clinical trials, and information governed by HIPAA are 
currently exempt from the CCPA, our other personal information collection practices may be subject to the CCPA. Foreign 
laws, including for example the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), also govern the privacy 
and security of health information in some circumstances, and may differ significantly from HIPAA.

The costs associated with developing and maintaining systems to comply with data privacy and security laws, 
defending against privacy and security related claims or enforcement actions and paying any assessed fines can be 
substantial.

Sunshine Laws

The federal government and certain state governments have enacted laws, sometimes referred to as “sunshine laws” 
that aim to increase transparency in financial relationships between manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologicals, or medical 
supplies and healthcare professionals and teaching hospitals. These laws generally require manufacturers to disclose 
payments and other transfers of value provided to healthcare physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, 
podiatrists, and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals and to disclose ownership and investment interests held by healthcare 
professionals and their immediate family members. Effective January 1, 2022, these reporting obligations extend to include 
transfers of value made to certain non-physician providers such as physician assistants and nurse practitioners. Under the 
federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, CMS collects data submitted by manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and 
medical supplies covered by federal healthcare programs and publishes the data on its public Open Payments website. In 
addition, some states have sunshine laws that are broader than the federal law by requiring the reporting of a larger set of 
payments or activities and including additional types of healthcare professionals or entities. Failure to comply with 
sunshine laws may result in sanctions, including civil monetary penalties.

Pharmaceutical Industry Compliance

Manufacturers and distributors of drug products are subject to state laws requiring registration with the state, which 
may extend to manufacturers and distributors that ship products into a state even if they do not have a place of business 
within the state. The federal government and some state governments also require manufacturers and distributors to 
maintain records regarding the history of products in the chain of distribution. Federal law requires manufacturers to 
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provide product tracing information to subsequent supply chain partners. The federal Drug Supply Chain Security Act 
(“DSCSA”) governs the system of tracing certain prescription drugs as they are distributed in the U.S., with the goal of 
protecting consumers from drugs that may be counterfeit, contaminated, stolen, or adulterated. This law requires 
manufacturers to, prior to or at the time of each transfer of ownership of a drug, provide the next owner with transaction 
history and other information. In the event of a recall or an inquiry regarding a potentially illegitimate product, 
manufacturers must be able to provide information regarding the transaction history and other information about the 
products. Violations of the DSCSA may result in fines or imprisonment. Many states have similar laws and enforce 
recordkeeping and licensure requirements.

Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the HHS OIG Compliance Program Guidance for 
Pharmaceutical Manufacturers, which is guidance designed to help companies prevent fraud and abuse within federal 
healthcare programs, and other relevant government-issued compliance guidance. Several states require pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology companies to publicly disclose sales information, marketing expenditures, drug pricing, clinical trials and 
other activities. Several states require pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to establish marketing compliance 
programs, require registration of sales representatives, prohibit manufacturers from acquiring certain physician prescribing 
data for use in sales and marketing activities and prohibit certain other sales and marketing practices. In addition, various 
federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws may also apply. Violation of laws governing the 
pharmaceutical industry may result in penalties such as criminal fines, imprisonment, civil fines, exclusion from 
participation in federal healthcare programs and additional reporting obligations and oversight.

Federal price reporting laws require many pharmaceutical manufacturers to calculate and report certain pricing 
metrics, such as average sales price (“ASP”) and best price, which may be used in the calculation of reimbursement and 
discounts on approved products. Penalties may apply if these metrics are not submitted timely and accurately.

Reimbursement and Pricing

Payment for healthcare items and services in the U.S. comes primarily from third-party payors, including government 
healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors. Coverage and reimbursement for 
pharmaceutical products can differ significantly between payors.

Sales of pharmaceutical products are materially affected by the extent to which third-party payors provide coverage 
and establish adequate reimbursement levels for the product. A decision by a third-party payor to not cover a product may 
impact utilization. At the same time, one payor’s determination to provide coverage for a product does not mean that other 
payors will also provide coverage for the product. Securing coverage and reimbursement for a product (often two separate 
processes) may involve conducting expensive pharmacoeconomic studies to demonstrate medical necessity and cost-
effectiveness of a product, in addition to the studies required to obtain FDA or comparable regulatory approvals. Drugs 
administered under the supervision of a physician often have high price points, which may make obtaining adequate 
reimbursement from payors particularly difficult.

The containment of healthcare costs has become a priority of both commercial payors and government healthcare 
programs. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging prices, examining medical necessity and reviewing cost-
effectiveness of medical products and services as they seek to control costs. For example, payors may limit coverage to 
specific products on an approved list, known as a formulary, which might not include all of the approved products for a 
particular indication, or they may require substitution of generic products. Adoption of, or enhancement of existing, price 
controls and other cost-containment measures may limit revenue. Drug prices may also be reduced by discounts or rebates 
required by payors and future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of drugs from other countries.

The marketability of any drug candidate for which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale may be 
negatively impacted if commercial payors and government healthcare programs do not provide adequate coverage and 
reimbursement. There is no guarantee that coverage or adequate reimbursement will be available for any of our product 
candidates, even if the product candidates is FDA-approved. If adequate coverage and reimbursement is not available, we 
may not be able to realize an appropriate return on our investment in product development.

Government Reimbursement

We expect that reimbursement from Medicare and Medicaid will eventually be a significant part of our revenues. The 
Medicare and Medicaid programs are highly regulated and subject to frequent and substantial changes resulting from 
legislation, regulations and administrative and judicial interpretations of existing law. Drug manufacturers must offer 
discounted pricing or rebates on purchases of pharmaceutical products under various government healthcare programs and 
may also be required to report specific prices to government agencies under these programs.
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Medicare is a federal health insurance program for persons age 65 and over, some disabled persons, and persons with 
end-stage renal disease. Medicare Part B generally covers medically necessary outpatient care, including physician services 
and a limited number of outpatient prescription drugs under limited conditions. Medicare Part B typically covers drugs that 
are not self-administered by a patient, including injectable and infused drugs and oral cancer drugs. Drugs that are not 
covered under Medicare Part B may be covered under Part D, an optional prescription drug benefit for Medicare 
beneficiaries that is administered by private companies.

Medicaid is a medical assistance program for eligible needy persons that is funded jointly by federal and state 
governments. Medicaid programs are operated by state agencies under plans approved by the federal government. 
Reimbursement methodologies, eligibility requirements and covered services vary from state to state. Although pharmacy 
coverage is an optional benefit under federal law, all states currently provide coverage for outpatient prescription drugs. 
Pharmaceutical manufacturers participating in Medicaid are required to participate in the 340B Drug Pricing Program, 
which requires them to sell outpatient drugs at discounted prices to certain safety net providers that serve vulnerable or 
underserved populations. Manufacturers participating in Medicaid are also required to participate in the Medicaid Drug 
Rebate Program (“MDRP”), a program intended to help offset the federal and state costs of outpatient prescription drugs. 
Under this program, manufacturers agree to rebate a specified portion of the Medicaid payment for the drug to the states, 
and states share the rebates with the federal government based on their federal medical assistance percentage, which is the 
share of Medicaid spending in each state paid for by the federal government. When a manufacturer enters into an MDRP 
rebate agreement with HHS, Medicaid agrees to cover nearly all FDA-approved drugs from that manufacturer, effectively 
creating an open formulary. An MDRP rebate agreement is also required in order for payment to be made available under 
Medicare Part B for a manufacturer’s covered outpatient drugs.

Drug Pricing Policies and Reforms

In recent years, the U.S. Congress and certain state legislatures have considered and passed a large number of laws 
intended to result in significant changes to the healthcare industry, including proposals targeted at reducing the price of 
pharmaceutical products and limiting coverage and reimbursement for drugs and other medical products. For example, the 
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 
(collectively, the "Affordable Care Act"), affects how health care services are covered, delivered and reimbursed through 
expanded health insurance coverage, reduced growth in Medicare program spending, and the establishment and expansion 
of value-based purchasing programs. The law also imposes price transparency requirements and established the Patient-
Centered Outcomes Research Institute, which focuses on comparative clinical effectiveness research. In addition, the 
Affordable Care Act contains several provisions relevant to pharmaceutical manufacturers and that may impact our 
potential product candidates, including expansion of the 340B program, expansion of manufacturers’ rebate liability under 
the MDRP, and measures intended to reduce Medicare Part D enrollees’ out-of-pocket liability.

The Affordable Care Act has been subject to legislative and regulatory changes and court challenges. However, 
President Biden has indicated that his administration intends to protect and strengthen the Affordable Care Act and 
Medicaid programs. Further, the presidential administration and members of Congress have proposed measures that would 
expand government-sponsored coverage, such as single-payor proposals (commonly referred to as “Medicare for All”) and 
changes to Medicare age requirements. These proposals could lead to increased coverage levels and utilization of services. 
However, the impact and timing of additional reform initiatives is unclear.

In recent years, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which pharmaceutical 
manufacturers set prices for their products. This has resulted in proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed 
to increase transparency in product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs and 
reform government reimbursement methodologies for pharmaceutical products. For example, in 2020, HHS, the 
Department of Labor and the Department of the Treasury issued a Transparency in Coverage final rule that for plan years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022, requires health plans to disclose on a public website the negotiated rates and 
historical net pricing for prescription drugs and to provide consumers with personalized cost-sharing information. 
However, the agencies announced in August 2021 that they will delay enforcement of this requirement until July 1, 2022, 
due to potentially duplicative and overlapping reporting requirements imposed by the No Surprises Act, which is part of the 
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 (“CAA”). The agencies issued an interim final rule in November 2021 
implementing the CAA reporting requirements for health plans, requiring, among other things, information on the most 
frequently dispensed and costliest drugs, as well as prescription drug rebates paid by drug manufacturers to plans, issuers, 
third-party administrators and pharmacy benefit managers. Beginning in 2023, the agencies will issue biennial public 
reports on prescription drug pricing trends and the impact of prescription drug costs on premiums and out-of-pocket costs. 

Some other efforts related to drug pricing reform involve importing drugs from other countries or using international 
pricing benchmarks. For example, in 2020, HHS and the FDA issued a final rule to allow FDA-authorized programs to 
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import certain prescription drugs from Canada, although the rule excludes several types of prescription drugs such as 
radioactive drugs and biologics and imaging drugs. Some states, such as Florida, are pursuing their own initiative to import 
drugs for state health care programs. Also in 2020, CMS issued an interim final rule to implement a Most Favored Nation 
(“MFN”) model for determining Medicare prices for Part B drugs and biologicals. However, in 2021, before the MFN 
model was implemented CMS rescinded the interim final rule and removed the relevant regulations. 

In addition, HHS OIG issued a final rule in 2020 that amends the discount safe harbor of the federal Anti-Kickback 
Statute to exclude rebates from drug manufacturers to Medicare Part D plan sponsors, adds a safe harbor to protect point-
of-sale reductions from a drug manufacturer to a Part D or Medicaid managed care organization, and adds a safe harbor to 
protect certain drug manufacturer payments to pharmacy benefit managers. However, there is ongoing litigation relating to 
this rule and implementation was delayed pursuant to a court order. The Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, enacted in 
November 2021, prohibits HHS from implementing or enforcing the rule prior to January 1, 2026. 

The Biden administration and certain members of Congress have indicated their intent to continue to pursue drug 
pricing reforms. Proposals include allowing Medicare to negotiate with drug manufacturers for lower prices, allowing 
additional importation of prescription drugs from other countries, modifying the design of the Medicare Part D program 
and limiting drug price increases to no more than the inflation rate. Some states also have passed legislation and issued 
regulations designed to lower prescription drug costs. These and other initiatives at the federal and state levels, if enacted 
and implemented, may directly or indirectly affect pricing of our product candidates.

Additionally, in 2018, the Trickett Wendler, Frank Mongiello, Jordan McLinn, and Matthew Bellina Right to Try Act 
of 2017, (the “Right to Try Act”), was enacted. The law provides a federal framework for eligible patients to access certain 
investigational drugs that are the subject of an active IND application submitted to the FDA, but that have not been 
approved or licensed by the FDA for any use. The Right to Try Act allows patients to seek treatment without participating 
in a clinical trial and without obtaining FDA permission under the FDA Expanded Access Program (i.e., compassionate 
use). Manufacturers are not obligated under the Right to Try Act to make products available to eligible patients. Some 
states have enacted similar laws.

Canadian Drug Development and Approval Process

In accordance with the Food and Drugs Act and associated Regulations, manufacturers of prescription drug products 
must receive authorization from Health Canada before prescription drug products may be marketed and sold. There is no 
assurance that Health Canada will issue an authorization for a product.

In order to obtain authorization, a manufacturer must file a regulatory submission with evidence of safety, efficacy 
and quality of the proposed drug product. While Health Canada’s review of the evidence and a manufacturer’s response to 
Health Canada’s inquiries can take as long as several years from the date that the manufacturer files its regulatory 
submission, it can often be completed within 1 year.

The typical regulatory process for prescription drug approval from pre-market to post-market in Canada, involves:

• preclinical studies, using for example, laboratory studies involving cell or tissue samples, or tests conducted on 
animals, to collect preliminary safety and efficacy data;

• clinical trials on human subjects, which require authorization by Health Canada to collect further safety and 
efficacy data;

• a drug submission with Health Canada, including review by Health Canada;

• a market authorization decision by Health Canada and issuance of a notice of compliance; and

• public access to the drug product, subject to post-marketing surveillance, inspection and investigation by Health 
Canada.

Employees

As of December 31, 2021, we had 72 employees. We also utilize the services of several consultants. We believe our 
relationship with our employees and consultants is good.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
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Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. The following risk factors will apply to our business and 
operations. These risk factors are not exhaustive and investors are encouraged to perform their own investigation with 
respect to the business, prospects, financial condition and operating results of POINT. You should carefully consider the 
following risk factors in addition to the other information included elsewhere in this Form 10-K, including our 
consolidated financial statements and the related notes and "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations" before deciding whether to invest in our securities. We may face additional risks and 
uncertainties that are not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, which may also impair our 
business, prospects, financial condition or operating results. The occurrence of one or more of the events or circumstances 
described in these risk factors, alone or in combination with other events or circumstances, may have a material adverse 
effect on the our business, reputation, revenue, financial condition, results of operations and future prospects, in which 
event the market price of our Common Stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. Unless 
otherwise indicated, reference in this section and elsewhere in this Form 10-K to our business being adversely affected, 
negatively impacted or harmed will include an adverse effect on, or a negative impact or harm to, our business, reputation, 
financial condition, results of operations, revenue and our future prospects. This Form 10-K also contains forward-looking 
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the 
forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors, including the risks described below. See the section titled 
“Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Risks Related to POINT’s Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

POINT has incurred significant losses since inception, and POINT expects to incur losses over the next several years 
and may not be able to achieve or sustain revenues or profitability in the future.

Investment in drug product development is a highly speculative undertaking and entails substantial upfront capital 
expenditures and significant risk that any potential product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate efficacy or an 
acceptable safety profile, gain regulatory approval and become commercially viable. POINT is still in the early stages of 
development of its product candidates and its lead product candidates are still in clinical trials. POINT has no products 
licensed for commercial sale and has not generated any revenue to date, and POINT continues to incur significant research 
and development and other expenses related to its ongoing operations.

POINT has incurred significant net losses in each period since its inception in September 2019. For the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2021, POINT reported net losses of $13.4 million and $45.9 million, respectively. POINT expects 
to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future, and POINT expects these losses to increase substantially if 
and as POINT:

• continues its research and development efforts and submits NDAs, for POINT’s lead product candidates and 
submits INDs, for its other product candidates;

• conducts preclinical studies and clinical trials for POINT’s current and future product candidates;

• seeks to identify additional product candidates;

• acquires or in-licenses other product candidates and technologies;

• continues to expand POINT’s manufacturing facility and obtain additional regulatory approvals of the facility;

• adds operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support 
the development of POINT’s product candidates and help it comply with its obligations as a public company;

• hires and retains additional personnel, such as clinical, quality control, scientific, commercial and administrative 
personnel;

• seeks marketing approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

• establishes a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure and scale-up manufacturing capabilities, whether 
alone or with third parties, to commercialize product candidates for which POINT may obtain regulatory approval, 
if any;

• expands, maintains and protects POINT’s intellectual property portfolio;

• continues to experience delays or interruptions from the impact of COVID-19;
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• competes with technological and market developments; and

• operates as a public company.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with drug product development, POINT is unable to 
accurately predict the timing or amount of increased expenses it will incur or when, if ever, it will be able to achieve 
profitability. Even if POINT succeeds in commercializing one or more of its product candidates, POINT will continue to 
incur substantial research and development, manufacturing and other expenditures to develop, seek regulatory approval for, 
and market additional product candidates. POINT may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays 
and other unknown factors that may adversely affect POINT’s business. The size of POINT’s future net losses will depend, 
in part, on the rate of future growth of its expenses and its ability to generate revenue. POINT’s prior losses and expected 
future losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on POINT’s stockholders’ equity and working capital.

POINT will require substantial additional financing, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. A failure 
to obtain this necessary capital when needed could force POINT to delay, limit, reduce or terminate its product 
development or commercialization efforts.

As of December 31, 2021, POINT had cash and cash equivalents totaling $238.8 million and an accumulated deficit of 
$59.3 million. POINT’s operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. POINT expects to continue 
to spend substantial amounts to continue the clinical development of its PSMA targeted radioligand (PNT2002 & 
PNT2001), fibroblast activation protein targeted radioligand (PNT2004), somatostatin targeted radioligand (PNT2003) and 
future clinical trials for its other product candidates and to continue to identify new product candidates.

POINT will require significant additional amounts of cash in order to launch and commercialize its current and future 
product candidates to the extent that such launch and commercialization are not the responsibility of a future collaborator 
that POINT may contract with in the future. In addition, other unanticipated costs may arise in the course of POINT’s 
development efforts. Because the design and outcome of POINT’s planned and anticipated clinical trials is highly 
uncertain, POINT cannot reasonably estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development and 
commercialization of any product candidate POINT develops.

POINT’s future capital requirements depend on many factors, including:

• the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing PNT2001, PNT2002, PNT2003, PNT2004 
and its other product candidates;

• the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining marketing approvals for its current and future product 
candidates;

• the number of future product candidates and potential additional indications that it may pursue and their 
development requirements;

• the timing of and costs involved in, completing the construction of POINT’s manufacturing facility and obtaining 
all the regulatory approvals of such facility;

• the cost of manufacturing its product candidates for clinical trials in preparation for regulatory approval and in 
preparation for commercialization;

• the cost and availability of 177Lu and 225Ac or any other medical isotope it may incorporate into its product 
candidates;

• the cost and availability of ytterbium-176 (“176Yb”) or any other raw material necessary to manufacture medical 
isotopes internally;

• if approved, the costs of commercialization activities for any approved product candidate to the extent such costs 
are not the responsibility of any future collaborators, including the costs and timing of establishing product sales, 
marketing, distribution and manufacturing capabilities;

• receipt of regulatory approval and revenue, if any, received from commercial sales for any approved indications 
for any of its product candidates;

• the extent to which it in-licenses or acquires rights to other products, product candidates or technologies;
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• its headcount growth and associated costs as it expands its research and development capabilities and establishes a 
commercial infrastructure;

• the continued impact of delays or interruptions from COVID-19;

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications and maintaining and protecting its intellectual 
property rights, including enforcing and defending intellectual property related claims; and

• the costs of operating as a public company.

POINT cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If POINT is unable to 
raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to it, POINT may have to significantly delay, scale 
back or discontinue the development or commercialization of its product candidates or other research and development 
initiatives. Any of its current or future license agreements may also be terminated if it is unable to meet the payment or 
other obligations under the agreements.

POINT currently anticipates that, based on its existing research and development programs and expectations related to 
the build out of its manufacturing facility, POINT’s existing cash and cash equivalents will enable POINT to fund its 
operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into the first quarter of 2024. POINT’s estimate may prove to be 
wrong, and POINT could use its available capital resources sooner than currently expected. Further, changing 
circumstances, some of which may be beyond POINT’s control, could cause POINT to consume capital significantly faster 
than it currently anticipates, and POINT may need to seek additional funds sooner than planned.

POINT has not generated any revenue to date and may never be profitable.

POINT’s ability to become profitable depends upon its ability to generate revenue. To date, POINT has not generated 
any revenue. POINT does not expect to generate significant product revenue unless or until it successfully completes 
clinical development and obtains regulatory approval of, and then successfully commercializes, at least one of its product 
candidates. Only PNT2002 and PNT2003 are late stage programs in clinical trials. POINT’s other product candidates are in 
the preclinical stages of clinical development and will require additional preclinical studies and clinical development. All 
of POINT’s product candidates will require substantial regulatory review and approval, substantial investment, access to 
sufficient commercial manufacturing capacity and significant marketing efforts before POINT can generate any revenue 
from product sales. The PNT2003 clinical trial has completed enrollment. As of March 21, 2022, there are 32 sites 
currently enrolling in North America and Europe. Site activations in all jurisdictions remain ongoing. POINT faces 
significant development risk as its product candidates advance further through clinical development. POINT’s ability to 
generate revenue depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to:

• timely completion of its preclinical studies and its current and future clinical trials, which may be significantly 
slower or more costly than POINT currently anticipates and will depend substantially upon the performance of 
third-party contractors;

• its ability to complete IND-enabling studies and successfully submit INDs or comparable applications to allow it 
to initiate clinical trials for its current or any future product candidates;

• whether it is required by the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities to conduct additional clinical trials or 
other studies beyond those planned to support the approval and commercialization of its product candidates or any 
future product candidates;

• its ability to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities the safety, 
effectiveness and acceptable risk-to-benefit profile of its product candidates or any future product candidates;

• the prevalence, duration and severity of potential side effects or other safety issues experienced with its product 
candidates or future product candidates, if any;

• the timely receipt of necessary marketing approvals from the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities;

• the willingness of physicians, operators of clinics and patients to utilize or adopt any of its product candidates or 
future product candidates as potential cancer treatments;

• its ability and the ability of third parties with whom it contracts to manufacture adequate clinical and commercial 
supplies of its product candidates or any future product candidates, remain in good standing with regulatory 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

36



authorities and develop, validate and maintain commercially viable manufacturing processes that are compliant 
with cGMP;

• its ability to navigate existing market exclusivities of competitors or avoid patent infringement claims;

• its ability to successfully develop a commercial strategy and thereafter commercialize its product candidates or 
any future product candidates in the U.S. and internationally, if licensed for marketing, reimbursement, sale and 
distribution in such countries and territories, whether alone or in collaboration with others; and

• its ability to establish and enforce intellectual property rights in and to its product candidates or any future product 
candidates.

Many of the factors listed above are beyond POINT’s control, and could cause it to experience significant delays or 
prevent it from obtaining regulatory approvals or commercialize its product candidates. Even if POINT is able to 
commercialize its product candidates, it may not achieve profitability soon after generating product sales, if ever. If POINT 
is unable to generate sufficient revenue through the sale of its product candidates or any future product candidates, POINT 
may be unable to continue operations without continued funding.

POINT’s limited operating history may make it difficult for you to evaluate the success of its business to date and to 
assess its future viability.

POINT is a clinical-stage precision oncology company with a limited operating history. POINT was founded to 
advance the development and commercialization of radioligand therapies for the treatment of cancer in September 2019, 
and its operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing, business planning, raising capital, conducting 
discovery and research activities, filing patent applications, identifying potential product candidates, initiating and 
conducting its clinical trials, undertaking preclinical studies, in-licensing product candidates for development, establishing 
arrangements with third parties for the manufacture of POINT’s product candidates and component materials, and the 
construction of its own manufacturing facility in Indianapolis, Indiana. POINT has only advanced two product candidates 
to clinical development. POINT has not yet demonstrated its ability to successfully obtain marketing approvals, 
manufacture a commercial-scale product or arrange for a third party to do so on its behalf, or conduct sales, marketing and 
distribution activities necessary for successful product commercialization. Consequently, any predictions you make about 
POINT’s future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if POINT had a longer operating history.

In addition, as a young business, POINT may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and 
other known and unknown factors. POINT will need to transition at some POINT from a company with a research and 
development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities. POINT may not be successful in such a 
transition.

POINT may be exposed to financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates and the degrees of volatility 
of those rates.

POINT may be adversely affected by foreign currency fluctuations. POINT’s reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. 
The functional currency of POINT’s subsidiary in Canada and its two subsidiaries in the U.S. are also the U.S. dollar. To 
date, POINT has been primarily funded through issuances of equity that have been denominated in U.S. dollars. However, 
certain expenditures in connection with the production of POINT’s clinical trial products and other expenditures are paid in 
Canadian dollars and therefore, POINT is subject to foreign currency fluctuations that may, from time to time, impact its 
financial positions and results of operations.

Risks Related to the Development of POINT’s Product Candidates

POINT’s approach to the discovery and development of product candidates based on its proprietary radioligand targeted 
therapies represents a novel approach to radiation therapy, which creates significant and potentially unpredictable 
challenges for it.

POINT’s future success depends on the successful development of its product candidates, which are designed to treat 
cancers using targeted radioligand therapies, representing a novel approach to radiopharmaceutical therapy. 177Lu oncology 
therapy is relatively new, and only one 177Lu therapy has been approved in the U.S. or the European Union and only a 
limited number of clinical trials of products based on 177Lu therapies have commenced. There are currently no approved 
therapies which use 225Ac. Global supply of 225Ac is also currently limited and may not be capable of expanding 
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sufficiently to enable commercial volume manufacturing of 225Ac therapies. As such, it is difficult to accurately predict the 
developmental challenges POINT may incur for its product candidates as they proceed through product discovery or 
identification, preclinical studies and clinical trials. In addition, there may be long-term effects from treatment, including 
late radiation toxicity, with any of POINT’s current or future product candidates that it cannot predict at this time. It is 
difficult for POINT to predict the time and cost of the development of its product candidates, and it cannot predict whether 
the application of its technology, or any similar or competitive technologies, will result in the identification, development, 
and regulatory approval of any product candidates. There can be no assurance that any development problems POINT 
experiences in the future related to its technology or any of its research programs will not cause significant delays or 
unanticipated costs, or that such development problems can be solved at all. Any of these factors may prevent POINT from 
completing its preclinical studies and clinical trials that it may initiate or commercializing any product candidates it may 
develop on a timely or profitable basis, if at all. In addition, the success of POINT’s targeted radioligand therapies, 
including its lead product candidates, will depend on several factors, including the following:

• sourcing clinical and, if successfully approved for commercial sale, commercial supplies for the materials used to 
manufacture its product candidates;

• establishing manufacturing capabilities to produce adequate amounts of its product candidates;

• utilizing imaging analogues or other companion diagnostics to visualize tumor uptake in advance of administering 
its product candidates, which may increase the risk of adverse side effects;

• educating medical personnel regarding the potential side effect profile of its product candidates;

• facilitating patient access to the limited number of facilities able to administer its product candidates, if licensed;

• using medicines to manage adverse side effects of its product candidates that may not adequately control the side 
effects or that may have detrimental impacts on the efficacy of the treatment; and

• establishing sales and marketing capabilities upon obtaining any regulatory approval to gain market acceptance of 
POINT’s novel therapies.

POINT is very early in its development efforts. If POINT is unable to advance its product candidates through clinical 
development, obtain regulatory approval and ultimately commercialize its product candidates, or if it experiences 
significant delays in doing so, POINT’s business will be materially harmed.

POINT is very early in its development efforts. PNT2002 and PNT2003, POINT’s most advanced product candidates, 
are still in clinical development. POINT’s ability to generate any product revenues will depend heavily on the successful 
development and eventual commercialization of one or more of its product candidates. The success of POINT’s product 
candidates will depend on several factors, including the following:

• successful initiation and completion of preclinical studies;

• successful initiation of clinical trials;

• successful patient enrollment in, and completion, of clinical trials;

• receipt and related terms of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;

• obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for its product candidates, 
and its methods of manufacturing or using those product candidates

• making and maintaining arrangements with third-party manufacturers, or establishing manufacturing capabilities, 
for both clinical and commercial supplies of its product candidates;

• establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and successfully launching commercial sales of its 
product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

• acceptance of its product candidates, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party 
payors;
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• effectively competing with other cancer therapies;

• avoidance of any delays or interruptions in its preclinical studies, clinical trials and supply chain due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic or other supply chain disruptions;

• obtaining and maintaining third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement; and

• maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of its products following regulatory approval.

If POINT does not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, it could experience significant 
delays or be unable to successfully commercialize its product candidates, which would materially harm its business.

POINT business is highly dependent on its lead product candidates, PNT2002 and PNT2003, and it must complete 
preclinical studies and clinical testing before it can seek regulatory approval and begin commercialization of its product 
candidates. If POINT is unable to obtain regulatory approval for, and successfully commercialize, PNT2002 or 
PNT2003, its business may be materially harmed and such failure may affect the viability of its other product 
candidates.

There is no guarantee that any of POINT’s product candidates will proceed in preclinical or clinical development or 
achieve regulatory approval. The process for obtaining marketing approval for any product candidate is very long and risky 
and there will be significant challenges for POINT to address in order to obtain marketing approval as planned or at all.

There is no guarantee that the results obtained in current and planned preclinical studies, POINT’s Phase 3 clinical 
trial of PNT2002, CanProbe's clinical trial of PNT2003 or future clinical trials will be sufficient to obtain regulatory 
approval. In addition, because PNT2002 and PNT2003 are POINT’s most advanced product candidates, and because its 
other product candidates and future product candidates are based or will be based on similar radioligand developments, if 
POINT’s lead product candidates encounter safety or efficacy problems, developmental delays, regulatory issues, or other 
problems, POINT’s development plans and business related to its other current or future product candidates could be 
significantly harmed. A failure of POINT’s lead product candidates may affect the ability to obtain regulatory approval to 
continue or conduct clinical programs for its other or future product candidates. Further, competitors who are developing 
products for similar treatments may experience problems with their products that could identify problems that would 
potentially harm POINT’s business.

Clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes, and results of earlier studies 
and trials may not be predictive of future clinical trial results. If POINT’s preclinical studies and clinical trials are not 
sufficient to support regulatory approval of any of its product candidates, it may incur additional costs or experience 
delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of such product candidate.

POINT cannot be certain that its preclinical study and clinical trial results will be sufficient to support regulatory 
approval of its product candidates. Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcomes are 
inherently uncertain. Human clinical trials are expensive and difficult to design and implement, in part because they are 
subject to rigorous regulatory requirements. POINT’s clinical trials may not be conducted as planned or completed on 
schedule, if at all, and failure can occur at any time during the preclinical study or clinical trial process. Despite promising 
preclinical or clinical results, any product candidate can unexpectedly fail at any stage of preclinical or clinical 
development. The historical failure rate for product candidates in POINT’s industry is high.

POINT may experience delays in obtaining the FDA’s authorization to initiate clinical trials. Additionally, POINT 
cannot be certain that preclinical studies or clinical trials for its product candidates will begin on time, not require redesign, 
enroll an adequate number of subjects on time, or be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed or 
terminated for a variety of reasons, including delays or failures related to:

• the availability of financial resources to commence and complete the planned trials;

• limited number of, and competition for, suitable sites to conduct POINT’s clinical trials;

• the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities disagreeing as to the design or implementation of POINT’s 
clinical trials or imposing a clinical hold on a clinical trial;

• delays in obtaining regulatory approval or authorization to commence a clinical trial, including delays or issues 
relating to POINT’s use of imaging analogues or any future companion diagnostics it may develop;
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• reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations ("CROs") and clinical 
trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different 
CROs and clinical trial sites;

• obtaining and maintaining IRB or ethics committee approval at each clinical trial site;

• termination of POINT’s clinical trials by an IRB at one or more clinical trial sites;

• recruiting an adequate number of suitable patients to participate in a clinical trial;

• having subjects complete a clinical trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

• clinical trial sites deviating from clinical trial protocol or dropping out of a clinical trial;

• having third-party contractors fail to complete their obligations in a timely manner or failing to comply with 
applicable regulatory requirements;

• addressing subject safety concerns that arise during the course of a clinical trial;

• access or travel to clinical sites as a result of COVID-19;

• adding a sufficient number of clinical trial sites;

• access to raw materials, such as radioisotopes;

• obtaining sufficient product supply of POINT’s product candidates for use in preclinical studies or clinical trials 
from third-party suppliers; or

• lack of efficacy evidenced during clinical trials, which risk may be heightened given the advanced state of disease 
and lack of response to prior therapies of patients in certain clinical trials.

If POINT is required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of its product candidates beyond those that it 
currently contemplates, for example, should FDA require additional clinical data to evaluate the potential for late radiation 
toxicity, if it is unable to successfully complete clinical trials of its product candidates or other testing, if the results of these 
trials or tests are not positive or are not as positive as POINT expects or if there are safety concerns, POINT’s business and 
results of operations may be adversely affected and it may incur significant additional costs.

If POINT experiences delays in the completion, or termination, of any preclinical study or clinical trial of its product 
candidates, the commercial prospects of its product candidates may be harmed, and its ability to generate revenues from 
any of these product candidates will be delayed or not realized at all. In addition, any delays in completing POINT’s 
preclinical studies or clinical trials may increase its costs, slow down the development of its product candidates and 
approval process and jeopardize its ability to commence product sales and generate revenues. Any of these occurrences 
may significantly harm POINT’s business, financial condition and prospects. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or 
lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory 
approval of POINT’s product candidates. If one or more of POINT’s product candidates generally prove to be ineffective, 
unsafe or commercially unviable, POINT’s entire pipeline and targeted radioligand therapies would have little, if any, 
value, which would have a material and adverse effect on POINT’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects.

POINT may not achieve research, development and commercialization goals in the time frames that it publicly 
estimates, which could have an adverse impact on POINT’s business and could cause its stock price to decline.

POINT sets goals, and make public statements regarding its expectations, regarding the timing of certain 
accomplishments, developments and milestones under its research and development programs. The actual timing of these 
events can vary significantly due to a number of factors, including, without limitation, the amount of time, effort and 
resources committed to POINT’s programs by it and any collaborators, COVID-19 related delays and the uncertainties 
inherent in the regulatory approval process. As a result, there can be no assurance that POINT or any collaborators will 
make regulatory submissions or receive regulatory approvals as planned or that POINT or any collaborators will be able to 
adhere to POINT’s current schedule for the achievement of key milestones under any of its programs. If POINT or any 
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collaborators fail to achieve one or more of the milestones described above as planned, POINT’s business could be 
materially adversely affected and the price of its Common Stock could decline.

The commercial success of POINT’s product candidates will depend upon competitive products, public perception of 
radiopharmaceuticals and the degree of their market acceptance by physicians, patients, healthcare payors and others 
in the medical community.

Adverse events in clinical trials of POINT’s product candidates or in clinical trials of others developing similar 
products and the resulting negative publicity, as well as any other adverse events in the field of radiopharmaceuticals that 
may occur in the future, could result in a decrease in demand for POINT’s current product candidates or any product 
candidates that it may develop. If public perception is influenced by claims that radiopharmaceuticals or specific therapies 
within radiopharmaceuticals are unsafe or less safe than available alternatives, POINT’s product candidates may not be 
accepted by the general public or the medical community.

In particular, the future commercial success of POINT’s product candidates, as applicable, depends and will depend 
upon, among other things, these product candidates gaining and maintaining acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party 
payors and other members of the medical community as efficacious and cost-effective alternatives to competing products 
and treatments. If any of POINT’s product candidates do not achieve and maintain an adequate level of acceptance, POINT 
may not generate material sales of that product candidate or be able to successfully commercialize it. The degree of market 
acceptance of POINT’s product candidates will depend on a number of factors, including:

• POINT’s ability to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy;

• the prevalence and severity of any side effects and any contraindications, drug interactions or other limitations 
included in the product labeling of any product candidates that may receive regulatory approval;

• publicity concerning its product candidates or competing products and treatments;

• availability, relative cost and relative efficacy of alternative and competing treatments;

• the ability to offer its product candidates, if approved, for sale at competitive prices;

• the relative convenience and ease of administration of its product candidates;

• the willingness of the target patient population to try new product candidates and of physicians to prescribe these 
product candidates;

• the strength of marketing and distribution support; and

• the sufficiency of coverage or reimbursement by third parties.

If POINT’s product candidates, if approved, do not become widely accepted by potential customers, physicians, 
patients, third-party payors and other members of the medical community, such a lack of acceptance could have a material 
adverse effect on POINT’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

POINT may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for its product candidates under applicable regulatory 
requirements. The denial or delay of any such approval would delay commercialization of POINT’s product candidates 
and adversely impact its potential to generate revenue, its business and its results of operations.

The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, licensure, sale, marketing and distribution of drug products are subject 
to extensive regulation by the FDA and similar regulatory authorities in the U.S. and other countries, and such regulations 
differ from country to country. POINT is not permitted to market its product candidates in the U.S. or in any foreign 
countries until they receive the requisite marketing approval from the applicable regulatory authorities of such jurisdictions.

The FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities can delay, limit or deny marketing authorization of POINT’s 
product candidates for many reasons, including:

• its inability to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authority that any of its 
product candidates are safe and effective;
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• the FDA’s or the applicable foreign regulatory agency’s disagreement with its trial protocols, trial designs or the 
interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trial;

• its inability to demonstrate that the clinical and other benefits of any of its product candidates outweigh any safety 
or other perceived risks;

• the FDA’s or the applicable foreign regulatory agency’s requirement for additional preclinical studies or clinical 
trial;

• the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or similar 
foreign regulatory authorities for marketing approval, or that regulatory agencies may require it to include a larger 
number of patients than POINT anticipated;

• the FDA’s or the applicable foreign regulatory agency’s failure to approve the manufacturing processes or 
facilities of third-party manufacturers upon which it relies;

• the quality of its product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct preclinical studies or clinical trials of 
its product candidates, including any potential companion diagnostics, (imaging radiopharmaceutical for patient 
selection) may be insufficient or inadequate;

• the potential for approval policies or regulations of the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities to 
significantly change in a manner rendering its clinical data insufficient for marketing approval; or

• the data collected from clinical trials of its product candidates may not be sufficient to the satisfaction of the FDA 
or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to support the submission of a NDA or other comparable submission 
in foreign jurisdictions or to obtain approval of its product candidates in the U.S. or elsewhere.

Any of these factors, many of which are beyond POINT’s control, may result in POINT failing to obtain regulatory 
approval to market any of its product candidates, which would significantly harm its business, results of operations and 
prospects. Of the large number of drug products in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or 
similar regulatory approval processes and are commercialized. Even if POINT eventually completes clinical testing and 
receives marketing authorization from the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities for any of its product candidates, 
the FDA or similar foreign regulatory agency may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly additional 
clinical trials which may be required after approval. The FDA or similar foreign regulatory agency also may approve 
POINT’s product candidates for a more limited indication or a narrower patient population than POINT originally 
requested, and the FDA or similar other foreign regulatory agency, may not approve its product candidates with the 
labeling that it believes is necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of such product candidates.

In addition, even if the trials are successfully completed, preclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying 
interpretations and analyses, and POINT cannot guarantee that the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities will 
interpret the results as POINT does, and more preclinical studies and clinical trials could be required before POINT 
submits its product candidates for approval. To the extent that the results of the clinical trials are not satisfactory to the 
FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities for support of a marketing application, approval of POINT’s product 
candidates may be significantly delayed, or it may be required to expend significant additional resources, which may not be 
available to it, to conduct additional clinical trials in support of potential approval of its product candidates.

Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, applicable regulatory approval would delay or prevent 
commercialization of POINT’s product candidates and would materially adversely impact its business and prospects.

POINT’s preclinical studies and clinical trial may fail to adequately demonstrate the safety or effectiveness of any of 
POINT’s product candidates, which would prevent or delay development, regulatory approval and commercialization.

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of POINT’s product candidates, including its lead 
product candidates, POINT must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expensive preclinical studies and clinical trials 
that its product candidates are both safe and effective for use in each target indication. Preclinical studies and clinical trials 
are expensive and can take many years to complete, and their outcomes are inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at any 
time during the preclinical study and clinical trial processes, and, because POINT’s product candidates are in an early stage 
of development, there is a high risk of failure and POINT may never succeed in developing marketable products.

Any preclinical studies or clinical trials that POINT may conduct may not demonstrate the safety or effectiveness 
necessary to obtain regulatory approval to market its product candidates. If the results of POINT’s ongoing or future 
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preclinical studies and clinical trials are inconclusive, if POINT does not meet the clinical endpoints with statistical and 
clinically meaningful significance, or if there are safety concerns associated with POINT’s product candidates, POINT may 
be prevented or delayed in obtaining marketing approval for such product candidates. In some instances, there can be 
significant variability in results between different preclinical studies and clinical trials of the same product candidate due to 
numerous factors, including changes in trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type of the patient 
populations, changes in and adherence to the clinical trial protocols and the rate of dropout among clinical trial participants.

In addition, for POINT’s Phase 3 clinical trial of PNT2002, CanProbe's clinical trial of PNT2003 and any future 
clinical trials that may be completed for other product candidates, POINT cannot guarantee that the FDA will interpret the 
results as POINT does, and more trials could be required before it submits its product candidates for approval. To the 
extent that the results of the trials are not satisfactory to the FDA to support a marketing application, approval of POINT’s 
product candidates may be significantly delayed or prevented entirely, or it may be required to expend significant 
additional resources, which may not be available to it, to conduct additional trials in support of potential approval of its 
product candidates.

The results of preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials may not be predictive of future results. Initial success in 
POINT’s ongoing clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when these trials are completed or in later-
stage trials.

The results of preclinical studies may not be predictive of the results of clinical trials, and the results of any early-
stage clinical trials POINT commences may not be predictive of the results of the later-stage clinical trials. In addition, 
initial success in clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when such trials are completed. There can be no 
assurance that any of POINT’s current or future clinical trials will ultimately be successful or support further clinical 
development of any of its product candidates. There is a high failure rate for drugs proceeding through clinical trials.

A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in clinical development 
even after achieving promising results in earlier studies, and any such setbacks in POINT’s clinical development could 
have a material adverse effect on its business and operating results. Moreover, preclinical and clinical data are often 
susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses and many companies that believed their product candidates performed 
satisfactorily in preclinical studies or clinical trials nonetheless failed to obtain FDA approval or approval from foreign 
regulatory authorities.

Interim, “top-line” and preliminary data from POINT’s clinical trials that it announces or publishes from time to time 
may change as more patient data becomes available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could 
result in material changes in the final data.

From time to time, POINT may publish interim, “top-line” or preliminary data from its clinical trials, which is based 
on a preliminary analysis of then-available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change 
following a full analysis of all data related to the particular trial. POINT has included certain interim data obtained from 
CanProbe in this Form 10-K, which is also subject to change following a full analysis of all data related to the particular 
trial. POINT also makes assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of its analyses of data, and it may 
not have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. For example, POINT’s ongoing trials of 
PNT2002 and PNT2003 are open-label trials and it may decide to disclose interim, “top-line,” or preliminary safety data at 
certain points in their development. Such data from clinical trials that POINT may complete are subject to the risk that one 
or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become 
available. Interim, “top-line” or preliminary data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in 
the final data being materially different from the preliminary data POINT previously published. As a result, interim, “top-
line,” and preliminary data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. Adverse differences between 
interim, “top-line” or preliminary data and final data could significantly harm POINT’s reputation and business prospects.

In addition, the information POINT chooses to publicly disclose regarding a particular study or clinical trial is distilled 
from a large body of raw data and you or others may not agree with what POINT determines is the material or otherwise 
appropriate information to include in its disclosures, and any information POINT determines not to disclose may ultimately 
be deemed significant with respect to future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular 
drug, product candidate or its business. If the interim, “top-line,” or preliminary data that POINT reports differ from actual 
results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, POINT’s ability to obtain 
approval for and commercialize its product candidates, its business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations 
may be harmed.
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POINT has never commercialized a product candidate and may experience delays or unexpected difficulties in 
obtaining regulatory approval for its current and future product candidates.

POINT has never obtained regulatory approval for, or commercialized, a drug. It is possible that the FDA may refuse 
to accept any or all of POINT’s planned NDAs for substantive review or may conclude after review of POINT’s data that 
its application is insufficient to obtain regulatory approval for any product candidates. If the FDA does not approve any of 
POINT’s planned NDAs, it may require that POINT conduct additional costly clinical trials, preclinical studies or 
manufacturing validation studies before it will reconsider POINT’s applications. Depending on the extent of these or any 
other FDA- required studies, approval of any NDA or other application that POINT submits may be significantly delayed, 
possibly for several years, or may require POINT to expend more resources than it has available. Any failure or delay in 
obtaining regulatory approvals would prevent POINT from commercializing its product candidates, generating revenues 
and achieving and sustaining profitability. It is also possible that additional studies, if performed and completed, may not 
be considered sufficient by the FDA to approve any NDA or other application that POINT submits. If any of these 
outcomes occur, POINT may be forced to abandon the development of its product candidates, which would materially 
adversely affect its business and could potentially cause it to cease operations. POINT faces similar risks for its 
applications in foreign jurisdictions.

POINT’s product candidates may cause adverse events, undesirable side effects or have other properties that could halt 
their preclinical or clinical development, prevent, delay, or cause the withdrawal of their regulatory approval, limit their 
commercial potential, or result in significant negative consequences, including death of patients. If any of POINT’s 
product candidates receive marketing approval and POINT, or others, later discover that the drug is less effective than 
previously believed or causes undesirable side effects that were not previously identified, POINT’s ability, or that of any 
potential future collaborators, to market the drug could be compromised.

As with most drug products, use of POINT’s product candidates could be associated with undesirable side effects or 
adverse events which can vary in severity from minor reactions to death and in frequency from infrequent to prevalent. 
Undesirable side effects or unacceptable toxicities caused by POINT’s product candidates could cause it or regulatory 
authorities to interrupt, delay, or halt clinical trials.

Treatment-related undesirable side effects or adverse events could also affect patient recruitment or the ability of 
enrolled subjects to complete the trial, or could result in potential product liability claims. In addition, these side effects 
may not be appropriately or timely recognized or managed by the treating medical staff, particularly outside of the research 
institutions that collaborate with POINT. POINT expects to have to educate and train medical personnel using its product 
candidates to understand their side effect profiles, both for its clinical trial for PNT2002 and CanProbe’s trial for PNT2003, 
and for any future clinical trials and upon any commercialization of any product candidates. Inadequate training in 
recognizing or managing the potential side effects of POINT’s product candidates could result in adverse events to patients, 
including death. Additionally, there could be later discovery of longer-term undesirable side effects associated with 
POINT’s product candidates, including the potential discovery of late radiation toxicity. Any of these occurrences may 
materially and adversely harm POINT’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Clinical trials of POINT’s product candidates must be conducted in carefully defined subsets of patients who have 
agreed to enter into clinical trials. Consequently, it is possible that POINT’s clinical trials, or those of any potential future 
collaborator, may indicate an apparent positive effect of a product candidate that is greater than the actual positive effect, if 
any, or alternatively fail to identify undesirable side effects. If one or more of POINT’s product candidates receives 
marketing approval and POINT, or others, discover that the drug is less effective than previously believed or causes 
undesirable side effects that were not previously identified, including during any long-term follow-up observation period 
recommended or required for patients who receive treatment using POINT’s products, a number of potentially significant 
negative consequences could result, including:

• regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals of such product, seize the product, or seek an injunction against its 
manufacture or distribution;

• POINT, or any future collaborators, may be required to recall the product, change the way such product is 
administered to patients or conduct additional clinical trials;

• additional restrictions may be imposed on the marketing of, or the manufacturing processes for, the particular 
product;

• regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label, such as a “black box” warning or a 
contraindication, or impose distribution or use restrictions;
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• POINT, or any future collaborators, may be required to create a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, which 
could include a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients, a 
communication plan for healthcare providers, and/or other elements to assure safe use;

• POINT, or any future collaborators, may be subject to fines, injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal 
penalties;

• POINT, or any future collaborators, could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients;

• the drug may become less competitive; and

• POINT’s reputation may suffer.

Any of the foregoing could prevent POINT from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product 
candidate, if approved, and could significantly harm POINT’s business, results of operations, and prospects, and could 
adversely impact its financial condition, results of operations or the market price of its common shares.

COVID-19, escalating military fighting between Russia and Ukraine, terrorism or other geopolitical events  may 
continue to adversely affect POINT’s business and financial results.

POINT’s business has been and may continue to be adversely affected by health epidemics such as the COVID-19 
pandemic in regions where it has clinical trial sites or other business operations, and COVID-19 may continue to cause 
significant disruption in the operations of third-party manufacturers and CROs upon whom POINT relies. 

In an attempt to contain the spread and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, 
shelter-in-place orders and other limitations on business activity have been implemented globally. Specifically, the U.S. 
government-imposed travel restrictions on travel between the U.S., Europe and certain other countries, and other countries 
have imposed travel restrictions against those traveling to or from the U.S. and other countries. Although some restrictions 
aimed at minimizing the spread of COVID-19 have been eased or lifted in the U.S. and other countries, in response to local 
surges and new waves of infection, including those caused by the spread of the Delta, Omicron and other variants, some 
countries, states, and local governments have maintained or reinstituted these restrictions, or may reinstitute these 
restrictions from time to time, in response to rising rates of infection. POINT has a principal executive office in Toronto, 
Ontario and a manufacturing facility in Indianapolis, Indiana.

In response to public health directives and orders and to help minimize the risk of the virus to POINT’s employees, 
POINT has taken precautionary measures, including implementing work-from-home policies for certain employees. The 
effects of the public health directives and orders and POINT’s work-from-home policies may negatively impact 
productivity, disrupt its business and delay its clinical programs and timelines (including its clinical development timelines 
for PNT2002 and PNT2003) and any future clinical trials, the magnitude of which will depend, in part, on the length and 
severity of the restrictions and other limitations on POINT’s ability to conduct its business in the ordinary course. These 
and similar, and perhaps more severe, disruptions in POINT’s operations could negatively impact its business, financial 
condition and results of operations, including its ability to obtain financing.

Quarantines, shelter-in-place and similar government orders, or the perception that such orders, shutdowns or other 
restrictions on the conduct of business operations could occur, related to COVID-19, the identification of emerging variants 
or other infectious diseases could impact personnel at third-party manufacturing facilities in the U.S. and other countries, or 
the availability or cost of materials, which would disrupt POINT’s supply chain.

In addition, POINT’s clinical trials of PNT2002 and PNT2003, and any future clinical trials, have been and may be 
further affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, including:

• delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in the clinical trial, including patient inability to comply with clinical 
trial protocols if quarantines impede patient movement or interrupt healthcare services;

• delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators and 
clinical site staff;

• diversion or prioritization of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials and towards the 
COVID-19 pandemic, including the diversion of hospitals serving as its clinical trial sites and hospital staff 
supporting the conduct of its clinical trials, who, as healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to 
COVID-19 and adversely impact its clinical trial operations;
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• interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring, due to limitations on travel 
imposed or recommended by federal, state or provincial governments, employers and others; and

• limitations in employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of its clinical trials, including 
because of sickness of employees or their families or the desire of employees to avoid contact with large groups of 
people.

For POINT’s clinical trials that it may conduct at sites outside the U.S., particularly in countries that are experiencing 
heightened impact from COVID-19 and its emerging variants, in addition to the risks listed above, it has also experienced, 
and may also in the future experience, the following adverse impacts:

• delays in receiving approval from local regulatory authorities to initiate its planned clinical trials;

• delays in clinical sites receiving the supplies and materials needed to conduct its clinical trials;

• interruption in global shipping that may affect the transport of clinical trial materials, such as investigational drug 
products and comparator drugs used in its clinical trials;

• changes in local regulations as part of a response to the COVID-19 outbreak, which may require it to change the 
ways in which its clinical trials are conducted, which may result in unexpected costs, or to discontinue the clinical 
trials altogether;

• delays in necessary interactions with local regulators, ethics committees and other important agencies and 
contractors due to limitations in employee resources or forced furlough of government employees; and

• the refusal of the FDA to accept data from clinical trials in these affected geographies.

Additionally, our clinical trials may be adversely affected by the current or anticipated impact of military conflict, 
including escalating military fighting between Russia and Ukraine, terrorism or other geopolitical events. The U.S. and 
other nations in response to the Russo-Ukrainian conflict have announced economic sanctions which may have an adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our SPLASH trial has vendor staff in Ukraine, and any 
political instability in the region may disrupt resourcing assigned to our trial and negatively impact or business. We are 
monitoring the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russo-Ukrainian conflict on our business. 

Enrollment has completed in CanProbe’s ongoing clinical trial of PNT2003. For the PNT2002 SPLASH clinical trial, 
as of March 21, 2022, there are 32 sites currently enrolling in North America and Europe. Site activations in all 
jurisdictions remain ongoing. However, POINT may not be able to enroll additional patients on its planned timelines due to 
disruptions at its clinical trial sites. The global COVID-19 pandemic and emergence of variants continues to evolve. The 
extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may impact POINT’s business and clinical trials will depend on future 
developments, which are uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the duration of the outbreak, travel 
restrictions and social distancing in the U.S. and other countries, business closures or business disruptions, the 
effectiveness of actions taken in the U.S. and other countries to contain and treat the disease, and the efficacy and the 
ability to widely distribute vaccines.

The market opportunities for POINT’s product candidates may be smaller than POINT anticipated or may be limited to 
those patients who are ineligible for or have failed prior treatments. If POINT encounters difficulties enrolling patients 
in its clinical trials, its clinical development activities could be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

POINT’s current and future target patient populations are based on its beliefs and estimates regarding the competitive 
environment and incidence or prevalence of certain types of cancers that may be addressable by its product candidates, 
which is derived from a variety of sources, including scientific literature and surveys of clinics. POINT’s estimates may 
prove to be incorrect and the number of potential patients may turn out to be lower than expected. Even if POINT obtains 
significant market share for its product candidates, because the potential target populations could be small, POINT may 
never achieve profitability without obtaining regulatory approval for additional indications, including use of its product 
candidates for front-line and second-line therapy.

POINT may initially seek approval of some of its product candidates as second- or third-line therapies for patients 
who have failed other approved treatments. Subsequently, for those product candidates that prove to be sufficiently 
beneficial, if any, POINT would expect to seek approval as a second-line therapy and potentially as a front-line therapy, but 
there is no guarantee that its product candidates, even if approved for third-line therapy, would be approved for second-line 
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or front-line therapy. In addition, POINT may have to conduct additional clinical trials prior to gaining approval for 
second-line or front-line therapy.

POINT may encounter difficulties enrolling patients in its clinical trials, and its clinical development activities could 
thereby be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

The timely completion of clinical trials in accordance with their protocols depends, among other things, on POINT’s 
ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients who remain in the trial until its conclusion. POINT may experience 
difficulties in patient enrollment in its clinical trials for a variety of reasons, including:

• the size and nature of the patient population;

• the patient eligibility criteria defined in the protocol;

• the size of the trial population required for analysis of the trial’s primary endpoints;

• the proximity of patients to trial sites;

• the design of the trial;

• its ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;

• competing clinical trials for similar therapies or other new therapeutics not involving its product candidates and or 
related technologies;

• clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages and side effects of the type of targeted 
radioligand therapy of the product candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies, including any 
new drugs or treatments that may be approved for the indications it is investigating;

• its ability to obtain and maintain patient consents; and

• the risk that patients enrolled in clinical trials will not complete a clinical trial.

In addition, POINT’s clinical trials will compete with other clinical trials for product candidates that are in the same 
therapeutic areas as POINT’s product candidates, and this competition will reduce the number and types of patients 
available to it, because some patients who might have opted to enroll in POINT’s trials may instead opt to enroll in a trial 
being conducted by one of its competitors. POINT may conduct some of its clinical trials at the same clinical trial sites that 
some of its competitors use, which will reduce the number of patients who are available for its clinical trials at such clinical 
trial sites. Moreover, because POINT’s product candidates represent a departure from more commonly used methods for 
cancer treatment, potential patients and their doctors may be inclined to only use conventional therapies, such as 
chemotherapy and external beam radiation, rather than enroll patients in any future clinical trial.

Even if POINT is able to enroll a sufficient number of patients in its clinical trials, delays in patient enrollment may 
result in increased costs or may affect the timing or outcome of the planned clinical trials, which could prevent completion 
of these trials and adversely affect POINT’s ability to advance the development of its product candidates.

POINT currently has a minimal marketing and sales organization and has no experience in marketing products. If 
POINT is unable to establish marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and 
sell its product candidates, if approved for commercial sale, it may not be able to generate product revenue.

POINT currently has a very minimal sales, marketing or distribution capabilities and has no experience in marketing 
products. POINT intends to further develop its in-house marketing organization and sales force, which will require 
significant capital expenditures, management resources and time. POINT will have to compete with other pharmaceutical 
companies to recruit, hire, train and retain marketing and sales personnel.

If POINT is unable or decides not to establish internal sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, it will pursue 
collaborative arrangements regarding the sales and marketing of its product candidates, if approved and licensed. However, 
there can be no assurance that POINT will be able to establish or maintain such collaborative arrangements, or if it is able 
to do so, that they will have effective sales forces. Any revenue POINT receives will depend upon the efforts of such third 
parties, which may not be successful. POINT may have little or no control over the marketing and sales efforts of such 
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third parties and its revenue from product sales may be lower than if it had commercialized its product candidates itself. 
POINT also faces competition in its search for third parties to assist it with the sales and marketing efforts of its product 
candidates.

There can be no assurance that POINT will be able to develop in-house sales and distribution capabilities or establish 
or maintain relationships with third-party collaborators to commercialize any product in the U.S. or overseas for which it is 
able to obtain regulatory approval.

If POINT evolves from a company primarily involved in clinical development to a company also involved in 
commercialization, it may encounter difficulties in managing its growth and expanding its operations successfully.

If POINT is able to advance its product candidates through clinical trials, it will need to expand its development, 
regulatory, manufacturing, marketing and sales capabilities or contract with third parties to provide these capabilities for it. 
If POINT’s operations expand, it expects that it may need to manage additional relationships with such third parties, as 
well as additional collaborators and suppliers.

Maintaining these relationships and managing POINT’s future growth will impose significant added responsibilities 
on members of its management and other personnel. POINT must be able to: manage its development efforts effectively; 
manage its clinical trials effectively; hire, train and integrate additional management, development, administrative and sales 
and marketing personnel; improve its managerial, development, operational and finance systems; and expand its facilities, 
all of which may impose a strain on its administrative and operational infrastructure. POINT may also begin to expand its 
capabilities or enter into contractual relationships during the later stage clinical trial or regulatory approval process, and 
then have to reduce its capabilities or terminate those relationships if the trials or approval processes are terminated.

POINT may expend its resources to pursue a particular product candidate and forgo the opportunity to capitalize on 
product candidates or indications that may ultimately be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of 
success.

POINT has limited financial and personnel resources and is placing significant focus on the development of its lead 
product candidates, and as such, it may forgo or delay pursuit of opportunities with other future product candidates that 
later prove to have greater commercial potential. POINT’s resource allocation decisions may cause it to fail to capitalize on 
viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. POINT’s spending on current and future research and 
development programs and other future product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable 
future product candidates. If POINT does not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular 
future product candidate, it may relinquish valuable rights to those future product candidates through collaboration, 
licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for POINT to retain sole 
development and commercialization rights to such future product candidates.

POINT currently conducts and may in the future conduct clinical trials for its product candidates outside the U.S., and 
the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities may not accept data from such trials.

POINT is currently conducting clinical trials in Canada and may in the future choose to conduct additional clinical 
trials outside the U.S., including in Australia, Europe or other foreign jurisdictions. The acceptance of trial data from 
clinical trials conducted outside the U.S. by the FDA may be subject to certain conditions. In cases where data from clinical 
trials conducted outside the United States are intended to serve as the sole basis for marketing approval in the U.S., the 
FDA will generally not approve the application on the basis of foreign data alone unless (i) the data are applicable to the 
U.S. population and U.S. medical practice; (ii) the trials were performed by clinical investigators of recognized competence 
and (iii) the data may be considered valid without the need for an on-site inspection by the FDA or, if the FDA considers 
such an inspection to be necessary, the FDA is able to validate the data through an on-site inspection or other appropriate 
means. Additionally, the FDA’s clinical trial requirements, including sufficient size of patient populations and statistical 
powering, must be met. Many foreign regulatory bodies have similar approval requirements. In addition, such foreign trials 
would be subject to the applicable local laws of the foreign jurisdictions where the trials are conducted. There can be no 
assurance that the FDA or any similar foreign regulatory authority will accept data from trials conducted outside of the 
U.S. or the applicable jurisdiction. If the FDA or any similar foreign regulatory authority does not accept such data, it 
would result in the need for additional trials, which would be costly and time-consuming and delay aspects of POINT’s 
business plan, and which may result in its product candidates not receiving approval or clearance for commercialization in 
the applicable jurisdiction.

If POINT’s competitors develop and market products that are more effective, safer or less expensive than its product 
candidates, its commercial opportunities will be negatively impacted.
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The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive, and POINT faces significant competition from many companies 
that are researching and marketing products designed to address various types of cancer and other indications it treats or 
may treat in the future. POINT is currently developing cancer therapeutics that will compete with other drugs and therapies 
that currently exist or are being developed. Also, certain of POINT’s product candidates may be clinically developed not as 
an initial first line therapy but as a therapy for patients whose tumors have developed resistance to first line chemotherapy, 
which limits its potential addressable market. Products POINT may develop in the future are also likely to face competition 
from other drugs and therapies.

Many of POINT competitors have significantly greater financial, manufacturing, marketing and drug development 
resources than POINT does. Large pharmaceutical companies, in particular, have extensive experience in clinical testing 
and in obtaining regulatory approvals for drugs. Additional mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical industry may 
result in even more resources being concentrated by POINT’s competition. Competition may increase further as a result of 
advances in the commercial applicability of technologies currently being developed and a greater availability of capital 
investment in those fields. These companies may also have significantly greater research and marketing capabilities than 
POINT does. In addition, many universities and private and public research institutes are active in cancer research, the 
results of which may result in direct competition with POINT’s product candidates.

In certain instances, the drugs which will compete with POINT’s product candidates are widely available or 
established, with existing standards of care. To compete effectively with these drugs, POINT’s product candidates will 
need to demonstrate advantages that lead to improved clinical safety or efficacy compared to these competitive products. 
POINT cannot assure you that it will be able to achieve competitive advantages versus alternative drugs or therapies. If 
POINT’s competitors’ market products are more effective, safer or less expensive than POINT’s product candidates or 
reach the market sooner than POINT’s product candidates, POINT may not achieve commercial success.

POINT believes that its ability to successfully compete will depend on, among other things:

• its ability to design and successfully execute appropriate clinical trials;

• its ability to recruit and enroll patients for its clinical trials;

• the results of its clinical trials and the efficacy and safety of its product candidates;

• the speed at which it develops its product candidates;

• achieving and maintaining compliance with regulatory requirements applicable to its business;

• the timing and scope of regulatory approvals, including labeling;

• adequate levels of reimbursement under private and governmental health insurance plans, including Medicare;

• its ability to protect intellectual property rights related to its product candidates;

• its ability to commercialize and market any of its product candidates that may receive regulatory approval;

• its ability to have any partners manufacture and sell commercial quantities of any approved product candidates to 
the market;

• acceptance of its product candidates by physicians, other healthcare providers and patients; and

• the cost of treatment in relation to alternative therapies.

In addition, the pharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapid technological change. POINT’s future success will 
depend in large part on its ability to maintain a competitive position with respect to these technologies. POINT’s 
competitors may render POINT’s technologies obsolete by advances in existing technological approaches or the 
development of new or different approaches, potentially eliminating the advantages in POINT’s drug discovery process 
that it believes it derives from its research approach and proprietary technologies. Also, because POINT’s research 
approach integrates many technologies, it may be difficult for POINT to stay abreast of the rapid changes in each 
technology. If POINT fails to stay at the forefront of technological change, it may be unable to compete effectively.

Risks Related to POINT’s Manufacturing Operations
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POINT’s product candidates are radioligands and the manufacture of its product candidates is complex. POINT has 
constructed a manufacturing facility with the intent to manufacture most, if not all, of any approved drugs itself.

POINT’s product candidates are radioligands and the process of manufacturing them is complex, highly regulated and 
subject to multiple risks. The facility constructed by POINT to manufacture its product candidates and future approved 
drugs is subject to applicable laws, regulations, and GMP. These regulations govern manufacturing processes and 
procedures, including record keeping and the implementation and operation of quality management systems to control and 
assure the quality of investigational products and products approved for sale.

POINT has built a manufacturing facility in Indianapolis, Indiana and may build additional manufacturing facilities in 
other markets to expand its manufacturing capacity. These facilities may encounter unanticipated delays and expenses due 
to a number of factors, including regulatory requirements. If construction, regulatory evaluation, and/or approval of 
POINT’s current or future facility(s) is delayed, POINT may not be able to manufacture sufficient quantities of its drug 
candidates, if approved, which could limit POINT’s development and commercialization activities and its opportunities for 
growth. Cost overruns associated with constructing or maintaining POINT’s current or future facility(s) could require 
POINT to raise additional funds from other sources.

To produce POINT’s drug candidates in the quantities that it believes will be required to meet anticipated market 
demand, if approved, POINT will need to increase or “scale up” the production process by a significant factor over 
expected initial levels of production. A significant part of the scaling up process will include seeking ways to increase the 
automation and semi-automation of POINT’s production process, which will require additional research and development, 
investment, potential new regulatory approvals, and cooperation with third-parties, some of which may not be successful. If 
POINT is unable or delayed in scaling up, or if the cost of doing so is not economically feasible for POINT, POINT may 
not be able to produce its drug candidates, if approved, in a sufficient quantity to meet future demand.

Any problems with receiving and maintaining regulatory approvals for POINT’s manufacturing facilities, could delay 
its development plans or commercialization efforts.

POINT’s manufacturing facilities are subject to ongoing, periodic inspection by various regulatory authorities, 
including the NRC, as well as the FDA, Health Canada and other comparable regulatory agencies to ensure compliance 
with cGMP. POINT’s failure to follow and document its adherence to such cGMP or other regulatory requirements may 
lead to significant delays in the availability of product candidates for clinical or, in the future, commercial use, and may 
result in the termination of or a hold on a clinical trial, or may delay or prevent filing or approval of marketing applications 
for POINT’s drug candidates or the commercialization of its drugs, if approved. POINT also may encounter manufacturing 
problems with the following:

• achieving adequate or clinical-grade materials that meet FDA, European Medicines Agency ("EMA), National 
Medical Products Administration (China) ("NMPA"), Health Canada, Therapeutic Goods Administration 
(Australia) ("TGA") or other comparable regulatory agency standards or specifications with consistent and 
acceptable production yield and costs;

• shortages of qualified personnel, raw materials or key contractors; and

• ongoing compliance with GMP and other requirements of the FDA, EMA, NMPA, TGA or other comparable 
regulatory agencies.

Failure to comply with applicable regulations could also result in sanctions being imposed on POINT, including fines, 
injunctions, civil penalties, a requirement to suspend or put on hold one or more of POINT’s clinical trials, failure of 
regulatory authorities to grant marketing approval of POINT’s drug candidates, delays, suspension or withdrawal of 
approvals, supply disruptions, license revocation, seizures, or recalls of POINT’s drug candidates, operating restrictions 
and civil or criminal prosecutions, any of which could harm POINT’s business.

Damage to, destruction of or interruption of production at POINT’s manufacturing facilities would negatively affect its 
business and prospects.

If POINT’s manufacturing facilities or the equipment in them is damaged or destroyed, POINT may not be able to 
quickly or inexpensively replace its manufacturing capacity or replace it at all. In the event of a temporary or protracted 
loss of the facilities or equipment, POINT might not be able to transfer manufacturing to a third party. Even if POINT 
could transfer manufacturing to a third party, the shift would likely be expensive and time-consuming, particularly since 
the new facility would need to comply with the necessary regulatory requirements and POINT would need regulatory 
agency approval before selling any of POINT’s drug candidates, if approved, manufactured at that new facility. Such an 
event could delay POINT’s clinical trials or reduce POINT’s product sales if and when POINT is able to commercialize 
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one or more of its drug candidates. Any interruption in manufacturing operations at POINT’s manufacturing facilities could 
result in its inability to satisfy the demands of its clinical trials or commercialization. Any disruption that impedes POINT’s 
ability to manufacture its drugs in a timely manner could materially harm its business, financial condition and operating 
results.

Any failure to perform proper quality control and quality assurance would have a material adverse effect on POINT’s 
business and financial results.

The manufacturing of POINT’s drug candidates, if approved, and any future approved drugs is subject to applicable 
laws, regulations, and cGMP. These regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures, including record keeping 
and the implementation and operation of quality management systems to control and assure the quality of investigational 
products and products approved for sale. POINT and/or its third party manufacturers apply stringent quality controls at 
each stage of its production process to comply with these requirements. POINT and/or its third party manufacturers 
perform extensive tests throughout the manufacturing processes to ensure the safety and effectiveness of its drug 
candidates. POINT and/or its third party manufacturers may, however, detect instances in which an unreleased product was 
produced without adherence to its manufacturing procedures or the raw material used in the production process was not 
collected to store in accordance with the cGMP or other regulations, resulting in a determination that the implicated 
products should be destroyed. In addition, if POINT and/or its third party manufacturers fail to comply with relevant 
quality control requirements under laws and cGMP, POINT could experience a disruption in the supply of POINT’s 
product candidates, which could delay or prevent further sales of such product candidates, which could have a material 
adverse effect on POINT’s business and financial results. In addition, quality issues may arise during scale-up activities. If 
POINT and/or its third party manufacturers are unable to successfully ensure consistent and high quality of its product 
candidates during large-volume production, the sales of its product candidates may not be able to be promoted, which 
could have a material adverse effect on its business and financial results. In addition, quality issues may arise during scale-
up activities. If POINT is unable to successfully ensure consistent and high quality of its product candidates during large-
volume production, the sales of its products may not be able to be promoted, which could have a material adverse effect on 
its business and financial results.

Risks Related to POINT’s Reliance on Third Parties

Although POINT operates its own manufacturing facility, it currently relies, and will likely continue to rely, on third 
parties to manufacture additional supply of its lead product candidates for its ongoing clinical trial and its preclinical 
studies, as well as any preclinical studies or clinical trials of its future product candidates that it may conduct.

Although POINT operates its own manufacturing facility, it still relies, and is likely to continue to rely on third parties 
to manufacture additional supply of its product candidates. If POINT’s third-party suppliers fail to comply with relevant 
quality control requirements under laws and cGMP or contaminations are discovered in POINT’s product candidates or in 
the manufacturing facilities in which its product candidates are made, such manufacturing facilities may need to be closed 
for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination. Any such event could cause a disruption in the 
supply of POINT’s product candidates, which could delay or prevent further sales of such product candidates, which could 
have a material adverse effect on POINT’s business and financial results.

POINT’s third-party suppliers’ failure to achieve and maintain high manufacturing standards, in accordance with 
applicable regulatory requirements, or the incidence of manufacturing errors, could result in patient injury or death, product 
shortages, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or failures in product testing or delivery, cost overruns or other problems 
that could seriously harm POINT’s business. Contract manufacturers often encounter difficulties involving production 
yields, quality control and quality assurance, as well as shortages of qualified personnel.

If any contract manufacturer with whom POINT contracts fails to perform its obligations, POINT may be forced to 
manufacture the materials itself sooner than expected, but POINT may not have the capabilities or resources to do so and 
may need to enter into an agreement with a different contract manufacturer. However, POINT may not be able to enter into 
such an agreement on terms as favorable to it. In either scenario, POINT’s clinical trials supply could be delayed as it 
establishes alternative supply sources. In some cases, such as under the CPDC Clinical Supply Agreement, the technical 
skills required to manufacture POINT’s product candidates may be unique or proprietary to the original contract 
manufacturer and POINT may have difficulty, or there may be contractual restrictions prohibiting POINT from, 
transferring such skills to a back-up or alternate supplier, or POINT may be unable to transfer such skills at all. In addition, 
if POINT is required to change contract manufacturers for any reason, it will be required to verify that the new contract 
manufacturers maintains facilities and procedures that comply with quality standards and with all applicable regulations. 
POINT will also need to verify, such as through a manufacturing comparability study, that any new manufacturing process 
will produce POINT’s product candidate according to the specifications previously submitted to the FDA or another 
regulatory authority. The delays associated with the verification of a new contract manufacturer or transition to POINT’s 
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own manufacturing earlier than expected could negatively affect POINT’s ability to develop product candidates or 
commercialize POINT’s product candidates in a timely manner or within budget. Furthermore, a contract manufacturer, 
such as the CPDC, may possess technology related to the manufacture of POINT’s product candidate that such contract 
manufacturer owns independently. This would increase POINT’s reliance on such contract manufacturer or require POINT 
to obtain a license from such contract manufacturer in order to have another contractor manufacture its product candidates. 
In addition, changes in manufacturers often involve changes in manufacturing procedures and processes, which could 
require that POINT conducts bridging studies between its prior clinical supply used in its clinical trials and that of any new 
manufacturer. POINT may be unsuccessful in demonstrating the comparability of clinical supplies which could require the 
conduct of additional clinical trials.

POINT may be unable to obtain a sufficient supply of radioisotopes to support clinical development or at commercial 
scale.

POINT currently relies on third-party entities for the supply of its raw materials and for manufacturing. N.c.a. 177Lu is 
a key component of some of POINT’s product candidates. POINT’s current suppliers of n.c.a. 177Lu are located in 
Germany and Israel and POINT may encounter issues with importing n.c.a. 177Lu into the U.S., including on account of any 
shipping interruptions or delays due to the COVID-19 pandemic. To date, POINT has obtained n.c.a. 177Lu for the clinical 
trials of PNT2002 and PNT2003 from Isotopia Molecular Imaging LTD and ITG Isotope Technologies Garching GmbH. 
The isotopes for these targeted radioligand therapies are shipped to either POINT’s CMO, the Centre for Probe 
Development and Commercialization located in southern Ontario, Canada, or POINT’s Indianapolis, IN facility.

Currently, POINT believes there is sufficient supply of the needed radioisotopes to advance the ongoing PNT2002 and 
PNT2003 clinical trials, support additional trials it may undertake and for commercialization of its product candidates. 
POINT continually evaluates manufacturers and suppliers of its radioisotopes and intends to have redundant suppliers prior 
to the commercial launch of PNT2002 and PNT2003, if approved.

POINT’s third-party suppliers may not perform their contracted services or may breach or terminate their agreements 
with POINT. POINT’s suppliers are subject to regulations and standards that are overseen by regulatory and government 
agencies and POINT has no control over its suppliers’ compliance to these standards. Failure to comply with regulations 
and standards may result in their inability to supply isotopes could result in delays in POINT’s clinical trials, which could 
have a negative impact on its business. 

POINT also intends to produce n.c.a. 177Lu in-house. For the in-house production of n.c.a. 177Lu, POINT has secured 
access to a sufficient North American supply of 176Yb, obtained a license to n.c.a. 177Lu purification technology and has 
contracted with multiple research reactors to irradiate ytterbium-176. However, if POINT is not able to establish the n.c.a. 
177Lu purification technology or expand its reactor network, or if the supplier of 176Yb is unable to produce sufficient 
product, POINT would be required to continue to rely on third-party suppliers as it currently does.

POINT relies on third parties to conduct the clinical trials of PNT2002 and PNT2003 and plans to rely on third parties 
to conduct future clinical trials. If these third parties do not properly and successfully carry out their contractual duties 
or meet expected deadlines, POINT may not be able to obtain regulatory approval of or commercialize its product 
candidates.

POINT depends and will continue to depend on independent investigators and collaborators, such as medical 
institutions, CROs, contract manufacturing organizations ("CMOs") and strategic partners to conduct and supply product 
candidates for its preclinical studies and clinical trials, including the clinical trials of PNT2003 and PNT2002. POINT 
expects to negotiate budgets and contracts with CROs, trial sites and CMOs, which may result in delays to its development 
timelines and increased costs. POINT will rely heavily on these third parties over the course of its clinical trials, and 
POINT controls only certain aspects of their activities. As a result, POINT will have less direct control over the conduct, 
timing and completion of these clinical trials and the management of data developed through clinical trials than would be 
the case if POINT were relying entirely upon its own staff. Nevertheless, POINT is responsible for ensuring that each of its 
studies is conducted in accordance with applicable protocol, legal and regulatory requirements and scientific standards, and 
its reliance on third parties does not relieve it of its regulatory responsibilities. POINT and these third parties are required 
to comply with GCPs, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities 
for product candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCPs through periodic inspections of 
trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If POINT or any of these third parties fail to comply with applicable 
GCP regulations, the clinical data generated in POINT’s clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or similar 
foreign regulatory authorities may require POINT to perform additional clinical trials before approving its marketing 
applications. POINT cannot assure you that, upon inspection, such regulatory authorities will determine that any of its 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

52



clinical trials comply with the GCP regulations. In addition, POINT’s clinical trials must be conducted with drug products 
produced under cGMP regulations, and will require a large number of test patients. POINT’s failure or any failure by these 
third parties to comply with these regulations or to recruit a sufficient number of patients may require POINT to repeat 
clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process. Moreover, POINT’s business may be implicated if any 
of these third parties violates federal or state fraud and abuse or false claims laws and regulations or healthcare privacy and 
security laws.

Any third parties conducting POINT’s clinical trials are not and will not be POINT’s employees and, except for 
remedies available to POINT under its agreements with such third parties, POINT cannot control whether or not they 
devote sufficient time and resources to POINT’s ongoing, clinical and preclinical product candidates. These third parties 
may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including POINT’s competitors, for whom they may also be 
conducting clinical trials or other drug development activities, which could affect their performance on POINT’s behalf. If 
these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they 
need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere 
to POINT’s clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, POINT’s clinical trials may be extended, 
delayed or terminated and POINT may not be able to complete development of, obtain regulatory approval of or 
successfully commercialize its product candidates. As a result, POINT’s financial results and the commercial prospects for 
its product candidates would be harmed, its costs could increase and its ability to generate revenue could be delayed.

Switching or adding third parties to conduct POINT’s clinical trials involves substantial cost and requires extensive 
management time and focus and may ultimately be unsuccessful. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a 
new third party commences work. As a result, delays occur, which can materially impact POINT’s ability to meet its 
desired clinical development timelines.

POINT depends in part on CanProbe and other third-party sponsors to advance clinical development of PNT2003.

CanProbe is currently sponsoring the clinical trials involving PNT2003. The advancement of PNT2003 depends in 
part on the continued sponsorship by CanProbe, as POINT’s resources and capital would not be sufficient to conduct these 
trials on its own. CanProbe is not obligated to continue sponsorship of any clinical trials involving POINT’s product 
candidates and could stop their support at any time. If this or other third-party sponsors ceased their support for POINT’s 
product candidates, its ability to advance clinical development of product candidates could be limited and POINT may not 
be able to pursue the number of different indications for its product candidates that are currently being pursued.

Even if CanProbe continues to sponsor clinical trials of POINT’s product candidates, POINT’s reliance on their 
support subjects it to numerous risks. For example, POINT has limited control over the design, execution or timing of the 
clinical trials and limited visibility into the day-to-day activities, including with respect to how the sponsor is providing and 
administering POINT product candidates. If a clinical trial sponsored by a third party has a failure due to poor design of the 
trial, errors in the way the clinical trial is executed or for any other reason, or if the sponsor fails to comply with applicable 
regulatory requirements or if there are errors in the reported data, it could represent a major set-back for the development 
and approval of POINT’s product candidates, even if POINT was not directly involved in the trial and even if the clinical 
trial failure was not related to the underlying safety or efficacy of the product candidate. In addition, these third-party 
sponsors could decide to de-prioritize clinical development of POINT’s product candidates in relation to other projects, 
which could adversely affect the timing of further clinical development. POINT is also subject to various confidentiality 
obligations with respect to the clinical trials sponsored by third party sponsors, which could prevent POINT from 
disclosing current information about the progress or results from these trials until the applicable sponsor publicly discloses 
such information or permits POINT to do so. This may make it more difficult to evaluate POINT’s business and prospects 
at any given POINT in time and could also impair its ability to raise capital on its desired timelines.

POINT may form or seek collaborations or strategic alliances or enter into additional licensing arrangements in the 
future, and it may not realize the benefits of such collaborations, alliances or licensing arrangements.

POINT may form or seek strategic alliances, create joint ventures or collaborations, or enter into additional licensing 
arrangements with third parties that it believes will complement or augment its development and commercialization efforts 
with respect to its product candidates and any future product candidates that it may develop. Any of these relationships may 
require POINT to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase its near and long-term expenditures, issue securities that 
dilute its existing stockholders or disrupt its management and business.

In addition, POINT faces significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners and the negotiation process 
is time-consuming and complex. POINT may not be successful in its efforts to establish a strategic partnership or other 
alternative arrangements for its product candidates because they may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of 
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development for collaborative effort and third parties may not view POINT’s product candidates as having the requisite 
potential to demonstrate safety and effectiveness and obtain marketing approval.

Further, collaborations involving POINT’s product candidates are subject to numerous risks, which may include the 
following:

• collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to a 
collaboration;

• collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of POINT’s product candidates or may elect not 
to continue or renew development or commercialization of POINT’s product candidates based on clinical trial 
results, changes in their strategic focus due to the acquisition of competitive products, availability of funding or 
other external factors, such as a business combination that diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

• collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial, stop a clinical trial, abandon 
a product candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for 
clinical testing;

• collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or 
indirectly with POINT’s product candidates;

• a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient resources 
to their marketing and distribution;

• collaborators may not properly maintain or defend POINT’s intellectual property rights or may use POINT’s 
intellectual property or proprietary information in a way that gives rise to actual or threatened litigation that could 
jeopardize or invalidate POINT’s intellectual property or proprietary information or expose POINT to potential 
liability;

• disputes may arise between POINT and a collaborator that cause the delay or termination of the research, 
development or commercialization of POINT’s product candidates, or that result in costly litigation or arbitration 
that diverts management attention and resources;

• collaborations may be terminated and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further 
development or commercialization of the applicable product candidates; and

• collaborators may own or co-own intellectual property covering POINT’s product candidates that results from 
POINT collaborating with them, and in such cases, POINT would not have the exclusive right to commercialize 
such intellectual property.

As a result, if POINT enters into collaboration agreements and strategic partnerships or license its product candidates, 
it may not be able to realize the benefit of such transactions if POINT is unable to successfully integrate them with its 
existing operations and company culture, which could delay its timelines or otherwise adversely affect its business. POINT 
also cannot be certain that, following a strategic transaction or license, it will achieve the revenue or specific net income 
that justifies such transaction. Any delays in entering into new collaborations or strategic partnership agreements related to 
its product candidates could delay the development and commercialization of its product candidates in certain geographies 
for certain indications, which would harm its business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

If POINT or third parties, such as CROs or CMOs, use hazardous materials in a manner that causes injury or violates 
applicable law, POINT may be liable for damages.

POINT’s research and development activities may involve the controlled use of potentially hazardous substances, 
including chemical materials, by POINT or third parties, such as CROs and CMOs. The use of radiopharmaceutical 
treatments involves the inherent risk of exposure from radiation, which can alter or harm healthy cells in the body. POINT 
and such third parties are subject to federal, state, provincial and local laws and regulations in the U.S., Canada and other 
foreign jurisdictions governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling, and disposal of medical and hazardous materials. 
These laws and regulations include, but are not limited to the CERCLA, which imposes strict, joint and several liability on 
current and former owners and operators of sites and on persons who disposed of or arranged for the disposal of hazardous 
substances found at such sites, including releases of radioactive materials, regardless of the lawfulness of the original 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

54



activities that led to the contamination, the LLRW Policy Act, which requires the safe disposal of mildly radioactive 
materials that cannot be decayed in storage, NRC regulations concerning various irradiated and radioactive, materials, and 
health regulations from the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration, which limit exposures to hazardous 
substances, including radioactive materials, in the workplace and impose various worker safety requirements. Although 
POINT believes that its and such third-parties’ procedures for using, handling, storing and disposing of these materials 
comply with legally prescribed standards, POINT cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury resulting 
from medical or hazardous materials. As a result of any such contamination or injury, POINT may incur liability or local, 
city, state, provincial or federal authorities may curtail the use of these materials and interrupt POINT’s business 
operations. In the event of an accident, POINT could be held liable for damages or penalized with fines, and the liability 
could exceed POINT’s resources. Compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations is expensive, and 
current or future environmental regulations may impair POINT’s research, development and production efforts, which 
could harm its business, prospects, financial condition, or results of operations. POINT will maintain insurance coverage 
for injuries resulting from the hazardous materials it uses; however, future claims may exceed the amount of its coverage. 
Also, POINT does not currently have insurance coverage for pollution cleanup and removal. Currently the costs of 
complying with such federal, state, provincial, local and foreign environmental regulations are not significant, and consist 
primarily of waste disposal expenses. However, they could become expensive, and current or future environmental laws or 
regulations may impair POINT’s research, development, production and commercialization efforts.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

The FDA regulatory approval process is lengthy and time-consuming, and POINT may experience significant delays in 
the clinical development and regulatory approval of its product candidates.

POINT has not previously submitted a NDA to the FDA or similar marketing applications to similar foreign 
regulatory authorities. A NDA must include extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to establish 
the product candidate’s safety and effectiveness for each desired indication. The NDA must also include significant 
information regarding the manufacturing controls for the product.

Securing regulatory approval also requires the submission of information about the radioligand manufacturing process 
and inspection of manufacturing facilities by the relevant regulatory authority. The FDA or similar foreign regulatory 
authorities may fail to approve POINT’s manufacturing processes or facilities, whether run by POINT or its CMOs. In 
addition, if POINT makes manufacturing changes to its product candidates in the future, POINT may need to conduct 
additional preclinical studies and/or clinical trials to bridge its modified product candidates to earlier versions.

Many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may ultimately 
lead to the denial of regulatory approval of POINT’s product candidates.

POINT may seek orphan drug designation for product candidates it develops, and POINT may be unsuccessful or may 
be unable to maintain the benefits associated with orphan drug designation, including the potential for market 
exclusivity.

As part of POINT’s business strategy, it has sought orphan drug designation for PNT2003 and may seek orphan drug 
designation for other product candidates it develops, and it may be unsuccessful. Regulatory authorities in some 
jurisdictions, including the United States and Europe, may designate drugs for relatively small patient populations as 
orphan drugs.

Generally, if a drug with an orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first marketing approval for the 
indication for which it has such designation, the drug is entitled to a period of marketing exclusivity, which precludes the 
EMA or the FDA from approving another marketing application for the same drug and for the same indication during the 
period of exclusivity, except in limited circumstances.

Even if POINT obtains orphan drug exclusivity for a product candidate, such exclusivity may not effectively protect 
the product candidate from competition because different therapies can be approved for the same condition and the same 
therapies can be approved for different conditions but used off-label. Even after an orphan drug is approved, the FDA can 
subsequently approve the same drug for the same condition if the FDA concludes that the later drug is clinically superior in 
that it is shown to be safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. In addition, a designated orphan 
drug may not receive orphan drug exclusivity if it is approved for a use that is broader than the indication for which it 
received orphan designation. Moreover, orphan drug exclusive marketing rights in the U.S. may be lost if the FDA later 
determines that the request for designation was materially defective or if the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient 
quantity of the drug to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. Orphan drug designation neither 
shortens the development time or regulatory review time of a drug nor gives the drug any advantage in the regulatory 
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review or approval process. While POINT has sought orphan drug designation for PNT2003 and may seek orphan drug 
designation for other applicable indications for its current and any future product candidates, POINT may never receive 
such designations. Even if POINT does receive such designation, there is no guarantee that it will enjoy the benefits of that 
designation.

A breakthrough therapy designation by the FDA, even if granted for any of POINT’s product candidates, may not lead 
to a faster development or regulatory review or approval process and it does not increase the likelihood that POINT’s 
product candidates will receive marketing approval.

POINT may seek breakthrough therapy designation for some or all of its future product candidates. A breakthrough 
therapy is defined as a drug that is intended, alone or in combination with one or more other drugs, to treat a serious or life-
threatening disease or condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug may demonstrate substantial 
improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects 
observed early in clinical development. For product candidates that have been designated as breakthrough therapies, 
sponsors may obtain more frequent interaction with and communication with the FDA to help to identify the most efficient 
path for clinical development. Therapies designated as breakthrough therapies by the FDA may also be eligible for other 
expedited approval programs, including accelerated approval.

Designation as a breakthrough therapy is within the discretion of the FDA. Accordingly, even if POINT believes one 
of its product candidates meets the criteria for designation as a breakthrough therapy, the FDA may disagree and instead 
determine not to make such designation. In any event, the receipt of a breakthrough therapy designation for a product 
candidate may not result in a faster development process, review or approval and does not assure ultimate approval by the 
FDA. In addition, even if one or more of POINT’s product candidates qualify as a breakthrough therapy, the FDA may 
later decide that the product candidate no longer meets the conditions for qualification. As such, even though POINT could 
seek breakthrough therapy designation for PNT2002 and/or PNT2003 and some or all of its future product candidates for 
the treatment of certain cancers, there can be no assurance that POINT will receive breakthrough therapy designation or 
that even if POINT does receive it, that such designation will have a material impact on POINT’s development program.

A fast-track designation by the FDA, even if granted for PNT2002, PNT2003 or any other future product candidates, 
may not lead to a faster development or regulatory review or approval process and does not increase the likelihood that 
POINT’s product candidates will receive marketing approval.

If a drug is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition and the product demonstrates the 
potential to address unmet medical needs for this condition, the sponsor may apply for FDA fast track designation for a 
particular indication. POINT may seek fast track designation for certain of its current or future product candidates, but 
there is no assurance that the FDA will grant this status to any of POINT’s proposed product candidates. If granted, fast 
track designation makes a product eligible for more frequent interactions with FDA to discuss the development plan and 
clinical trial design, as well as rolling review of the application, which means that the company can submit completed 
sections of its marketing application for review prior to completion of the entire submission. Marketing applications of 
product candidates with fast-track designation may qualify for priority review under the policies and procedures offered by 
the FDA, but the fast-track designation does not assure any such qualification or ultimate marketing approval by the FDA. 
The FDA has broad discretion whether or not to grant fast track designation, so even if POINT believes a particular product 
candidate is eligible for this designation, there can be no assurance that the FDA would decide to grant it. Even if POINT 
does receive fast track designation, POINT may not experience a faster development process, review or approval compared 
to conventional FDA procedures, and receiving a fast-track designation does not provide any assurance of ultimate FDA 
approval. In addition, the FDA may withdraw fast track designation if it believes that the designation is no longer 
supported by data from POINT’s clinical development program. In addition, the FDA may withdraw any fast-track 
designation at any time.

Accelerated approval by the FDA, even if granted for PNT2002, PNT2003 or any other future product candidates, may 
not lead to a faster development process.

POINT may seek accelerated approval of PNT2002 and PNT2003 and for future product candidates. A product may 
be eligible for accelerated approval if it treats a serious or life-threatening condition and generally provides a meaningful 
advantage over available therapies. In addition, it must demonstrate an effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably 
likely to predict clinical benefit or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or 
mortality ("IMM") that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on IMM or other clinical benefit. As a condition of 
approval, the FDA may require that a sponsor of a drug receiving accelerated approval perform adequate and well-
controlled post-marketing clinical trials. In addition, the FDA currently requires as a condition for accelerated approval pre-
approval of promotional materials, which could adversely impact the timing of the commercial launch of the product.
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If POINT is unable to successfully develop, validate and obtain regulatory approval for companion diagnostic tests for 
its product candidates that require or would commercially benefit from such tests, or experiences significant delays in 
doing so, it may not realize the full commercial potential of these product candidates.

In connection with the clinical development of POINT’s product candidates for certain indications, POINT may work 
with collaborators to develop or obtain access to in vitro or in vivo companion diagnostic tests to identify patient subsets 
within a disease category who may derive selective and meaningful benefit from POINT’s product candidates. Such 
companion diagnostics would be used during POINT’s clinical trials as well as in connection with the commercialization of 
its product candidates. To be successful, POINT or its collaborators will need to address a number of scientific, technical, 
regulatory and logistical challenges. The FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities regulate in vitro companion 
diagnostics as medical devices and, under that regulatory framework, will likely require the conduct of clinical trials to 
demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of any diagnostics POINT may develop, which POINT expects will require 
separate regulatory clearance or approval prior to commercialization.

POINT may rely on third parties for the design, development and manufacture of companion diagnostic tests for its 
therapeutic product candidates that may require such tests. If POINT enters into such collaborative agreements, it will be 
dependent on the sustained cooperation and effort of its future collaborators in developing and obtaining approval for these 
companion diagnostics. It may be necessary to resolve issues, such as selectivity/specificity, analytical validation, 
reproducibility or clinical validation of companion diagnostics, during the development and regulatory approval processes. 
Moreover, even if data from preclinical studies and early clinical trials appear to support development of a companion 
diagnostic for a product candidate, data generated in later clinical trials may fail to support the analytical and clinical 
validation of the companion diagnostic. POINT and its future collaborators may encounter difficulties in developing, 
obtaining regulatory approval for, manufacturing and commercializing companion diagnostics similar to those POINT 
faces with respect to its therapeutic candidates themselves, including issues with achieving regulatory clearance or 
approval, production of sufficient quantities at commercial scale and with appropriate quality standards, and in gaining 
market acceptance. If POINT is unable to successfully develop companion diagnostics for these therapeutic product 
candidates, or experiences delays in doing so, the development of these therapeutic product candidates may be adversely 
affected, these therapeutic product candidates may not obtain marketing approval, and POINT may not realize the full 
commercial potential of any of these therapeutics that obtain marketing approval. As a result, POINT’s business, results of 
operations and financial condition could be materially harmed. In addition, a diagnostic company with whom POINT 
contracts may decide to discontinue selling or manufacturing the companion diagnostic test that POINT anticipates using in 
connection with development and commercialization of its product candidates or POINT’s relationship with such 
diagnostic company may otherwise terminate. POINT may not be able to enter into arrangements with another diagnostic 
company to obtain supplies of an alternative diagnostic test for use in connection with the development and 
commercialization of POINT’s product candidates or do so on commercially reasonable terms, which could adversely 
affect and/or delay the development or commercialization of its therapeutic candidates.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of POINT’s product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that it 
will be successful in obtaining regulatory approval of its product candidates in other jurisdictions.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of POINT’s product candidates in one jurisdiction does not guarantee 
that it will be able to obtain or maintain regulatory approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or delay in obtaining 
regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in others. For 
example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a product candidate, similar foreign regulatory authorities must 
also approve the manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries. Approval and 
licensure procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods different 
from, and greater than, those in the U.S., including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials, as clinical trials 
conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions 
outside the U.S., a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that 
jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that POINT intends to charge for its product candidates is also subject to approval.

POINT may also submit marketing applications in other countries. Regulatory authorities in jurisdictions outside of 
the U.S. have requirements for approval of product candidates with which POINT must comply prior to marketing in those 
jurisdictions. Obtaining similar foreign regulatory approvals and compliance with similar foreign regulatory requirements 
could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for POINT and could delay or prevent the introduction of its product 
candidates in certain countries. If POINT fails to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or 
receive applicable marketing approvals, POINT’s target market will be reduced and its ability to realize the full market 
potential of its product candidates will be harmed.

Even if POINT receives regulatory approval of its product candidates, POINT will be subject to ongoing regulatory 
obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense and POINT may be 
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subject to penalties if it fails to comply with regulatory requirements or experiences unanticipated problems with its 
product candidates.

Following potential approval of any of POINT’s current or future product candidates, the FDA or similar foreign 
regulatory authorities may impose significant restrictions on a product’s indicated uses or marketing or impose ongoing 
requirements for potentially costly and time-consuming post-approval studies, post-market surveillance or clinical trials to 
monitor the safety and efficacy of the product. The FDA may also require a REMS in order to license POINT’s product 
candidates, which could entail requirements for a medication guide, physician communication plans or additional elements 
to ensure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. In addition, 
if the FDA or a similar foreign regulatory authority approves POINT’s product candidates, the manufacturing processes, 
labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import, export and 
recordkeeping for POINT’s product candidates will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These 
requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration, as well as 
continued compliance with cGMPs and GCPs, for any clinical trials that POINT conducts post-approval. Later discovery of 
previously unknown problems with POINT’s product candidates, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or 
frequency, or with POINT’s third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory 
requirements, may result in, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of POINT’s product candidates, withdrawal of the product 
candidates from the market or voluntary or mandatory product recalls;

• revisions to the labeling, including limitation on approved uses or the addition of additional warnings, 
contraindications or other safety information, including boxed warnings;

• imposition of a REMS which may include distribution or use restrictions;

• requirements to conduct additional post-market clinical trials to assess the safety of the product candidates;

• fines, warning or untitled letters or holds on clinical trials;

• refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by POINT or 
suspension or revocation of license approvals;

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of POINT’s product candidates; and

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA’s and similar regulatory authorities’ policies may change and additional government regulations may be 
enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of POINT’s product candidates. POINT cannot predict the 
likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either 
in the U.S. or abroad. For example, certain policies of the Biden administration may impact POINT’s business and 
industry. Namely, the Biden administration is expected to take several executive actions that could increase FDA 
enforcement actions. It is difficult to predict how these executive actions will be implemented, and the extent to which they 
will impact the FDA’s exercise of its regulatory authority. If POINT is slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing 
requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if POINT is not able to maintain regulatory compliance, 
POINT may lose any marketing approval that it may have obtained and it may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Disruptions at the FDA and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could 
hinder their ability to hire, retain or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new or modified 
products and services from being developed, approved or commercialized in a timely manner, which could negatively 
impact POINT’s business.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including, but not 
limited to, government budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user 
fees, statutory, regulatory, and policy changes and other events that may otherwise affect the FDA’s ability to perform 
routine functions. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result of the factors identified. In 
addition, government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the 
political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or 
approved or cleared by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect POINT’s business. For example, 
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over the last several years, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the 
FDA, have had to furlough critical FDA employees and stop critical activities.

Separately, in response to the global pandemic of COVID-19, on March 10, 2020, the FDA announced its intention to 
postpone inspections of manufacturing facilities and products, and regulatory authorities outside the U.S. may have 
adopted similar restrictions or other policy measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The FDA has since resumed 
some prioritized domestic inspections based on a rating system. Additionally, as of June 23, 2020, the FDA noted it is 
continuing to ensure timely reviews of applications for medical products during the COVID-19 pandemic in line with its 
user fee performance goals. On July 16, 2020, FDA noted that it is continuing to expedite oncology product development 
with its staff teleworking full-time. In addition, on April 15, 2021, the FDA issued a guidance document in which the FDA 
outlined plans to conduct voluntary remote interactive evaluations of certain drug manufacturing facilities and clinical 
research sites. According to the guidance, the FDA intends to request such remote interactive evaluations in situations 
where an in-person inspection would not be prioritized, deemed mission-critical or is otherwise limited by travel 
restrictions, but where the FDA determines that a remote evaluation would still be appropriate. However, FDA may not be 
able to continue its current pace and approval timelines could be extended, including where a pre-approval inspection or an 
inspection of clinical sites is required and due to the COVID-19 pandemic and travel restrictions FDA is unable to 
complete such required inspections during the review period. In 2020, several companies announced receipt of complete 
response letters due to the FDA’s inability to complete required inspections for their applications. Regulatory authorities 
outside the U.S. may adopt similar restrictions or other policy measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns continue to prevent the FDA or other 
regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other regulatory activities, it could 
significantly impact the ability of the FDA or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process regulatory 
submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on POINT’s business. If a prolonged government shutdown 
occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process POINT’s regulatory submissions, 
which could have a material adverse effect on POINT’s business.

Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage and reimbursement for any of POINT’s product candidates, if 
approved, could limit POINT’s ability to market those product candidates and decrease its ability to generate revenue.

In the U.S. and markets in other countries, patients generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the 
costs associated with their treatment. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and 
health maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. 
Adequate coverage and reimbursement for products and related treatments from governmental healthcare programs, such 
as Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors are critical to new product acceptance, will affect POINT’s ability to 
successfully commercialize its product candidates, and also impact utilization patterns. Sales of current or future product 
candidates will depend substantially, both domestically and abroad, on the extent to which the costs of its product 
candidates will be paid by various third-party payors. If adequate coverage and reimbursement are not available, POINT 
may not be able to successfully commercialize its product candidates. Even if coverage is provided, the approved 
reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow POINT to establish or maintain pricing sufficient to realize a 
sufficient return on its investment.

There is significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products and 
coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which the medicine is approved by the FDA or comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities. Securing coverage and reimbursement for a product (often two separate processes) can be costly and 
time-consuming, and we may encounter significant delays. Factors payors consider in determining reimbursement are 
based on whether the product is: (i) a covered benefit under its health plan; (ii) safe, effective and medically necessary; (iii) 
appropriate for the specific patient; (iv) cost-effective; and (v) neither experimental nor investigational. In the U.S., the 
principal decisions about coverage and reimbursement for new medicines are typically made by CMS. CMS decides 
whether, and to what extent, a new medicine will be covered and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to 
follow CMS to a substantial degree. However, one payor’s determination to provide coverage for a product does not mean 
that other payors will also provide coverage for the product.

The containment of healthcare costs has become a priority of both government healthcare programs and commercial 
payors. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging prices, examining medical necessity and reviewing cost-
effectiveness of medical products and services as they seek to control costs. Many pharmaceutical manufacturers must 
calculate and report certain price reporting metrics to the government, such as average sales price, or ASP, and best price. 
Penalties may apply in some cases when such metrics are not submitted accurately and timely. List prices for drugs may be 
reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private payors and by any 
future laws or regulations limiting or changing pharmaceutical practices, such as relaxation of laws that presently restrict 
imports of drugs from other countries. POINT cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for any product 
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candidate that it commercializes. Further, eligibility for coverage and reimbursement does not necessarily mean that a 
payor will cover a drug in all appropriate cases or at a rate that covers POINT’s costs, including research and development, 
intellectual property, manufacturing and sale and distribution expenses, and POINT may not be able to realize an 
appropriate rate of return on investment. 

In addition, in certain foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully 
marketed. The requirements governing drug pricing vary widely from country to country. For example, the European 
Union provides options for its Member States to restrict the range of medicinal products for which their national health 
insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. To obtain 
reimbursement or pricing approval, certain countries with the European Union may require the completion of clinical trials 
that compare the cost effectiveness of a particular product candidate to currently available therapies. A Member State may 
approve a specific price for the medicinal product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the 
profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market. There can be no assurance that any country that 
has price controls or reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and 
pricing arrangements for any of POINT’s product candidates. Historically, products launched in the European Union do not 
follow the same price structures as in the U.S. and, generally, prices in the European Union tend to be significantly lower.

POINT’s relationships with healthcare providers and third-party payors are subject to complex and extensive healthcare 
laws and regulations, including fraud and abuse laws , which could expose POINT to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, 
contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future earnings.

POINT is subject to complex and extensive laws and regulations, including those related to healthcare fraud and abuse, 
privacy and security of health information and other personal data, transparency of financial relationships, registration of 
manufacturers and distributors, and marketing. These laws and regulations may constrain our business and the financial 
relationships through which we sell, market and distribute or products. They are broadly applicable, may vary across 
jurisdictions, and are administered by several different government agencies, such as the FDA, HHS, CMS, and the DOJ. 
The potentially applicable federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations laws that may affect our ability to 
operate, and which are described in more detail in the section titled “Business  —  Government Regulation  —  U.S. 
Healthcare Laws and Regulation,” include, but are not limited to:

• the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits providers and others from directly or indirectly soliciting, 
receiving, offering or paying any remuneration with the intent of generating referrals or orders for items or 
services covered by a federal healthcare program;

• various laws specific to the pharmaceutical industry, including the federal Drug Supply Chain Security Act, laws 
requiring registration of drug manufacturers and distributors, those requiring disclosure of drug pricing, which 
require us to calculate and report complex pricing metrics in an accurate and timely manner to government 
programs, and those restricting certain sales and marketing practices;

• federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and 
activities that potentially harm consumers;

• federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the civil FCA, which govern the submission of claims for 
reimbursement and prohibit individuals and entities from making false claims or statements

• the federal CMP Law and other statutes that prohibit various forms of fraud and abuse, including improper patient 
inducements;

• HIPAA, which restricts the use and disclosure of protected health information, provides for individual privacy-
related rights, requires safeguards for protected health information and requires notification of breaches of 
unsecure protected health information; and

• the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, created under the ACA, and its implementing regulations.

Federal and state enforcement bodies have recently increased their scrutiny of interactions between healthcare 
companies, healthcare providers and other third parties, including charitable foundations, which has led to a number of 
investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry. State and federal authorities have 
aggressively targeted pharmaceutical companies for alleged violations of anti-fraud statutes, based on improper research or 
consulting contracts with doctors, certain marketing arrangements with pharmacies and other healthcare providers that rely 
on volume-based pricing, off-label marketing schemes, and other improper promotional practices. Companies targeted in 
such prosecutions have paid substantial fines, have been ordered to implement extensive corrective action plans, and have 
in many cases become subject to consent decrees severely restricting the manner in which they conduct their business, 
among other consequences. Additionally, federal and state regulators have brought criminal actions against individual 
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employees responsible for alleged violations. If POINT becomes the target of such an investigation or prosecution based on 
its contractual relationships with providers or institutions, or its marketing and promotional practices, POINT could face 
similar sanctions, which would materially harm its business.

Responding to investigations can be time-and resource-consuming and can divert management’s attention from the 
business. Any such investigation or settlement could increase POINT’s costs or otherwise have an adverse effect on its 
business. While we endeavor to comply with applicable laws and regulations, we cannot guarantee that our practices are 
fully compliant or that courts or regulatory agencies will not interpret laws and regulations in ways that could adversely 
affect our practices. Further, the laws and regulations governing our business are subject to change, enforcement practices 
may evolve, and it is difficult to predict the impact of new laws and regulations. These changes could subject us to 
allegations of impropriety or illegality, require restructuring of relationships or otherwise require changes to our operations 
and materially affect business in an adverse way. Violation of applicable healthcare laws and regulations, including fraud 
and abuse laws, could result in penalties, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, 
disgorgement, the exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs, individual imprisonment, 
reputational harm, and the curtailment or restructuring of its operations, as well as additional reporting obligations and 
oversight if it becomes subject to a corporate integrity agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-
compliance with these laws. An investigation or an action for violation of these laws, even if successfully defended, could 
cause POINT to incur significant legal expenses and divert management’s attention from the operation of the business. 
Efforts to ensure that POINT’s business arrangements will comply with applicable healthcare laws may involve substantial 
costs.

Also, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws generally prohibit companies and 
their intermediaries from making improper payments to non-U.S. officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining 
business. POINT’s internal control policies and procedures may not protect POINT from reckless or negligent acts 
committed by its employees, future distributors, partners, collaborators or agents. Violations of these laws, or allegations of 
such violations, could result in fines, penalties or prosecution and have a negative impact on POINT’s business, results of 
operations and reputation.

Healthcare policy changes, including those resulting from healthcare reform initiatives and government budgetary 
constraints may have a material adverse effect on POINT’s business and results of operations

In recent years, the U.S. Congress and certain state legislatures have considered and passed a large number of laws 
intended to result in significant changes to the healthcare industry, including proposals targeted at reducing the price of 
pharmaceutical products and limiting coverage and reimbursement for drugs and other medical products. For example, the 
Affordable Care Act, affects how health care services are covered, delivered and reimbursed through expanded health 
insurance coverage, reduced growth in Medicare program spending, and the establishment and expansion of value-based 
purchasing programs. The law also imposes price transparency requirements and establishes the Patient-Centered 
Outcomes Research Institute, which focuses on comparative clinical effectiveness research. In addition, the Affordable 
Care Act contains several provisions relevant to pharmaceutical manufacturers and that may impact to POINT’s potential 
product candidates, including expansion of the 340B program, expansion of manufacturers’ rebate liability under the 
MDRP, and measures intended to reduce Medicare Part D enrollees’ out-of-pocket liability.

The Affordable Care Act has been subject to legislative and regulatory changes and court challenges. However, 
President Biden has indicated that his administration intends to protect and strengthen the Affordable Care Act and 
Medicaid programs. Further, the presidential administration and members of Congress have proposed measures that would 
expand government-sponsored coverage, such as single-payor proposals (commonly referred to as “Medicare for All”) and 
changes to Medicare age requirements. These proposals could lead to increased coverage levels and utilization of services. 
However, the impact and timing of additional reform initiatives is unclear.

In recent years, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which pharmaceutical 
manufacturers set prices for their products. This has resulted in proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed 
to increase transparency in product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs and 
reform government reimbursement methodologies for pharmaceutical products. For example, in 2020, HHS, the 
Department of Labor and the Department of the Treasury issued a Transparency in Coverage final rule that for plan years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022, requires health plans to disclose on a public website the negotiated rates and 
historical net pricing for prescription drugs and to provide consumers with personalized cost-sharing information. 
However, the agencies announced in August 2021 that they will delay enforcement of this requirement until July 1, 2022, 
due to potentially duplicative and overlapping reporting requirements imposed by the No Surprises Act, which is part of the 
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 (“CAA”). The agencies issued an interim final rule in November 2021 
implementing the CAA reporting requirements for health plans, requiring, among other things, information on the most 
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frequently dispensed and costliest drugs, as well as prescription drug rebates paid by drug manufacturers to plans, issuers, 
third-party administrators and pharmacy benefit managers. Beginning in 2023, the agencies will issue biennial public 
reports on prescription drug pricing trends and the impact of prescription drug costs on premiums and out-of-pocket costs.

Some other efforts related to drug pricing reform involve importing drugs from other countries or using international 
pricing benchmarks. For example, in 2020, HHS and the FDA issued a final rule to allow FDA-authorized programs to 
import certain prescription drugs from Canada, although the rule excludes several types of prescription drugs such as 
radioactive drugs and biologics and imaging drugs. Some states, such as Florida, are pursuing their own initiative to import 
drugs for state health care programs. Also in 2020, CMS issued an interim final rule to implement a MFN model for 
determining Medicare prices for Part B drugs and biologicals. However, in 2021, before the MFN model was implemented, 
CMS rescinded the interim final rule and removed the relevant regulations. 

In addition, HHS OIG issued a final rule in 2020 that amends the discount safe harbor of the federal Anti-Kickback 
Statute to exclude rebates from drug manufacturers to Medicare Part D plan sponsors, adds a safe harbor to protect POINT-
of-sale reductions from a drug manufacturer to a Part D or Medicaid managed care organization, and adds a safe harbor to 
protect certain drug manufacturer payments to pharmacy benefit managers. However, there is ongoing litigation relating to 
this rule and implementation was delayed pursuant to a court order. The Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, enacted in 
November 2021, prohibits HHS from implementing or enforcing the rule prior to January 1, 2026.

The Biden administration and certain members of Congress have indicated their intent to continue to pursue drug 
pricing reforms. Proposals include allowing Medicare to negotiate with drug manufacturers for lower prices, allowing 
additional importation of prescription drugs from other countries, modifying the design of the Medicare Part D program 
and limiting drug price increases to no more than the inflation rate. Some states also have passed legislation and issued 
regulations designed to lower prescription drug costs. These and other initiatives at the federal and state levels, if enacted 
and implemented, may directly or indirectly affect pricing of POINT’s product candidates.

Additionally, in 2018, the Right to Try Act, was enacted. The law provides a federal framework for eligible patients to 
access certain investigational drugs that are the subject of an active IND application submitted to the FDA, but that have 
not been approved or licensed by the FDA for any use. The Right to Try Act allows patients to seek treatment without 
participating in a clinical trial and without obtaining FDA permission under the FDA Program (i.e., compassionate use). 
Manufacturers are not obligated under the Right to Try Act to make products available to eligible patients. Some states 
have enacted similar laws.

POINT’s employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial collaborators, principal investigators, vendors 
and other agents may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory 
standards and requirements.

POINT is exposed to the risk that its employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial collaborators, 
principal investigators, vendors and other agents may engage in fraudulent conduct or other illegal activity. Misconduct by 
these parties could include intentional, reckless or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to POINT that 
violates applicable regulations, including those laws requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to 
regulatory agencies, manufacturing standards and U.S. federal and state healthcare laws and regulations. In particular, 
sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations 
intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. POINT could face liability under the Anti-
Kickback Statute and similar U.S. state laws. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, 
discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, referrals, customer incentive programs and other business 
arrangements. Misconduct by these parties could also involve the improper use of individually identifiable information, 
including, without limitation, information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in significant 
regulatory sanctions and serious harm to POINT’s reputation. Further, should violations include promotion of unapproved 
(off-label) uses of one or more of POINT’s product candidates, POINT could face significant regulatory sanctions for 
unlawful promotion, as well as substantial penalties under the FCA and similar state laws. Similar concerns could exist in 
jurisdictions outside of the U.S. as well. 

Prior to the consummation of the Business Combination, POINT intends to adopt a code of conduct applicable to all 
of its employees, but it is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third parties. The 
precautions POINT takes to detect and prevent misconduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged 
risks or losses or in protecting POINT from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a 
failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against POINT, and POINT is 
not successful in defending itself or asserting its rights, those actions could have a significant impact on its business, 
including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, imprisonment, possible 
exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, additional reporting 
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requirements and oversight if POINT becomes subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve 
allegations of noncompliance with these laws, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future 
earnings, and curtailment of POINT’s operations, any of which could adversely affect POINT’s ability to operate its 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

If POINT’s security measures are breached or unauthorized access to protected health information or other personal 
information is otherwise obtained or if POINT fails to comply with applicable privacy and security laws and regulations, 
its reputation may be harmed, and it may incur significant expenses and liabilities.

Unauthorized access to, or security breaches of, POINT’s systems and databases could result in unauthorized access to 
data and information and loss, compromise or corruption of such data and information. Present and future CROs, 
contractors and consultants also could experience breaches of security leading to the exposure of confidential and personal 
information. Cyber incidents have been increasing in sophistication and frequency and can include third parties gaining 
access to employee or customer data using stolen or inferred credentials, computer malware, viruses, spamming, phishing 
attacks, ransomware, card skimming code, and other deliberate attacks and attempts to gain unauthorized access. Because 
the techniques used by computer programmers who may attempt to penetrate and sabotage POINT’s network security or its 
website change frequently and may not be recognized until launched against a target, POINT may be unable to anticipate 
these techniques or there may be a delay in detection of a breach. Breaches may also be caused by user error and failure to 
follow security policies and procedures. It is possible that unauthorized access to customer data may be obtained through 
inadequate use of security controls by customers, suppliers or other vendors. While POINT is not currently aware of any 
impact that the SolarWinds supply chain attack had on its business, this is a recent event, and the scope of the attack is yet 
unknown. Therefore, there is residual risk that POINT may experience a security breach arising from the SolarWinds 
supply chain attack.

Health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and most healthcare providers, including research institutions from which 
POINT obtains patient health information, are subject to privacy and security regulations promulgated under HIPAA. 
Entities that handle protected health information on behalf of covered entities, known as business associates, are required to 
comply with certain provisions of the security and privacy regulations. POINT is not currently classified as a covered entity 
or business associate under HIPAA and thus is not directly subject to its requirements or penalties. However, even if there 
is no direct liability under HIPAA, any person may be prosecuted under HIPAA’s criminal provisions. Consequently, 
depending on the facts and circumstances, POINT could face substantial criminal penalties if it knowingly receives 
protected health information from a HIPAA-covered healthcare provider, research institution or other party that has not 
satisfied HIPAA’s requirements for disclosure of individually identifiable health information.

POINT may receive and maintain personal information, including health information, throughout the clinical trial 
process, in the course of its research collaborations, and directly from individuals (or their healthcare providers) who enroll 
in POINT’s patient assistance programs. As a result health privacy laws, data breach notification laws, consumer protection 
laws and genetic testing laws may apply directly to POINT’s operations and/or those of POINT’s collaborators and may 
impose restrictions on POINT’s collection, use and dissemination of individuals’ health and other personal information. 
These laws may apply to a broader class of information than the health information protected by HIPAA. Further, 
individuals about whom POINT or its collaborators obtain health information, as well as the providers who share this 
information with POINT, may have statutory or contractual rights that limit POINT’s ability to use and disclose the 
information.

In the event of a security breach, POINT could suffer loss of business, severe reputational damage adversely affecting 
investor or patient confidence, regulatory investigations and orders, litigation, indemnity obligations, damages for contract 
breach, penalties for violation of applicable laws or regulations, significant costs for remediation and other liabilities. For 
example, the loss of preclinical study or clinical trial data from completed or future preclinical studies or clinical trials 
could result in delays in POINT’s regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase POINT’s costs to recover or 
reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, POINT’s 
data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, POINT could incur liability and 
the further development and commercialization of POINT’s product candidates could be delayed.

POINT has incurred and expects to expend significant capital and other resources to ensure ongoing compliance with 
applicable privacy and data security laws and to prevent security breaches, including costs related to deploying additional 
personnel and protection technologies, training employees, and engaging third-party solution providers and consultants. 
Claims that POINT has violated individuals’ privacy rights or breached its contractual obligations, even if POINT is not 
found liable, could be expensive and time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm 
POINT’s business. Although POINT expends significant resources to create security protections that shield personal 
information against potential theft and security breaches, such measures cannot provide absolute security. Moreover, as 
POINT outsources more of its information systems to vendors and relies more on cloud-based information systems, the 
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related security risks will increase, and POINT will need to expend additional resources to protect its technology and 
information systems and may be adversely affected by security breaches experienced by POINT’s vendors. POINT 
maintains a limited amount of cyber liability insurance, POINT cannot be certain that its coverage will be adequate for 
liabilities actually incurred or that insurance will continue to be available to POINT on economically reasonable terms, or 
at all.

POINT is subject to certain U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions and 
other trade laws and regulations. POINT can face serious consequences for violations.

Among other matters, U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions and other 
trade laws and regulations, which are collectively referred to as Trade Laws, prohibit companies and their employees, 
agents, CROs, legal counsel, accountants, consultants, contractors and other partners from authorizing, promising, offering, 
providing, soliciting or receiving, directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to or from 
recipients in the public or private sector. Violations of Trade Laws can result in substantial criminal fines and civil 
penalties, imprisonment, the loss of trade privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, 
reputational harm and other consequences. POINT has direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of 
government agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities and other organizations. POINT plans to engage third 
parties for clinical trials and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations and other regulatory approvals and 
POINT can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our personnel, agents or partners, even if POINT does 
not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities.

Changes in tax law could adversely affect POINT's business and financial condition

The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state, and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved 
in the legislative process and by the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax 
laws (which changes may have retroactive application), including with respect to net operating losses and research and 
development tax credits, could adversely affect POINT or holders of POINT Common Stock. In recent years, many such 
changes have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future. Future changes in tax laws could have a 
material adverse effect on POINT’s business, cash flow, financial condition or results of operations. POINT urges investors 
to consult with their legal and tax advisers regarding the implications of potential changes in tax laws on an investment in 
POINT Common Stock.

Risks Related to POINT’s Intellectual Property

If POINT is unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for any product candidates it develops and for its 
technology, or if the scope of the patent protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, its competitors could develop and 
commercialize products and technology similar or identical to POINT’s, and POINT’s ability to commercialize any 
product candidates it may develop, and its technology may be adversely affected.

POINT’s success depends, in large part, on its ability to seek, obtain, maintain, enforce and defend patent rights in the 
U.S. and other countries with respect to its product candidates. POINT and its licensors have sought and intend to continue 
to seek to protect POINT’s proprietary position by filing patent applications in the U.S. and one or more countries outside 
the U.S. related to POINT’s product candidates and technologies that are important to POINT’s business. However, the 
risks associated with patent rights generally apply to patent rights that POINT owns, has licensed now or licenses in the 
future.

The patent prosecution process is expensive, time-consuming and complex, and POINT and its licensors may not be 
able to file, prosecute, maintain, enforce, defend or license all necessary or desirable patents and patent applications at a 
reasonable cost or in a timely manner.

Changes in either the patent laws or their interpretation in the U.S. and other countries may diminish POINT’s ability 
to protect its inventions, obtain, maintain and enforce its intellectual property rights, and more generally, could affect the 
value of POINT’s intellectual property rights or narrow the scope of POINT’s owned or licensed patents. POINT cannot 
predict with certainty whether patent applications POINT and its licensors are currently pursuing will issue as patents or 
whether the claims of any issued patents will provide sufficient competitive advantage.

It is also possible that POINT will fail to identify patentable aspects of its research and development output before it is 
too late to obtain patent protection. Although POINT enters into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties 
who have access to confidential or patentable aspects of POINT’s research and development output, such as POINT’s 
employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, CROs, contract manufacturers, consultants, advisors 
and other third parties, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose such output before a patent application 
is filed, thereby jeopardizing POINT’s ability to seek patent protection.
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POINT is a party to a number of intellectual property license agreements which are important to its business, and 
POINT may enter into one or more additional license agreements and other intellectual property agreements in the future. 
POINT’s existing license agreements impose, and POINT expects that future license agreements will impose, various 
diligence, development and commercialization timelines, milestone payments, royalties and other obligations. If POINT 
fails to comply with obligations under these agreements, the licensor may have the right to terminate the license.

The patent position of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex 
legal and factual questions and has, in recent years, been the subject of much litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, 
validity, enforceability and commercial value of POINT’s patent rights are highly uncertain. POINT’s current and future 
owned and licensed patent rights may not result in patents being issued which protect POINT’s technology or product 
candidates, effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products or otherwise provide 
any competitive advantage. In fact, patent applications may not issue as patents at all. Even assuming patents issue from 
patent applications in which POINT has rights, changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the 
U.S. and other jurisdictions may diminish the value of POINT’s patents or narrow the scope of patent protection.

Other parties have developed products and technologies that may be related or competitive to those of POINT and 
such parties may have filed or may file patent applications, or may have received or may receive patents, claiming 
inventions that may overlap or conflict with those claimed in POINT’s patent applications or issued patents. POINT may 
not be aware of all third-party intellectual property rights potentially relating to POINT’s current or future product 
candidates or technologies. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, 
and patent applications in the U.S. and in other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or, in 
some cases, not at all. Therefore, POINT cannot know with certainty whether certain of POINT’s owned or licensed patent 
applications are the first filed for patent protection of the disclosed inventions. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, 
enforceability and commercial value of POINT’s patent rights cannot be predicted with any certainty.

Moreover, the coverage claimed in a patent application can be significantly reduced before the patent is issued, and its 
scope can be reinterpreted after issuance. Even if patent applications POINT owns or licenses do issue as patents, they may 
not issue in a form that will provide meaningful protection, prevent competitors or other third parties from competing with 
POINT or otherwise provide competitive advantage. Any patents that POINT owns or licenses now or in the futures may 
be challenged, narrowed, circumvented, or invalidated by third parties. Consequently, POINT does not know whether any 
of its product candidates and technology will be protectable or remain protected by valid and enforceable patents. 
Competitors or other third parties may be able to circumvent POINT’s patents by developing similar or alternative 
technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and 
regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such 
candidates are commercialized. As a result, POINT’s intellectual property may not provide sufficient rights to exclude 
others from commercializing products similar or identical to POINT’s.

The degree of patent protection required to successfully compete in the marketplace may be unavailable or severely 
limited in some cases and may not adequately protect POINT’s rights or permit POINT to gain or keep any competitive 
advantage. POINT cannot provide any assurances that any of the patents or patent applications included in POINT’s patent 
rights include or will include, claims with a scope sufficient to protect POINT product candidates and technologies or 
otherwise provide any competitive advantage. In addition, the laws of foreign countries may not protect POINT’s 
proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S.. Furthermore, patents have a limited lifespan. In the U.S., the 
natural expiration of a patent is generally twenty years after it is filed. Certain extensions may be available; however, the 
life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and 
regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such 
candidates are commercialized. As a result, POINT’s patent rights may not provide adequate and continuing patent 
protection sufficient to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to a POINT product candidate.

Even if POINT has patent protection that is expected to maintain some competitive advantage, third parties, including 
competitors, may challenge the validity, enforceability or scope thereof, which may result in POINT owned or licensed 
patents being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable. In litigation, a competitor could claim that one or more POINT 
patents are not valid or enforceable for a number of reasons. If a court agrees, POINT would lose its rights to those 
challenged patents.

Even if issued, the issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and 
POINT’s licensed patents may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the U.S. and abroad. For example, POINT 
may be subject to a third party submission of prior art to the USPTO challenging the validity of one or more claims of 
POINT’s licensed patents. Such submissions may also be made prior to a patent’s issuance, precluding the granting of a 
patent based on one of the pending patent applications included in POINT patent rights. POINT or a POINT licensor may 
become involved in opposition, derivation, revocation, reexamination, post-grant and inter partes review, or interference 
proceedings challenging one or more patents included in the POINT patent rights. For example, competitors may claim that 
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they have filed one or more patent applications before the filing date of the patents or patent applications included in 
POINT’s patent rights. A competitor may also assert that POINT is infringing their patents and that POINT therefore 
cannot practice its technology. Competitors may also contest patents or patent applications included in POINT’s patent 
rights by showing that the claimed subject matter was not patent-eligible, was not novel, was obvious or that the patent 
claims failed any other requirement for patentability or enforceability. In addition, POINT may in the future be subject to 
claims by its or its licensors’ current or former employees or consultants asserting an ownership right in the patents or 
patent applications included in the POINT patent rights as an inventor or co-inventor, as a result of the work they 
performed.

An adverse determination in any such submission or proceeding may result in loss of exclusivity or freedom to 
operate or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit 
POINT’s ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar technology and therapeutics, without payment to 
POINT, or could limit the duration of the patent protection covering POINT’s technology and product candidates. Such 
challenges may also result in POINT’s inability to manufacture or commercialize its product candidates without infringing 
third party patent rights, and POINT may be required to obtain a license from third parties, which may not be available on 
commercially reasonable terms or at all, or POINT may need to cease the development, manufacture and 
commercialization of one or more of its product candidates. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by 
the patents and patent applications included in POINT’s patent rights is threatened, it could dissuade companies from 
collaborating with POINT to license, develop or commercialize current or future product candidates. Any of the foregoing 
would result in a material adverse effect on POINT’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. Such 
proceedings also may result in substantial cost and require significant time from POINT’s scientists and management, even 
if the eventual outcome is favorable to POINT.

Even if they are unchallenged, the patents and pending patent applications included in POINT’s patent rights may not 
provide POINT with any meaningful protection or prevent competitors from designing around POINT’s patent claims to 
circumvent POINT’s patent rights by developing similar or alternative technologies or therapeutics in a non-infringing 
manner. If the patent protection provided by the patents and patent applications POINT owns or licenses is not sufficiently 
broad to impede such competition, POINT’s ability to successfully commercialize its product candidates and technologies 
could be negatively affected, which would have a material adverse effect on POINT’s business, financial conditions, results 
of operations and prospects.

If POINT fails to comply with its obligations under its patent licenses with third parties, POINT could lose license rights 
that are important to its business.

POINT is a party to various license agreements, pursuant to which POINT in-licenses patent and patent applications 
for use in one or more of its product candidates. These existing licenses impose various diligence, milestone payment, 
royalty, insurance and other obligations on POINT. If POINT fails to comply with these obligations, the licensors may 
have the right to terminate the licenses, in which event POINT would not be able to develop or market the product 
candidates covered by such licensed intellectual property.

POINT relies on certain of its licensors to file and prosecute patent applications and maintain patents and otherwise 
protect the intellectual property POINT licenses from them and may continue to do so in the future. POINT has limited 
control over these activities or any other intellectual property that may be related to its in-licensed intellectual property.

For example, POINT cannot be certain that such activities by these licensors have been or will be conducted in 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and enforceable patents and other intellectual 
property rights. POINT has limited control over the manner in which its licensors initiate an infringement proceeding 
against a third-party infringer of the intellectual property rights, or defend certain of the intellectual property that is 
licensed to POINT.

It is possible that any licensors’ infringement proceeding or defense activities may be less vigorous than had POINT 
conducted them itself.

Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, 
fee payment and other requirements imposed by government patent agencies, and POINT’s patent protection could be 
reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other government fees on patents and/or 
applications will be due to be paid to the USPTO and various government patent agencies outside of the U.S. over the 
lifetime of POINT’s owned and licensed patents and/or applications. POINT relies on its outside counsel or its licensing 
partners to pay these fees due to non-U.S. patent agencies. The USPTO and various non-U.S. government patent agencies 
require compliance with several procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent 
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application process. POINT employs reputable law firms and other professionals to help comply and POINT is also 
dependent on its licensors to take the necessary action to comply with these requirements with respect to POINT’s licensed 
intellectual property. In many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in 
accordance with the applicable rules. There are situations, however, in which non-compliance can result in abandonment or 
lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In 
such an event, potential competitors might be able to enter the market and this circumstance could have a material adverse 
effect on POINT’s business.

POINT may not be able to protect its intellectual property and proprietary rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting, maintaining, enforcing and defending patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the 
world would be prohibitively expensive, and POINT’s intellectual property rights in some countries outside the U.S. could 
be less extensive than those in the U.S.. The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the 
same extent as federal and state laws in the U.S. even in jurisdictions where POINT does pursue patent protection. 
Consequently, POINT and its licensors may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing POINT inventions in all 
countries outside the U.S., even in jurisdictions where POINT pursues patent protection, or from selling or importing 
products made using POINT inventions in and into the U.S. or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use POINT 
technologies in jurisdictions where POINT has not pursued and obtained patent protection to develop their own products 
and may export otherwise infringing products to territories where POINT has patent protection, but where enforcement is 
not as strong as it is in the U.S.. These products may compete with POINT product candidates and its patents or other 
intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in 
foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the 
enforcement of patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights, particularly those relating to biotechnology 
products, which could make it difficult to stop the infringement of POINT patents, if pursued and obtained, or marketing of 
competing products in violation of POINT intellectual property and proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce 
POINT’s intellectual property and proprietary rights in foreign jurisdictions could (i) result in substantial costs and divert 
efforts and attention from other aspects of POINT’s business, (ii) put POINT patents at risk of being invalidated or 
interpreted narrowly and its patent applications at risk of not issuing and (iii) provoke third parties to assert claims against 
POINT. POINT may not prevail in any lawsuits that POINT initiates and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, 
may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, POINT’s efforts to enforce intellectual property rights around the 
world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that POINT develops 
or licenses.

Issued patents covering POINT product candidates or technologies could be found invalid or unenforceable if 
challenged in court.

If POINT or one of its licensing partners initiates legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering a 
product candidate, assuming such patents have or do issue, the defendant could counterclaim that the patent covering 
POINT’s product candidate is invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims 
alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to 
meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, written description, non-enablement or 
failure to claim patent eligible subject matter. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that 
someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld information material to patentability from the USPTO, or made 
a misleading statement, during prosecution. Third parties also may raise similar claims before administrative bodies in the 
U.S. or abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such mechanisms include re-examination, post grant review, inter 
partes review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., 
opposition proceedings). Such proceedings could result in the revocation or cancellation of or amendment to its patents in 
such a way that they no longer cover a POINT product candidate. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and 
unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example, POINT cannot be certain that there is 
no invalidating prior art, of which the patent examiner, POINT or a licensing partner were unaware during prosecution. If a 
defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, POINT could lose at least part, and perhaps 
all, of the patent protection on a product candidate. Such a loss of patent protection could have a material adverse impact 
on POINT’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

If POINT is unable to protect the confidentiality of its trade secrets, its business and competitive position would be 
harmed.

In addition to the protection afforded by patents, POINT relies on trade secret protection and confidentiality 
agreements to protect proprietary know-how that is not patentable or that POINT elects not to patent, processes for which 
patents are difficult to enforce and any other elements of the discovery and development processes of product candidates 
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and technologies that involve proprietary know-how, information or technology that is not covered by patents. However, 
trade secrets can be difficult to protect and some courts inside and outside the U.S. are less willing or unwilling to protect 
trade secrets. POINT seeks to protect its proprietary technology and processes, in part, by entering into confidentiality 
agreements with its employees, consultants, scientific advisors and contractors. However, POINT may not be able to 
prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of its technical know-how or other trade secrets by the parties to these 
agreements, despite the existence generally of confidentiality agreements and other contractual restrictions. Monitoring 
unauthorized uses and disclosures is difficult and POINT cannot not know whether steps taken to protect its proprietary 
technologies will be effective. If any POINT employees, collaborators, CROs, contract manufacturers, consultants, 
advisors and other third parties who are parties to these agreements breaches or violates the terms of any of these 
agreements, POINT may not have adequate remedies for any such breach or violation. Enforcing a claim that a party 
illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive, and time-consuming, and the outcome is 
unpredictable. As a result, POINT could lose its trade secrets. POINT cannot guarantee that it has entered into such 
agreements with each party that may have or have had access to its trade secrets or proprietary technology and processes. 
POINT also seeks to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of its data and trade secrets by maintaining physical security 
of its premises and physical and electronic security of its information technology systems. While POINT has confidence in 
these individuals, organizations and systems, agreements and security measures, they may still be breached, and POINT 
may not have adequate remedies for any breach.

In addition, POINT trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors. If any 
of POINT trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, POINT would have no 
right to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that technology or information to compete with 
POINT. If POINT trade secrets are not adequately protected so as to protect against competitors’ products and 
technologies, POINT’s competitive position could be adversely affected.

Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that POINT is infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating 
their intellectual property rights, the outcome of which would be uncertain and could have a material adverse effect on 
the success of POINT’s business.

POINT’s commercial success depends upon its ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell current and future 
product candidates without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the proprietary rights and intellectual 
property of third parties. The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by extensive and complex litigation regarding 
patents and other intellectual property rights. POINT or POINT’s licensors may in the future become party to, or be 
threatened with, adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual property rights with respect to a POINT product 
candidate, including interference proceedings, post grant review and inter partes review before the USPTO. Competitors or 
other third parties may assert infringement claims against POINT, alleging that POINT therapeutics, manufacturing 
methods, formulations or administration methods are covered by their patents.

POINT cannot be certain or guarantee that a court would hold that a POINT product candidate does not infringe an 
existing patent or a patent that may be granted in the future. Furthermore, because patent applications can take many years 
to issue, may be confidential for 18 months or more after filing and can be revised before issuance, there may be 
applications now pending which may later result in issued patents that may be infringed by the manufacture, use, sale or 
importation of a POINT product candidate and POINT may or may not be aware of such patents.

It is also possible that POINT has failed to identify relevant third-party patents or applications. It can be difficult for 
industry participants, including POINT, to identify all third-party patent rights that may be relevant to POINT product 
candidates and technologies because patent searching is imperfect due to differences in terminology among patents, 
incomplete databases and the difficulty in assessing the meaning of patent claims. In addition, POINT may be unaware of 
one or more issued patents that would be infringed by the manufacture, sale or use of a current or future product candidate, 
or POINT may incorrectly conclude that a third-party patent is invalid, unenforceable or not infringed by POINT’s 
activities. Additionally, pending patent applications that have been published can, subject to certain limitations, be later 
amended in a manner that could cover POINT’s technologies.

Third parties may assert infringement claims against POINT based on existing patents or patents that may be granted 
in the future, regardless of their merit. Even if it is believed such claims are without merit, there is no assurance that 
POINT would be successful in defending such claims. A court of competent jurisdiction could hold that these third-party 
patents are valid, enforceable and infringed, which could materially and adversely affect POINT’s ability to commercialize 
a product candidate covered by the asserted third-party patents. In order to successfully challenge the validity of any such 
U.S. patent in federal court, POINT would need to overcome a presumption of validity. As this burden is a high one 
requiring presentation of clear and convincing evidence as to the invalidity of any such U.S. patent claim, there is no 
assurance that a court of competent jurisdiction would invalidate the claims of any such U.S. patent. Similarly, there is no 
assurance that a court of competent jurisdiction would find that a POINT product candidate did not infringe a third party 
patent.
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Patent and other types of intellectual property litigation can involve complex factual and legal questions, and their 
outcome is uncertain. If POINT is found, or POINT believes there is a risk to be found, to infringe, misappropriate or 
otherwise violate a third party’s intellectual property rights, and POINT is unsuccessful in demonstrating that such 
intellectual property rights are invalid or unenforceable, POINT could be required or may choose to obtain a license from 
such third party to continue developing, manufacturing and marketing a product candidate. However, POINT may not be 
able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if POINT were able to obtain a license, 
it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving competitors and other third parties access to the same technologies licensed to 
POINT, and it could require POINT to make substantial licensing and royalty payments. POINT could be forced, including 
by court order, to cease developing, manufacturing and commercializing a product candidate. In addition, POINT could be 
found liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if POINT is found to have willfully 
infringed a patent or other intellectual property right. A finding of infringement, misappropriation or other violation of 
intellectual property rights could prevent POINT from manufacturing and commercializing one or more product candidate 
or force POINT to cease some or all of its business operations, which could materially harm POINT’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects. Claims that POINT has misappropriated the confidential information or trade 
secrets of third parties could have a similar material adverse impact on POINT’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects.

Intellectual property litigation could cause POINT to spend substantial resources and distract POINT’s personnel from 
their normal responsibilities.

Litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims, with or without merit, is unpredictable 
and generally expensive and time-consuming. Competitors may infringe POINT patents or the patents of POINT’s 
licensing partners, or POINT may be required to defend against claims of infringement. To counter infringement or 
unauthorized use claims or to defend against claims of infringement can be expensive and time consuming. Even if 
resolved in POINT’s favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause POINT 
to incur significant expenses and could distract technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. 
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, 
there is a risk that some of POINT’s confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of 
litigation.

POINT may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings. 
Some competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than POINT can 
because of their greater financial resources and more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. Accordingly, 
POINT may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing or misappropriating or successfully challenging POINT 
intellectual property rights.

POINT may be subject to claims asserting that its employees, consultants or advisors have wrongfully used or disclosed 
alleged trade secrets of their current or former employers or claims asserting ownership of what POINT regards as its 
own intellectual property.

Certain of POINT’s employees, consultants or advisors are currently, or were previously, employed at universities or 
other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including POINT’s competitors or potential competitors, as well as 
POINT’s academic partners. Although POINT tries to ensure that its employees, consultants and advisors do not use the 
proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for POINT, POINT may be subject to claims that these 
individuals or POINT have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, 
of any such individual’s current or former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If POINT 
fails in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, POINT may lose valuable intellectual property 
rights or personnel. An inability to incorporate such technologies or features would have a material adverse effect on 
POINT’s business and may prevent POINT from successfully commercializing its product candidates. Moreover, any such 
litigation or the threat thereof may adversely affect POINT’s ability to hire employees or contract with independent 
contractors. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent POINT’s ability to commercialize a 
product candidate, which could have an adverse effect on POINT’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 
Even if POINT is successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a 
distraction to management.

In addition, while it is POINT’s policy to require employees and contractors who may be involved in the conception 
or development of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to POINT, POINT may 
be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives or develops intellectual property 
that POINT regards as its own. Moreover, even when POINT does obtain agreements assigning intellectual property to 
POINT, the assignment agreements may be breached, and POINT may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or 
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defend claims that they may bring against POINT, to determine the ownership of what POINT regards as its intellectual 
property. Moreover, individuals executing agreements with POINT may have preexisting or competing obligations to a 
third party, such as an academic institution, and thus an agreement with POINT may be ineffective in perfecting ownership 
of inventions developed by that individual. Disputes about the ownership of intellectual property that POINT may own 
may have a material adverse effect on POINT’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

If patent term extension is not obtained for POINT product candidates, POINT’s business may be materially harmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of any FDA marketing approval of POINT product candidates, one 
or more U.S. patents that POINT owns or licenses may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price 
Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman 
Amendments permit a patent extension term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during the FDA 
regulatory review process based on the first regulatory approval for a particular drug or biologic. A patent term extension 
cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, only one patent 
may be extended and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it or a method for manufacturing it 
may be extended. However, POINT may not be granted an extension because of, for example, failing to exercise due 
diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply 
prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicable time 
period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than requested. In addition, to the extent POINT wishes to 
pursue patent term extension based on a patent in-licensed from a third party, POINT would need the cooperation of that 
third party. If POINT is unable to obtain patent term extension or the term of any such extension is less than requested, 
competitors may be able to enter the market sooner, and POINT’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects could be materially harmed.

Intellectual property rights and regulatory exclusivity rights do not necessarily address all potential threats.

The degree of future protection afforded by POINT intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual 
property rights have limitations, and may not adequately protect POINT’s business or permit POINT to maintain its 
competitive advantage. For example:

• POINT, or its current or future license partners or collaborators, might not have been the first to make the 
inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent applications that POINT owns or licenses;

• POINT, or its current and future license partners or collaborators, might not have been the first to file patent 
applications covering certain inventions;

• others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of POINT technologies 
without infringing POINT’s owned or licensed intellectual property rights;

• others may circumvent POINT regulatory exclusivities, such as by pursuing approval of a competitive product 
candidate via the traditional approval pathway based on their own clinical data, rather than relying on the 
abbreviated pathway provided for generic applicants;

• it is possible that POINT’s pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

• issued patents that POINT holds rights to now or in the future may be held invalid or unenforceable, including as a 
result of legal challenges by competitors;

• POINT competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries where POINT does not have 
patent rights and then use the information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in 
major commercial markets;

• the patents or other intellectual property rights of others may have an adverse effect on POINT’s business; and 

• POINT may choose not to file a patent for certain trade secrets or know-how, and a third party may subsequently 
file a patent covering such intellectual property.

Should any of these events occur, they could have a material adverse effect on POINT’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations and prospects.
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Changes in patent law in the United States and in non-U.S. jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, 
thereby impairing POINT’s ability to protect its products.

As is the case with other pharmaceutical companies, POINT’s success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, 
particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the pharmaceutical industry involve both technological and legal 
complexity, and is therefore costly, time-consuming and inherently uncertain. In recent years, U.S. Supreme Court rulings 
have narrowed the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances and weakened the rights of patent owners 
in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to POINT’s ability to obtain patents in the future, this 
combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. Depending on decisions 
by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents, particularly those 
directed to pharmaceutical products and uses, could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken POINT’s ability to 
obtain new patents or to enforce its existing patents and patents that it might obtain in the future. POINT cannot predict 
how these decisions or any future decisions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts or the USPTO may impact the value of 
its patents. Similarly, any adverse changes in the patent laws of other jurisdictions could have a material adverse effect on 
POINT’s business and financial condition.

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Growth

Management’s focus and resources may be diverted from operational matters and other strategic opportunities as a 
result of the Business Combination.

The Business Combination placed a significant burden on POINT’s management and other internal resources. The 
diversion of management’s attention and any difficulties encountered in the transition process could harm POINT’s 
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, uncertainty about the effect of the Business 
Combination on POINT’s systems, employees, customers, partners, and other third parties, including regulators, may have 
an adverse effect on POINT. These uncertainties may impair POINT’s ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel 
for a period of time following the completion of the Business Combination

POINT is highly dependent on its key personnel, and if it is not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified 
personnel, it may not be able to successfully implement its business strategy.

POINT’s ability to compete in the highly competitive pharmaceutical industry depends upon its ability to attract and 
retain highly qualified managerial, scientific and medical personnel. POINT is highly dependent on its management, 
scientific and medical personnel, including Dr. Joe McCann, PhD, POINT’s Chief Executive Officer. The loss of the 
services of any of POINT’s executive officers, other key employees and other scientific and medical advisors, and an 
inability to find suitable replacements could result in delays in product development and harm POINT’s business.

POINT has its corporate headquarters and manufacturing facility in Indianapolis, Indiana and a regional office in 
Toronto, Ontario. These regions are headquarters to many other pharmaceutical companies and many academic and 
research institutions. Competition for skilled personnel in POINT’s market is intense and may limit its ability to hire and 
retain highly qualified personnel on acceptable terms or at all. Changes to U.S, Canadian, or similar foreign immigration 
and work authorization laws and regulations, including those that restrain the flow of scientific and professional talent, can 
be significantly affected by political forces and levels of economic activity. POINT’s business may be materially adversely 
affected if legislative or administrative changes to U.S., Canadian, or similar foreign immigration or visa laws and 
regulations impair POINT’s hiring processes and goals or projects involving personnel who are not U.S. or Canadian 
citizens.

To encourage valuable employees to remain at POINT, in addition to salary and cash incentives, POINT has provided 
stock options that vest over time. The value to employees of stock options that vest over time may be significantly affected 
by movements in POINT’s share price that are beyond its control, and may at any time be insufficient to counteract more 
lucrative offers from other companies. Despite POINT’s efforts to retain valuable employees, members of POINT’s 
management, scientific and development teams may terminate their employment with POINT on short notice. Although 
POINT has employment agreements with its key employees, some of these employment agreements provide for at-will 
employment, which means that some of POINT’s employees could leave its employment at any time, with or without 
notice. POINT’s success also depends on its ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled junior, mid-
level and senior managers as well as junior, mid-level and senior scientific and medical personnel.

POINT will need to grow the size of its organization, and it may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

As of December 31, 2021, POINT had 72 full-time employees and no part-time employees or contractors. As 
POINT’s development and commercialization plans and strategies develop, and as POINT transitions into operating as a 
public company, POINT expects to need additional managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial and other 
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personnel, as well as additional facilities to expand its operations. Future growth would impose significant added 
responsibilities on members of management, including:

• identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining and motivating additional employees;

• managing POINT’s internal development efforts effectively, including the clinical and FDA review process for its 
product candidates, while complying with POINT’s contractual obligations to contractors and other third parties; 
and

• improving POINT’s operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures.

POINT’s future financial performance and its ability to commercialize its product candidates will depend, in part, on 
its ability to effectively manage any future growth, and its management may also have to divert a disproportionate amount 
of its attention away from day-to-day activities in order to devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth 
activities.

POINT currently relies, and for the foreseeable future will continue to rely, in substantial part on certain independent 
organizations, advisors and consultants to provide certain services. There can be no assurance that the services of 
independent organizations, advisors and consultants will continue to be available to POINT on a timely basis when needed, 
or that it can find qualified replacements. In addition, if POINT is unable to effectively manage its outsourced activities or 
if the quality or accuracy of the services provided by consultants is compromised for any reason, POINT’s clinical trials 
may be extended, delayed or terminated, and it may not be able to obtain regulatory approval of its product candidates or 
otherwise advance its business. There can be no assurance that POINT will be able to manage its existing consultants or 
find other competent outside contractors and consultants on economically reasonable terms, or at all. If POINT is not able 
to effectively expand its organization by hiring new employees and expanding its groups of consultants and contractors, or 
POINT is not able to effectively build out new facilities to accommodate this expansion, POINT may not be able to 
successfully implement the tasks necessary to further develop and commercialize its product candidates and, accordingly, 
may not achieve its research, development and commercialization goals.

If product liability lawsuits are brought against POINT, it may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit 
commercialization of its product candidates.

POINT faces an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the planned clinical testing of its product candidates and 
will face an even greater risk if POINT commercializes any product candidates. For example, POINT may be sued if its 
product candidates cause or are perceived to cause injury or are found to be otherwise unsuitable during clinical testing, 
manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, 
defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability or a breach of warranties. 
Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If POINT cannot successfully defend itself against 
product liability claims, POINT may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of its product 
candidates. Even successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the 
merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

• decreased demand for POINT’s current product candidates or future product candidates that it may develop;

• injury to POINT’s reputation;

• withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

• initiation of investigations by regulators;

• costs to defend the related litigation;

• a diversion of management’s time and POINT’s resources;

• substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;

• product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

• loss of revenue;

• exhaustion of any available insurance and POINT’s capital resources; and
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• the inability to commercialize any product candidate.

Failure to obtain or retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential 
product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of product candidates POINT develops, alone or 
with corporate collaborators. Although POINT has clinical trial insurance, its insurance policies also have various 
exclusions, and it may be subject to a product liability claim for which it has no coverage. POINT may have to pay any 
amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed its coverage limitations or that are not covered by its 
insurance, and it may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts. Even if POINT’s agreements 
with any future corporate collaborators entitle POINT to indemnification against losses, such indemnification may not be 
available or adequate should any claim arise.

Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on POINT’s business, financial 
condition and share price.

As widely reported, global credit and financial markets have experienced extreme volatility and disruptions in the past 
several years, especially due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, escalating military fighting between Russia and 
Ukraine, terrorism and other geopolitical events, including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in 
consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic 
stability. The U.S. and other nations, in response to the Russo-Ukranian conflict have announced economic sanctions 
which may have an adverse effect on the global financial markets. There can be no assurance that further deterioration in 
credit and financial markets and confidence in economic conditions will not occur. POINT’s general business strategy may 
be adversely affected by any such economic downturn, volatile business environment or continued unpredictable and 
unstable market conditions. If the current equity and credit markets deteriorate, it may make any necessary debt or equity 
financing more difficult, more costly and more dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and 
on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on POINT’s growth strategy, financial performance and share price 
and could require POINT to delay or abandon clinical development plans.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

Delaware law and POINT’s governing documents contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions, that 
limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders 
may consider favorable.

Our governing documents and the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), contain provisions that could have 
the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying, or preventing an acquisition deemed undesirable by our board of directors 
("Board"), and, therefore, depress the trading price of the Common Stock. These provisions could also make it difficult for 
stockholders to take certain actions, including electing directors who are not nominated by the current members of the 
Board or taking other corporate actions, including effecting changes in POINT’s management. Among other things, our 
governing documents include provisions regarding:

• the ability of the Board to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to 
determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder 
approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

• the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, POINT’s directors and officers;

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or 
special meeting of stockholders after such date and could delay the ability of stockholders to force consideration 
of a stockholder proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

• the classification of the board into three classes, each class which is elected for a three year term and only one 
class is up for re-election each year

• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a majority of the entire Board, which 
could delay the ability of stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal 
of directors;

• controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of Board and stockholder meetings;
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• the ability of the Board to amend the bylaws, which may allow the Board to take additional actions to prevent an 
unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend the bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover 
attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to the Board or to 
propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing 
matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in the Board, and also may 
discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate 
of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of POINT.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in the 
Board or management.

In addition, our Certificate of Incorporation includes a provision substantially similar to Section 203 of the DGCL, 
which may prohibit certain stockholders holding 15% or more of POINT’s outstanding capital stock from engaging in 
certain business combinations with POINT for a specified period of time.

POINT’s bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum 
for substantially all disputes between POINT and its stockholders, which could limit POINT’s stockholders’ ability to 
obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with POINT or its directors, officers, stockholders, employees or agents.

POINT’s bylaws provide that, unless POINT consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of 
Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for state law claims for (i) any derivative action or 
proceeding brought on behalf of POINT, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any 
director, officer or other employee of POINT to POINT or POINT’s stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising 
pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or its Certificate of Incorporation or bylaws, (iv) any action to interpret, apply, 
enforce or determine the validity of its Certificate of Incorporation or bylaws, or (v) any action asserting a claim against 
POINT governed by the internal affairs doctrine. The forgoing provisions will not apply to any claims arising under the 
Exchange Act or the Securities Act and, unless POINT consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the 
United States District Court for the District of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any action 
asserting a claim arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").

This choice of forum provision in POINT’s bylaws may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial 
forum that it finds favorable for disputes with POINT or any of POINT’s directors, officers, or other employees, which 
may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such 
provisions, and the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ charter documents has been 
challenged in legal proceedings. It is possible that a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or 
unenforceable, and if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in its Certificate of Incorporation to be 
inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, POINT may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other 
jurisdictions, which could harm POINT’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Relating to Ownership of POINT’s Common Stock

POINT does not know whether an active, liquid and orderly trading market will develop for its common shares or what 
the market price of its common shares will be and, as a result, it may be difficult for you to sell your common shares.

Although, POINT’s Common Stock is listed on Nasdaq, an active trading market for its shares may never develop or 
be sustained. You may not be able to sell your shares quickly or at the market price if trading in POINT’s Common Stock 
is not active. Further, an inactive market may also impair POINT’s ability to raise capital by selling POINT’s Common 
Stock and may impair POINT’s ability to enter into strategic partnerships or acquire companies or products by using 
POINT’s Common Stock as consideration.

The price of POINT Common Stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

The trading price of POINT Common Stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in 
response to various factors, some of which are beyond POINT’s control, including limited trading volume. These factors 
include:

• the results of POINT’s ongoing, planned or any future preclinical studies, clinical trials or clinical development 
programs;

TABLE OF CONTENTS

74



• the commencement, enrollment or results of clinical trials of POINT’s product candidates or any future clinical 
trials POINT may conduct, or changes in the development status of POINT’s product candidates;

• adverse results or delays in preclinical studies and clinical trials;

• POINT’s decision to initiate a clinical trial, not to initiate a clinical trial or to terminate an existing clinical trial;

• any delay in POINT’s regulatory filings or any adverse regulatory decisions, including failure to receive 
regulatory approval of POINT’s product candidates;

• changes in laws or regulations applicable to POINT’s product candidates, including but not limited to clinical trial 
requirements for approvals;

• adverse developments concerning POINT’s manufacturers or its manufacturing plans;

• POINT’s inability to obtain adequate product supply for any licensed product or inability to do so at acceptable 
prices;

• POINT’s inability to establish collaborations, if needed;

• POINT’s failure to commercialize its product candidates;

• departures of key scientific or management personnel;

• unanticipated serious safety concerns related to the use of POINT’s product candidates;

• introduction of new products or services offered by POINT or its competitors;

• announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by POINT 
or its competitors;

• POINT’s ability to effectively manage its growth;

• the size and growth of POINT’s initial cancer target markets;

• POINT’s ability to successfully treat additional types of cancers or at different stages;

• actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results;

• POINT’s cash position;

• POINT’s failure to meet the estimates and projections of the investment community or that POINT may otherwise 
provide to the public;

• publication of research reports about POINT or its industry, or positive or negative recommendations or 
withdrawal of research coverage by securities analysts;

• changes in the market valuations of similar companies;

• activities of similar companies; 

• overall performance of the equity markets;

• sales of POINT Common Stock by POINT or its stockholders in the future;

• trading volume of POINT Common Stock;

• changes in accounting practices;

• ineffectiveness of POINT’s internal controls;
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• disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and POINT’s 
ability to obtain patent protection for its technologies;

• significant lawsuits, including patent or stockholder litigation;

• general political and economic conditions; and

• other events or factors, many of which are beyond POINT’s control.

In addition, the stock market in general, and The Nasdaq Stock Market and pharmaceutical companies in particular, 
have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating 
performance of these companies. Broad market and industry factors may negatively affect the market price of POINT 
Common Stock, regardless of POINT’s actual operating performance. In the past, securities class action litigation has often 
been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities. This type of 
litigation, if instituted, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which 
would harm POINT’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Future sales and issuances of Common Stock or rights to purchase Common Stock, including pursuant to the Equity 
Incentive Plan and future exercise of registration rights, could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership 
of POINT’s stockholders and could cause POINT’s share price to fall.

POINT expects that significant additional capital will be needed in the future to continue its planned operations, 
including conducting clinical trials, expanded research and development activities, and costs associated with operating as a 
public company. To raise capital, POINT may sell common shares, convertible securities or other equity securities in one 
or more transactions at prices and in a manner POINT determines from time to time. If POINT sells common shares, 
convertible securities or other equity securities, investors may be materially diluted by subsequent sales. Such sales may 
also result in material dilution to POINT’s existing stockholders, and new investors could gain rights, preferences, and 
privileges senior to the holders of POINT’s common shares.

Pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan, POINT is authorized to grant equity awards to its employees, directors and 
consultants. Initially, the aggregate number of shares of POINT Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to share 
awards under the Equity Incentive Plan is equal to ten percent (10%) of the issued and outstanding shares of POINT 
Common Stock, inclusive of rollover options and exercised shares, as of immediately following the Effective Time. This 
shall be cumulatively increased annually on the first day of each fiscal year beginning with the 2022 fiscal year in an 
amount equal to four percent (4%) of shares of POINT Common Stock outstanding on the last day of the immediately 
preceding fiscal year or a lesser number of shares determined by the Board. As a result, on January 1, 2022, an additional 
3,604,871 shares were added to the Equity Incentive Plan. Unless the Board elects not to increase the number of shares 
available for future grants each year, POINT’s stockholders may experience additional dilution, which could cause 
POINT’s share price to fall. In 2022, the Board allowed the number of shares to increase per the terms of the Equity 
Incentive Plan.

Pursuant to our Amended and Restated Registration and Stockholder Rights Agreement, certain stockholders of 
POINT can demand that POINT register their registrable securities under certain circumstances and will each also have 
piggyback registration rights for these securities. In addition, following the Closing, POINT was required to file and 
maintain an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering such securities and certain other securities of 
POINT. The registration of these securities permit the public sale of such securities, subject to certain contractual 
restrictions imposed by the Amended and Restated Registration and Stockholder Rights Agreement and the Business 
Combination Agreement. The presence of these additional shares of Common Stock trading in the public market may have 
an adverse effect on the market price of POINT’s securities.

POINT does not intend to pay dividends on its Common Stock, so any returns will be limited to the value of POINT 
Common Stock.

POINT currently anticipates that it will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of its 
business and does not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. In addition, POINT may 
enter into agreements that prohibit it from paying cash dividends without prior written consent from POINT’s contracting 
parties, or which other terms prohibiting or limiting the amount of dividends that may be declared or paid on Common 
Stock. Any return to stockholders will therefore be limited to the appreciation of their POINT Common Stock, which may 
never occur.
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POINT is an emerging growth company, and it cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to 
emerging growth companies will make its Common Stock less attractive to investors.

POINT is an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act ("JOBS Act"). For as 
long as POINT continues to be an emerging growth company, POINT may take advantage of exemptions from various 
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including not 
being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
("Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in POINT’s periodic reports and 
proxy statements, exemptions from the requirements of holding nonbinding advisory votes on executive compensation and 
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved, and an exemption from compliance with 
the requirement of the Public Accounting Oversight Board regarding the communication of critical audit matters in the 
auditor’s report on the financial statements. POINT could be an emerging growth company for up to five years following 
the year in which RACA completed its initial public offering, although circumstances could cause POINT to lose that 
status earlier. POINT will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) 
following the fifth anniversary of the date of the completion of RACA’s initial public offering, (b) in which POINT has 
total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion or (c) in which POINT is deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which 
requires the market value of POINT Common Stock that are held by non-affiliates to exceed $700 million as of the prior 
June 30th, and (2) the date on which POINT has issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior 
three-year period.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until 
such time as those standards apply to private companies. POINT has elected to use this extended transition period for 
complying with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies 
until the earlier of the date POINT (i) is no longer an emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opts 
out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, POINT will not be subject to the same new or 
revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies and POINT’s financial 
statements may not be comparable to other public companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements 
as of public company effective dates. POINT may choose to early adopt any new or revised accounting standards whenever 
such early adoption is permitted for private companies.

Further, even after POINT no longer qualifies as an emerging growth company, it may still qualify as a “smaller 
reporting company,” which would allow POINT to take advantage of many of the same exemptions from disclosure 
requirements, including reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in POINT’s periodic reports and 
proxy statements.

POINT cannot predict if investors will find its Common Stock less attractive because POINT may rely on these 
exemptions. If some investors find POINT Common Stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading 
market for POINT Common Stock and POINT’s share price may be more volatile.

POINT is incurring and will continue to incur significant increased costs as a public company, and POINT’s 
management is required to devote substantial time to compliance initiatives.

As a public company, POINT faces increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses as a 
public company that it did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including the requirements of Section 
404, as well as rules and regulations subsequently implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the rules and regulations promulgated and to be 
promulgated thereunder, the PCAOB and the securities exchanges, impose additional reporting and other obligations on 
public companies. Compliance with public company requirements have increased costs and made certain activities more 
time-consuming. A number of those requirements require POINT to carry out activities it had not done previously. In 
addition, additional expenses associated with SEC reporting requirements have been and will continue to be incurred. 
Furthermore, if any issues in complying with those requirements are identified (for example, if the auditors identify a 
material weakness or significant deficiency in the internal control over financial reporting), POINT could incur additional 
costs rectifying those issues, and the existence of those issues could adversely affect POINT’s reputation or investor 
perceptions of it. It may also be more expensive to obtain director and officer liability insurance. Risks associated with 
POINT’s status as a public company may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on the board 
of directors or as executive officers. The additional reporting and other obligations imposed by these rules and regulations 
will increase legal and financial compliance costs and the costs of related legal, accounting and administrative activities. 
These increased costs will require POINT to divert a significant amount of money that could otherwise be used to expand 
the business and achieve strategic objectives. Advocacy efforts by stockholders and third parties may also prompt 
additional changes in governance and reporting requirements, which could further increase costs.

Because POINT has significant operations in Canada, it may be difficult to serve legal process or enforce judgments 
against POINT.
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While POINT is incorporated in Delaware and has operations in Indianapolis, Indiana, it also maintains significant 
operations in Canada. In addition, while many of POINT’s directors and officers reside in the U.S., several of them reside 
outside of the U.S. Accordingly, service of process upon POINT may be difficult to obtain within the U.S.. Furthermore, 
because certain of POINT’s assets are located outside the U.S., any judgment obtained in the U.S. against POINT, 
including one predicated on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws, may not be collectible within 
the U.S.. Therefore, it may not be possible to enforce those actions against POINT.

Furthermore, it may not be possible to subject foreign persons or entities to the jurisdiction of the courts in the U.S. 
Similarly, to the extent that POINT’s assets are located in Canada, investors may have difficulty collecting from it any 
judgments obtained in the United States courts and predicated on the civil liability provisions of U.S. securities provisions.

If POINT fails to establish and maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, POINT may 
not be able to accurately report its financial results or prevent fraud, which may cause investors to lose confidence in 
POINT’s financial and other public reporting and may lead to a decline in the price of POINT Common Stock.

Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for POINT to provide reliable financial reports and, 
together with adequate disclosure controls and procedures, is designed to prevent fraud. Ensuring that POINT has adequate 
internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that it can produce accurate financial statements on a 
timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently. Any failure to implement 
required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could cause POINT to fail to meet 
its reporting obligations. In addition, any testing by POINT conducted in connection with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act or any subsequent testing by its independent registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in 
POINT’s internal control over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses or that may require 
prospective or retroactive changes to its financial statements or identify other areas for further attention or improvement. 
Inferior internal controls or any failure to remediate any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses could lead POINT 
to fail to meet its reporting obligations, result in material misstatements in POINT’s financial statements or cause investors 
to lose confidence in POINT’s reported financial information, each of which could have a negative effect on the trading 
price of POINT Common Stock.

POINT has established its internal controls and procedures for compliance with Section 404 and applicable U.S. laws. 
POINT will be required to disclose changes made in its internal controls and procedures on a quarterly basis and its 
management will be required to assess the effectiveness of these controls annually. However, for as long as POINT is an 
emerging growth company, or EGC, its independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the 
effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404. An independent assessment of the 
effectiveness of POINT’s internal control over financial reporting could detect problems that its management’s assessment 
might not. Undetected material weaknesses in POINT’s internal control over financial reporting could lead to restatements 
of its financial statements and require POINT to incur the expense of remediation. 

There can be no assurance that POINT will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of Nasdaq.

If Nasdaq delists shares of POINT Common Stock from trading on its exchange for failure to meet Nasdaq’s listing 
standards, POINT and its stockholders could face significant material adverse consequences including:

• a limited availability of market quotations for POINT’s securities;
• reduced liquidity for POINT’s securities;
• a determination that POINT Common Stock is a “penny stock” which will require brokers trading in POINT 

Common Stock to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the 
secondary trading market for POINT’s securities;

• a limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and
• a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

Reports published by analysts, including projections in those reports that differ from POINT’s actual results, could 
adversely affect the price and trading volume of POINT Common Stock.

Securities research analysts may establish and publish their own periodic projections for POINT. These projections 
may vary widely and may not accurately predict the results POINT actually achieves. POINT’s share price may decline if 
POINT’s actual results do not match the projections of these securities research analysts. Similarly, if one or more of the 
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analysts who write reports on POINT downgrades POINT Common Stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research 
about POINT’s business, POINT’s share price could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of POINT or 
fails to publish reports on POINT regularly, POINT’s share price or trading volume could decline.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located in the U.S. in Indianapolis, Indiana, including an office space occupying 
10,500 square feet and a manufacturing facility occupying 70,200 square feet. We also lease an additional location in 
Toronto, Canada. See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K incorporated 
herein by reference for further discussion surrounding mortgages on our owned properties. We believe our existing 
facilities are sufficient for our ongoing needs, and that, if we require additional space, we will be able to obtain suitable 
additional or alternative facilities on commercially reasonable terms.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may become involved in other 
litigation or legal proceedings relating to claims arising from the ordinary course of business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable. 
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PART II

Item 5, Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbols “PNT”. On March 21, 2022, the closing price of our 
common stock was $6.49 per share.

Holders of Our Common Stock

As of March 21, 2022, we had 73 holders of record of our common stock. Certain shares are held in “street” name and 
accordingly, the number of beneficial owners of such shares is not known or included in the foregoing number. This 
number of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the growth and development of our 
business. We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We do not intend to pay cash dividends 
to our stockholders in the foreseeable future. Investors should not purchase our common stock with the expectation of 
receiving cash dividends.

Any future determination to declare dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend 
on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business conditions, and other factors that our 
board of directors may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides aggregate information as of December 31, 2021, with respect to shares of common stock 
that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans:

Plan Category

Number of securities to be issued 
upon exercise of outstanding 
options, warrants and rights

Weighted-average exercise price 
of outstanding options, warrants 

and rights

Number of securities remaining 
available for future issuance 

under equity compensation plans 
excluding securities reflected in 

column(a)
(a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans 
approved by security holders 3,825,751 $4.78 6,270,940
Equity compensation plans not 
approved by security holders None N/A N/A

The Equity Incentive Plan contains an “evergreen” provision, pursuant to which the number of shares of common 
stock reserved for issuance pursuant to awards under such plan shall be increased on the first day of each year beginning in 
2022, equal to the lesser of (a) four percent (4%) of the shares of stock outstanding on the last day of the immediately 
preceding fiscal year and (b) such smaller number of shares of stock as determined by our board of directors. On January 1, 
2022, the Company had an additional 3,604,871 shares added to the Equity Incentive Plan pursuant to the evergreen 
provision.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Concurrently with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, RACA entered into Subscription 
Agreements with each of the PIPE Investors, pursuant to which, at the Closing, the PIPE Investors subscribed for and 
purchased an aggregate of 16,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock of RACA at a price of $10.00 per share for 
aggregate gross proceeds of $165,000,000. Affiliates of RA Capital Management, L.P., funded $40,000,000 in the PIPE 
Financing. The shares of Class A Common Stock of RACA issued pursuant to the Subscription Agreements (the “PIPE 
Financing Shares”) were not registered under the Securities Act and were issued in reliance upon the exemption provided 
in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. The PIPE Financing was consummated concurrently with the closing of the 
Business Combination.
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Use of Proceeds

On July 10, 2020, RACA consummated an initial public offering, and sold 13,570,000 shares of Class A Common 
Stock for $10.00 per share, generating gross proceeds of $135.7 million, and incurring offering costs of approximately $8.1 
million, inclusive of approximately $4.8 million in deferred underwriting commissions. The net proceeds of the IPO were 
applied to fund the Business Combination

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

We did not purchase any of our registered equity securities during the fourth quarter of the period covered by this 
Form 10-K.

Item 6. Reserved

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together 
with our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(the “2021 Financial Statements”) included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Certain of the information contained in this 
discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Form 10-K, including information with respect to plans and strategy 
for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, 
including those factors set forth in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K, our actual 
results could differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the 
following discussion and analysis. You should carefully read the section entitled “Risk Factors” to gain an understanding 
of the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements. Please 
also see the section titled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”. We do not assume any obligation to 
update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as 
required by law.

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations section to "POINT," the "Company," “we,” “us,” “our” and 
other similar terms refer to POINT Biopharma Global Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Overview

Introduction

We are a globally focused radiopharmaceutical company building a platform for the clinical development and 
commercialization of radioligands that fight cancer. We have a pipeline of product candidates and early-stage development 
programs, in-house manufacturing capabilities, and a secured supply for rare medical isotopes like 225Ac and 177Lu.

Our team brings decades of combined experience in radiopharmaceutical clinical development and manufacturing. In 
a space where supply chain is often overlooked, the Company has carved out a unique advantage for itself: a 100% 
company-owned facility, located in Indianapolis, Indiana, which includes an office space occupying 10,500 square feet and 
a manufacturing facility occupying 70,200 square feet, and which we believe has the capacity for expansion to 
commercially supply both North America and Europe with large volumes. Furthermore, management has leveraged their 
prior relationships to assemble resilient radioisotope supply chains for the Company, which even includes manufacturing 
the Company's own n.c.a. 177Lu isotope in-house.

Our predecessor was incorporated on September 18, 2019 (“Inception”) as POINT Theranostics Inc. under the DGCL 
and subsequently amended its name to “POINT Biopharma Inc.” on November 22, 2019. Subsequent to the Business 
Combination, POINT Biopharma Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of POINT Biopharma Global Inc. on June 30, 
2021.

Business Combination

On June 30, 2021, POINT Biopharma Inc. consummated the Business Combination with RACA, pursuant to the terms 
of the Business Combination Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2021, by and among RACA, Bodhi Merger Sub, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of RACA, and POINT Biopharma Inc. Pursuant to the Business 
Combination Agreement, on the Closing Date, (i) Merger Sub merged with and into POINT Biopharma Inc., with POINT 
Biopharma Inc. as the surviving company in the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of RACA and (ii) RACA changed 
its name to “POINT Biopharma Global Inc.”
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In accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of the Business Combination Agreement, at the Effective 
Time of the Merger, (i) each share and vested equity award of POINT Biopharma Inc. outstanding as of immediately prior 
to the Effective Time was exchanged for shares of the Common Stock of POINT or comparable vested equity awards that 
are exercisable for shares of Common Stock, as applicable, based on an implied POINT Biopharma Inc. vested equity 
value of $585,000,000 (which results in a conversion ratio of approximately 3.59:1); (ii) all unvested equity awards of 
POINT Biopharma Inc. were exchanged for comparable unvested equity awards that are exercisable for shares of Common 
Stock, determined based on the same exchange ratio at which the vested equity awards were exchanged for shares of 
Common Stock; and (iii) each share of Class A Common Stock of RACA and each share of Class B common stock, par 
value $0.0001 per share, of RACA that was issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time became one 
share of Common Stock following the consummation of the Business Combination.

In addition, concurrently with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, on March 15, 2021, RACA 
entered into Subscription Agreements with certain investors, pursuant to which the PIPE Investors agreed to subscribe for 
and purchase, and RACA agreed to issue and sell to the PIPE Investors, an aggregate of 16,500,000 shares of Class A 
Common Stock at a price of $10.00 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of $165,000,000. The PIPE Financing was 
consummated concurrently with the closing of the Business Combination. We received net proceeds of approximately 
$260.0 million consisting of proceeds of the PIPE Financing and the proceeds remaining in RACA’s trust account. 
Transaction costs of approximately $27.0 million consisted of investment banker, legal, audit, tax, accounting, consulting, 
insurance, board retainer fees and listing fees.

Recent Developments

Manufacturing:
 
POINT Biopharma’s Indianapolis manufacturing facility opened in October 2021 and began providing clinical supply 

in January 2022.

PNT2002: 177Lu-based PSMA-targeted radiopharmaceutical

In February 2022, POINT published dosimetry data from the safety and dosimetry lead-in cohort for the Company’s 
Phase 3 SPLASH trial evaluating PNT2002 for the treatment of mCRPC at the 2022 SNMMI Mid-Winter & ACNM 
Annual Meeting.

Data from the abstract titled “Dosimetry Results from the SPLASH Trial” (Abstract #: MWMA2244) demonstrated the 
following:

• Organs receiving the largest absorbed doses were the lacrimal glands at 1.2 Gy/GBq, followed by the kidneys at 
0.73 Gy/GBq.

• The average dose to the salivary glands and red marrow was 0.34 Gy/GBq and 0.034 Gy/GBq, respectively.

• For a cumulative administered activity of 27.2 GBq, i.e. four cycles of 6.8 GBq, the kidneys would receive a 
cumulative absorbed dose of 19.9 Gy, and the red marrow, 0.91 Gy.

• SPECT/CT vs planar-based kidney dosimetry was consistent across most subjects (±20%) where SPECT/CT 
images were available with a mean kidney absorbed dose difference of 1%.

The Company is currently enrolling patients across 32 sites in North America and Europe. Site activations all in 
jurisdictions remain ongoing to expedite accrual. The Company continues to expect to report top line data from SPLASH 
mid-2023.

PNT2004: fibroblast activation protein-alpha (FAP-alpha) inhibitor

POINT accelerated PNT2004’s therapeutic program after the compelling preclinical data for PNT2004’s lead 
candidate PNT6555 was first announced in the fourth quarter of 2021. The Company recently completed a pre-CTA 
meeting in December 2021 with Health Canada regarding the development pathway and clinical study design for the 
upcoming Phase 1 trial and expects to file a CTA with Health Canada at the end of the first quarter of 2022.

The clinical trial for PNT2004 is expected to commence in summer 2022 in Canada and will use a 68Ga-based 
PNT6555 molecular imaging agent to select patients to receive a n.c.a. 177Lu-based PNT6555 therapeutic agent. Additional 
preclinical studies in syngeneic and PDX models for monotherapy and combination treatment are in development and 
include other therapeutic isotopes such as 225Ac.
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PNT2003: n.c.a. 177Lu-labelled somatostatin-targeted radiopharmaceutical

PNT2003’s use of n.c.a. 177Lu enables it to be administered in outpatient clinics without the need for the clinic to 
maintain costly dedicated waste streams, providing a unique advantage over the currently approved radiopharmaceutical 
product for the GEP-NETs indication.

The Company is assessing two distinct pathways for PNT2003 with regulatory authorities. These pathways include a 
505(b)(2) with the FDA’s Division of Oncology Products and an ANDA with the FDA’s Office of Generic Drugs. The 
Company is currently waiting to complete discussions with the FDA prior to making a public announcement regarding the 
pathway which will be pursued. The sponsor of PNT2003 clinical trial has informed the Company that all patients will 
have completed the primary follow-up in the second quarter of 2022 and will have data to report to the Company in the 
second half of 2022.

PNT2001: 225Ac-labelled next-generation PSMA-targeted radiopharmaceutical

PNT2001 program leverages linker technology that promotes increased tumor accumulation. Preclinical studies of 
PNT2001 have resulted in the identification of a lead candidate which, as compared to late-stage PSMA ligands, 
demonstrates potent anti-tumor activity using 225Ac, while also having an improved biodistribution profile. The company is 
planning to advance the lead candidate into IND-enabling studies which are expected to support an IND/CTA submission 
in the first half of 2023. The clinical development pathway being considered for PNT2001 is in recurrent hormone-
sensitive prostate cancer as well as in post-Lu-PSMA prostate cancer.

CanSEEKTM: Tumor Microenvironment (TME) Targeting Technology

The goal of the CanSEEKTM program is to significantly improve the precision and safety of radioligands. Based on the 
(d)-Ala-Pro FAP-alpha substrate technology, CanSEEKTM prevents a radioligand from binding to receptors until it has been 
activated by FAP-alpha in the TME. If successful, CanSEEKTM could significantly improve the therapeutic index of 
targeted radiopharmaceuticals. Multiple (d)-Ala-Pro substrate enabled ligands are being studied preclinically against 
different targets.  

POINT’s CanSEEKTM has been sub-licensed from both Bach Biosciences and Avacta, who have branded the 
technology as pre|CISIONTM (an Avacta trademark).

Risks & Liquidity

Drug research and development is very expensive and involves a high degree of risk. Only a small number of research 
and development programs result in the commercialization of a product. We will not generate revenue from product sales 
unless and until we successfully complete clinical development, are able to obtain regulatory approval for and successfully 
commercialize the product candidates we are currently developing or may develop. We currently do not have any product 
candidates approved for commercial sale.

Our product candidates, currently under development or that we may develop, will require significant additional 
research and development efforts, including extensive clinical testing and regulatory approval prior to commercialization. 
These efforts require significant amounts of additional capital, adequate personnel infrastructure and extensive compliance 
and reporting capabilities. There can be no assurance that our research and development activities will be successfully 
completed, that adequate protection for our licensed or developed technology will be obtained and maintained, that 
products developed will obtain necessary regulatory approval or that any approved products will be commercially viable.

If we obtain regulatory approval for one or more of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant expenses 
related to developing our commercialization capabilities to support product sales, marketing, and distribution activities, 
either alone or in collaboration with others. Further, following the Business Combination, we have incurred and will 
continue to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. As a result, we will need substantial 
additional funding to support our continuing operations and pursue our growth strategy.

We have incurred significant net losses since our Inception and have relied on the ability to fund operations through 
equity financings. We expect to continue to incur significant operating and net losses, as well as negative cash flows from 
operations, for the foreseeable future as we continue to complete clinical trials for our products and prepare for potential 
future regulatory approvals and commercialization of our products, if approved. We have not generated any revenue to date 
and do not expect to generate product revenue unless and until we successfully complete development and obtain 
regulatory approval for at least one of our product candidates.
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We believe that the net proceeds from the Business Combination and PIPE Financing, together with our available 
resources and existing cash and cash equivalents, are sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure 
requirements into the first quarter of 2024.

As losses continue to be incurred, we are subject to risks and uncertainties common to early-stage companies in the 
biotechnology industry, including, but not limited to, successful discovery and development of our product candidates, 
development by competitors of new technological innovations, dependence on key personnel, the ability to attract and 
retain qualified employees, protection of proprietary technology, compliance with governmental regulations, the impact of 
COVID-19, the ability to secure additional capital to fund operations and commercial success of our product candidates. 
Product candidates currently under development will require extensive preclinical and clinical testing and regulatory 
approval prior to commercialization. These efforts require significant amounts of additional capital, adequate personnel, 
and infrastructure and extensive compliance-reporting capabilities. Even if our drug development efforts are successful, it 
is uncertain when, if ever, we will realize significant revenue from product sales.

We anticipate that our expenses will increase significantly in connection with our ongoing activities, as we:

• advance our clinical-stage product candidates: 177Lu-PNT2003 and 177Lu-PNT2002 through clinical development;

                • advance our preclinical stage product candidates: 177Lu-PNT2004, 177Lu-PNT2001, along with candidates 
developed with our CanSEEKTM Prodrug Platform into clinical development;

• seek to identify, acquire, and develop additional product candidates, including through business development 
efforts to invest in or in-license other technologies or product candidates;

• hire additional clinical, quality control, medical, scientific, and other technical personnel to support our clinical 
operations;

• expand our operational, financial and management systems, and increase personnel to support our operations;

• meet the requirements, and demands of being a public company;

• maintain, expand, and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

• make milestone, royalty or other payments due under various in-license or collaboration agreements;

• seek regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials; and

• undertake any pre-commercialization activities to establish sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities for any 
product candidates for which we may receive regulatory approval in regions where we choose to commercialize 
our products on our own or jointly with third parties.

COVID-19 Pandemic and other geopolitical events

The COVID-19 pandemic, which was declared by the World Health Organization as a pandemic in March 2020 and 
has since spread worldwide, has caused many governments to implement measures to slow the spread of the outbreak 
through quarantines, travel restrictions, heightened border security and other measures. The impact of this pandemic has 
been, and will likely continue to be, extensive in many aspects of society, which has resulted, and will likely continue to 
result, in significant disruptions to the global economy as well as businesses and capital markets around the world. The 
future progression of the pandemic and its effects on our business and operations are uncertain.

In response to public health directives and orders and to help minimize the risk of the virus to employees, we have 
taken precautionary measures, including implementing work-from-home policies, mandatory vaccination, masking and 
weekly testing for certain employees. The impact of the virus, including work-from-home policies, may negatively impact 
productivity, disrupt our business, and delay our preclinical research and clinical trial activities and our development 
program timelines, the magnitude of which will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the restrictions and other 
limitations on our ability to conduct our business in the ordinary course. Specifically, we may not be able to fulfill 
enrollment expectations on our planned timeline or visit clinics to conduct on-site monitoring due to disruptions at our 
clinical trial sites. We are currently unable to predict when potential disruptions to our clinical programs resulting from the 
pandemic will resolve. Other impacts to our business may include temporary closures of our suppliers and disruptions or 
restrictions on our employees’ ability to travel. Any prolonged material disruption to our employees or suppliers could 
adversely impact our preclinical research and clinical trial activities, financial condition and results of operations, including 
our ability to obtain financing.
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Additionally, financial markets may be adversely affected by the current or anticipated impact of military conflict, 
including escalating military fighting between Russia and Ukraine, terrorism or other geopolitical events. The U.S. and 
other nations in response to the Russo-Ukrainian conflict have announced economic sanctions which may have an adverse 
effect on the global financial markets, which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

We are monitoring the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russo-Ukrainian conflict on our business 
and 2021 Financial Statements. To date, we have not experienced any material business disruptions or incurred any 
impairment losses in the carrying values of our assets as a result of these events and we are not aware of any specific 
related event or circumstance that would require us to revise our estimates reflected in the 2021 Financial Statements.

Components of Operating Results

Revenues

We have not generated any revenues since our Inception and do not expect to generate any revenues from the sale of 
products in the near future, if at all. If our development efforts for our current product candidates or additional product 
candidates that we may develop in the future are successful and can be commercialized, we may generate revenue in the 
future from product sales. Additionally, we may enter into collaboration and license agreements from time to time that 
provide for certain payments due to us. Accordingly, we may generate revenue from payments from such collaboration or 
license agreements in the future.

Research and Development

We support our drug discovery and development efforts through the commitment of significant resources to our 
preclinical and clinical development activities. Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred in performing 
research and development activities, including costs for salaries and bonuses, employee benefits, subcontractors, facility-
related expenses, share-based compensation, third-party license fees, laboratory supplies, and external costs of outside 
vendors engaged to conduct discovery, preclinical and clinical development activities and clinical trials as well as to 
manufacture clinical trial materials, and other costs. We recognize external research and development costs based on an 
evaluation of the services performed to date of specific tasks using information provided to us by our service providers.

Non-refundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and 
development activities are recorded as prepaid expenses. Such prepaid expenses are recognized as an expense when the 
goods have been delivered or the related services have been performed, or when it is no longer expected that the goods will 
be delivered, or the services rendered.

Upfront payments under our license agreements are expensed as research and development expense upon receipt of 
the license. Milestone payments under these license agreements are accrued, with a corresponding expense being 
recognized, in the period in which the milestone is determined to be probable of achievement and the related amount is 
reasonably estimable.

We may be entitled to investment tax credits in connection with our research and development costs. These 
investment tax credits are non-refundable tax credits and are accounted for in accordance with our accounting policies.

We expect that our research and development expenses will substantially increase in connection with our planned 
preclinical and clinical development activities, both in the near-term and beyond as we continue to invest in activities to 
develop our product candidates and preclinical programs and as certain product candidates advance into later stages of 
development. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs than 
those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size, scope, and duration of later-stage 
clinical trials. Furthermore, the process of conducting the necessary clinical trials to obtain regulatory approval is costly 
and time-consuming, and the successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain. As a result, we cannot 
accurately estimate or know the nature, timing and costs that will be necessary to complete the preclinical and clinical 
development for any of our product candidates or when and to what extent we may generate revenue from the 
commercialization and sale of any of our product candidates or achieve profitability.

The duration, costs and timing of clinical trials and development of our product candidates will depend on a variety of 
factors that include, but are not limited to:

• per patient trial costs;

• the number of patients that participate in the trials;

TABLE OF CONTENTS

85



• the number of sites included in the trials;

• the countries in which the trials are conducted;

• the length of time required to enroll eligible patients;

• the number of doses that patients receive;

• the drop-out or discontinuation rates of patients;

• potential additional safety monitoring or other studies requested by regulatory agencies;

• the duration of patient follow-up; and

• the efficacy and safety profile of our product candidates.

Changes in any of these assumptions could significantly impact the cost and timing associated with the development 
of our product candidates. Additionally, future competition and commercial and regulatory factors beyond our control may 
also impact our clinical development programs and plans.

General and Administrative

We expense general and administrative costs as incurred. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of 
salaries, benefits, and share-based compensation. General and administrative expenses also include legal fees incurred 
relating to corporate and patent matters, professional fees incurred for accounting, auditing, tax and administrative 
consulting services, insurance costs, and facilities expenses.

We estimate and accrue for services provided by third parties related to the above expenses by monitoring the status of 
services provided and receiving estimates from our service providers. We reassess and adjust our accruals as actual costs 
become known or as additional information becomes available.

We expect our general and administrative expenses will increase over the next several years as we increase our 
headcount to support the continued development of our product candidates. We also anticipate that we will incur increased 
accounting, audit, legal, regulatory, compliance and director and officer insurance costs as well as investor, public relations 
and other expenses associated with being a public company.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets 
and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the 2021 Financial 
Statements or our tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the 
financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the 
differences are expected to reverse. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded in the provision for income 
taxes. We assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent 
we believe, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred 
tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established through a charge to income tax expense. Potential for 
recovery of deferred tax assets is evaluated by estimating the future taxable profits expected and considering prudent and 
feasible tax planning strategies.

We account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the 2021 Financial Statements by applying a two-step 
process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position must be evaluated to determine the 
likelihood that it will be sustained upon external examination by the taxing authorities. If the tax position is deemed more 
likely than not to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the 2021 
Financial Statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that has a greater than 50% 
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The provision for income taxes includes the effects of any resulting 
tax reserves, or unrecognized tax benefits, that are considered appropriate as well as the related net interest and penalties.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and the Year Ended December 31, 2020 

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021, and for the year 
ended December 31, 2020:

For the year
ended 

December 31, 
2021

For the year
ended 

December 31, 
2020

Change
(In U.S. dollars) $ %

Operating expenses: 
Research and development  33,505,392  9,142,156  24,363,236  266.5% 
General and administrative  12,006,438  3,972,649  8,033,789  202.2% 
Total operating expenses  45,511,830  13,114,805  32,397,025  247.0% 
Loss from operations  (45,511,830)  (13,114,805)  (32,397,025)  247.0% 
Other expenses: 
Finance costs  (11,840)  (5,354)  (6,486)  121.1% 
Foreign currency loss  (73,153)  (164,962)  91,809  (55.7) %
Total other expenses  (84,993)  (170,316)  85,323  (50.1) %
Loss before provision for income taxes  (45,596,823)  (13,285,121)  (32,311,702)  243.2% 
Provision for income taxes  (305,658)  (87,882)  (217,776)  247.8% 
Net loss  (45,902,481)  (13,373,003)  (32,529,478)  243.2% 

Net loss per basic and diluted common share:
Basic and diluted net loss per common share $ (0.62) $ (0.34) 
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares 
outstanding  73,850,822  38,875,643 

Research and Development

The following table summarizes the components of research and development expense for the year ended December 
31, 2021, and for the year ended December 31, 2020:

For the year
ended 

December 31, 
2021

For the year
ended 

December 31, 
2020

Change
(In U.S. dollars) $ %

Research and development expenses: 
Salaries and benefits  7,688,852  1,331,707  6,357,145  477.4% 
Sponsored research & product licenses  7,544,596  4,181,093  3,363,503  80.4% 
Clinical trial  11,042,144  1,405,508  9,636,636  685.6% 
Contract manufacturing  6,442,844  1,889,898  4,552,946  240.9% 
Regulatory consulting  786,956  333,950  453,006  135.7% 
Total  33,505,392  9,142,156  24,363,236  266.5% 

For the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, the increase in research and 
development expense was primarily due to increases in (a) costs incurred in clinical trials, including contract 
manufacturing and development of product candidates and personnel costs, (b) costs associated with our licensing 
agreements and related sponsored research in connection with our product candidates both preclinical and clinical, 
including a $3,250,000 expense related to the option exercised in connection with the exclusive global licensing agreement 
with Bach Biosciences, (c) salaries and wages due to increased personnel costs as the Company continues to expand its 
research and development headcount and (d) regulatory consulting fees that are required to further advance the 
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development of our product candidates as we advance our pipeline and grow the organization. The Company currently 
does not track its research and development expenditures by product.

General and administrative

For the year ended December 31, 2021, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, the increase in general and 
administrative expenses was primarily due to increased (a) personnel costs as the Company continues to expand its finance, 
information technology, human resources and other administrative headcount, (b) professional fees incurred for 
accounting, auditing and tax, each increasing primarily as a result of additional costs associated with being a publicly 
traded company, (c) costs associated with legal fees relating to corporate and patent matters and (d) insurance, 
administrative consulting services, advertising, office expenses and other facilities expenses as the Company continues to 
increase the scale of its operations.

Other Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2021, other expenses consist primarily of (a) foreign exchange losses associated 
with foreign currency transactions primarily occurring within the Company’s Canadian subsidiary, and (b) accretion 
expense related to the amortization of capitalized transaction costs in connection with our previous mortgage payable. For 
the year ended December 31, 2020, other expenses consisted the same or substantially similar expenses impacting the 
current period noted above. 

Income Tax Expense

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, income tax expense consisted of taxes owing in 
Canada in relation to taxable income generated through management and research and development services performed by 
the Canadian subsidiary of the Company. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity and Capital

We have incurred significant net losses since Inception and have relied on the ability to fund operations through 
equity financings. Operating losses and negative cash flows from operations and investing activities are expected to 
continue for the foreseeable future. As losses continue to be incurred, we are subject to risks and uncertainties common to 
early-stage companies in the biotechnology industry, including, but not limited to, successful discovery and development 
of its product candidates, development by competitors of new technological innovations, dependence on key personnel, the 
ability to attract and retain qualified employees, protection of proprietary technology, compliance with governmental 
regulations, the impact of COVID-19, the ability to secure additional capital to fund operations and commercial success of 
its product candidates. Product candidates currently under development will require extensive preclinical and clinical 
testing and regulatory approval prior to commercialization. These efforts require significant amounts of additional capital, 
adequate personnel, and infrastructure and extensive compliance-reporting capabilities. Even if our drug development 
efforts are successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, we will realize significant revenue from product sales.

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $238.8 million as of December 31, 2021, which is anticipated to fund operations 
into the first quarter of 2024. Net losses totaled $45.9 million and $13.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020, respectively.

On July 10, 2020, we obtained a mortgage loan in the amount of $3,562,500 for the purpose of purchasing a facility 
located in Indianapolis, Indiana (see Note 9 to the 2021 Financial Statements). The loan was collateralized by a first charge 
over the property. As part of the financing, we incurred $17,194 of costs and fees from the lender that are capitalized and 
recorded as finance costs over the life of the mortgage. The mortgage bore interest at 2.85% plus a minimum rate of 1-
month LIBOR, subject to a LIBOR floor of 0.25%. The loan required quarterly interest payments, commencing October 1, 
2020, with the principal amount due at maturity on January 10, 2022. On July 29, 2021, this mortgage loan was repaid in 
full and the related mortgage on the facility in Indianapolis, Indiana was released.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded $63,195 in interest costs which have been capitalized within 
property, in development, and $11,840 of accretion expense recorded within finance costs related to the amortization of 
capitalized financing costs and fees. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded $54,605 in interest costs which 
have been capitalized within property, in development, and $5,354 of accretion expense recorded within finance costs 
related to the amortization of capitalized financing costs and fees.

As of December 31, 2021, we did not have any lease or other contractual obligations. We currently have a facility 
lease that is a month-to-month arrangement.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

88



On January 28, 2021, warrants for the purchase of common shares of POINT Biopharma Inc. were exercised resulting 
in net proceeds of $20,000,000. On March 8, 2021, we received cash proceeds of $450,000 for a non-employee 
consultant’s exercise of stock options. On June 30, 2021, we received net proceeds of approximately $260.0 million in 
connection with the Business Combination consisting of proceeds of the PIPE Financing and the proceeds remaining in 
RACA’s trust account. We intend to use the net proceeds from these transactions for general corporate purpose, funding of 
development programs, payment of milestones pursuant to our license agreements, general and administrative expenses, 
licensing of additional product candidates and to support our working capital needs.

Future Funding Requirements

Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, primarily related to our research and development activities. 
Cash used to fund operating expenses is impacted by the timing of when we pay these expenses, as reflected in the change 
in our outstanding accounts payable, accrued expenses and prepaid expenses.

We expect to continue to incur significant and increasing expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable future. We 
will require additional capital to meet operational needs and capital requirements for clinical trials, other research and 
development expenditures, and business development activities. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated 
with the development and commercialization of our product candidates, we are unable to estimate the amounts of increased 
capital outlays and operating expenditures associated with our current and anticipated clinical trials and preclinical studies.

Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

• the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing our current product candidates, as well as 
other additional product candidates we may develop and pursue in the future;

• the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining marketing approvals for our product candidates and any other 
additional product candidates we may develop and pursue in the future;

• the number of future product candidates that we may pursue and their development requirements;

• subject to receipt of regulatory approval, the costs of commercialization activities for our product candidates, to 
the extent such costs are not the responsibility of any future collaborators, including the costs and timing of 
establishing product sales, marketing, distribution, and manufacturing capabilities;

• subject to receipt of regulatory approval, revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product 
candidates or any other additional product candidates we may develop and pursue in the future;

• the achievement of milestones that trigger payments under our various license agreements;

• the extent to which we in-license or acquire rights to other products, product candidates or technologies;

• our ability to establish collaboration arrangements for the development of our product candidates on favorable 
terms, if at all;

• our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our research and development and establish a 
commercial infrastructure;

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and protecting our intellectual 
property rights, including enforcing and defending intellectual property related claims; and

• the costs of operating as a public company.

Until such time as we can generate substantial product revenue, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through a 
combination of equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances and marketing, distribution or licensing 
arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, our 
stockholders' ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other 
preferences that adversely affect rights of our stockholders. Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if available, may 
involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring 
additional debt, making acquisitions or capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds through 
collaborations, strategic alliances or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to 
relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or drug candidates, or grant 
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licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt 
financings or other arrangements when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our research, 
product development or future commercialization efforts, or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we 
would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Going Concern

We assess and determine our ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 
205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements — Going Concern. We have determined that the Company will continue as a 
going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the settlement of liabilities an commitments in the normal 
course of business.

For additional information on risks associated with our substantial capital requirements, please read the section 
entitled “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

Working Capital

Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities.

The following table summarizes our total working capital and current assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2021 
and December 31, 2020:

As at 
December 31, 

2021

As at 
December 31, 

2020
Change

(In U.S. dollars) $ %

Current assets  243,846,556  12,397,095  231,449,461  1,867.0% 
Current liabilities  7,979,964  5,163,557  2,816,407  54.5% 
Total working capital  235,866,592  7,233,538  228,633,054  3,160.7% 

The increase in working capital as of December 31, 2021, primarily reflects (a) net proceeds of approximately $260.0 
million in connection with the Business Combination and the related PIPE Financing, exclusive of redemptions and 
approximately $27.0 million of transaction costs and (b) approximately $20.5 million received from the exercise of 
warrants and stock options during the year ended December 31, 2021. The transaction costs related to the Business 
Combination and PIPE Financing consisted of investment banker, legal, audit, tax, accounting, consulting, insurance, board 
retainer fees and listing fees. The increase in working capital as of December 31, 2021 was partially offset by increased (a) 
operating expenses, including research and development costs, (b) capital expenditures in connection with the development 
of our manufacturing and development facility in Indiana and (c) the repayment of our mortgage payable.

Cash Flows: Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and Year Ended December 31, 2020

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020:

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2021

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Change
(In U.S. dollars) $ %

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (44,698,758)  (8,302,856)  (36,395,902)  438.4% 
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (8,802,182)  (9,797,400)  995,218  (10.2%) 
Net cash flows provided by financing activities  281,770,182  28,647,005  253,123,177  883.6% 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  228,269,242  10,546,749  217,722,493  2,064.4% 

Cash flows used in operating activities

Net cash flows used in operating activities represent the cash receipts and disbursements related to all of our activities 
other than investing and financing activities. We expect cash provided by financing activities will continue to be our 
primary source of funds to finance operating needs and capital expenditures for the foreseeable future.
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The significant increase in cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily the result of (a) increased operating expenses as we grow our operations and 
further the development of our pipeline, as described above and (b) continued costs and pre-payments made in connection 
with our clinical trials.

Cash flows used in Investing Activities

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, cash used in investing activities reflected $8.8 
million and $9.8 million, respectively, in capital expenditures for purchases in connection with the development of our 
Indiana facility.

Cash flows provided by Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities totaled $281.8 million, which 
consisted (a) net proceeds in connection with the Business Combination and the related PIPE Financing, and (b) the 
proceeds from the exercise of warrants and stock options each as discussed above. This was partially offset by cash 
outflows associated with the repayment of our mortgage payable as discussed above.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash provided by financing activities totaled $28.6 million, which 
consisted of net proceeds from the issuance of common shares of POINT Biopharma Inc. and warrants to purchase 
common shares of POINT Biopharma Inc. as well as borrowings under our previous mortgage payable.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

The Company in the normal course of business enters into various services and supply agreements in connection with 
its clinical trials to ensure the supply of certain product and product lines during the Company’s clinical phase. These 
agreements often have minimum purchase commitments and generally terminate upon the termination of the clinical trial. 
For additional information, see Note 12 to the 2021 Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. For 
additional information related to our license agreements, please also see Note 13 to the 2021 Financial Statements included 
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements or holdings in any variable interest entities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

This management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our 2021 
Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. 
GAAP”).

The preparation of the 2021 Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates, 
judgments and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the 2021 Financial Statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting 
periods. Our estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions or conditions. Our significant accounting policies are outlined in Note 2 to the 2021 Financial Statements 
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Fair Value Measurements

Certain of our assets and liabilities are carried at fair value under U.S. GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange 
price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous 
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable 
inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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Level 2 — Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar 
assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other 
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to determining 
the fair value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, and similar 
techniques.

Share-Based Compensation

We determine the fair value of each award issued under our equity-based compensation plan on the date of grant. 
Compensation expense for service-based stock option awards is recognized on a straight-line basis for the entire award 
over the requisite service period, with the amount of compensation expense recognized at any date at least equaling the 
portion of the grant-date fair value of the award that is vested at that date.

We elected to account prospectively for forfeitures as they occur rather than apply an estimated forfeiture rate to 
share-based compensation expense. We classify share-based compensation expense in our consolidated financial 
statements in the same manner in which the award recipient’s salary and related costs are classified or in which the award 
recipient’s service payments are classified, as applicable.

We estimate the fair value of the stock option awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option 
pricing model which includes certain judgments and estimates including the expected life of the stock options as well the 
risk-free rate, dividend yield, and volatility, each estimated over the expected life of the stock options. As there was no 
public market for our common shares, we determined the volatility for stock options granted based on an analysis of 
reported data for a peer group of companies. We will continue to apply this method until a sufficient amount of historical 
information regarding the volatility of our own share price becomes available. As we do not have a history of stock option 
exercises, the expected life of the stock options has been determined as the period to expiry of the stock option. The risk-
free interest rate is based on a treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options.

The expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero as we have never paid dividends and do not have current plans to 
pay any dividends on our common shares.

Recently adopted accounting standards and recent accounting pronouncements

For a discussion of new accounting standard updates adopted by us as well as recent accounting pronouncements for 
accounting standard updates not yet effective and their respective impact and expected impact on our consolidated financial 
statements or disclosures, please see Note 2 to the 2021 Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The primary objectives of our investment activities are to ensure liquidity and to preserve capital. We are exposed to 
market risks in the ordinary course of our business, primarily interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.

Our mortgage payable was priced at 1-month LIBOR (subject to a floor of 0.25%) plus a spread of 2.85% and was 
exposed to fluctuations in that floating rate. On July 29, 2021, the mortgage loan was repaid in full and the related 
mortgage on our facility in Indianapolis, Indiana was released.

We are exposed to foreign currency risk in relation to its expenses incurred from certain Canadian supplier agreements 
as well as salaries and wages in respect of our Canadian employees. We also incurred limited expenses denominated in 
Euro.

We currently have not engaged in any hedging activities and we do not believe that inflation, interest rate changes or 
exchange rate fluctuations had a significant impact on our results of operations for any periods presented herein. We will 
continue to monitor our market risks and responses to those risks.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our 2021 Financial Statements, together with the report of our independent registered public accounting firm, appear in 
this Form 10-K beginning on page F-1 and are incorporated by reference into this Item 8.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

Change in Certifying Accountant

As previously reported on our Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 30, 2021 (“June 30, 2021 Form 8-K”), 
effective upon the Closing, the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) approved the dismissal of 
WithumSmith+Brown, PC (“Withum”), and the appointment of Armanino LLP ("Armanino") as the Company’s 
independent registered public accounting firm. Withum was RACA’s independent registered public accounting firm prior 
to the Business Combination 

The report of Withum on the financial statements of RACA as of December 31, 2020, and for the period from April 
15, 2020 (inception) through December 31, 2020, did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, and was 
not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles. During the period from April 15, 2020 
(inception) through December 31, 2020, and the subsequent interim period, there were no disagreements (as defined in 
Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K) with Withum on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement 
disclosure or auditing scope or procedures, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Withum, would have 
caused Withum to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreements in its reports covering such periods. In 
addition, no “reportable events,” as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K, occurred within the period of 
Withum’s engagement and the subsequent interim period preceding Withum’s dismissal.

We provided Withum with a copy of the disclosures made pursuant to this Item 4.01 prior to the filing of the June 30, 
2021 Form 8-K and requested that Withum furnish a letter addressed to the SEC, which is filed as Exhibit 16.1 to the June 
30, 2021 Form 8-K, stating whether it agrees with such disclosures, and, if not, stating the respects in which it does not 
agree.

Armanino audited the consolidated balance sheets of POINT Biopharma Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and 
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 and the period from September 18, 2019 (inception) through December 31, 2019. During the year 
ended December 31, 2020 and the period from September 18, 2019 (inception) through December 31, 2019 and the 
subsequent interim period, neither the Company nor anyone on its behalf consulted with Armanino regarding (i) the 
application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion 
that might be rendered on the Company’s financial statements, and no written report or oral advice was provided to the 
Company that Armanino concluded was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to any 
accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue, or (ii) any matter that was the subject of a disagreement within the 
meaning of Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K or any reportable event within the meaning of Item 304(a)(1)(v) of 
Regulation S-K.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of December 31, 2021. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective in 
recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by the Company 
in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act as of December 31, 2021.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 
financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our systems of internal controls are designed 
under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
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Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent 
limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Management assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. This assessment was 
based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on this assessment, we have concluded that, as of December 
31, 2021, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.

Our internal controls over financial reporting continues to be updated as necessary to accommodate modifications to 
our business processes and accounting procedures. There has been no change in our internal control over financial 
reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the last fiscal quarter 
of the fiscal year for which this Form 10-K is filed that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, 
our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable. 

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdiction that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable. 
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

The following sets forth certain information, as of March 21, 2022, concerning our directors and executive officers.

Name Age Position
Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D. 45 Chief Executive Officer and Class III Director
Allan C. Silber 73 Executive Chairman and Class III Director
Bill Demers, FCPA, FCA 63 Chief Financial Officer
Dr. Neil Fleshner, M.D. 58 Chief Medical Officer and Class II Director
Jessica Jensen 41 Executive Vice President Clinical Development
Justyna Kelly, MSc 37 Chief Operating Officer
Dr. Rajesh K. Malik, M.D. 63 Class I Director
Jonathan Ross Goodman 54 Class I Director
Margaret E. Gilmour 62 Class I Director
Gerald Hogue 64 Class III Director
David C. Lubner 57 Class II Director
Dr. Yael Margolin, Ph.D. 68 Class II Director

Executive Officers

Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D. has served as our Chief Executive Officer and a member of our board of directors since the 
consummation of the Business Combination. Previously, Dr. McCann served as Chief Executive Officer of POINT 
Biopharma Inc. since January 2020 and as a director of POINT Biopharma Inc. since September 2019. From May 2010 
until December 2019, Dr. McCann held various roles of increasing responsibility at the CPDC, most recently as Chief 
Executive Officer and President, where he led the formation and growth of the company’s contract development and 
manufacturing operations and the build out of radiopharmaceutical manufacturing facilities. Prior to joining CPDC, Dr. 
McCann was a scientist in Pharmaceutical Development at GlaxoSmithKline from July 2006 until May 2010, with 
responsibility for developing products across all stages of clinical development. Dr. McCann has a Ph.D. in biochemistry 
from McMaster University. We believe Dr. McCann is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his extensive 
executive experience in the pharmaceutical and radiopharmaceutical industries and his experience with and knowledge of 
our business.

Allan C. Silber has served as our Executive Chairman and a member of our board of directors since the consummation 
of the Business Combination. Previously, Mr. Silber served as the Executive Chairman of POINT Biopharma Inc. since 
January 2020 and as a director of POINT Biopharma Inc. since September 2019. Mr. Silber has served as Chairman of 
Verity Pharmaceuticals, a specialty pharmaceutical company since January 2018, and previously served as Chairman of 
Heritage Global Inc., a global financial services and asset trading company providing corporate and financial asset 
monetization, advisory, and valuation services from March 2005 to January 2021. Mr. Silber served as Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of Counsel Corporation from 1982 to June 2015 and served as Chairman of Street Capital Group Inc. 
(formerly Counsel Corporation) from 1979 until December 2018. Mr. Silber earned a Bachelor of Science from the 
University of Toronto. We believe Mr. Silber is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his extensive 
executive experience and experience with and knowledge of our business.

Bill Demers, FCPA, FCA has served as our Chief Financial Officer since the consummation of the Business 
Combination. Previously, Mr. Demers served as Chief Financial Officer of POINT Biopharma Inc. since August 2020. 
Prior to that role, Mr. Demers was the Senior Assurance Partner and Canadian National IPO Leader at Ernst & Young LLP 
from October 2014 until June 2018. Mr. Demers has over 38 years of professional experience involving a wide range of 
high-growth companies in the pharmaceutical, manufacturing, and technology sectors, including private and publicly-
traded Canadian and U.S. Nasdaq-listed companies. Mr. Demers also previously served as the Chief Financial Officer of 
both AgMedica Bioscience Inc. (“AgMedica”) and Contract Pharmaceuticals Ltd. from September 2018 until August 2020 
and July 2019, respectively. In 2019, while Mr. Demers was serving as Chief Financial Officer of AgMedica, it filed a 
petition under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (the “CCAA”) in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice, seeking 
an arrangement with certain of its creditors. On September 11, 2020, AgMedica implemented a Plan of Arrangement and 
successfully completed its emergence from creditor protection under the CCAA. Mr. Demers earned an Honours Bachelor 
of Business Administration in business and economics from Wilfrid Laurier University.
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Dr. Neil Fleshner, M.D. has served as our Chief Medical Officer and as a member of our board of directors since the 
consummation of the Business Combination. Previously, Dr. Fleshner served as Chief Medical Officer of POINT 
Biopharma Inc. since January 2020 and as a director of POINT Biopharma Inc. since September 2019. Dr. Fleshner has 
served as the Chief Medical Officer and a member of the board of directors of Verity Pharmaceuticals since July 2016. Dr. 
Fleshner also previously served as the Chief Medical Officer and a member of the board of directors of Hybridine from 
March 2015 until September 2019. Dr. Fleshner is also a Professor of Surgery at the University of Toronto. In the past, he 
has served as the Head of the Division of Urology at the University Health Network, and the Head of Genitourinary Cancer 
Site group at the Princess Margaret Hospital, where he was awarded the prestigious Love Chair in prostate cancer 
prevention. Dr. Fleshner graduated with a medical degree from the University of Toronto in 1988. He completed specialty 
training in urologic surgery and oncology from 1993 to 1996, received a Master’s in Public Health in epidemiology from 
Columbia University in 1997, and completed his oncology training at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center. Dr. 
Fleshner is certified in both urology and epidemiology. We believe Dr. Fleshner is qualified to serve on our board of 
directors because of his extensive medical experience in the fields of oncology, urology and epidemiology and his 
experience with and knowledge of our business.

Jessica Jensen has served as our Executive Vice President Clinical Development since the consummation of the 
Business Combination. Previously, Ms. Jensen serviced as Executive Vice President Clinical Development of POINT 
Biopharma Inc. since August 2020. Ms. Jensen has nearly 20 years of experience developing early- and late-stage oncology 
diagnostic and therapeutic drug products. Ms. Jensen has also served as a consultant for Evergreen Theragnostics since 
2020. Prior to joining POINT Biopharma Inc., Ms. Jensen served as Senior Vice President of Clinical Development at 
Progenics Pharmaceuticals from September 2014 until August 2020, advancing their PSMA-targeted diagnostic and 
radiotherapeutic portfolio in prostate cancer, which led to the approval of PYLARIFY®, and their MIBG-targeted 
radiotherapeutic neuroendocrine program, which led to the approval of AZEDRA®. Previously, Ms. Jensen advanced 
global immunotherapy programs at the Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research, an orphan drug program at Gentium SpA, 
now Jazz Pharmaceuticals, and supported the development of a CRO business unit at U.S. Oncology. Ms. Jensen has an 
expertise in study design and execution, has directly led regulatory agency communications and FDA inspections, and the 
clinical submission of several INDs and NDAs. Ms. Jensen started her career in the pharmaceutical industry as a Statistical 
Programmer and Biostatistician with U.S. Oncology from 2006 to 2009 after receiving a Master of Public Health in 
epidemiology & biostatistics at George Washington University. Ms. Jensen earned a Bachelor of Science in 
interdisciplinary health services from Saint Joseph’s University.

Justyna Kelly, M.Sc. has served as our Chief Operating Officer since December 2021. Ms. Kelly previously served as 
our Vice President, Medical Isotope Development and Operations since the consummation of the Business Combination. 
Ms. Kelly was responsible for all medical isotope development and operations related to clinical and commercial programs 
at the Company and, prior to that time, was the Vice President, Medical Isotope Development and Operations of POINT 
Biopharma Inc. Ms. Kelly has eleven years of radiopharmaceutical experience from the CPDC, where she led microbiology 
and sterility assurance programs, supported the build-out of clinical-stage GMP manufacturing facilities, and managed 
several internal and client radiopharmaceutical development programs. Ms. Kelly has expertise in working with a variety of 
medical isotopes, including sourcing, supply chain, development and manufacturing, and application to 
radiopharmaceutical manufacturing. Ms. Kelly earned a Bachelor of Science and Master of Science in biochemistry from 
McMaster University.

Directors

Our board of directors currently consists of nine directors, who are divided into three classes with each class consisting 
of three directors in accordance with our bylaws. At each annual meeting of stockholders, a class of directors will be 
elected for a three-year term to succeed the directors of the same class whose terms are then expiring. 

Dr. Neil Fleshner — The principal occupation, employment experience and qualifications of Dr. Neil Fleshner are set 
forth above under the heading “Executive Officers.”

Margaret E. Gilmour has served as a member of the board of directors of POINT Biopharma Inc. since December 
2020 and of POINT since June 2021. Ms. Gilmour is a senior finance, risk management and audit executive with a deep 
understanding of both U.S. and Canadian regulatory environments. Most recently, Ms. Gilmour was Board Chair of the 
Institute of Internal Auditors, Toronto Chapter, and has previously held board, audit, governance, and risk roles with 
organizations such as Metrolinx (from June 2016 until July 2018), Interac and the Ontario Pension Board. A chartered 
accountant by training, Ms. Gilmour gained her extensive finance experience as Chief Financial Officer of the Operations 
& Technology Division within BMO Financial Group and as Senior Vice President of Finance at Aviva Insurance Canada. 
Ms. Gilmour earned a Bachelor of Commerce in accounting from the University of Toronto. We believe Ms. Gilmour is 
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qualified to serve on POINT’s board of directors because of her extensive finance, accounting and executive experience 
and her service on POINT Biopharma Inc.’s board of directors.

Jonathan Ross Goodman has served as a member of the board of directors of POINT Biopharma Inc. since December 
2020 and of POINT since June 2021 and also serves as the Company’s Lead Director since December 2021. Mr Goodman 
was the co-founder, President and Chief Executive Officer of publicly traded Paladin Labs Inc. (“Paladin”) (TSE: PLB), 
which was acquired in 2014 by Endo International Inc. (NASDAQ: ENDP) for $3.2 billion. Upon Paladin’s acquisition, 
Mr. Goodman started a second publicly traded specialty pharmaceutical company, Knight Therapeutics Inc., where Mr. 
Goodman has served as Chief Executive Officer and as a director since February 2014. Mr. Goodman is a recipient of the 
Globe and Mail’s Top 40 Under 40 award, Federation CJA’s Sam Steinberg Award for entrepreneurial excellence and the 
Koach Award for leading campaigner, UIA Federations of Canada National Young Leadership Award of Distinction, the 
Special Recognition Award by Brain Injury Canada and Bernard Gross Leadership Award by ORT Montreal. He was also 
appointed Honorary Chairman of the Ride to Conquer Cancer and was named Quebec Entrepreneur of the Year in the Life 
Sciences by the National Post and Ernst & Young LLP. Mr. Goodman earned a B.A. in economics and an LL.B/MBA in 
law and business from McGill University. We believe Mr. Goodman is qualified to serve on POINT’s board of directors 
because of his extensive executive and industry experience and his service on POINT Biopharma Inc.’s board of directors.

Gerald Hogue has served as a member of the board of directors of POINT Biopharma Inc. since December 2020 and 
POINT since June 2021. Mr. Hogue is the founder of VieCure, an oncology EMR software platform, and has served as its 
President and Chief Executive Officer since November 2015. Mr. Hogue has spent many years working in the field of 
enabling technologies for cancer care. In 1993, Mr. Hogue founded OpTx Corporation, which created the world’s first 
oncology-specific electronic medical record and decision support system. Mr. Hogue earned a diploma in computer science 
and business from Red River Community College. We believe Mr. Hogue is qualified to serve on POINT’s board of 
directors because of his extensive executive and industry experience and his service on POINT Biopharma Inc.’s board of 
directors.

David C. Lubner has served as a member of RACA’s board of directors since May 2020 and POINT’s board of 
directors since June 2021. Mr. Lubner served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Ra 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. acquired by UCB S.A. in April 2020, from January 2016 until June 2020. Prior to joining Ra 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Mr. Lubner served as Chief Financial Officer of Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a biotechnology 
company, from its inception in 2006 through 2016, as Chief Financial Officer of PharMetrics Inc., a patient-based 
pharmacy and medical claims data informatics company, from 1999 until it was acquired by IMS Health in 2015. Prior to 
joining PharMetrics, Mr. Lubner served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of ProScript, Inc. from 1996 to 1999, 
where Velcade® (bortezomib), a therapy widely used for the treatment of the blood cancer, multiple myeloma, was 
discovered. Mr. Lubner serves on the boards of directors of Dyne Therapeutics, Inc., Vor Biopharma, Inc. and Gemini 
Therapeutics, Inc. as well as several private companies and was previously a member of the board of directors of Nightstar 
Therapeutics plc (formerly NASDAQ: NITE), which was acquired by Biogen in June 2019. Mr. Lubner is a member of the 
American Institute of CPAs and a Certified Public Accountant in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Mr. Lubner 
received his B.S. in business administration from Northeastern University and M.S. in taxation from Bentley University. 
We believe Mr. Lubner is qualified to serve on POINT’s board of directors because of his extensive experience serving in 
senior level financial positions of numerous companies, his experience with biopharmaceutical companies, his executive 
leadership experience and his experience as a director of a public biotechnology company, including serving as chair of the 
audit committee.

Dr. Rajesh K. Malik, M.D. has served as a member of the board of directors of POINT since June 2021. Dr. Malik is 
currently the Chief Medical Officer of G1 Therapeutics, Inc. (NASDAQ: GTHX) a position he has held since July 2014. 
As Chief Medical Officer, Dr. Malik is responsible for the clinical development, medical affairs, regulatory affairs, 
biometrics, translational medicine, and preclinical teams of G1 Therapeutics. He currently serves on the board of directors 
of Meryx, Inc., a private biotech company, and has since May 2018. From 2007 to 2013, Dr. Malik served as Chief 
Medical Officer and on the board of directors at Agennix AG. From 2004 to 2007, he served as the Chief Medical Officer 
at Adherex Technologies. Dr. Malik also previously served in oncology clinical development positions at EMD 
Pharmaceutical from 2002 to 2004 and at Bristol-Myers-Squibb Company (NYSE: BMY) from 2000 to 2002. During his 
academic career, Dr. Malik was an assistant professor at the University of Virginia, where he conducted basic science and 
clinical research in addition to patient care and teaching. Dr. Malik received his M.B., Ch.B from the University of 
Sheffield Medical School in the United Kingdom. He completed his residency at Duke University Medical Center and 
fellowships at the Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia and Duke University Medical Center. We believe Dr. Malik is 
qualified to serve on POINT’s board of directors because of his extensive experience as a chief medical officer and his role 
in oncology clinical development positions.

Dr. Yael Margolin, Ph.D., has served as a member of the board of directors of POINT since June 2021. Dr. Margolin 
currently serves on the board of directors of BiodVax Pharmaceuticals Ltd. (NASDAQ: BVXV) and has since 2019. She 
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previously served as CEO, President and a board member of Gamida Cell Ltd. from 2005 to 2018, leading the company 
from preclinical development through successful phase 3 international registration studies. Since 2020, Dr. Margolin has 
been a member of the board of directors at Ramot at Tel Aviv University and TAU Ventures by Tel Aviv University. Dr. 
Margolin was formerly a Vice President at Denali Ventures LLS, a venture capital firm focused on healthcare. Dr. 
Margolin earned a B.S. in biology and a M.S. in microbiology from Tel Aviv University. She received her Ph.D. in the 
Department of Membrane Research at the Weitzmann Institute of Science and was a post-doctoral associate at Yale 
University School of Medicine. Additionally, she participated in the top executive course at the Tel Aviv School of 
Management. We believe Dr. Margolin is qualified to serve on POINT’s board of directors because of her extensive 
experience in the biopharmaceutical industry and her service on the board of several other respected institution.

Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D. — The principal occupation, employment experience and qualifications of Dr. McCann are 
set forth above under the heading “Executive Officers.”

Allan C. Silber — The principal occupation, employment experience and qualifications of Mr. Silber are set forth 
above under the heading “Executive Officers.” 

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.

Director Independence

The rules of Nasdaq require that a majority of our board of directors be independent. Our board of directors undertook 
a review of its composition, the composition of its committees and the independence of our directors and considered 
whether, consistent with the rules of the Nasdaq and our Corporate Governance Guidelines, any direct has a relationship 
with us which, in the opinion of our board of directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgement in 
carrying out the responsibilities of a director. Based on the information requested from and provided by each director 
concerning such person's background, employment and affiliations, including family relationships, our board of directors 
has determined that each individual who serves on the POINT board of directors, other than Dr. Neil Fleshner, Dr. Joe 
McCann and Allan C. Silber, qualifies as an independent director.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Our board of directors has three standing committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, each of which has the composition described below. Directors will 
serve on each committee until their resignation or as otherwise determined by our board of directors. A copy of each 
committee’s charter is posted on the investor relations section of our website at www.pointbiopharma.com. The 
information contained on or that can be accessed through our website is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K, 
and you should not consider such information to be part of this Form 10-K.

Audit Committee

The members of our Audit Committee consist of Margaret E. Gilmour (Chair), Jonathan Goodman and David Lubner. 
Under Nasdaq listing rules and applicable SEC rules, we are required to have at least three members of the audit 
committee, all of whom must be independent directors. Our board of directors has determined that each member of our 
Audit Committee qualifies as an independent director under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the rules of 
Nasdaq and is "financially literate" as required by the rules of Nasdaq. Ms. Gilmour qualifies as an “audit committee 
financial expert” as defined in applicable SEC rules.

Compensation Committee

The members of our Compensation Committee consist of Jonathan Goodman (Chair), Gerald Hogue and Dr. Yael 
Margolin, all of whom have been determined to be independent.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are Gerald Hogue (Chair), Margaret E. 
Gilmour and Dr. Rajesh K. Malik, all of whom have been determined to be independent.
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Role of Our Board of Directors in Risk Oversight

One of the key functions of our board of directors is informed oversight of our risk management process. Our board of 
directors administers this oversight function directly through our board of directors as a whole, as well as through various 
standing committees of our board of directors that address risks inherent in their respective areas of oversight. In particular, 
our board of directors is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure, and our Audit Committee will 
have the responsibility to consider and discuss our major financial risk exposures and the steps our management has taken 
to monitor and control these exposures, including guidelines and policies to govern the process by which risk assessment 
and management is undertaken. The Audit Committee also monitors compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. 
The compensation committee also assesses and monitors whether our compensation plans, policies and programs comply 
with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, requires our executive officers, directors, and persons who own more than ten 
percent of our Common Stock to file with the SEC of reports of their ownership and changes in their ownership of our 
Common Stock. Based solely on our review of such reports filed electronically with the SEC and written representations 
that no other reports were required, we believe that during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, our executive officers, 
directors, and persons who beneficially own more than ten percent of our Common Stock complied with all Section 16(a) 
filing requirements, except for one transaction that was omitted from Mr. Silber’s Form 4 filed on June 30, 2021, which 
was later reported on a Form 5.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, 
officers and directors, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other executive and senior 
financial officers. The full text of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on the investor relations section of 
our website at www.pointbiopharma.com. Information contained on or accessible through such website is not a part of this 
Form 10-K, and the inclusion of the website address in this Form 10-K is an inactive textual reference only. 

We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, or waivers 
of certain provisions as they relate to our directors and executive officers, at the same location on our website or in public 
filings.

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

We have the option and have elected to comply with the executive compensation disclosure rules applicable to 
“smaller reporting companies,” as such term is defined in the rules promulgated under the Exchange Act, which require 
compensation disclosure for our Chief Executive Officer and the two most highly compensated executive officers other 
than our Chief Executive Officer, whom we refer to herein as our “named executive officers”. Our named executive 
officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (“fiscal year 2021”) were as follows:

• Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D., Chief Executive Officer;
• Allan Silber, Executive Chairman; and
• Jessica Jensen, Executive Vice President Clinical Development.

Executive Compensation Overview

Compensation Philosophy

Our executive compensation program for fiscal year 2021 was designed to reinforce a strong link between pay and 
performance in order to: (i) attract leading talent; (ii) retain and motivate top performers; (iii) promote a culture with an 
emphasis on variable compensation, specifically annual incentives; and (iv) position our compensation at the median of a 
target comparator group for good performance and above median for superior performance, with exceptions based on 
individual contribution and relevant scientific expertise as well as the importance of each individual’s role at various points 
in time.

Market Positioning
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Management engaged Mercer to provide a compensation review and benchmarking data for our senior leadership 
team. During this review, the following considerations were included: company growth, business strategy, and peer group 
to be used for benchmarking. There are no relationships between Mercer and any of our officers or directors.

The use of comparative market data is just one of the factors used in setting compensation for our named executive 
officers. Compensation could be higher or lower than suggested by the comparator data as result of personal performance, 
skills, specific role or experience in this business. During fiscal year 2021, Mercer was paid $66,963 for its compensation 
review and benchmarking services.

We believe we have assembled an accomplished management team with proven track records in the pharmaceutical 
industry to lead the Company. Our key management personnel have an average of over 25 years of experience, each in our 
target industries including radiopharmaceutical, clinical development, oncology and manufacturing.

Compensation Elements

The compensation for our named executive officers for fiscal year 2021 primarily consisted of the following:

Compensation Element Purpose
Base Salary To provide stable and competitive income.
Annual Incentives To motivate and reward short-term behaviors, actions and results that drive long-term 

value creation.
Long-Term Incentives To encourage executives to maximize long-term stockholder value (provided in the 

form of options)

To accomplish both its short-term and long-term objectives, the compensation program emphasized pay-for-
performance, with two variable components. These variable components included annual and long-term incentives which 
were used to align each component of incentive compensation with our short and long-term business objectives.

2021 and 2020 Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents information regarding the total compensation awarded to, earned by and paid to our 
named executive officers for services rendered to us in all capacities in fiscal years 2021 and 2020.

Name and Principal Position Year
Salary 
($)(1)(2)

Bonus 
($)

Option 
Awards 

($)(4)

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 
Compensation 

($)(5)

All Other 
Compensation 

($)
Total 

($)

Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D., 2021  391,528  —  —  347,189  1,590 (6)  740,307 
Chief Executive Officer 2020  217,510  —  —  64,197  —  281,707 

Jessica Jensen, 2021  350,400  —  2,166,491  185,390  5,800 (6)  2,708,081 
Executive Vice President 
Clinical Development 2020  121,874  60,000 (3)  379,050  81,250  1,756 (6)  643,930 

Allan Silber, 2021  367,304  —  —  308,911  1,590 (6)  677,805 
Executive Chairman

(1) Except for Ms. Jensen, compensation amounts were paid in Canadian dollars and have been converted to U.S. dollars 
for purposes of the table using an exchange rate of 1.00 U.S. dollar to approximately 1.27 Canadian dollars for 2020 
and 1.00 U.S. dollar to approximately 1.26 Canadian dollars for 2021, which was the Bank of Canada foreign 
exchange rate on December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

(2) Dr. McCann earned a base salary of $275,000 (Canadian dollars) from January 6, 2020 to November 9, 2020, which 
was increased to $325,000 (Canadian dollars) on November 10, 2020 to reflect a market adjustment for similar roles in 
the industry and increased to $630,000 (Canadian dollars) on July 6, 2021 following the consummation of the Business 
Combination. Ms. Jensen earned a base salary of $325,000, which was prorated to reflect her partial year of 
employment from July 2020 and was increased to $377,000 on July 6, 2021. Mr. Silber earned a base salary of 
$275,000 (Canadian dollars) from January 6, 2020 to November 9, 2020, which was increased to $325,000 (Canadian 
dollars) on November 10, 2020, to reflect a market adjustment for similar roles in the industry and increased to 
$570,000 (Canadian dollars) on July 6, 2021 following the consummation of the Business Combination.
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(3) The amount reported reflects a signing bonus paid to Ms. Jensen in December 2020 in connection with entry into her 
employment agreement.

(4) The amounts reported represent the aggregate grant date fair value of options granted in fiscal 2020 and 2021, 
computed in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 
718. See Note 10 to the 2021 Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K for a discussion of the 
assumptions underlying the stock option valuation. Ms. Jensen was granted an option to purchase 35,000 shares of 
common stock of POINT Biopharma Inc. (exchanged for and option to purchase 125,553 shares of Common Stock) in 
connection with her 2020 employment agreement, which fully vested on September 17, 2020. On July 6, 2021, Ms. 
Jensen was granted an option to purchase 461,250 shares of Common Stock. This grant included an option to purchase 
81,250 shares of our Common Stock based upon the achievement of performance goals and an option to purchase 
380,000 shares of Common Stock as a clinical retention incentive. 25% of the options will vest on the first anniversary 
of the date of the grant with the remaining 75% vesting in three equal installments thereafter.

(5) The amounts reported reflect the annual performance-based cash bonus amounts awarded to our named executive 
officers for their service in fiscal year 2021 and 2020. See “— 2021 Annual Performance-Based Cash Bonuses” 
below.

(6) The amounts reported for Dr. McCann and Allan Silber reflect a signing bonus in consideration for an amendment to 
their respective 2021 employment agreements. The amount reported for Ms. Jensen consists of 401(k) matching 
contributions made by us.

Narrative Disclosure to the Summary Compensation Table

2021 Base Salaries

The base salary component of compensation for the named executive officers in fiscal year 2021 reflected the level of 
responsibility within POINT and compared to similar positions in comparable companies in the biotechnology/ 
pharmaceutical industry. The employment agreement with each named executive officer, described below, establishes a 
base salary. As disclosed above, the base salaries were increased on July 6, 2021, following the consummation of the 
Business Combination. As of December 31, 2021, the base salaries for Dr. McCann, Ms. Jensen and Mr. Silber were 
$630,000 (Canadian dollars), and $377,000 (U.S. dollars), and $570,000 (Canadian dollars) respectively.

2021 Annual Performance-Based Cash Bonuses

Our annual performance-based cash bonuses for the named executive officer’s fiscal year 2021 compensation were 
intended to motivate and reward senior management for strong corporate and individual performance. Recommendations 
are presented to the Board of Directors by the Chief Executive Officer, and bonuses are paid within the second quarter 
following the fiscal year end. The annual bonus plan provides for formula-based incentive payments based upon the 
achievement of certain corporate and individual performance goals and objectives approved by our Compensation 
Committee. We establish bonus targets for our named executive officers and conduct an annual performance review 
process to serve as the basis for determining eligibility for any such bonuses. Among the key parameters that typically are 
the basis for such bonus determinations are our achievement of overall corporate goals and the achievement of specified 
goals and objectives by each individual employee. Under the annual bonus plan for fiscal year 2021, target eligibility was 
50% of base pay for Dr. McCann and Mr. Silber and 40% for Ms. Jensen.

Under the 2021 annual performance-based cash plan, a performance rating was assigned based on those individual 
objectives and a multiplier with a payout under the plan of up to 1.75 times the target amount. Payments to the named 
executive officers were based on the achievement of specific corporate and individual objectives. The Compensation 
Committee awarded Dr. McCann, Mr. Silber, and Ms. Jensen a performance rating of 139%, 136%, 141%, respectively. 
Corporate objectives considered for these purposes were based on both short- and long-term objectives that include 
financing, completion of FDA and Health Canada meetings and construction of the manufacturing facility. Personal 
performance measures included personal and overall contributions to the business including hiring key staff, completion of 
preclinical studies and ensuring GMP compliance. In evaluating management’s performance relative to corporate 
performance for 2021, our Compensation Committee determined to award a corporate achievement level of 118%. The 
amounts earned under our annual performance-based cash bonus program with respect to the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2021 are reported under the “Non-Equity Incentive Compensation” column in the 2021 Summary Compensation Table 
above.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

Under the long-term incentive compensation component of the 2021 fiscal year compensation for our named 
executive officers, we aimed to motivate our executives through aligning their long-term interests with our success through 
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making stock option awards which reward increasing the value of POINT. Effective as of June 30, 2021 in connection with 
the Business Combination, the 2020 EIP was replaced by the 2021 EIP. The 2021 EIP provides for the granting of 
incentive and non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units, performance awards and other 
share-based awards to our employees, directors and consultants. In connection with the consummation of the Business 
Combination, POINT assumed the outstanding equity awards under the 2020 EIP and each outstanding option to acquire 
POINT Biopharma Inc. common stock (whether vested or unvested) under the 2020 EIP was revised and converted into a 
substantially equivalent option based on the conversion ratio of the POINT Biopharma Inc. common stock in the Business 
Combination and remains outstanding under the 2020 EIP. No further grants will be made under the 2020 EIP.

During the fiscal year 2021, Joe McCann and Allan Silber were eligible to receive equity grants targeted at 300% of 
their base pay. Jessica Jensen was eligible to receive equity grants targeted at 75% of her base pay. The vesting schedule 
for any option granted was determined by our board of directors, provided that the option would vest over a certain period 
of time or upon the occurrence of certain goals. Stock options granted in fiscal year 2021 to the named executive officers 
generally vest over a four-year period with 25% vesting on the first anniversary of the grant date and the remainder vesting 
in equal annual installments thereafter and expire six years from the date of the grant. All stock options granted under the 
2021 EIP automatically become fully vested and exercisable as of the effective time of a Sale Event (as defined in the 2021 
EIP). Unless otherwise determined by the POINT Board or in the case of death, disability, or ceasing to be an Eligible 
Person (as defined in the 2021 EIP), all options outstanding under the 2021 EIP shall expire on the date so fixed by the 
POINT Board, at the time the particular option is granted, provided that such date will be no later than the tenth 
anniversary of the date the option was awarded pursuant to the 2021 EIP, as applicable.

During the fiscal year 2021, we granted Ms. Jensen options to purchase 461,250 shares of our Common Stock at an 
exercise price of $8.47 per share. This grant included an option to purchase 81,250 shares of our Common Stock based 
upon the achievement of performance goals under the 2020 EIP and an option to purchase 380,000 shares of our Common 
Stock as a clinical retention incentive. The first 25% of the option will vest on July 6, 2022 and the remaining vesting 
ratably over the remaining three years. These awards are described in more detail in the “Outstanding Equity Awards at 
2021 Fiscal Year-End” table below. No stock options were granted to either Dr. McCann or Mr. Silber in fiscal year 2021.

Based on the performance under the 2021 EIP, on March 27, 2022, the compensation committee approved the 
following grants: Joe McCann was granted stock option awards with the market value of $1,776,113 (USD), Allan Silber 
was granted stock option awards with the market value of $1,546,682 (USD) and Jessica Jensen was granted stock option 
awards with the market value of $992,278 (USD), each in connection with their respective 2021 performance. The actual 
number of stock options granted will be based on the closing price of the company stock at the close of business March 29, 
2022. Since these options will be granted in March 2022, they are not included in the “Outstanding Equity Awards at 2021 
Fiscal Year-End” table below.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with each of our named executive officers, the material terms of which 
are described below.

Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D. Effective January 6, 2020, we entered into an employment agreement with Dr. McCann for 
the position of Chief Executive Officer, which provides for a base salary of $275,000 (Canadian dollars) per year (subject 
to periodic adjustment as determined by our board of directors), an annual incentive bonus of up to 25% of his base salary 
based upon our board of directors’ determination that established performance objectives have been met by both us and Dr. 
McCann, eligibility to participate in our benefits plans generally available to our other executives and eligibility to receive 
an annual performance-based allocation of stock options equivalent in shares to 20% of his salary, subject to the approval 
of our board of directors. Dr. McCann’s base salary was adjusted to $325,000 (Canadian dollars) on November 10, 2020 to 
reflect a market adjustment for similar roles in the industry. On July 6, 2021, following the consummation of the Business 
Combination, Dr. McCann's base salary was adjusted to $630,000 (Canadian dollars), his annual incentive bonus was 
adjusted with a target of 50% of his base salary and his annual performance-based allocation of stock options was adjusted 
with a target of 300% of his base salary. Dr. McCann is entitled to certain severance benefits upon a termination of his 
employment by us without “cause” (as defined in his employment agreement) equal to the greater of either (i) three (3) 
months base salary and bonus, with an additional month for each year of service after three years of employment or (ii) the 
minimum notice or pay in lieu of notice and severance pay, if applicable, that is expressly required by applicable 
employment standards legislation, plus, in the case of either (i) or (ii), continued participation in company-sponsored 
benefits for the minimum period expressly required by applicable employment standards legislation. Additionally, Dr. 
McCann is entitled to certain benefits upon a termination of his employment by us without “cause” within 30 days prior to 
or 12 months after a “change of control” (as defined in his employment agreement), equal to the greater of either (i) six (6) 
months base salary and bonus, with an additional month for each year of service after three years of employment or (ii) the 
minimum notice or pay in lieu of notice and severance pay, if applicable, that is expressly required by applicable 
employment standards legislation, plus, in the case of either (i) or (ii), continued participation in company-sponsored 
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benefits for the minimum period expressly required by applicable employment standards legislation. In addition, any 
unvested stock options granted to Dr. McCann will vest and be exercisable upon a change in control. In connection with 
the Business Combination, in March 2021, POINT and Dr. McCann entered into an amendment to his employment 
agreement related to his non-compete obligations during its term and for six months thereafter and non-solicit obligations 
for 18 months thereafter.

Jessica Jensen Effective August 17, 2020, we entered into an employment agreement with Ms. Jensen for the position 
of Executive Vice President Clinical Development, which provides for a base salary of $325,000 per year (subject to 
periodic adjustment as determined by our board of directors), an annual incentive bonus of up to 25% of her base salary 
based upon the board of directors' determination that established performance objectives have been met by both us and Ms. 
Jensen, eligibility to participate in our benefits plans generally available to our other executives, and eligibility to receive 
additional grants of stock options equivalent in shares to 20% of her salary, subject to the approval of our board of 
directors. For the 2020 calendar year only, and subject to the achievement of established performance objectives, Ms. 
Jensen was entitled to receive additional grants of stock options equivalent in shares to 25% of her 2020 base salary and 
was eligible to receive her annual bonus, if earned, as if she were employed as of January 1, 2020. Pursuant to her 
employment agreement, Ms. Jensen received a signing bonus of $60,000, which was paid on December 31, 2020, and was 
granted an option to purchase 125,553 shares of Common Stock which fully vested on September 17, 2020. Ms. Jensen is 
entitled to certain severance benefits upon a termination of her employment by us without “cause” (as defined in her 
employment agreement) or her resignation with “good reason” (as defined in her employment agreement), subject to her 
execution and delivery of a release of claims in favor of POINT in the form satisfactory to us, in the form of (i) a lump sum 
cash payment equal to 25% of her then current base pay plus 25% of the prior year’s annual bonus, if any; and (ii) so long 
as Ms. Jensen has been employed by us for three consecutive years, an additional lump sum cash payment equal to one-
twelfth of her then current salary multiplied by the number of full years of employment. Additionally, Ms. Jensen is 
entitled to certain benefits upon a termination of her employment by us without “cause” (as defined in her employment 
agreement) within 30 days prior to or within 12 months after a “change of control” (as defined in her employment 
agreement), subject to her execution and delivery of a release of claims in favor of POINT in the form satisfactory to us, in 
the form of (i) a lump sum cash payment equal to 50% of her then current salary plus 50% of the prior year’s annual bonus, 
if any and (ii) so long as Ms. Jensen has been employed by us for three consecutive years, an additional lump sum cash 
payment equal to one-twelfth of her then current salary multiplied by the number of full years of employment. In addition, 
any unvested stock options granted to Ms. Jensen will vest and be exercisable upon a change in control. Ms. Jensen’s 
employment agreement also contains non-compete obligations within the United States during its term and for six months 
thereafter and non-solicit obligations for 18 months thereafter.

Allan Silber Effective January 6, 2020, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Silber for the position of 
Executive Chairman, which provides for a base salary of $275,000 (Canadian dollars) per year (subject to periodic 
adjustment as determined by our board of directors), an annual incentive bonus of up to 25% of his base salary based upon 
our board of directors’ determination that established performance objectives have been met by both us and Mr. Silber, 
eligibility to participate in our benefits plans generally available to our other executives and eligibility to receive an annual 
performance-based allocation of stock options equivalent in shares to 20% of his salary, subject to the approval of our 
board of directors. Mr. Silber’s base salary was adjusted to $325,000 (Canadian dollars) on November 10, 2020 to reflect a 
market adjustment for similar roles in the industry. On July 6, 2021, following the consummation of the Business 
Combination, Mr. Silber's base salary was adjusted to $570,000 (Canadian dollars), his annual incentive bonus was 
adjusted with a target of 50% of his base salary and his annual performance-based allocation of stock options was adjusted 
with a target of 300% of his base salary. Mr. Silber is entitled to certain severance benefits upon a termination of his 
employment by us without “cause” (as defined in his employment agreement) equal to the greater of either (i) three months 
base salary and bonus, with an additional month for each year of service after three years of employment or (ii) the 
minimum notice or pay in lieu of notice and severance pay, if applicable, that is expressly required by applicable 
employment standards legislation, plus, in the case of either (i) or (ii), continued participation in company-sponsored 
benefits for the minimum period expressly required by applicable employment standards legislation. Additionally, Mr. 
Silber is entitled to certain benefits upon a termination of his employment by us without “cause” within 30 days prior to or 
12 months after a “change of control” (as defined in his employment agreement), equal to the greater of either (i) six 
months base salary and bonus, with an additional month for each year of service after three years of employment or (ii) the 
minimum notice or pay in lieu of notice and severance pay, if applicable, that is expressly required by applicable 
employment standards legislation, plus, in the case of either (i) or (ii), continued participation in company-sponsored 
benefits for the minimum period expressly required by applicable employment standards legislation. In addition, any 
unvested stock options granted to Mr. Silber will vest and be exercisable upon a change in control. In connection with the 
Business Combination, in March 2021, POINT and Mr. Silber entered into an amendment to his employment agreement 
related to his non-compete obligations during its term and for six months thereafter and non-solicit obligations for 18 
months thereafter.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2021 Fiscal Year-End
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The following table sets forth information concerning outstanding equity awards held by each of our named executive 
officers as of December 31, 2021. The table reflects both vested and unvested option awards. The options were granted 
pursuant to the 2021 EIP or the 2020 EIP or as special grants and are subject to time-based vesting. Each of the equity 
awards granted prior to the Business Combination was adjusted to reflect the conversion ratio in the Business Combination.

Option Awards

Name 

Number of Securities 
Underlying 

Unexercised Options 
(#) Exercisable

Number of Securities 
Underlying 

Unexercised Options 
(#) Unexercisable

Option 
Exercise 

Price 
($)

Option 
Expiration

Date

Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D.  —  —  —  — 
Jessica Jensen  125,553 (1)  —  6.97 7/19/2026
Jessica Jensen  —  461,250 (2)  8.47 7/5/2027
Allan Silber  1,696 (3)  5,091 (3)  1.39 3/24/2026

(1) On September 17, 2020, Ms. Jensen’s options to purchase 125,553 shares of our Common Stock fully vested.

(2) These stock options vest as to 25% of the shares subject to the option on the first anniversary of the date of grant (July 
6, 2022) with the remaining 75% vesting in three equal annual installments thereafter, conditioned upon Ms. Jensen’s 
continued employment with POINT through such time.

(3) These stock options, which were granted on March 25, 2020, vested as to 25% of the shares subject to the option on 
March 18, 2021 with the remaining 75% vesting in three equal annual installments thereafter.

Equity Compensation Plans

POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

At the special meeting of RACA stockholders held on June 29, 2021, RACA stockholders considered and approved 
the POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 EIP”). The 2021 EIP replaced the 2020 EIP and 
allows POINT to grant equity and equity-based incentive awards to officers, employees, non-employee directors and 
consultants. The 2021 EIP is intended to provide such persons with a direct stake in POINT to assure a closer alignment of 
the interests of such individuals with those of POINT and its stockholders, thereby stimulating their efforts on POINT’s 
behalf and strengthening their desire to remain with POINT.

We initially reserved 7,438,527 shares of Common Stock for the issuance of awards under the 2021 EIP (the “Initial 
Limit”). In addition, the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued under the 2021 EIP pursuant to 
incentive stock options is 7,438,527 shares. The 2021 EIP provides that the number of shares reserved and available for 
issuance under the 2021 EIP will automatically increase each January 1, beginning on January 1, 2022, by 4.0% of the 
outstanding number of shares of Common Stock on the immediately preceding December 31, or such lesser amount as 
determined by the POINT Board (the “Annual Increase”). As a result, on January 1, 2022, the 2021 EIP reserved amount 
was increased by 3,604,871. This limit is subject to adjustment in the event of a reorganization, recapitalization, 
reclassification, stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split or other similar change in POINT’s capitalization. 

As of December 31, 2021, options to purchase 1,203,459 shares of Common Stock were outstanding under the 2021 
EIP.

POINT Biopharma Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan

In March 2020, POINT Biopharma Inc.’s board of directors approved the POINT Biopharma Inc. 2020 Equity 
Incentive Plan (the “2020 EIP”). The 2020 EIP provided for the granting of incentive and non-qualified stock options, 
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other share-based awards to our employees, directors 
and consultants.

 
In connection with the Business Combination, the outstanding equity awards under the 2020 EIP were assumed by 

POINT and each outstanding option to acquire POINT Biopharma Inc.’s common stock (whether vested or unvested) under 
the 2020 EIP was converted into a substantially equivalent option based on the conversion ratio of the POINT Biopharma 
Inc. common stock in the Business Combination and remains outstanding under the 2020 EIP. As a result, as of December 
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31, 2021, options to purchase 2,622,292 were outstanding under the 2020 EIP. No further grants will be made under the 
2020 EIP.

Indemnification Agreements

As of the Closing Date, POINT entered into indemnification agreements with each of its directors and executive 
officers. Each indemnification agreement provides for indemnification and advancements by POINT of certain expenses 
and costs relating to claims, suits or proceedings arising from his or her service to POINT or, at our request, service to 
other entities, as officers or directors to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law.

401(k) Plan

During the fiscal year 2021, we maintained a retirement plan, which is qualified under section 401(k) of the Internal 
Revenue Code for its U.S. employees. The plan allowed eligible employees to defer, at the employee’s discretion, pretax 
compensation up to the IRS annual limits. Employees are immediately and fully vested in their contributions. We matched 
contributions up to 50% of the first 4% of the eligible employee’s compensation or the maximum amount permitted by law. 
Our 401(k) plan is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code with our 401(k) plan’s related trust intended 
to be tax exempt under Section 501(a) of the Code. 

Director Compensation 

Dr. McCann, Mr. Silber and Dr. Fleshner, our Chief Executive Officer, Executive Chairman and Chief Medical 
Officer, did not receive any compensation from us for their services on the board of directors during the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2021. Dr. McCann’s and Mr. Silber’s compensation during the fiscal year 2021, for their service as Chief 
Executive Officer and Executive Chairman, respectively, is set forth above in “Executive Compensation—2021 Summary 
Compensation Table.” In addition, Dr. Fleshner has a consulting agreement with us regarding his position as our Chief 
Medical Officer. Below is a description of Dr. Fleshner’s agreement with us.

Effective February 22, 2021, we entered into a consulting agreement with Dr. Fleshner, one of our directors, pursuant 
to which Dr. Fleshner provided consulting services as our Chief Medical Officer until December 31, 2021. Effective 
January 1, 2022, we renewed the consulting agreement through December 31, 2022. For 2021, the consulting agreement 
provides for an annual fee equal to $125,000 (Canadian dollars), which increased to $263,800 (Canadian dollars) effective 
July 6, 2021, and eligibility to receive (i) an annual bonus of up to 40% of his annual fees based upon our board of 
directors’ determination that established performance objectives have been met by both us and Dr. Fleshner and (ii) an 
annual performance-based allocation of stock options equivalent in shares to 20% of his annual fee, subject to the approval 
of our board of directors. For 2022, the consulting agreement provides for an annual fee equal to $213,000 (Canadian 
dollars). The consulting agreement also provides that during the term of the agreement and for twelve months thereafter, 
Dr. Fleshner will not (i) encourage or solicit any of our employees to leave POINT for any reason or to accept employment 
with Dr. Fleshner or any other entity and (ii) interfere with or attempt to impair the relationship with us and any of our non-
employee consultants and advisors or attempt, directly or indirectly, to solicit, entice, hire or otherwise by inducing any of 
our non-employee consultants or advisors to terminate association with POINT. Pursuant to the consulting agreement, 
during 2021, Dr. Fleshner was paid $286,086 (Canadian dollars) and received an option to purchase 25,000 shares of 
Common Stock with an exercise price of $8.47 per share. These option shares vest 25% on July 6, 2022, provided service 
continues under the consulting agreement. The remaining 75% of the option shares shall vest in three equal annual 
installments thereafter, conditioned upon the same. In addition, based on the performance under the 2021 EIP, on March 7, 
2022, the compensation committee approved the grant of stock option awards with a market value of $280,210 (USD). The 
actual number of stock options granted will be based on the closing price of the company stock on March 29, 2022. Since 
these options will be granted in March 2022, they are not included in the “Director Compensation” table below

For the fiscal year 2021, prior to the Business Combination, our non-employee director compensation policy provided 
that each non-employee director was eligible to receive annual cash retainers as follows:

• $12,000 (Canadian dollars) for service as a director;
• $2,200 (Canadian dollars) additional annual cash retainer to any director serving as a member of the Governance 

Committee or the Compensation Committee and $3,750 (Canadian dollars) for serving as a member of the Audit 
Committee; and

• $2,700 (Canadian dollars) additional annual cash retainer to any director serving as the chair of the Governance 
Committee or the Compensation Committee and $4,500 (Canadian dollars) for serving as the chair of the Audit 
Committee.
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Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy

Pursuant to the current Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy as adopted by our board of directors to be 
effective as of the consummation of the Business Combination, each director who is not an employee of POINT will be 
paid the following cash compensation for serving on our board of directors and on the board committees, with such 
compensation to be paid on a quarterly basis in arrears:

Annual 
Retainer

Board of Directors $ 40,000
Lead Director $ 20,000
Audit Committee Chair $ 7,500
Audit Committee Member $ 7,500
Compensation Committee Chair $ 5,000
Compensation Committee Member $ 5,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Chair $ 5,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Chair $ 5,000

In addition, as a result of the Business Combination, on July 6, 2021, each director other than Dr. McCann, Mr. Silber 
and Dr. Fleshner, was granted an option to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $8.47 per 
share. These option shares vest 25% on the first anniversary of the grant date, with the remaining 75% vesting in three 
equal annual installments thereafter, subject to the director's continued service on our board of directors through such time. 
On the date of each annual meeting of stockholders of POINT, each director, other than Dr. McCann, Mr. Silber, and Dr. 
Fleshner, will be granted an annual stock option award to purchase shares of Common Stock having a value of $125,000 
(USD), calculated by dividing such amount by the Black-Scholes Value as of the date of grant. Each stock option granted 
to the directors will have a term of six years from the date of grant and will have a per-share exercise price equal to the 
closing price of the Common Stock on such grant date.

2021 Director Compensation Table

The following table presents the total compensation for each person, other than Dr. McCann and Mr. Silber, who 
served as a member of our board of directors during fiscal year 2021.

Name

Fees Earned or 
Paid in Cash

($)
Stock Awards

($)
Option Awards

($)(3)

All Other 
Compensation

($)
Total

($)

Dr. Neil Fleshner(1)  —  —  117,425  227,504  344,929 
Margaret E. Gilmour(2)  41,153  —  117,425  —  158,578 
Jonathan Ross Goodman(2)  41,421  —  117,425  —  158,846 
Gerald Hogue(2)  37,580  —  117,425  —  155,005 
David C. Lubner  23,750  —  117,425  —  141,175 
Dr. Yael Margolin  22,500  —  117,425  —  139,925 
Dr. Rajesh K. Malik  22,500  —  117,425  —  139,925 

(1) Dr. Fleshner is our Chief Medical Officer and was paid this aggregate amount pursuant to his consulting 
agreement in fiscal year 2021. Those fees were paid in Canadian dollars and were converted to U.S. dollars for 
purposes of the table using an exchange rate of 1.00 U.S. dollar to approximately 1.26 Canadian dollars, which 
was the Bank of Canada foreign exchange rate on December 31, 2021.

(2) The fees for the first two quarters of 2021 were paid to POINT Biopharma Inc.’s directors prior to the Business 
Combination and were paid in Canadian dollars. Those fees were as follows: Ms Gilmour -$14,025 (Canadian 
dollars); Mr. Goodman - $13,838 (Canadian dollars); and Mr. Hogue - $12,675 (Canadian dollars). The fees for 
the first two quarters of 2021 were converted to U.S. dollars for purposes of the table using an exchange rate of 
1.00 U.S. dollar to approximately 1.26 Canadian dollars, which was the Bank of Canada foreign exchange rate on 
December 31, 2021. All other fees were paid in U.S. dollars.

(3) On July 6, 2021, each of these directors was granted an option to purchase 25,000 shares of our Common Stock 
with an exercise price of $8.47 per share as described above.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of Common Stock as of March 21, 2022 
for each of our named executive officers, directors, all executive officers and directors as a group and each person known 
by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock.

Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the SEC, which generally provide that a person has 
beneficial ownership of a security if he, she or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power over that security. 
Under those rules, beneficial ownership includes securities that the individual or entity has the right to acquire, such as 
through the exercise of stock options, within 60 days. Shares subject to options that are currently exercisable or exercisable 
within 60 days of March 21, 2022 are considered outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding such options 
for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of 
computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, POINT believes that the persons and 
entities named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially 
owned by them. Unless otherwise noted, the business address of each of the directors and executive officers of POINT is 
4850 West 78th Street, Indianapolis, IN 46268. The percentage of beneficial ownership of POINT is calculated based on 
90,122,472 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of March 21, 2022.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Number of Shares %

Directors and Named Executive Officers:
Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D.  3,614,153  4.0 
Allan C. Silber(1)  9,181,368  10.2 
Dr. Neil Fleshner, M.D.(2)  3,820,778  4.2 
Dr. Rajesh K. Malik, M.D.  — *
Jonathan Ross Goodman(3)  44,840 *
Margaret E. Gilmour(4)  8,968 *
Dr. Yael Margolin, Ph.D.  — *
Gerald Hogue  8,968 *
David C. Lubner  35,400 *
Jessica Jensen (5)  125,553 *
All Directors and Executive Officers as a group (12 individuals)(6)  16,884,868  18.7 
5% Shareholders
RA Capital Management, L.P.(7)  8,856,018  9.8 

* Less than one percent.

(1) Includes 3,393 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of March 21, 
2022. Also includes (i) 313,884 shares of Common Stock held by Mr. Silber’s spouse; (ii) 538,087 shares of Common 
Stock held by Allan Silber in Trust, of which Mr. Silber is the trustee; (iii) 4,035,655 shares of Common Stock held by 
Silber Holdings, Inc., a company of which Mr. Silber is the President; and (iiv) 71,744 shares of Common Stock held 
by Anglian Holdings, LLC, of which Mr. Silber is the sole member and manager. Mr. Silber has sole voting and 
dispositive power over the shares held by Allan Silber in Trust, Silber Holdings, Inc. and Anglian Holdings, LLC.

(2) Includes (i) 233,171 shares of Common Stock held by 1510789 Ontario Inc., a company owned by Dr. Fleshner; and 
(ii) 358 shares of Common Stock held by Patricia North in Trust, a trust controlled by Dr. Fleshner’s wife. Dr. 
Fleshner has sole voting and dispositive power of the shares held by 1510789 Ontario Inc.

(3) Includes 8,968 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of March 21, 
2022. Also includes 35,872 shares of Common Stock held by Long Zone Holdings, Inc., a company owned by Mr. 
Goodman’s family. Mr. Goodman has sole voting and dispositive power over such shares.

(4) Includes 8,968 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of March 21, 
2022.

(5) Includes 125,553 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of March 
21, 2022.

(6) Includes 207,416 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of March 
21, 2022.

(7) Based solely on Schedule 13G filed by RA Capital Management, L.P. (“RA Capital”), Peter Kolchinsky, and Rajeev 
Shah, on July 20, 2021. The RA Capital Healthcare Fund, L.P. (the “Fund”) holds 4,098,318 shares of Common Stock. 
RA Capital Nexus Fund, L.P. (the “Nexus Fund”) holds 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock. Therapeutics Acquisition 
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Holdings LLC (the “Holding Company”) holds 3,757,700 shares of Common Stock. The sole members of the Holding 
Company are the Fund, the Nexus Fund, and a Separately Managed Account (the “Account”). RA Capital Healthcare 
Fund GP, LLC is the general partner of the Fund and RA Capital Nexus Fund GP, LLC is the general partner of the 
Nexus Fund. The general partner of RA Capital is RA Capital Management GP, LLC, of which Dr. Kolchinsky and 
Mr. Shah are the controlling persons. RA Capital serves as investment adviser for the Fund, the Account, and the 
Nexus Fund, and may be deemed a beneficial owner, for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Act, of any securities of 
POINT held by the Fund, the Account, or the Nexus Fund, and any securities held by the Holding Company. The 
Fund, the Nexus Fund and the Account have delegated to RA Capital the sole power to vote and the sole power to 
dispose of all securities held in the their respective portfolios, including the shares of the Issuer’s Common Stock 
reported herein. Because the Fund, the Nexus Fund and the Account have divested themselves of voting and 
investment power over the reported securities and may not revoke that delegation on less than 61 days’ notice, and 
because the Holding Company’s sole members are the Fund, the Nexus Fund, and the Account, the Fund, the Nexus 
Fund, the Account and the Holding Company disclaim beneficial ownership of the reported securities for purposes of 
Section 13(d) of the Act and therefore disclaim any obligation to report ownership of the reported securities under 
Section 13(d) of the Act. As managers of RA Capital, Dr. Kolchinsky and Mr. Shah may be deemed beneficial owners, 
for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Act, of any securities of POINT beneficially owned by RA Capital. RA Capital, 
Dr. Kolchinsky, and Mr. Shah disclaim beneficial ownership of these securities other than for the purpose of 
determining their obligations under Section 13(d) of the Act, and the filing of the Statement shall not be deemed an 
admission that either RA Capital, Dr. Kolchinsky, or Mr. Shah is the beneficial owner of such securities for any other 
purpose. The address of RA Capital Management L.P. is 200 Berkeley Street, 18th Floor, Boston MA 02116.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions 

Amended and Restated Registration and Stockholder Rights Agreement

In connection with the Business Combination, POINT, Therapeutics Acquisition Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company (“Sponsor”), certain former directors of RACA (the “Director Holders”) and certain former stockholders 
of POINT Biopharma Inc. (the “POINT Holders” and, collectively with Sponsor and the Director Holders, the “Holders”) 
entered into an Amended and Restated Registration and Stockholder Rights Agreement (the “Registration Rights 
Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things, the Holders agreed not to effect any sale or distribution of any equity 
securities of POINT held by any of them during the 180-day lock-up period described therein and POINT agreed to register 
for resale, pursuant to Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), certain shares of Common 
Stock and other equity securities of POINT that are held by the parties thereto from time to time.

In particular, the Registration Rights Agreement provides for the following registration rights:

Shelf registration rights. As soon as practicable but no later than 30 calendar days following the Closing Date, POINT 
is required to file a shelf registration statement pursuant to Rule 415 of the Securities Act covering resale of all the 
Holders’ registrable securities on a delayed or continuous basis and use commercially reasonable efforts to have such 
shelf registration statement declared effective as soon as practicable after the filing thereof. POINT filed a shelf 
registration statement on Form S-1 corresponding to this requirement on July 30, 2021. At any time POINT has an 
effective shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, Sponsor and any POINT Holder may make a written 
request to effect a public offering, including pursuant to an underwritten shelf takedown, to sell all or any portion of 
their registrable securities; provided that POINT is only obligated to effect any such underwritten shelf takedown if 
the total offering price for the registrable securities to be sold is reasonably expected to exceed, in the aggregate, at 
least $20 million, and POINT is not required to effect more than one underwritten shelf takedown in any six-month 
period.

Piggyback registration rights. At any time after the Closing Date, if POINT or any Holder proposes to conduct a 
registered offering of, or if POINT proposes to file a registration statement under the Securities Act to register, equity 
securities, or securities or other obligations exercisable or exchangeable for, or convertible into equity securities, for 
its own account or for the account of any stockholders of POINT, subject to certain exceptions, the Holders are 
entitled to include their registrable securities in such registration statement.

Expenses and indemnification. All fees, costs and expenses of underwritten registrations will be borne by POINT and 
incremental selling expenses, including underwriting discounts and selling commissions, brokerage fees, underwriting 
marketing costs and, subject to certain exceptions, all fees and expenses of legal counsel, will be borne by the Holders 
of the registrable securities being registered. The Registration Rights Agreement contains cross-indemnification 
provisions under which POINT is obligated to indemnify Holders of registrable securities in the event of any untrue or 
alleged untrue statement of material fact in any registration statement or prospectus covering registrable securities 
pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement or any omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be 
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, except to the extent such untrue statement or 
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omission was furnished in writing by such Holder, and Holders of registrable securities are obligated to indemnify 
POINT for any such untrue or alleged untrue statements of material fact or any such omissions or alleged omissions of 
material fact to the extent such untrue statement is contained in or such omission is not contained in any information 
or affidavit furnished in writing by or on behalf of such Holder.

Registrable securities. Securities shall cease to be registrable securities under the Registration Rights Agreement upon 
the earliest to occur of:

• a registration statement with respect to the sale of such securities shall have become effective under the Securities 
Act and such securities shall have been disposed of in accordance with such registration statement;

• such securities have otherwise been transferred and new certificates for such securities not bearing a legend 
restricting further transfer has been delivered to POINT and subsequent public distribution of such securities shall 
not require registration under the Securities Act;

• such securities have ceased to be outstanding;

• such securities have been sold without registration pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act, Section 4(a)(1) 
of the Securities Act or Rule 145 under the Securities Act; and

• such securities have been sold to or through a broker, dealer or underwriter in a public distribution or other public 
securities transaction.

Lock-up. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Holder may not transfer any shares of Common Stock or any other 
equity securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock held by the Holders 
immediately following the Closing or any shares of Common Stock issued with respect to equity awards on or after 
the Closing as permitted under the Registration Rights Agreement for 180 days following the date of the Business 
Combination, or December 28, 2021, subject to certain customary exceptions and for transfers to certain permitted 
transferees.

The foregoing description of the Registration Rights Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its 
entirety by the full text of the Registration Rights Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 10.2 and is incorporated herein by 
reference.

Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions — RACA

On April 30, 2020, RACA issued 2,875,000 shares (the “Founder Shares”) of RACA’s Class B Common Stock, to 
Sponsor in exchange for a capital contribution of $25,000, or approximately $0.01 per share. In June 2020, Sponsor 
transferred 30,000 Founder Shares to each of Daniel S. Grau, David C. Lubner and Michael P. Gray. On July 8, 2020, 
RACA effected a 1:1.18 stock split of its Class B Common Stock, resulting in Sponsor holding an aggregate of 3,286,300 
Founder Shares and there being an aggregate of 3,392,500 Founder Shares outstanding. The number of Founder Shares 
issued was determined based on the expectation that such Founder Shares would represent 20% of the outstanding shares 
upon completion of the initial public offering (excluding the private placement shares).

Sponsor purchased, pursuant to a written agreement, 471,400 shares of RACA’s Class A Common Stock, in a private 
placement, at a price of $10.00 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $4.7 million. The private placement shares are 
identical to the shares of Class A Common Stock sold in the initial public offering, subject to certain limited exceptions.

Sponsor and RACA’s executive officers and directors were reimbursed for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in 
connection with activities on RACA’s behalf in connection with the completion of an initial business combination, such as 
identifying potential target businesses and performing due diligence on suitable business combinations. RACA’s audit 
committee reviewed on a quarterly basis all payments that were made to the Sponsor, officers, directors or its or their 
affiliates.

On April 30, 2020, the Sponsor agreed to loan RACA an aggregate of up to $300,000 to cover expenses related to the 
Initial Public Offering pursuant to a promissory note (the “Note”). In May 2020, RACA borrowed $275,000 under the 
Note. The loan was non-interest bearing, unsecured and was due at the earlier of the closing of the initial public offering or 
the date upon which it was determined not to conduct an initial public offering. The loan was fully repaid by RACA in July 
2020.

In connection with the Business Combination, as part of the PIPE Financing, affiliates of Sponsor entered into the 
Subscription Agreements to purchase an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at a purchase price of 
$10 per share.
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Concurrently with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, the Sponsor, certain affiliates of the 
Sponsor and POINT Biopharma Inc. entered into the Sponsor Letter Agreement, pursuant to which the such affiliates of the 
Sponsor agreed to, among other things, (i) vote in favor of the Business Combination Agreement and the transactions 
contemplated thereby (including the Business Combination), (ii) waive any adjustment to the conversion ratio set forth in 
the governing documents of RACA or any other anti-dilution or similar protection with respect to the shares of Class B 
Common Stock (whether resulting from the transactions contemplated by the Subscription Agreements or otherwise), (iii) 
be bound by certain other covenants and agreements related to the Business Combination and (iv) be bound by certain 
transfer restrictions with respect to his, her or its shares in RACA prior to the closing of the Business Combination, in each 
case, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Sponsor Letter Agreement.

Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions — POINT Biopharma Inc.

Other than the compensation agreements and other arrangements described under the sections entitled “Executive 
Compensation” and “Director Compensation” in this Form 10-K and the transactions described below, since its Inception 
in September 2019 to which POINT Biopharma Inc. was a party, in which:

• the amount involved exceeded or will exceed the lesser of (1) $120,000, or (2) 1% of the average of POINT 
Biopharma Inc.’s total assets at year end for the last two completed fiscal years; and

• any of POINT Biopharma Inc.’s directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of any class of POINT 
Biopharma Inc.’s capital stock, or any member of the immediate family of, or person sharing the household with, 
the foregoing persons, had a direct or indirect material interest.

POINT Founders Shares and Private Placements

During the year ended December 31, 2020, POINT Biopharma Inc. issued 13,375,384 common shares at $0.01 per 
share raising $133,754 (the “POINT Founders Round”). From March 2020 through May 2020, POINT Biopharma Inc. 
issued 1,058,500 common shares at $5.00 per share, raising $5,292,500 (the “Seed Round”). From June 2020 through 
August 2020, POINT Biopharma Inc. issued 800,000 common shares at $25.00 per share, raising $20 million, as part of the 
POINT Biopharma Inc. Series A private placement financing. In connection with the POINT Biopharma Inc. Series A 
private placement financing, POINT Biopharma Inc. issued 800,000 share warrants to Western Capital Group, LLC 
allowing the warrant holder to acquire an additional 800,000 common stock of POINT Biopharma Inc. with a par value of 
$0.001 per share at an exercise price of $25.00 per share. On January 28, 2021, the Western Capital Group, LLC exercised 
the warrants and POINT Biopharma Inc. received cash proceeds of $20 million. All outstanding shares of capital stock of 
POINT Biopharma Inc. were converted into a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the conversion ratio upon the 
completion of the Business Combination.

The table below sets forth the number of common shares purchased by POINT Biopharma Inc.’s related parties:

Stockholder 

Shares of 
Common 

Stock of POINT 
Biopharma Inc.

Total Cash 
Purchase 

Price

Allan C. Silber(1)  4,170,370  1,835,875 
Ariel Shomair(2)  275,000  1,000,750 
Dr. Neil Fleshner(3)  1,375,100  138,501 
Jonathan Ross Goodman(4)  10,000  250,000 
Michael Gottlieb(5)  322,500  115,500 
Western Capital Group, LLC(6)  1,000,000  25,000,000 

(1) Mr. Silber, Executive Chairman of POINT Biopharma Inc. and Executive Chair and director of POINT, purchased 
1,000,000 common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $10,000. Allan Silber in Trust, a beneficial owner of more 
than 5% of POINT Biopharma Inc.’s capital stock, purchased (i) 150,000 common shares in the POINT Founder 
Round for $1,500, (ii) 232,500 common shares in the Seed Round for $1,162,500, and (iii) 5,370 common shares in 
the POINT Biopharma Inc. Series A private placement for $134,250. Mr. Silber is the trustee of the Allan Silber in 
Trust. Silber Holdings Inc. purchased 1,125,000 common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $11,250. Mr. Silber 
is the President of Silber Holdings Inc. Anglian Holdings, LLC purchased 20,000 common shares in the POINT 
Biopharma Inc. Series A private placement for $500,000. Mr. Silber is the sole member and manager of Anglian 
Holdings, LLC. David Silber, Hinda Silber, Jay Silber and Leah Silber, immediate family members of Mr. Silber, 
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purchased a total of 1,637,500 common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $16,375. Mr. Silber has no voting or 
dispositive power over the shares held by David Silber, Hinda Silber, Jay Silber and Leah Silber and disclaims 
beneficial ownership of all such shares.

(2) Ariel Shomair, Vice President of Corporate Affairs & Strategy of POINT Biopharma Inc. and Chief of Staff of 
POINT, purchased (i) 75,000 common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $750 and (ii) 140,000 common shares 
in the Seed Round for $700,000. Nicole Shomair and Michael Shiman and Benjamin Shomair, immediate family 
members of Mr. Shomair, purchased a total of 60,000 common shares in the Seed Round for $300,000.

(3) Dr. Fleshner, a director and Chief Medical Officer of POINT Biopharma Inc. and of POINT, purchased 1,000,000 
common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $10,000. 15108789 Ontario Inc., a company owned by Dr. Fleshner, 
purchased (i) 50,000 common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $500 and (ii) 15,000 common shares in the 
Seed Round for $75,000. The Fleshner Family Trust, a trust controlled by Dr. Fleshner’s brother, purchased (i) 
100,000 common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $1,000 and (ii) 10,000 common shares in the Seed Round 
for $50,000. 6093353 Ontario Inc., Dr. Fleshner’s brother-in-law’s company, purchased 100,000 common shares in the 
POINT Founder Round for $1,000. Patricia North in Trust, a trust controlled by Dr. Fleshner’s wife’s purchased 100 
common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $1.00. Eleanore Rosenstein, Carole Rosenstein, immediate family 
members of Dr. Fleshner, purchased a total of 100,000 common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $1,000. Dr. 
Fleshner has no voting or dispositive power over the shares held by The Fleshner Family Trust, 6093353 Ontario Inc., 
Patricia North in Trust, Eleanore Rosenstein and Carole Rosenstein and disclaims beneficial ownership of all such 
shares.

(4) Jonathan Goodman was a director of POINT Biopharma Inc. and is a director of POINT. Long Zone Holdings Inc., a 
company owned by Jonathan Goodman’s family, purchased 10,000 common shares in the POINT Biopharma Inc. 
Series A private placement for $250,000.

(5) Michael Gottlieb, former Chief Commercial Officer of POINT Biopharma Inc. and of POINT, purchased (i) 300,000 
common shares in the POINT Founder Round for $3,000 and (ii) 22,500 common shares in the Seed Round for 
$112,500.

(6) Western Capital Group, LLC, a beneficial owner of 5% of POINT Biopharma Inc.’s capital stock, purchased 200,000 
shares in the POINT Biopharma Inc. Series A private placement for $5,000,000 and exercised all outstanding warrants 
on January 28, 2021 to purchase 800,000 common shares for $20,000,000.

Stockholders Agreement and Right of First Refusal

POINT Biopharma Inc. entered into a stockholders agreement dated March 25, 2020 with Dr. Fleshner, Mr. Glase, Dr. 
McCann and Mr. Silber (“POINT Founders and Key Holders”). The stockholders agreement contained agreements among 
the parties with respect to, among other things, board nominations rights, drag-along rights and restrictions on transfer of 
shares. The stockholders agreement terminated upon the consummation of the Business Combination. POINT Biopharma 
Inc. also entered into a Right of First Refusal Agreement dated March 25, 2020, with the POINT Founders and Key 
Holders. The Right of First Refusal Agreement provided, among other things, a right of first refusal to POINT Biopharma 
Inc., a secondary refusal right to the Key Holders, and a right of co-sale, in respect of proposed transfers of POINT 
Biopharma Inc.’s common shares. The Right of First Refusal Agreement terminated upon the consummation of the 
Business Combination.

Allan Silber’s Guarantee of the Mortgage Loan on the Indianapolis Facility

On July 10, 2020, West 78th Street, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of POINT Biopharma Inc. and a wholly-owned 
indirect subsidiary of POINT, entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with CIBC Bank USA pursuant to which it 
obtained a mortgage loan in the amount of $3,562,500 (the “Mortgage Loan”) for the purpose of purchasing land and a 
77,000 square-foot building located in Indianapolis, Indiana. The Mortgage Loan was guaranteed by Mr. Silber, Executive 
Chairman of POINT and, following the Closing, Executive Chair of POINT. The Mortgage Loan bore interest at 2.85% 
plus a minimum rate of 1-month LIBOR, subject to a LIBOR floor of 0.25%. The Mortgage Loan required quarterly 
interest payments, which commenced on October 1, 2020, with the principal amount due at maturity on January 10, 2022. 
On July 29, 2021, the Mortgage Loan was repaid in full and the related mortgage on the facility in Indianapolis, Indiana 
and Mr. Silber’s personal guarantee were released.

Policies and Procedures for Related Person Transactions
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POINT’s written related person transaction policy sets forth the following policies and procedures for the review and 
approval or ratification of related person transactions.

A “Related Person Transaction” is a transaction, arrangement or relationship in which POINT or any of its 
subsidiaries was, is or will be a participant, the amount of which involved exceeds $120,000, and in which any related 
person had, has or will have a direct or indirect material interest. A “Related Person” means:

• any person who is, or at any time during the applicable period was, one of POINT’s officers or one of POINT’s 
directors;

• any person who is known by POINT to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent (5%) of its voting stock;

• any immediate family member of any of the foregoing persons, which means any child, stepchild, parent, 
stepparent, spouse, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law or sister-in-law of a 
director, officer or a beneficial owner of more than five percent (5%) of its voting stock, and any person (other 
than a tenant or employee) sharing the household of such director, officer or beneficial owner of more than five 
percent (5%) of its voting stock; and

• any firm, corporation or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons is a partner or principal or in a similar 
position or in which such person has a ten percent (10%) or greater beneficial ownership interest.

POINT has policies and procedures designed to minimize potential conflicts of interest arising from any dealings it 
may have with its affiliates and to provide appropriate procedures for the disclosure of any real or potential conflicts of 
interest that may exist from time to time. Specifically, pursuant to its charter, the audit committee has the responsibility to 
review related person transactions.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services 

Information concerning the fees and services provided by our principal accountant is incorporated herein by reference 
to our definitive proxy statement for our 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which we will file within 120 days of the 
end of the fiscal year to which this Form 10-K relates.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements

For a list of the financial statements included herein, see Index to the 2021 Financial Statements on page F-1 of this 
Annual Report, incorporated into this Item by reference.

(b) Financial Statement Schedule

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required or not applicable or the 
information is included in the 2021 Financial Statements.

(c) Exhibits

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and Item 15(b) of this Annual Report are listed in the Exhibit 
Index below. Certain of the exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index are incorporated by reference herein.
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Exhibit Index

Exhibit 
Number Description 
2.1† Business Combination Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2021, by and among Therapeutics Acquisition 

Corp., Bodhi Merger Sub 1, Inc., and Point Biopharma Inc. (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the 
Definitive Proxy Statement filed by the Company on June 9, 2021).

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of POINT Biopharma Global Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to 
the Form 8-K filed by the Company on July 1, 2021).

3.2 By-laws of POINT Biopharma Global Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Form 8-K filed 
by the Company on July 1, 2021).

4.1* Description of Securities.
10.1 Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement 

on Form S-4/A filed by the Company on June 7, 2021).
10.2† Amended and Restated Registration and Stockholder Rights Agreement, dated June 30, 2021, by and 

among Therapeutics Acquisition Holdings LLC and the stockholders party thereto (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on July 1, 2021).

10.3# POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to 
the Form 8-K filed by the Company on July 1, 2021).

10.4# Revised Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 2021 
Equity Incentive Plan (Employees) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the 
Company on December 10, 2021).

10.5# Revised Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 2021 
Equity Incentive Plan (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed by the 
Company on December 10, 2021).

10.6# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 2021 Equity 
Incentive Plan (Employees) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Form 8-K filed by the 
Company on July 1, 2021).

10.7# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 2021 Equity 
Incentive Plan (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Form 8-K filed by the 
Company on July 1, 2021).

10.8# Revised Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 2021 Equity 
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on 
December 10, 2021).

10.9# 2020 POINT Biopharma, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the 
Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed by the Company on June 7, 2021).

10.10# Employment Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2020, by and between POINT Biopharma Corp. and Allan 
Silber, as amended March 8, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registration Statement 
on Form S-4/A filed by the Company on May 3, 2021).

10.11# Employment Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2020, by and between POINT Biopharma Corp. and Joe 
McCann, as amended March 8, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registration 
Statement on Form S-4/A filed by the Company on May 3, 2021).

10.12# Employment Agreement, dated as of July 24, 2020, by and between POINT Biopharma Corp. and Bill 
Demers, as amended March 8, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registration 
Statement on Form S-4/A filed by the Company on May 3, 2021).

10.13# Employment Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2020, by and between POINT Biopharma Corp. and 
Michael Gottlieb, as amended March 8, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the 
Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed by the Company on May 3, 2021).
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Exhibit 
Number Description 
10.14# Consulting Agreement by and between POINT Biopharma Inc. and Dr. Neil Fleshner, dated February 22, 

2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by the 
Company on March 23, 2021).

10.15# Employment Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2020, by and between POINT Biopharma USA Inc. and 
Jessica Jensen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4/A 
filed by the Company on May 3, 2021).

10.16†† Exclusive License and Commercialization Agreement, dated December 16, 2020, by and between POINT 
Biopharma Inc., Canadian Molecular Probe Consortium, the Centre for Probe Development and 
Commercialization, and the University Health Network (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the 
Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed by the Company on May 3, 2021).

10.17 Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2020, by and between West 78th Street, LLC and CIBC 
Bank USA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by 
the Company on March 23, 2021).

10.18†† Supply Agreement dated July 12, 2020, by and between POINT Biopharma Corp. and the Centre for Probe 
Development and Commercialization (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registration 
Statement on Form S-4/A filed by the Company on May 3, 2021).

10.19 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Form 8-K filed by 
the Company on July 1, 2021).

10.20#* Employment Agreement effective December 1, 2021, as amended, by and between POINT Biopharma 
USA Inc. and Justyna Kelly.

10.21†† Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, dated April 2, 2020, between Bach Biosciences, LLC and POINT 
Biopharma Inc.(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
quarter ended September 30, 2021).

10.22†† First Amendment to Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, dated April 14, 2020, between Bach Biosciences, 
LLC and POINT Biopharma Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021).

10.23†† Second Amendment to Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, dated January 5, 2021 to be effective as of 
December 31, 2020, between Bach Biosciences, LLC and POINT Biopharma Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021).

10.24†† Third Amendment to Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, dated September 24, 2021, between Bach 
Biosciences, LLC and POINT Biopharma Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021).

10.25#* Consulting Agreement effective January 1, 2022 by and between POINT Biopharma Inc. and Dr. Neil 
Fleshner.

10.26††* Sublicense Agreement dated November 14, 2019 between POINT Theranostics Inc. and Scintomics 
GmbH.

16.1 Letter to SEC from WithumSmith+Brown, PC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to the Form 8-K 
filed by the Company on July 1, 2021).

21.1 List of subsidiaries of Point Biopharma Global Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Form 
8-K filed by the Company on July 1, 2021).

23.1* Consent of independent registered public accounting firm.
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
32* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 

15d-14(b).
101.INS* XBRL Instance Document 
101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 
101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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*   Filed herewith.

#   Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

†   Schedules and exhibits to this Exhibit omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(2). The Registrant agrees to 
furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request.

†† Certain confidential portions (indicated by brackets and asterisks) have been omitted from this exhibit.

(d) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted as not applicable or not required under the rules of Regulation S-X.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None. 
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

POINT BIOPHARMA GLOBAL INC.

Date: March 25, 2022 By: /s/ Bill Demers
Name: Bill Demers 
Title: Chief Financial Officer 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/Joe McCann
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive 

Officer) and Director March 25, 2022
Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D.

/s/Allan C. Silber Executive Chair and Director March 25, 2022
Allan C. Silber

/s/Bill Demers
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and 

Accounting Officer) March 25, 2022
Bill Demers

/s/ Neil Fleshner Chief Medical Officer and Director March 25, 2022
Dr. Neil Fleshner

/s/Rajesh K. Malik Director March 25, 2022
Dr. Rajesh K. Malik, M.D.

/s/ Jonathan Ross Goodman Director March 25, 2022
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/s/ Margaret E. Gilmour Director March 25, 2022
Margaret E. Gilmour

/s/ Gerald Hogue Director March 25, 2022
Gerald Hogue

/s/ David C. Lubner Director March 25, 2022
David C. Lubner

/s/Yael Margolin Director March 25, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of POINT Biopharma Global Inc.

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of POINT Biopharma Global Inc. and Subsidiaries 
(collectively the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the 
related notes (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 and the related consolidated results of its operations and cash 
flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting 
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an 
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our 
audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

/s/ ArmaninoLLP 
San Jose, California 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2021.
March 25, 2022
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POINT BIOPHARMA GLOBAL INC. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(In U.S. dollars) 

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2020

$ $

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  238,815,991  10,546,749 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,030,565  1,850,346 

Total current assets       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  243,846,556  12,397,095 
Property, plant and equipment     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19,412,086  9,797,400 

Total assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  263,258,642  22,194,495 
LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,738,470  3,596,634 
Accrued liabilities     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,990,516  1,479,041 
Income taxes payable       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  250,978  87,882 

Total current liabilities      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7,979,964  5,163,557 
Deferred tax liability       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  65,592  — 
Mortgage payable, net of debt discount     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  3,550,660 

Total liabilities   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8,045,556  8,714,217 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Stockholders' equity
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 430,000,000 authorized, 90,121,794 
and 54,647,656 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 
2020, respectively     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9,012  5,465 
Additional paid-in capital       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  314,488,782  26,857,040 
Accumulated deficit      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (59,284,708)  (13,382,227) 

Total stockholders' equity      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  255,213,086  13,480,278 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  263,258,642  22,194,495 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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POINT BIOPHARMA GLOBAL INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 

(In U.S. dollars) 

For The Year 
Ended

December 31, 
2021

For The Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

$ $

Operating expenses
Research and development      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  33,505,392  9,142,156 
General and administrative     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12,006,438  3,972,649 
Total operating expenses  45,511,830  13,114,805 
Loss from operations    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (45,511,830)  (13,114,805) 
Other expenses
Finance costs     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (11,840)  (5,354) 
Foreign currency loss     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (73,153)  (164,962) 
Total other expenses  (84,993)  (170,316) 
Loss before provision for income taxes  (45,596,823)  (13,285,121) 
Provision for income taxes      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (305,658)  (87,882) 
Net loss  (45,902,481)  (13,373,003) 
Net loss per basic and diluted common share:
Basic and diluted net loss per common share    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.62) $ (0.34) 
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  73,850,822  38,875,643 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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POINT BIOPHARMA GLOBAL INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020

(In U.S. dollars) 

For the Year 
Ended

December 31, 
2021

For the Year
 Ended 

December 31, 
2020

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss:    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (45,902,481)  (13,373,003) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Deferred income taxes      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  65,592  — 
Share-based compensation expense      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,302,607  1,760,806 
Amortization of debt issuance costs    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11,840  5,354 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Prepaid expenses and other current assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (3,180,219)  (1,849,170) 
Accounts payable    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (2,022,472)  3,596,634 
Accrued liabilities      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,790,310  1,479,041 
Income taxes payable         . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  163,096  87,882 
Amount due to related party within accrued liabilities    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  72,969  (10,400) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (44,698,758)  (8,302,856) 
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (8,802,182)  (9,797,400) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (8,802,182)  (9,797,400) 
Cash flows from financing activities

Issuance of shares of Common Stock in connection with exercise of warrants  20,000,000  — 
Issuance of shares of Common Stock in connection with stock option exercises      . . . . .  450,000  — 
Issuance of shares of Common Stock in connection with the Business Combination 
(see Note 3), net of direct and incremental costs paid    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  264,882,682  — 
Repayment of mortgage payable  (3,562,500)  — 
Costs and fees on issuance of Common Stock  —  (324,555) 
Borrowings on mortgage payable, net of debt discount      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  3,545,306 
Issuance of Common Stock and warrants to purchase Common Stock of POINT 
Biopharma Inc.    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  25,426,254 

Net cash provided by financing activities  281,770,182  28,647,005 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  228,269,242  10,546,749 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10,546,749  — 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  238,815,991  10,546,749 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Cash paid for income taxes      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (68,785)  — 
Cash paid for interest on mortgage payable       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (92,338)  (25,462) 
Non-cash investment activities:     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Purchase of property, plant and equipment recorded in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  812,504  — 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1. Nature of business

Formation and organization

POINT Biopharma Global Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company”), is a globally focused 
radiopharmaceutical company building a platform for the clinical development and commercialization of radioligands that 
fight cancer. On September 18, 2019, POINT Theranostics Inc. was incorporated under the General Corporation Law of the 
State of Delaware (the "DGCL") and amended its name to “POINT Biopharma Inc.” on November 22, 2019. On June 30, 
2021, following the Business Combination (as defined below), POINT Biopharma Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of POINT Biopharma Global Inc. Under the terms of the Business Combination Agreement (as defined below), 
stockholders of POINT Biopharma Inc. received approximately 3.59 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 
of the Company (“Common Stock”) in exchange for each common share of Point Biopharma Inc. Also in connection with 
the closing of the Business Combination, RACA (as defined below) consummated the sale of an aggregate of 16,500,000 
shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of RACA (“Class A Common Stock”) in a private 
placement at a price of $10.00 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of $165,000,000 (“PIPE Financing”). In accordance 
with the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, upon the closing of the Business Combination (as defined below), 
each share of Class A Common Stock and each share of Class B common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of RACA 
(“Class B Common Stock”) was converted into one share of Common Stock of the Company. For additional information 
on the Business Combination, please see Note 3.

The Company was founded on a mission to make radioligand therapy applicable to more cancers and available to 
more people, thereby improving the lives of cancer patients and their families everywhere.

The Company has four wholly-owned subsidiaries, POINT Biopharma Inc., POINT Biopharma USA Inc. and West 
78th Street, LLC, each located in the USA, and POINT Biopharma Corp., located in Canada. The Company’s headquarters 
is located at 4850 West 78th Street, Indianapolis, Indiana, 46268.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company and its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries, POINT Biopharma Inc., POINT Biopharma Corp., POINT Biopharma USA, Inc. and West 
78th Street, LLC, for financial information and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. All intercompany accounts 
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

These consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of ASC Topic 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern on the basis that the Company will 
continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the settlement of liabilities an commitments 
in the normal course of business.

Impact of Covid-19 and other geopolitical events

The COVID-19 pandemic, which was declared by the World Health Organization as a pandemic in March 2020 and 
has spread worldwide, has caused many governments to implement measures to slow the spread of the outbreak through 
quarantines, travel restrictions, heightened border security and other measures. The impact of this pandemic has been, and 
will likely continue to be, extensive in many aspects of society, which has resulted, and will likely continue to result, in 
significant disruptions to the global economy as well as businesses and capital markets around the world. The future 
progression of the pandemic and its effects on the Company’s business and operations are uncertain.

In response to public health directives and orders and to help minimize the risk of the virus to employees, the 
Company has taken precautionary measures, including implementing work-from-home policies for certain employees. The 
impact of the virus, including work-from-home policies, may negatively impact productivity, disrupt the Company’s 
business, and delay its preclinical research and clinical trial activities and its development program timelines, the 
magnitude of which will depend, in part, on the length and severity of the restrictions and other limitations on the 
Company’s ability to conduct its business in the ordinary course. Specifically, the Company may not be able to enroll 
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additional patient cohorts on its planned timeline due to disruptions at its clinical trial sites. The Company is currently 
unable to predict when it will be able to resume normal clinical activities for its clinical programs. Other impacts to the 
Company’s business may include temporary closures of its suppliers and disruptions or restrictions on its employees’ 
ability to travel. Any prolonged material disruption to the Company’s employees or suppliers could adversely impact the 
Company’s preclinical research and clinical trial activities, financial condition and results of operations, including its 
ability to obtain financing.

Additionally, financial markets may be adversely affected by the current or anticipated impact of military conflict, 
including escalating military fighting between Russia and Ukraine, terrorism or other geopolitical events. The U.S. and 
other nations in response to the Russo-Ukrainian conflict have announced economic sanctions which may have an adverse 
effect on the global financial markets, which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. The Company's SPLASH trial has vendor staff in Ukraine, and any political instability in the region 
may disrupt resourcing assigned to the trial and negatively impact or business.

The Company is monitoring the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russo-Ukrainian conflict on its 
business and consolidated financial statements. To date, the Company has not experienced any material business 
disruptions or incurred any impairment losses in the carrying values of its assets as a result of these events and it is not 
aware of any specific related event or circumstance that would require it to revise its estimates reflected in these 
consolidated financial statements. 

Risks and uncertainties

The Company has incurred significant net losses since inception and, prior to the Business Combination, has funded 
operations through equity financings. Operating losses and negative cash flows are expected to continue for the foreseeable 
future. As losses continue to be incurred, the Company is subject to risks and uncertainties common to early-stage 
companies in the biotechnology industry, including, but not limited to, successful discovery and development of its product 
candidates, regulatory approval of its product candidates, development by competitors of new technological innovations, 
dependence on key personnel, the ability to attract and retain qualified employees, protection of proprietary technology, 
compliance with governmental regulations, the impact of the COVID-19 coronavirus, the impact of the Russo-Ukrainian 
conflict, the ability to secure additional capital to fund operations and commercial success of its product candidates. 
Product candidates currently under development will require extensive preclinical and clinical testing and regulatory 
approval prior to commercialization. These efforts require significant amounts of additional capital, adequate personnel, 
and infrastructure and extensive compliance-reporting capabilities. Even if the Company’s drug development efforts are 
successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, the Company will realize significant revenue from product sales.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, related disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of expenses 
for the periods presented. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these consolidated financial statements 
include, but are not limited to, the accrual of research and development expenses and the valuations of stock options and 
warrants. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience, known trends and other market-specific or other 
relevant factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its 
estimates when there are changes in circumstances, facts and experience. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in 
which they become known. Actual results may differ from those estimates or assumptions.

Foreign currency and currency translation

The reporting currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of the Company’s legal entities 
including its parent is also the U.S. dollar. As a result, the Company records no cumulative translation adjustments related 
to translation of unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses.

Realized foreign exchange gains and losses that arise from exchange rate changes on transactions denominated in a 
currency other than the local currency are included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of 
operations, as incurred.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

POINT BIOPHARMA GLOBAL INC. 

December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (in U.S. dollars) 

F-8



Account balances denominated in a currency other than the local currency are translated at the year-end spot rate with 
the unrealized exchanged gains and losses included in other income (expense) net in the consolidated statements of 
operations.

Fair value of financial instruments

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at fair value. Other financial instruments, including accounts payable and 
mortgage payable, are carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair value given their short-term nature.

Fair value measurements

Certain assets and liabilities of the Company are carried at fair value under U.S. GAAP. Fair value is defined as the 
exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement 
date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the 
following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered 
unobservable:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Cash and cash equivalents fall within 
level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

• Level 2 — Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for 
similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, 
or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to 
determining the fair value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow 
methodologies and similar techniques.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of three months or less as cash 
equivalents.

Property in development

Property in development includes the purchase price of the land and building for the Company’s manufacturing 
facility in Indianapolis, Indiana, plus other acquisition-related costs. The Company also capitalizes all direct costs relating 
to the development of this property including interest on its mortgage borrowings and direct development costs identified 
with the property. Once the asset is complete and available for use, the costs of construction are transferred to the 
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment, and depreciation commences.

Leases

Currently, the Company only holds short term leases and has elected to apply the short-term lease exemption. For all 
future lease arrangements, at the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or 
contains a lease based on the unique facts and circumstances present in the arrangement and in accordance with the 
guidance of ASC 842. Operating lease liabilities and their corresponding right-of-use assets are initially recorded based on 
the present value of lease payments over the expected remaining lease term. Certain adjustments to the right-of-use asset 
may be required for items such as incentives received. The interest rate implicit in lease contracts is typically not readily 
determinable. As a result, the Company utilizes its incremental borrowing rate to discount lease payments, which reflects 
the fixed rate at which the Company could borrow, on a collateralized basis, the amount of the lease payments in the same 
currency, for a similar term, in a similar economic environment. The Company currently does not have financing leases.
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The Company has elected not to recognize leases with an original term of one year or less on the consolidated balance 
sheets. Options to renew or early terminate a lease are included in the initial lease term of a lease when there is reasonable 
certainty that the option will be applied.

The Company’s lease expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations according to its use in either 
research and development expenses or general administrative expenses. Currently, all lease expense is recorded in general 
and administrative expense.

Warrants

Common share purchase warrants entitle the holder to acquire common shares of the Company at a specified price for 
a specified period of time, which are classified as equity. Warrants are measured at the date of issuance using the Black-
Scholes-Merton option pricing model. On January 28, 2021, all outstanding warrants to purchase common shares of the 
Company were exercised resulting in cash proceeds of $20,000,000.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist of costs 
incurred in performing research and development activities, including costs for salaries and bonuses, employee benefits, 
subcontractors, facility-related expenses, depreciation and amortization, share-based compensation, third-party license fees, 
laboratory supplies, and external costs of outside vendors engaged to conduct discovery, preclinical and clinical 
development activities and clinical trials as well as to manufacture clinical trial materials, and other costs. The Company 
recognizes external research and development costs based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks 
using information provided to the Company by its service providers.

Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and 
development activities are recorded as prepaid expenses. Such prepaid expenses are recognized as an expense when the 
goods have been delivered or the related services have been performed, or when it is no longer expected that the goods will 
be delivered, or the services rendered.

Upfront payments under license agreements are expensed as research and development expense upon receipt of the 
license, and annual maintenance fees under license agreements are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
Milestone payments under license agreements are accrued, with a corresponding expense being recognized, in the period in 
which the milestone is determined to be probable of achievement and the related amount is reasonably estimable.

Acquired in-process research and development costs

The Company has entered into various research, development and manufacturing contracts with research institutions 
and other companies. These agreements are generally cancelable, and related costs are recorded as research and 
development expenses as incurred. The Company records accruals for estimated ongoing research, development and 
manufacturing costs.

The upfront payments to acquire a new drug compound, as well as subsequent milestone payments, are immediately 
expensed as acquired in-process research and development, provided that the drug has not achieved regulatory approval for 
marketing and, absent obtaining such approval, has no alternative future use. Once regulatory approval is received, 
payments to acquire rights, and the related milestone payments, are capitalized and the amortization of such assets recorded 
to product cost of sales.

Share-based compensation expense

The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense for all share-based awards made to employees, directors 
and consultants based on estimated fair values. The Company determines share-based compensation on the grant date using 
the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. The value of the award is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis 
over the requisite service period. ASC 718 - Stock Compensation ("ASC 718") allows for forfeitures to be recognized in the 
period in which they occur. ASC 718 aligns the accounting for share-based payments to non-employees with that of 
employees, with certain exceptions.

Income taxes
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The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of 
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements or in the Company’s tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based 
on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for 
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded in the 
provision for income taxes. The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future 
taxable income and, to the extent it believes, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not 
that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established through a charge to 
income tax expense. Potential for recovery of deferred tax assets is evaluated by estimating the future taxable profits 
expected and considering prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the consolidated financial statements by 
applying a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position must be 
evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon external examination by the taxing authorities. If the tax 
position is deemed more likely than not to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit 
to recognize in the consolidated financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest 
amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The provision for income taxes 
includes the effects of any resulting tax reserves, or unrecognized tax benefits, that are considered appropriate as well as 
the related net interest and penalties.

The Company may be entitled to investment tax credits in connection with its research and development costs. These 
investment tax credits are non-refundable tax credits and are accounting for in accordance with the Company’s income tax 
accounting policies.

Net income (loss) per share

Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net income (loss) 
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period.

Diluted net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders is computed by adjusting net income (loss) attributable 
to common stockholders to reallocate undistributed earnings based on the potential impact of dilutive securities. Diluted net 
income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the diluted net income (loss) 
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period, 
including potential dilutive common shares. For purpose of this calculation, outstanding warrants and stock options are 
considered potential dilutive common shares.

Segment information

The Company manages its operations as a single operating segment for the purposes of assessing performance and 
making operating decisions. The Company’s focus is on the development of radioligand therapy for the treatment of 
cancer.

Recent accounting pronouncements not yet effective

Debt with Conversion and Other Options

The FASB has issued ASU 2020-06, Debt —  Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and 
Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments 
and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity (“ASU 2020-06”). ASU 2020-06 simplifies the accounting for convertible 
instruments, such as convertible debt or convertible preferred stock, by eliminating two potential methods in accounting for 
the embedded conversion feature. The standard also removes certain conditions previously used to evaluate whether a 
freestanding financial instrument, or certain types of embedded features, are considered to be settled in the issuer’s own 
equity. Finally, ASU 2020-06 requires that an entity use the if-converted method in calculating the effects of convertible 
instruments on diluted earnings per share, with one limited exception. The amendments in this ASU are effective for the 
Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of this guidance.

Issuer’s Accounting for Certain Modifications or Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options
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The FASB has issued ASU 2021-04, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Debt—Modifications and Extinguishments 
(Subtopic 470-50), Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s 
Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40). ASU 2021-04 provides guidance that an entity should treat a modification of the terms or 
conditions or an exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call option that remains equity classified after 
modification or exchange as an exchange of the original instrument for a new instrument. The standard also provides 
guidance on how an entity should measure and recognize the effect of a modification or an exchange of a freestanding 
equity-classified written call option that remains equity classified. The amendments in this ASU are effective for the 
Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted for all entities, including 
adoption in an interim period. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of this guidance.

Government Assistance

The FASB has issued ASU 2021-10, Government Assistance (Topic 832) - Disclosures by Business Entities about 
Government Assistance. ASU 2021-10 provides guidance to increase the transparency of government assistance including 
the disclosure of (1) the types of assistance, (2) an entity’s accounting for the assistance, and (3) the effect of the assistance 
on an entity’s financial statements. The amendments in this ASU are effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2021. Early application of the amendments is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the 
effects of this guidance.

3. Business Combination

On March 15, 2021, POINT Biopharma Inc. entered into a definitive business combination agreement (the “Business 
Combination Agreement”) with Therapeutics Acquisition Corp. (NASDAQ:RACA), d/b/a Research Alliance Corp. I 
(“RACA”), a special purpose acquisition company sponsored by RA Capital Management L.P., that was created for the 
purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization, or similar business 
combination with one or more businesses. On June 30, 2021, (the “Closing Date”), Bodhi Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of RACA, merged with and into POINT Biopharma Inc. (the “Business Combination”), with POINT 
Biopharma Inc. as the surviving company in the Business Combination and, after giving effect to such Business 
Combination, POINT Biopharma Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of RACA. RACA was then renamed “POINT 
Biopharma Global Inc.”

In accordance with the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, upon the closing of the Business Combination:

(i) each share and vested equity award of POINT Biopharma Inc. outstanding as of immediately prior to the 
Closing Date was converted into shares of Common Stock of the Company or comparable vested equity 
awards that are exercisable for shares of Common Stock of the Company, based on an implied vested 
equity value of $585,000,000 (which is equal to a conversion ratio of approximately 3.59-for-1); 

(ii) all unvested equity awards of POINT Biopharma Inc. were converted into comparable equity awards that 
are exercisable for shares of Common Stock of the Company, determined based on the same conversion 
ratio at which the vested equity awards are converted into shares of Common Stock of the Company; and

(iii) each share of RACA Class A Common Stock and each share of RACA Class B Common Stock that was 
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Closing Date became one share of Common Stock of the 
Company.

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company consummated the PIPE Financing, pursuant to which it 
received $165.0 million in exchange for 16,500,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company.

After giving effect to the Business Combination, there were 90,121,794 shares of Common Stock issued and 
outstanding.

We accounted for the Business Combination as a reverse recapitalization, in accordance with U.S. GAAP. POINT 
Biopharma Inc. is treated as the accounting acquirer (legal acquiree), while RACA is the accounting acquiree (legal 
acquirer) for financial reporting purposes. This determination is primarily based on the fact that the former POINT 
Biopharma Inc. stockholders retained a majority of the voting power of the Company and comprise a majority of the 
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governing body of the Company, and the former POINT Biopharma Inc. senior management comprise substantially all of 
the senior management of the Company. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Business Combination is treated as the 
equivalent of POINT Biopharma Inc. issuing shares for the net assets of RACA, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net 
assets of RACA are stated at historical costs. No goodwill or other intangible assets is recorded.

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company incurred underwriting fees and other costs considered to 
be direct or incremental to the proceeds raised in connection with the Business Combination and PIPE Financing totaling 
approximately $21.9 million, consisting of costs incurred by RACA prior to the completion of the Business Combination as 
well as investment banker, legal, audit, tax, accounting and listing fees. These amounts are reflected within additional paid-
in capital in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021.

Summary of net proceeds

The following table summarizes the elements of the net proceeds from the Business Combination:

Recapitalization

Cash - RACA Trust and cash (net of redemptions) $ 121,770,367 
Cash - PIPE Financing  165,000,000 
Less: Underwriting fees, costs incurred by RACA and other direct and incremental costs, each 
paid prior to December 31, 2021  (21,887,685) 
Net proceeds from the Business Combination, net of costs incurred by RACA and direct 
and incremental costs paid per the statement of cash flows $ 264,882,682 

The net proceeds noted above exclude approximately $4.7 million in transaction costs that were not considered direct 
and incremental to the raising of capital. These costs consist of corporate expenses in the normal course of business 
comprised of accounting, consulting, insurance and board retainer fees. These costs were recorded as incurred in 
accordance with the nature of the services received.

Summary of shares of Common Stock issued

The following table summarizes the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately following the 
consummation of the Business Combination:

Number of 
Shares

RACA Class A and Class B shares outstanding prior to the Business Combination  16,039,769 
Class A shares issued pursuant to the PIPE Financing  16,500,000 
Common Stock issued upon conversion of RACA Class A Common Stock and Class B Common 
Stock and PIPE Financing shares  32,539,769 
Common Stock issued upon conversion of POINT Biopharma Inc. common shares  57,582,025 
Total shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately following the Business 
Combination  90,121,794 

4. Cash and cash equivalents

As at December 31, 2021, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance was $238.8 million (December 31, 2020 
— $10.5 million). The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance represents cash deposited with financial institutions.

5. Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:
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As at December 31,
2021

As at December 31,
2020

$ $

Insurance       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,175,379  — 
Prepaid clinical trial expenses    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,973,609  1,763,731 
Deposit on production equipment    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  703,461  — 
Canadian harmonized sales tax receivable      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  72,666  58,982 
Other    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  105,450  27,633 
Total     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,030,565  1,850,346 

6. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

As at December 31,
2021

As at December 31,
2020

$ $

Property in development      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  16,561,032  9,797,400 
Machinery and equipment      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,132,768  — 
Furniture and fixtures      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  590,545  — 
Computer equipment      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  127,741  — 
Total      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19,412,086  9,797,400 

On July 2020, the Company purchased land and a building in Indianapolis, Indiana (which has been expanded to 
approximately 81,000 square feet) for the purpose of retrofitting the existing building into a state-of-the-art, Good 
Manufacturing Practices ("GMP") compliant facility that will expand the Company’s drug manufacturing operations. The 
purchase of the property was financed by a mortgage that was repaid on July 29, 2021 (see Note 9). 

The Company commenced the manufacture of clinical supply in the Indianapolis manufacturing facility in January 
2022. The Company has determined this to be the date upon which its property, plant and equipment was ready for its 
intended use and the date upon which to commence depreciating the assets.

7. Accounts payable

Accounts payable consisted of the following:

As at December 31,
2021

As at December 31,
2020

$ $

Accounts payable       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,730,304  3,595,745 
Other payables      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8,166  889 
Total     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,738,470  3,596,634 

8. Accrued expenses

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:
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As at December 31,
2021

As at December 31,
2020

$ $

Accrued personnel costs  3,440,558  540,292 
Accrued research and development costs  1,142,056  597,994 
Accrued costs for the purchases of property, plant and equipment  648,196  — 
Accrued corporate legal fees and other professional services  654,945  210,099 
Other accrued costs  104,761  130,656 
Total  5,990,516  1,479,041 

9. Mortgage payable

On July 10, 2020, the Company obtained a mortgage loan in the amount of $3,562,500 (the “Mortgage”) for the 
purpose of purchasing land and a building located in Indianapolis, Indiana (the “Property”) (see Note 6). The Mortgage 
was collateralized by a first charge over the Property. As part of the financing, the Company incurred $17,194 of costs and 
fees from the lender that were capitalized and recorded as finance costs over the life of the Mortgage. On July 29, 2021, the 
Mortgage on the manufacturing facility in Indianapolis, Indiana was repaid and the related mortgage on the Company's 
facility in Indianapolis, Indiana was released.

Prior to its repayment, the Mortgage bore interest at 2.85% plus a minimum rate of 1-month LIBOR, subject to a 
LIBOR floor of 0.25%. The Mortgage required quarterly interest payments, which commenced on October 1, 2020, with 
the principal amount due at maturity on January 10, 2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded $63,195 in interest costs (December 31, 2020 - 
$54,605) which have been capitalized within property, in development, and $11,840 in amortization of debt issuance costs 
(December 31, 2020 - $5,354) through finance costs.

10. Stockholders’ equity

Common and Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 430,000,000 shares of Common Stock, as well as 20,000,000 of shares of 
preferred stock, with a par value of $0.0001 per share (“Preferred Stock”). The figures below are presented giving effect to 
a retroactive application of the Business Combination which resulted in a conversion of the previous POINT Biopharma 
Inc. common shares to shares of Common Stock of the Company at a conversion ratio of approximately 3.59:1. The par 
value of previous POINT Biopharma Inc. common shares was $0.001. See Note 3 for additional details.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company (a) issued 32,539,769 shares of Common Stock in 
connection with the Business Combination and PIPE Financing (see Note 3) and (b) issued 800,000 shares of common 
stock of POINT Biopharma Inc. (exchanged for 2,869,799 shares of Common Stock) in connection with the exercise of 
warrants and 18,000 shares of common stock of POINT Biopharma Inc. (exchanged for 64,570 shares of Common Stock) 
in connection with the exercise of stock options issued to a non-employee consultant, resulting in total cash proceeds of 
$20,450,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company (a) issued 13,375,384 of shares of common stock of POINT 
Biopharma Inc. (exchanged for 47,980,765 shares of Common Stock) at $0.01 per share raising $133,754, (b) issued 
1,058,500 shares of common stock of POINT Biopharma Inc. (exchanged for 3,797,096 shares of Common Stock) at $5.00 
per share, raising $5,292,500, and (c) issued 800,000 of shares of common stock of POINT Biopharma Inc. (exchanged for 
2,869,795 Common Stock) at $25 per share, raising $20,000,000, as part of the Series A private placement financing. In 
connection with the Series A private placement financing, the Company incurred costs and fees totaling $324,555 which 
have been recorded against the proceeds of the issuance.

As of December 31, 2021, the number of total issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock was 90,121,794 
(December 31, 2020 – 54,647,656).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

POINT BIOPHARMA GLOBAL INC. 

December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (in U.S. dollars) 

F-15



Each share of Common Stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the Company’s 
stockholders. Common stockholders are entitled to receive dividends, if any, as may be declared by the Company’s board 
of directors. During the year ended December 31, 2021, no cash dividends had been declared or paid by the Company 
(December 31, 2020 — $nil).

The Company’s board of directors has the authority to issue shares of Preferred Stock from time to time on terms it 
may determine, to divide shares of Preferred Stock into one or more series and to fix the designations, preferences, 
privileges, and restrictions of Preferred Stock, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of 
redemption, liquidation preference, sinking fund terms, and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation 
of any series to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL. During the year ended December 31, 2021, no shares of 
Preferred Stock have been issued by the Company (December 31, 2020 — nil).

Warrants

During the year ended December 31, 2020, in connection with the Series A private placement financing, the Company 
issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 800,000 shares of common stock of POINT Biopharma Inc. to an institutional 
investor at an exercise price of $25.00 per share. The warrants were issued for no additional consideration, and the 
specified exercise prices of each warrant are subject to adjustment for share dividends, share splits, combination or other 
similar recapitalization transactions as provided under the terms of the warrants. The warrants were set to expire July 29, 
2021. On January 28, 2021, the holder exercised the warrants and acquired 800,000 shares of common stock of POINT 
Biopharma Inc. (exchanged for 2,869,799 shares of Common Stock) and the Company received cash proceeds of 
$20,000,000.

The Company valued the warrants using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model with the following inputs:

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

Risk-free interest rate  0.13% 
Expected term (in years) 1
Expected volatility  65% 
Expected dividend yield  0% 

The allocation of the total proceeds between the common shares issued and the warrants was performed using the 
relative fair value method resulting in the recording of $2,526,320 to warrants within stockholders’ equity within the year 
ended December 31, 2020.

11. Share-based compensation

Equity Incentive Plans

In March 2020, the board of directors of POINT Biopharma Inc. approved the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 
EIP”). The 2020 EIP provided for the granting of incentive and non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, 
restricted stock units, performance awards and other stock-based awards to employees, directors, and consultants of POINT 
Biopharma Inc. Effective as of June 30, 2021, in connection with the Business Combination, the Company’s board of 
directors adopted the POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 EIP”) to replace the 2020 EIP 
and allow the Company to grant equity and equity-based incentive awards to officers, employees, non-employee directors 
and consultants of the Company. Upon the closing of the Business Combination, the Company assumed the outstanding 
equity awards under the 2020 EIP and each outstanding option to acquire common shares of POINT Biopharma Inc. 
(whether vested or unvested) under the 2020 EIP was substituted with a substantially equivalent option to acquire shares of 
Common Stock of the Company based on the conversion ratio for the POINT Biopharma Inc. common shares in the 
Business Combination and remains outstanding under the 2020 EIP. No further grants may be made under the 2020 EIP. 
As of December 31, 2021 there were 7,438,527 shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance under the 2021 EIP. The 
2021 EIP provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the 2021 EIP will automatically 
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increase each January 1, beginning on January 1, 2022, by 4% of the outstanding number of common shares on the 
immediately preceding December 31, or such lesser amount as determined by the Board. As of January 1, 2022, the 
number of shares of Common Stock available under the 2021 EIP increased by 3,604,871. 

The Company concluded that the replacement stock options issued in connection with the Business Combination did 
not require accounting for effects of the modification under the ASC 718 – Compensation – Stock Compensation (“ASC 
718”) as it was concluded that (a) the fair value of the modified award is the same as the fair value of the original award 
immediately before the original award was modified, (b) there are no changes to the vesting conditions of the award, and 
(c) there is no change to the classification of the award.

Stock options generally vest over a four-year period, with 25% vesting after the 1st year anniversary and the 
remaining options vesting ratably over the remaining three years. All employee stock options generally expire 6 years from 
the date of the grant. The Company also issued certain stock options to non-employee service providers during the year 
ended December 31, 2021.

Share-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations as follows:

Year ended 
December 31, 2021

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

$ $

Research and development  1,899,471  398,139 
General and administrative  403,136  1,362,667 
Total share-based compensation expense  2,302,607  1,760,806 

The Company did not recognize a tax benefit related to share-based compensation expense during the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 as the Company had net operating losses carryforwards and recorded a 
valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset.

Stock option valuation and activity

The fair value of stock option grants is estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. The 
Company lacks sufficient company-specific historical and implied volatility information. Therefore, it estimates its 
expected share volatility based on the historical volatility of a publicly traded set of peer companies and expects to continue 
to do so until such time as it has adequate historical data regarding the volatility of its own traded share price. For options 
with service-based vesting conditions, the expected term of the Company’s stock options has been determined utilizing the 
“simplified” method for awards that qualify as “plain-vanilla” options. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference 
to the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant of the award for time periods approximately equal to the 
expected term of the award. Expected dividend yield is based on the fact that the Company has never paid cash dividends 
and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

The following table presents the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model to determine the 
grant date fair value of stock options granted:

Year ended December 
31, 2021

Year ended December 
31, 2020

Risk-free interest rate 0.66% – 1.16% 0.11% – 0.50%
Expected term (in years) 4.25 – 5.38 0.35 – 4.25
Expected volatility 65% – 73% 65%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
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The following table summarizes the activity relating to the Company’s options to purchase stock. The below stock 
option figures are presented giving effect to a retroactive application of the Business Combination which resulted in a 
replacement of the previous POINT Biopharma Inc. stock options with stock options of the Company, as described above, 
at a conversion ratio of approximately 3.59:1. In addition, the exercise price for each replacement stock option is also 
adjusted using the ratio of approximately 3.59:1. See Note 3 for additional details:

Number of 
Shares

(#)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price
($)

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term 
(in years)

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value
($)

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020  2,364,010  2.88 
Granted  1,614,683  7.81 
Exercised  (64,570)  6.97 
Forfeited  (88,372)  7.80 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021  3,825,751  4.78 5.2  7,302,047 
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2021  3,825,751  4.78 5.2  7,302,047 
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2021  1,018,775  4.60 6.0  1,825,490 

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the pretax intrinsic value, which is calculated as the 
difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the fair value of the Common Stock. 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, 1,614,683 stock options were granted, including (a) 1,255,959 stock 
options granted to employees and directors of the Company, with a weighted average grant date fair value of $4.466 and 
(b) 358,724 stock options granted to a non-employee consultant of the Company, with a weighted average grant date fair 
value of $3.885. The vesting terms of these stock options are such that 25% vest on the one-year anniversary of the date of 
grant and the remaining 75% vest ratably over the remaining three years. The vesting terms of the grant to the non-
employee consultant were such that 25% of the options vested immediately upon grant, 10% vesting on the first 
anniversary of the date of the grant and the remaining 65% vesting based on certain performance milestones. Upon 
completion of the Business Combination, the remaining 269,043 unvested stock options immediately vested and all 
remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation expense associated with these stock options was recorded.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, 2,364,010 stock options were granted, including: (a) 571,774 stock options 
granted to employees and directors of the Company, with a weighted average grant date fair value of $3.350 and (b) 
1,792,236 stock options to non-employee consultants of the Company, with a weighted average grant date fair value of 
$0.714. Of the stock options granted to employees and directors of the Company, 125,553 stock options vested in full upon 
ninety days after the grant date and 446,221of such stock options vest 25% on the one-year anniversary of the date of grant 
and the remaining 75% vest ratably over the remaining three years. Of the stock options granted to non-employee 
consultants of the Company, 64,570 stock options vested in full upon the grant date and 1,727,666 of such stock options 
vest 25% on the one-year anniversary of the date of grant and the remaining 75% vest ratably over the remaining three 
years.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, a non-employee consultant of the Company exercised 64,570 stock 
options with an intrinsic value of $nil, resulting in the issuance of 64,570 shares of Common Stock for cash proceeds of 
$450,000.

As of December 31, 2021, the unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to unvested options, was 
$5,778,699 and the estimated weighted average remaining vesting period was 2.4 years (December 31, 2020, the 
unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to unvested options, was $1,433,785 and the estimated weighted 
average remaining vesting period was 3.1 years).

12. Commitments and contingencies 

Property, in development commitment
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The Company entered into agreements for the engineering design and modification of its facility in Indianapolis, 
Indiana, which is recorded in property, in development. As at December 31, 2021, the Company is committed to future 
payments of approximately $5.6 million, relating to the continued construction and retrofit of the building. During the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 approximately $6.1 million and $4.9 million, respectively, has 
been recorded within property, plant and equipment in connection with these agreements.

Clinical trial and commercial commitments

The Company in the normal course of business enters into various services and supply agreements in connection with 
its clinical trials to ensure the supply of certain product and product lines during the Company’s clinical phase. These 
agreements often have minimum purchase commitments and generally terminate upon the termination of the clinical trial. 
Minimum purchase commitments under these agreements include individual commitments up to $3.8 million. Aggregate 
remaining minimum commitments amount to approximately $6.8 million with payments ranging from three to eight years 
or upon completion of the clinical trial, if earlier. The Company recorded research and development expenses in connection 
with its supply agreements of approximately $3.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 (year ended 
December 31, 2020 – $0.1 million).

The Company also has a supply agreement with a third party to purchase certain products for use in the Company’s 
full scale production process. The Company is committed to purchase a minimum quantity of product in the amount of 
approximately $49.8 million ($62.9 million CAD) over the remaining contract term. The purchase commitments are 
contingent upon the completion of certain milestones by the third-party supplier. The Company recorded $nil in connection 
with this agreement during the year ended December 31, 2021 (year ended December 31, 2020 – $nil).

The Company also has an agreement with a third party to provide certain services in connection with the Company’s 
SPLASH clinical phase study. The agreement expires on the date of the completion or termination of the clinical trial. The 
remaining minimum purchase commitment under this agreement is approximately $46.4 million with payments that range 
from one to six years. The Company recorded research and development expenses in connection with this agreement of 
approximately $8.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 (year ended December 31, 2020 – $1.1 million).

13. License agreements

License agreement with Scintomics GMBH (“SCI”)

In November 2019, the Company entered into a sublicense agreement with SCI (“SCI Agreement). Under the SCI 
Agreement, the Company was granted an exclusive, sublicensable, worldwide (other than the Middle East and Asia) 
license under SCI’s patent rights to use, develop, manufacture and commercialize any products arising from SCI’s patent 
rights related to PSMA ligands for imaging and endoradiotherapy. Under the SCI Agreement, the Company is obligated to 
make aggregate milestone payments to SCI of up to $26,800,000 (€23,500,000), upon the achievement of specified 
development and regulatory milestones. The Company is also obligated to pay a low-teens percentage royalty related to the 
annual net sales by the Company and any of its affiliates and sublicensees. Royalties will be paid by the Company on a 
country-by country basis beginning upon the first commercial sale in such country. There is also an additional low thirties 
percentage fee payable to SCI for monetary payments arising from the grant of a sublicense to a sublicensee or in the form 
of other benefits. The Company has the right to terminate the agreement, subject to a prior notice of five months, with a 
termination fee of approximately $1,400,000 (€1,250,000) unless the first milestone payment has already been paid. If the 
Company or SCI fails to comply with any of its obligations or otherwise breaches the agreement, the other party may 
terminate the agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company did not make any payments to SCI or recognize any research 
and development expenses under the SCI Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company made a 
payment to SCI of approximately $1,520,000 upon the achievement of a specified development milestone and recognized 
this amount as a research and development expense in its Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Research and license agreements with Bach Sciences LLC (“BACH”)

First BACH Agreement

In April 2020, the Company entered into a sublicense and collaboration agreement with BACH to develop and 
commercialize a radiopharmaceutical agent (“BACH Agreement). On September 24, 2021, POINT Biopharma Inc. entered 
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into a third amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to that certain Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, dated April 2, 2020, 
between POINT Biopharma Inc. and BACH as amended by the First Amendment to Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, 
dated April 14, 2020, and the Second Amendment to Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, dated January 5, 2021 (collectively, 
the “Sublicense Agreement”). The Sublicense Agreement grants to POINT Biopharma Inc. an exclusive, sublicensable, 
worldwide license under BACH's patent rights to use, develop, manufacture and commercialize any products arising from 
the licensed technology. Pursuant to the Third Amendment, POINT Biopharma Inc. exercised its option (the 
“Commercialization Option”) under the Sublicense Agreement to acquire a worldwide exclusive, royalty bearing license to 
commercialize any products and processes from uses of patent rights for FAP-targeted radiopharmaceuticals. The Third 
Amendment also amended the Sublicense Agreement to provide the Company with the first option (the “Invention 
Option”) to acquire a worldwide exclusive royalty bearing license to BACH's patent rights, materials and know-how with 
respect to new inventions directed to FAP-targeted radiopharmaceuticals. As partial consideration for the exercise of the 
Commercialization Option and the grant of the Invention Option under the Third Amendment, POINT Biopharma Inc. 
paid, upon execution of the Sublicense Agreement, an option exercise fee of $3,250,000. POINT Biopharma Inc. is also 
required to make regular quarterly contributions up to a specified amount to BACH's specified research and development 
until June 1, 2022 and October 1, 2022, in each case, commencing on October 1, 2021. The Company is obligated to make 
the aggregate milestone payments of up to $8,000,000 to BACH upon the achievement of specified development and 
regulatory milestones and up to $38,000,000 upon the achievement of specified sales milestones under the BACH 
Agreement. The Company is also obligated to pay a low-teens percentage royalty related to the annual net sales of each 
licensed products or licensed process covered by a valid claim, but reduced to a single digit percentage royalty related to 
net sales in the absence of a Valid Claim by the Company and any of its affiliates and sublicensees based on its global 
sales. Royalties will be paid by the Company on a country-by country basis beginning upon the first commercial sale in 
such country. There is also an additional low- teens to mid-twenties percentage sublicense fee payable to BACH for 
monetary payments arising from a grant of a sub-license to a sub-licensee or in the form of other benefits, depending on the 
specified development stage of the product.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company made a payment to BACH of $3,250,000 related to the 
Commercialization Option discussed above and recognized this amount as research and development expenses in its 
Consolidated Statements of Operations (December 31, 2020 – payments of $600,000 were recorded as research and 
development expenses). During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company also made payments for the sponsored 
research agreements in the amount of $1,250,000 (December 31, 2020 – $750,000), which are recognized as research and 
development expenses in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Second BACH Agreement

In December 2020, the Company entered into a sublicense and collaboration agreement with BACH to develop and 
commercialize compounds that leverage a proprietary technology platform (“Second BACH Agreement’”). Under the 
Second BACH Agreement, the Company was granted an exclusive, sublicensable, worldwide license under BACH’s patent 
rights to use, develop, manufacture and commercialize any products arising from the patent related to the synthetic 
compound.

For an exclusive commercialization option, the Company paid an upfront fee of $200,000 in January 2021, which was 
recognized as research and development expense during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company is further 
obligated to make aggregate milestone payments to BACH of up to $3,000,000 for the first product developed, upon the 
achievement of specified development and regulatory milestones and of up to $45,000,000 upon the achievement of 
specified sales milestones. For subsequent products, the Company is obligated to make a milestone payment to BACH of 
up to $1,000,000 for major market regulatory approval and of up to $45,000,000 upon the achievement of specified sales 
milestones. The Company is also obligated to pay a low-teens percentage royalty related to net sales of each licensed 
product or licensed process covered by a valid claim, but reduced to a single digit percentage royalty related to net sales in 
the absence of a valid claim. Royalty payments will be reduced in an amount equal to 100% of royalty fees paid to Avacta 
(defined below) for the same licensed product. Royalties will be paid by the Company on a country-by country basis 
beginning upon the first commercial sale in such country. There is also an additional low-teens to mid-twenties percentage 
sublicense fee payable to BACH for monetary payments arising from a grant of a sub-license to a sub-licensee or in the 
form of other benefits, depending on the specified development stage of the product.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company made payments for the sponsored research agreement in the 
amount of $800,000 as a research and development expense (December 31, 2020 – the Company recognized the upfront 
fee of $200,000 as research and development expense).
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License agreement with Avacta Lifesciences Limited (“Avacta”)

In December 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Avacta (“Avacta Agreement”), which is directly 
related to the second BACH agreement above. Under the Avacta Agreement, the Company became a sublicensee of 
Avacta’s license for using intellectual property related to developing and marketing FAP-activated radiopharmaceutical 
agents. Under this agreement, the Company obtained an exclusive license of Avacta’s patent rights to use, develop, 
manufacture and commercialize any products arising from the patent. The Company has the right to grant sublicenses of its 
rights.

The Company is obligated to pay an upfront payment of $1,000,000 for the initial license fee. The Company is further 
obligated to make aggregate milestone payments to Avacta of up to $4,500,000, upon the achievement of specified 
development milestones for its first product and up to $3,000,000 each for any additional products developed with the 
technology upon reaching the specified development milestones. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay a milestone 
payment of $5,000,000 for each product for the regulatory milestone being approved in specified territories. The Company 
is also obligated to pay a single digit percentage royalty (subject to a reduction on certain conditions) related to the annual 
net sales by the Company, its affiliates or its sublicensees for each licensed product or license process and a single digit 
percentage royalty on a specified product arising out of the patents. The royalty rate will be reduced by 50% for net sales 
occurring in the U.S. if there is no valid claim at the time of sale. There is also an additional single digit percentage fee 
payable to Avacta for monetary payments arising from a grant of a sublicense to a sublicensee or in the form of other 
benefits.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized the last three installments of the initial license 
fee of $750,000 as a research and development expense (December 31, 2020 – the first installment of the initial license fee 
of $250,000 was recognized as a research and development expense).

License agreement with Canadian Molecular Probe Consortium (“CanProbe”)

In December 2020, the Company entered into a license agreement with CanProbe (“CanProbe Agreement”). Under 
the CanProbe Agreement, the Company was granted an exclusive, sublicensable and worldwide license under CanProbe’s 
patent rights to use, develop, manufacture and commercialize any products arising from a patent associated with the 
process for the production of 177Lu. Under the CanProbe Agreement, the Company paid an upfront fee of approximately 
$386,000 ($500,000 CAD) for the execution of the agreement and a further payment of approximately $188,000 ($250,000 
CAD), which will be credited against the first milestone payment. The Company is obligated to make aggregate milestone 
payments to CanProbe of up to $2,573,000 ($3,250,000 CAD) upon the achievement of receiving marketing authorization 
milestones for specified territories. The Company is also obligated to pay a single digit royalty related to the annual net 
sales by the Company and any of its affiliates and sublicensees. Royalties will be paid by the Company on a country-by 
country basis beginning upon the first commercial sale in such country. There is also an additional low-teens percentage 
fee payable to CanProbe for monetary payments arising from a grant of a sublicense to a sublicensee or in the form of other 
benefits. In the event it is necessary for the Company or its sublicensees to sell the product in a sub-territory or to obtain a 
license and to pay royalties to one or more third parties on net-sales, and if the aggregate royalty burden payable is greater 
than a high single digit percent of net-sales, then the Company may reduce the royalty fees or sub-licensing fees for sales of 
such product by 50% of royalties actually paid to the third party on net sales of the product in the territory in the same 
royalty period.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company did not make any payments to CanProbe or recognize any 
research and development expenses under the CanProbe Agreement (December 31, 2020 – the Company recognized the 
contract execution fees of $574,000 as research and development expense).

License agreement with Belgian Nuclear Research Centre (“SCK-CEN”)

On June 30, 2021, the Company entered into a license agreement with the Belgian Nuclear Research Centre (“SCK-
CEN”). Under the SCK-CEN Agreement, the Company was granted a worldwide, royalty-bearing, non-exclusive, 
sublicensable license under SCK-CEN’s patent rights to develop, make, have made, use and import n.c.a 177Lu using SCK-
CEN Technology. The Company is obligated to make aggregate milestone payments to SCK-CEN of up to $125,000 
(€110,000) upon the achievement of certain technology implementation milestones. The Company is also obligated to 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

POINT BIOPHARMA GLOBAL INC. 

December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (in U.S. dollars) 

F-21



make aggregate minimum royalty payments of $8,100,000 (€7,120,000) over the course of eight years commencing in 
2023 with an annual cap of €6,300,000 over the same term. The Company did not record any costs in connection to this 
license agreement during the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

14. Income taxes

Domestic and international pre-tax loss consists of the following:

Year ended 
December 31, 2021

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

$ $

U.S.  46,225,053  13,591,329 
Canada  (628,230)  (306,208) 
Loss before provision for income taxes  45,596,823  13,285,121 

Income tax expense attributable to operations is comprised of the following:

Year ended 
December 31, 2021

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

$ $

Current income tax: 
Federal  75  10,000 
State  (114)  4,114 
Foreign  240,105  73,768 

Total current expense  240,066  87,882 
Deferred income tax: 

Federal  —  — 
State  —  — 
Foreign  65,592  — 

Total deferred expense  65,592  — 
Total provision for income tax  305,658  87,882 

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year ended 
December 31, 2021

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

$ $

Provision for income taxes at the Company’s statutory tax rate 
of 21%  (9,575,333)  (2,789,875) 
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit  (1,496,432)  (574,046) 
Change in valuation allowance  10,570,870  3,412,396 
Permanent items and other  806,553  39,407 

Provision for income taxes at the Company’s effective income tax 
rate  305,658  87,882 

Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, future recognition of previously unrecognized tax benefits will not 
impact the Company’s effective tax rate. The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S., Canada and various state 
jurisdictions. All of the Company’s tax years from inception are subject to examination by federal, and state tax authorities. 
The Company’s practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts for income tax purposes. Significant components of our deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Year ended 
December 31, 2021

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

$ $

Net operating loss carryforwards  12,909,104  1,910,665 
License agreements  1,763,889  967,268 
Start-up costs  233,205  13,679 
Share based compensation  811,236  422,280 
Reserves and accruals  266,480  45,110 

Other  74,763  55,889 
Total deferred tax assets  16,058,677  3,414,891 

Valuation allowance  (16,054,274)  (3,414,891) 
Net deferred tax assets  4,403  — 

Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized exchange gain  (69,995)  — 

Total deferred tax liabilities  (69,995)  — 

Net deferred tax liabilities  (65,592)  — 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded for differences between the financial statement and tax basis of 
the assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted laws and rates 
applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are 
established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

The Company has evaluated the available evidence supporting the realization of its U.S. gross deferred tax assets, 
including the amount and timing of future taxable income, and has determined it is more likely than not that the assets will 
not be realized. As a result, the Company has concluded that a full valuation allowance against its U.S. deferred tax assets 
is necessary at this time.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $53.0 
million and $41.9 million, respectively. As a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, for U.S. income tax purposes, net 
operating losses generated after December 31, 2017 can be carried forward indefinitely, but are limited to 80% utilization 
against future taxable income each year. Of the amount of federal net operating loss carryforwards, $53.0 million can be 
carried forward indefinitely. Unless previously utilized, the state net operating losses will begin to expire in 2030. As of 
December 31, 2021, the Company has $0.1 million of Indiana Hoosier Business tax credits that begin to expire in 2029.

The Company has not yet conducted a study to document whether its research activities may qualify for the research 
and development tax credit. Such a study may result in the creation of a research and development credit carryforward; 
however, until a study is completed, no amount is being presented as a deferred tax asset or as an uncertain tax position. 
Any research and development credit carryforward identified and claimed if and when such study is complete would be 
offset by an adjustment to the valuation allowance.

Pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Sections 382 and 383, annual use of the Company's NOL and research 
and development credit carryforwards may be limited in the event a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% 
occurs within a three-year period. The Company has not completed an ownership change analysis pursuant to IRS Section 
382. If ownership changes have occurred or occurs in the future, the amount of remaining tax attribute carryforwards 
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available to offset taxable income and income tax expense in future years may be restricted or eliminated. If eliminated, the 
related asset would be removed from deferred tax assets with a corresponding reduction in the valuation allowance.

Uncertain tax positions are evaluated based upon the facts and circumstances that exist at each reporting period. 
Subsequent changes in judgement based upon new information may lead to changes in recognition, derecognition, and 
measurement. Adjustment may result, for example, upon resolution of an issue with the taxing authorities or expiration of a 
statute of limitations barring an assessment for an issue.

The Company recognizes a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position when it is more likely than not that the position 
will be sustained upon examination by tax authorities.

As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the Company had no uncertain tax positions.

The Company had no accrued interest or penalties related to income tax matters in the Company’s balance sheet at 
December 31, 2021, and has not recognized interest or penalties in the Company’s statement of operations and 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2021. Further, the Company is not currently under examination by 
any federal, state or local tax authority.

The Company does not record U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries based upon 
the Company's intention to permanently reinvest undistributed earnings to ensure sufficient working capital and further 
expansion of existing operations outside the U.S. In the event the Company is required to repatriate funds from outside of 
the U.S., such repatriation would be subject to local laws, customs, and tax consequences.

The Tax cut and jobs Act subjects a U.S. shareholder to tax on GILTI earned by certain foreign subsidiaries. The 
Company has elected to account for GILTI in the year the tax is incurred in accordance with the FASB Staff Q&A, Topic 
740, No. 5, Accounting for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income, which states that an entity can make an accounting 
policy election to either recognize deferred taxes for temporary basis differences expected to reverse as GILTI in future 
years or to provide for the tax expense related to GILTI in the year the tax is incurred as a period expense.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was passed into law. 
The CARES Act includes several significant business tax provisions including modification to the taxable income 
limitation for utilization of net operating losses incurred in 2019 to 2021, an increase to the limitation on deductibility of 
certain business interest expense, bonus depreciation for purchases of qualified improvement property and special 
deductions on certain corporate charitable contributions. The Company analyzed the provisions of the CARES Act and 
determined there was no impact to its income tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

15. Net loss per share

Basic loss earnings per share is computed by dividing the loss available to common stockholders by the weighted-
average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing 
loss available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during 
the period increased to include the number of additional shares of Common Stock that would have been outstanding if the 
potentially dilutive securities had been issued, using the treasury stock method.

Year ended 
December 31, 2021

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

Net loss attributable to common stockholders  45,902,481  13,373,003 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding – basic and diluted  73,850,822  38,875,643 
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders – basic and diluted $ 0.62 $ 0.34 
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The Company’s potentially dilutive securities, which include stock options and warrants, have been excluded from the 
computation of diluted net loss per share as the effect would be to reduce the net loss per share. Therefore, the weighted-
average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share 
attributable to common stockholders is the same. The Company excluded the following potential shares of Common Stock, 
presented based on amounts outstanding at the year ended December 31, 2021, from the computation of diluted net loss per 
share attributable to common stockholders for the periods indicated because including them would have had an anti-
dilutive effect:

Year ended 
December 31, 2021

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

Options to purchase shares of Common Stock  3,825,751  2,364,010 
Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock  —  2,869,799 

 3,825,751  5,233,809 

16. Financial instruments risk management

Concentration risk

The Company currently holds all its cash deposits with one financial institution. The financial institution is a large and 
high-quality investment grade institution. The Company will continue to monitor for changes in credit quality in relation to 
the counterparties to which it has relationships.

Foreign currency risk

The Company does not have significant operating subsidiaries or significant investments in foreign countries as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020. The Company is subject to foreign currency exposure on its cash balances, accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, expenses incurred from certain supplier and 
service agreements denominated in Canadian dollars and Euro, as well as salaries and wages in respect of the Company’s 
Canadian employees. The Company does not currently manage its foreign currency exposure through hedging programs 
and will continue to monitor its foreign currency assets and liabilities and evaluate the needs for these programs in the 
future. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded $73,153 and $164,962, respectively, 
of foreign currency losses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Interest rate risk

The Company was previously subject to interest rate risk under its Mortgage loan. The Mortgage bore interest at 
2.85% plus a minimum rate of 1-month LIBOR, subject to a LIBOR floor of 0.25%. The Mortgage required quarterly 
interest payments, which commenced on October 1, 2020, with the principal amount originally due at maturity on January 
10, 2022. For more details around the Mortgage see Note 8. The Company does not currently manage interest rate exposure 
through hedging programs. The Company will continue to monitor and evaluate the need for interest rate hedging programs 
in the future.

17. Related party transactions

The Company recognized expenses in connection with related party transactions in the consolidated statements of 
operations as follows:
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Year ended 
December 31, 2021

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

$ $

Share-based compensation for consulting arrangement  —  1,109,776 
Consulting fees to stockholder  —  164,812 
Consulting fees on business activities to Board member  235,095  90,975 
Reimbursement to Board member for occupancy costs  73,894  21,315 

 308,989  1,386,878 

Transactions with related parties are in the normal course of operations and have been measured at their agreed upon 
exchange amount.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued stock options to stockholders of a related party in 
exchange primarily for legal and financial consulting services. No amounts are owing in respect of these services as at 
December 31, 2021. 

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company received consulting services for 
research and development from a Board member, for which approximately $73,000 is recorded within accrued liabilities as 
of December 31, 2021. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company received consulting services 
for manufacturing planning from a stockholder. No amounts are owing in respect of these services as of December 31, 
2021.

The Company currently has a lease arrangement in place with a Board member for the use of office space. The 
arrangement does not have a defined contractual lease term and is payable monthly. The Company has applied the short-
term lease exemption under ASC Topic 842, Leases to this arrangement and is recording the lease payments of 
approximately $6,000 monthly as rent expense.

18. Employee benefit plan

The Company maintains a retirement plan, which is qualified under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for 
its U.S. employees. The plan allows eligible employees to defer, at the employee’s discretion, pretax compensation up to 
the IRS annual limits. The Company matched contributions up to 50% of the first 4% of the eligible employee’s 
compensation or the maximum amount permitted by law. Total expense for contributions made to U.S. employees was 
$45,715 for the year ended December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - $2,787).

19. Subsequent events 

Pursuant to the 2021 EIP, the aggregate number of shares of POINT Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to 
share awards shall be cumulatively increased annually on the first day of each fiscal year beginning with the 2022 fiscal 
year in an amount equal to four percent (4%) of shares of Common Stock outstanding on the last day of the immediately 
preceding fiscal year or a lesser number of shares determined by the Board. As a result, on January 1, 2022, an additional 
3,604,871 shares added to the 2021 EIP.
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PNT Shareholder Information 

 
Corporate Offices 
POINT Biopharma Global Inc. 
4850 West 78th St. 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46268 
(317) 543-9957 

22 St. Clair Avenue East, #1201 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
M4T 2S3 
 
Executive Officers 
Allan Silber (Executive Chairman) 
Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D. (Chief Executive 
Officer) 
Bill Demers (Chief Financial Officer) 
Justyna Kelly (Chief Operating Officer) 
Dr. Neil Fleshner, M.D. (Chief Medical Officer) 
Jessica Jensen (Executive Vice President, 
Clinical Development) 
 
Board of Directors 
Our Board of Directors is elected by the 
shareholders to oversee their interest in the 
overall success of the Company. As of April 14, 
2022, the Board was comprised of 9 Directors, 
6 of whom are not employees of the Company. 
For more information on our Board, visit our 
Company website at 
https://pointbiopharma.com/investors/board-
of-directors. 

Allan Silber (Executive Chairman) 
Dr. Joe McCann, Ph.D. (Chief Executive 
Officer) 
Dr. Neil Fleshner, M.D. (Chief Medical Officer) 
Jonathan Ross Goodman 
Peggy Gilmour 
Gerry Hogue 
Dr. Rajesh K. Malik, M.D. 
Dr. Yael Margolin, Ph.D. 
David Lubner 
 
Common Stock 
POINT Biopharma Global Inc.’s common stock 
is listed on the NASDAQ Stock Exchange, 
traded under the ticker symbol PNT. 
 
Corporate Governance 
The Board of Directors has established 
Corporate Governance Guidelines. For more 
information about the Company’s Corporate 
Governance Guidelines and other corporate 
governance materials, visit 
https://pointbiopharma.com/investors#stock
-financials-governance. 
 
Independent Public Accountants 
Armanino LLP 
50 West San Fernando Street Suite 500 
San Jose, CA 95113 

Shareholder Account Assistance 
For information and maintenance on your 
shareholder of record account, including 
change of address, transfer of ownership or 
replacement of lost stock certificates, 
contact: 
 
Continental Stock & Trust Company 
1 State Street, 30th Floor 
New York, NY 10004-1561 
Telephone: (212) 509-4000 
 
Shareholder Internet Account Access 
For account access via Internet, please log on 
to https://lsp.continentalstock.com/hlogin. 
Once registered, shareholder can view 
account history and complete transactions 
online. 
 
Electronic Delivery 
If you are a shareholder of record, you have an 
opportunity to help the environment by 
signing up to receive your shareholder 
communications, including proxy materials, 
account statements and tax forms 
electronically. To enroll in e-delivery, please 
contact your broker or the Continental Stock & 
Trust Company.  
 
Information Resources 
Internet: Our website, 
https://www.pointbiopharma.com, offers 
information about our financial performance 
and news about the Company and much more. 
Publications: The Company’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, Proxy Statement, Annual Report, 
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other 
publications are available free online in the 
Investor Relations section of our website, 
accessible at 
https://www.pointbiopharma.com/investors. 
 
Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 
The annual shareholder’s meeting will be held 
virtually on Thursday June 2, 2022 at 2:00 
p.m., Eastern Daylight Time. You can attend 
the virtual Meeting by going to 
https://www.cstproxy.com/pointbiopharma/2
022. 
 
Shareholders of record will need their 12-digit 
control number to vote electronically at the 
annual meeting. Votes submitted 
electronically over the Internet, by telephone 
or by mail must be received by 11:59 p.m., 
Eastern Time, on June 1, 2022. 
 
If you encounter any difficulties accessing the 
virtual meeting during the check-in or meeting 
time, please call the technical support number 
that will be posted on the Virtual Shareholder 
Meeting login page. 
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